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common wisdom among mainstream pundits in 2016 held that 

Donald Trump had engineered a “hostile takeover” of the Republican Party 

and the conservative movement. Trump and Trumpism were, therefore, 

wholly alien to the authentic American conservative political tradition and 

such luminaries as Ronald Reagan and William F. Buckley Jr.1 But this was a 

highly selective and misleading analysis of American politics and political 

history. The essential political story of MAGAism in 2016 was the displace-

ment of a dominant conservative coalition that had broadly tolerated and in 

some cases even cultivated far-right support with a dominant far-right coali-

tion that tolerated and in some cases even cultivated conservative support. 

Conservative political opposition to the newly ascendant far right—the 

so-called “Never Trump” conservatives—was rooted as much in anxieties 

about political backlash as in principled commitments. Many—though not 

all—“Never Trump” conservatives in 2016 came to grudgingly support 

Trump during his administration—National Review dedicated an entire 

issue to “Never Trump” in March 2016 but promptly reversed itself once 

Trump won the election.2 The Republican Party establishment, though wary 

of Trump, has continued to be largely deferential to the former president 

even after the January 6, 2021 Capitol insurrection.3 The insurrection itself 

was a moment so nakedly fascistic that even longtime skeptics of using 

the “f-word” to describe Trump and Trumpism, like acclaimed scholar of 

 Introduction
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fascism Robert Paxton, concluded that the label could be fairly affi xed to 

Trump.4 Despite the violent spectacle of January 6, and the prospect in that 

month of a break with the disgraced soon-to-be-former president, the 

Republican Party and the conservative movement overwhelming closed 

ranks behind Trump. Calls for the release of the “political prisoners” of Janu-

ary 6 became a standard talking point in right-wing media and even among 

members of Congress.5

Little of this should have been surprising. American conservatism and 

the far right enjoyed a long and deeply intertwined relationship across the 

twentieth century, featuring a blizzarding array of schisms, alliances, antag-

onisms, and solidarities. Modern conservatism emerged out of opposition to 

the New Deal in the 1930s and 1940s, forming a right-wing popular front—a 

term coined by William F. Buckley Jr. in his private correspondence—with 

the openly racist, antisemitic, and pro-fascist far right. This coalition proved 

to be remarkably durable until the 1960s, when the popular front began to 

unravel as some conservatives proved to be unwilling to make even modest 

concessions to the demands of the civil rights movement and jettison 

explicit racism and antisemitism. These apostate conservatives would form 

the basis of modern white nationalism—and the boundaries between where 

“responsible” conservatism ended and the far right began were usually 

blurred. Trump’s statement after the deadly Unite the Right rally in 

Charlottesville, Virginia—that there were “very fi ne people on both sides,” 

both fascists and anti-fascists—was not an outlier.6 Twentieth-century 

American conservatism did not equal fascism, but it evolved out of a right-

wing popular front that included fascist and quasi-fascist elements. This is 

the key to understanding how American conservatism embraced MAGAism 

in the twenty-fi rst century. When Richard Spencer, one of the primary archi-

tects of Unite the Right, organized a victory conference celebrating Trump’s 

election at the Ronald Reagan Building and International Trade Center in 

Washington, DC, he was careful to adopt the trappings of institutional 

conservatism. Reporters were baffl ed. Spencer looked “like many young 

staffers on Capitol Hill,” sporting a closely cropped haircut and wearing a 

suit and tie.7

Here was someone who, by all appearances, should be a member of the 

conservative establishment in America. He looked the part! But the notion 

that that the far right cannot be a faction of the responsible and respectable 

conservative establishment remains a deeply pernicious myth—and raises 
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questions about why liberals expect a “responsible right” in the fi rst place. 

Far-right extremism in America has always worn a suit and tie.

To be clear, there have always been signifi cant tensions within the 

American right. Richard Spencer, for his part, deeply resented what he 

called “the purge” of apostates from “the boundaries of the offi cial Right.”8 

People like him represented the authentic soul of the American right, and 

had for too long been unfairly shut out of the centers of power. None loomed 

larger in his demonology than William F. Buckley Jr. and National Review. 

And it was true: William F. Buckley Jr. hated being called a Nazi. His political 

opponents took malicious glee in labeling him a Nazi, fascist, or extremist, 

knowing it was a surefi re way to get a rise out of him. More often than not, 

Buckley took the bait. In May 1955, after Buckley spoke at Haverford College, 

a small liberal arts school just outside Philadelphia, an unoffi cial printing of 

the Haverford News student newspaper published a satirical article featuring 

a photograph of Adolf Hitler captioned “William Buckley.” Buckley threat-

ened to sue. In the spring of 1956, the newsletter of the International 

Typographical Union called Buckley a “fascist apologist.” Buckley again 

threatened to sue. Most infamously, after Gore Vidal called Buckley a “crypto-

Nazi” live on national television during the chaos of the 1968 Democratic 

National Convention in Chicago, Buckley replied that he would “sock you in 

the goddamn face and you’ll stay plastered”—and, inevitably, threatened to 

sue Vidal for libel.9

Buckley, the Yale-educated son of a multimillionaire who emerged on 

the scene as a conservative wunderkind in the early 1950s, intensely resented 

being lumped in with the most radical elements of the American right. In 

his later years, Buckley prided himself as being fi rst among equals of the 

“responsible” conservatives who set the boundaries between the “respect-

able” right and the radical far right. The “responsible” right consisted of 

people who largely thought, looked, and acted like Buckley: affl uent, 

cultured, and sophisticated conservatives who could have marvelously witty 

conversations over martinis at the Yale Club. They hated communism, 

socialism, and New Deal liberalism, opposed labor unions and the civil 

rights movement, and thought Generalissimo Francisco Franco was unfairly 

treated by the American press. But they weren’t “kooks.” That label belonged 

to the “irresponsible” lunatic fringe, a motley assortment of Nazis, fascists, 

states’ righters, and members of the John Birch Society who saw treasonous 

communist plots everywhere. Writing to John Birch Society founder Robert 
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Welch in 1960, Buckley averred that “the differences between us are grave 

indeed. You have a popular front attitude towards conservatism I do not 

share.”10

But the truth was more complicated. The relationship between the far 

right and the “respectable” conservatives was far more intertwined than 

Buckley would later suggest. Not only were Welch and Buckley once 

friends—Buckley had approached Welch in 1955 for seed funding for the 

magazine that would become National Review—but many of the men in 

Buckley’s orbit blurred the boundaries between the respectable and radical 

right. Buckley’s own father, William F. Buckley Sr., who made a fortune as 

an oilman in Mexico in the early twentieth century, was close friends with 

Merwin K. Hart, the Harvard-educated head of the National Economic 

Council who urged his followers to stockpile guns in anticipation of a 

communist revolution and blamed the New Deal on the Jews. The fi rst book 

review editor for National Review, Revilo Oliver, was a professor of classics at 

the University of Illinois who believed that communists and Jews were 

behind the civil rights movement and that the ultimate goal was the geno-

cide of white people. Oliver would eventually become a major fi gure in the 

American neo-Nazi movement. Buckley even briefl y employed George 

Lincoln Rockwell, the future head of the American Nazi Party, as a traveling 

salesman for National Review. Even after breaking with Buckley and explic-

itly embracing Nazism, Rockwell peppered his onetime boss with letters, 

taking the tone of a protégé disappointed by his mentor. “Our publications 

grow closer every day,” Rockwell wrote to Buckley in January 1964, “even 

though you personally persist on pretending we ain’t kinfolk.”11

In his letter to Robert Welch, Buckley repudiated a “popular front” 

approach to the American right. The term was a loaded one: the original 

Popular Front was a form of big-tent left-wing politics that brought together 

communists, socialists, and liberals in the 1930s under the banner of anti-

fascism. The intense, often fratricidal differences between these factions 

were—temporarily—put aside due to the overriding danger from the right. 

But the same dynamics existed on the right as well. Buckley may have 

denounced a right-wing popular front in 1960, but his own political career 

emerged out of a very real right-wing popular front that emerged in the 

1930s based around shared opposition to communism, socialism, and New 

Deal liberalism—and a sense that these were existential threats. Unlike the 

left’s Popular Front, which imploded after the signing of the Nazi-Soviet pact 
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in August 1939, the right-wing popular front continued to be a viable force 

in American politics through the 1960s. Revilo Oliver cheekily called it “One 

Big Union” of conservatives, riffi ng off the old Industrial Workers of the 

World slogan.12 Buckley may have denounced the right-wing popular front 

to Welch, but he was denouncing something real.

The story of the unraveling of this right-wing coalition is far more 

complicated than the traditional story of Buckley and National Review 

purging American conservatism of the crazies.13 There are three basic fl aws 

in this narrative. One, it suggests that the purge was a singular event instead 

of an ongoing process that did not simply end in 1965, when Buckley 

declared the John Birch Society persona non grata in his magazine. Two, it 

underrates the continued political infl uence of the far right and its complex 

relationship with conservatism into at least the 1990s. Three, perhaps most 

importantly, it does not take in account the actions of far rightists them-

selves. The modern white power movement in America was born from 

apostate conservatives who left the ranks of the movement because they felt 

it was insuffi ciently committed to defending white supremacy from the 

challenges of the Black freedom struggle. Whereas most conservatives were 

willing to make superfi cial concessions to the civil rights revolution through 

embracing the language of colorblindness (while also seeking to reinforce 

existing racial hierarchies), for the nascent white power movement even 

these concessions were unacceptable. And in the 1980s and 1990s—well 

after Buckley’s “purge” in the 1960s—mainline conservatives who strayed 

from the reigning conservative orthodoxy on race and racism and made 

their views explicitly known found a home among the white nationalist 

movement. Richard Spencer was, in many respects, their direct heir.

Since the mid-1990s, there has been an explosion of scholarly interest in the 

American conservative movement. The days in which Alan Brinkley could 

call the study of American conservatism a historiographical problem are 

long over. The past twenty-fi ve years have seen the growth of an incredibly 

diverse literature on post–World War II American conservatism from a 

multitude of different focuses and methodological aspects.14 At the same 

time, there has been a smaller, albeit also robust, literature on what is vari-

ously described as the “lunatic fringe,” “radical,” or “extremist” wing of the 

American political right.15 Even within the context of literature on the rela-

tionship between the far right and American conservatism, however, most 
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emphasis has been placed on the relationship between conservatives and 

the John Birch Society in the 1960s, when the far right was (supposedly) 

expelled from the “responsible” conservative movement. But that story is 

deeply misleading. For one, it suggests that the far right and American 

conservatism were essentially two distinct and separate political phenomena. 

A closer examination of the historical record, going back to the 1930s, 

reveals the opposite. The modern American right arose in the 1930s as a 

broad coalition opposed to the New Deal, which rightists believed to be 

fundamentally illegitimate and a threat to American identity.

Most rightists understood New Deal liberalism, socialism, and commu-

nism to be fundamentally the same thing, and many believed the New Deal 

was an “alien” agenda imposed upon the United States by communists, 

immigrants, and above all Jews. These attitudes remained remarkably 

consistent from the 1930s through the 1950s and colored right-wing hostility 

to American entry into World War II. Relatively few on the right openly 

spoke in favor of Hitler and the Nazis, but most expressed the belief, publicly 

or privately, that Soviet communism and its New Deal domestic ally were 

by far more threatening to America. Rightists also took a narrow view of 

Americanism that only gradually—and often begrudgingly—expanded to 

immigrants and Jews in the 1950s and 1960s. (Provided, of course, that they 

embraced the right politics.) The American far right—broadly defi ned as 

sympathetic to fascism or outright fascistic, nativist, antisemitic, skeptical of 

democracy, anti-labor, and fi ercely anti-communist—was a key constitutive 

component of this popular front. And crucially, late twentieth-century 

American conservatism evolved out of this popular front. There was no fi rm 

wall of separation between the “kooks” and “responsible” conservatism, and 

individual activists as well as organized groups could move fl uidly from one 

political camp to another.

The use of the term popular front to describe this conservative coalition 

opens up analytical space to understand both the underlying unity of the 

American right during the mid-twentieth century and its factional differ-

ences and confl icts. This utility derives from the extensive scholarship on 

the left-wing popular front in the 1930s. Broadly speaking, this was an 

uneasy international political coalition between various factions of commu-

nists, socialists, and liberals aimed at resisting fascism. The various popular 

fronts in Europe and North America were not “united” in any meaningful 

sense—the factions of the left remained extant and very much at odds with 
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one another—but what the popular front did mean in substantive political 

terms was the decline of bitter and vitriolic public attacks, particularly from 

communists, on other elements of the left.16

Although most far-right elements of the right-wing popular front would 

publicly disavow explicit Nazism, conspiratorial antisemitism—the belief in 

a global Jewish conspiracy, usually connected to international communism, 

to subvert and destroy America—was widespread in the American right 

from the 1930s through the 1960s. Conspiratorial antisemitism offered an 

explanation for the political reversals of the New Deal. Crude antisemitism 

held that secret Judeo-Bolshevik conspirators in the White House pushed 

forward the socialist “Jew Deal,” but a more sophisticated version—

articulated by many rightists using dog whistles and code words and the 

occasional explicit claim—held that Jewish political power, buttressed by 

Jewish immigration to the United States, was responsible for creating the 

conditions that allowed for the New Deal in the fi rst place. This is why the 

conspiratorial antisemitism of the far right was so closely tied to support for 

immigration restrictions—providing opportunities for political alliances 

with other restrictionists. Limiting Jewish immigration to the United States 

was a major goal. What united more muted conspiratorial antisemites with 

the crudest of the Jew-baiters, particularly after World War II, was a shared 

anti-Zionism and opposition to the U.S. recognition of Israel. This was not 

rooted in any particular concern for the Arab population of Palestine, but 

rather fear that the international Judeo-Bolshevik-Zionist conspiracy would 

embroil America in a war, weakening the U.S. and allowing for the victory of 

international Jewish communism. Right-wing antisemitism would plague 

the popular front throughout its existence and would eventually help lead to 

its decline in the 1960s. Conspiratorial antisemitism, however, remained 

present, if muted, in “respectable” conservative circles throughout the rest 

of the century and has seen a resurgence in the new millennium.

All of the principal protagonists in this book—Merwin K. Hart, Russell 

Maguire, George Lincoln Rockwell, Revilo Oliver, Pat Buchanan, and Joe 

Sobran—have something in common. They were all connected in some way 

to William F. Buckley Jr. They were all fi gures who, at one time or another in 

their careers, identifi ed themselves as conservatives. Many were liminal 

fi gures. Merwin Hart’s lengthy political career—which extended from the 

early 1930s to his death in 1962—put him in the same social and political 

circles as “respectable” conservative fi gures as well as avowed fascist 
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sympathizers. They were also connected to one another: one of Hart’s 

protégés was Russell Maguire, who while owner of the American Mercury 

published articles by George Lincoln Rockwell and even—according to 

Rockwell—entertained the idea of fi nancing Rockwell’s American Nazi 

Party. Oliver was an outspoken antisemite and close collaborator with 

Buckley in the early days of National Review; after an agonizing break with 

Buckley and being forced out of the John Birch Society, Oliver became an 

infl uential fi gure in American neo-Nazi circles, including an alliance with 

Rockwell’s successor in American Nazi politics, William Luther Pierce. Pat 

Buchanan was a former speechwriter for Richard Nixon, long-standing 

conservative pundit, and press secretary in the Reagan White House who 

became embroiled in controversy for fl irting with Holocaust denial in the 

early 1990s and claiming that American foreign policy was largely controlled 

by Jews. Joe Sobran, a protégé of Buckley’s who was on the masthead of 

National Review for years, drew fi re in the 1980s and 1990s for making state-

ments similar to Buchanan’s; after fi nally breaking with National Review in 

1993, Sobran made occasional appearances at Holocaust denial conferences 

alongside neo-Nazis and assorted white supremacists. Taken together, these 

men underscore the fl uid, dynamic, and deeply intertwined relationship 

between conservatism and the far right.

They all shared something else: they were white men of social distinc-

tion, affl uence, and privilege as befi tting their place in the social, racial, and 

gender hierarchies in the United States in the fi rst half of the twentieth 

century. Most were native-born; most were Christian, albeit with varying 

degrees of commitment to their faiths; most attained, either through birth 

or through wheeling and dealing, material success. Most were easterners or 

midwesterners, but none were what might be termed “old money”; Hart 

came the closest, as a Harvard classmate of Franklin Delano Roosevelt, but 

as the scion of an affl uent family from the Mohawk Valley in upstate New 

York, Hart could not claim, in the context of the early twentieth century, to 

truly come from the crème de la crème of American society.

But neither were radical right-wing politics solely the province of the 

petit bourgeois—a product of America being, as the writer Hunter S. 

Thompson put it, “a nation of 220 million used car salesmen.”17 William F. 

Buckley in the 1960s famously dismissed the most radical elements of the 

far right as “kooks,” publicly insinuating a kind of coarse vulgarity to his 

onetime political allies. But Hart was a Harvard man; Oliver had a PhD in 
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classics and was renowned as a Sanskrit scholar; Maguire held a degree 

from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and, at the height of his 

political activism, owned an apartment on Park Avenue in Manhattan. Even 

Rockwell, who went further than anyone had dared after World War II into 

explicit neo-Nazism, had a highly respectable background; he attended 

Brown University and served for nearly two decades in the U.S. Navy, 

attaining the rank of commander—the equivalent of a lieutenant colonel in 

the army—before being forced out when the full extent of his political activi-

ties was revealed. There have been many studies of grassroots right-wing 

organizing in the mid-twentieth-century United States; that the American 

right has always worn its Sunday best is not surprising. But the most radical 

elements of the American right that have long been stereotyped as the 

“lunatic fringe” have been no exception to that rule.

Ironically enough, the term lunatic fringe itself has been used freely as a 

pejorative for a variety of movements across the political, social, and cultural 

spectrum in the United States, almost always to characterize them as in 

some sense abnormal, atypical, or abhorrent. Former U.S. president 

Theodore Roosevelt was an early popularizer of the phrase—he wrote of his 

distaste for the Armory Show, a major modern art exhibition in New York 

City in 1913, saying sadly that there “is apt to be a lunatic fringe among the 

votaries of any forward movement.” The term subsequently entered wide-

spread use in the 1910s as a pejorative largely used by progressive elements 

to castigate rivals further to the left. In general, “lunatic fringe” had progres-

sive or left-wing connotations until the mid-1920s, when American news -

papers began to use the term, by then already a cliché, to describe far-right 

parties in Germany. By the mid-1930s “lunatic fringe,” although it still 

carried some degree of anti-leftist baggage, increasingly came to include the 

more radical elements of the American right and its opposition to the 

Roosevelt administration. Buckley’s use of “popular front” to describe 

the right may sound unusual or even absurd to liberals and leftists, but it 

draws on a long tradition of the fl uidity of political terms and concepts in 

American political discourse.18

What bound the right-wing popular front together? Shared opposition 

to communism, socialism, and New Deal liberalism—and a tendency 

to confl ate three very distinct strains of leftism and liberalism as 

synonymous—were the key constitutive components.19 But opposition to 
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these political ideologies alone is an insuffi cient explanation for the dura-

bility of the right-wing popular front and the vitality of right-wing political 

culture from the 1930s to the 1960s. There were other material and cultural 

factors that formed the substructure of the American right during this 

period and linked it with a larger international far right.

One overriding concern, linked to anticommunism but also distinct 

from it, was a ferocious opposition to organized labor and the ceding of any 

meaningful control over the workplace on the part of business owners and 

management. Section 7(a) of the National Industrial Recovery Act of 1933, 

which established federal protections for collective bargaining, and the 

subsequent 1935 Wagner Act affi rming labor rights were loathed by broad 

swaths of businessmen in the United States. Merwin Hart, who before 1933 

had dedicated his political and business career to a variety of anti–public 

spending and taxpayers’ rights lobbying campaigns, became radicalized. 

Unions, to Hart and other members of the nascent right-wing popular front 

in the 1930s, were both evidence of an international communist plot and, 

just as maliciously, a check on the rights and prerogatives of capital. Even as 

it became apparent, by the end of the 1930s, that a communist revolution 

through the trade unions was not imminent, the American right remained 

militantly hostile to organized labor.

This hostility did not imply there was nothing to learn from labor. The 

far right, in particular, often attempted to borrow or adapt tactics from orga-

nized labor in order to oppose such groups. In the 1930s, this meant orga-

nizing local elites in quasi-fascist vigilante groups to break the power of the 

Congress for Industrial Organization in small towns in Ohio, Pennsylvania, 

and upstate New York. In the 1940s, it meant borrowing from the CIO’s 

playbook and creating a political action committee, American Action, to 

oppose the CIO’s own CIO-PAC in the 1946 midterm elections. This was 

the fi rst right-wing political action committee established in the United 

States. It solicited donations from local and national businesses and 

disbursed campaign contributions to right-wing House and Senate candi-

dates across the country. Its national staff featured a who’s who of far-right 

activists and business lobbyists. Although by the 1950s it was increasingly 

diffi cult—in an era when nearly a third of Americans belonged to a union—

to argue that organized labor was simply a communist front, anti-unionism 

remained a major theme of right-wing and far-right organizing. Opposition 

to the basic legitimacy of collective bargaining was remarkably consistent. 
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The American Mercury magazine, Russell Maguire’s publication, retained, 

even as it fl irted with open neo-Nazism, advertising and subscription 

support from several major steel companies because of the magazine’s mili-

tant anti-unionism.

The American right-wing popular front understood itself as part of a 

broader international right. Francisco Franco’s regime in Spain had partic-

ular appeal—Madrid as much as Moscow held the American right together. 

Why? Because Franco appealed to the disparate elements of the right-wing 

popular front in America, serving as a kind of Rorschach test, a psycholog-

ical space where the ambitions and fantasies of the right-wing popular front 

could be enacted. Merwin Hart could look at Spain and see in Franco a 

strongman who properly disciplined labor in his country and brought the 

trade unions to heel. William F. Buckley could look at Franco and see a 

committed defender of Western Christendom. Both could look at Franco 

and see a dedicated anti-communist. Francoism was especially attractive to 

the American right because Franco occupied a liminal space in the global 

right: he was fascistic but his fascism could be plausibly denied. Such views 

were not simply products of the Cold War; these were the terms of the debate 

in the United States over the Spanish Civil War in the 1930s. Franco was a 

way for American rightists to embrace the global right without the messy 

baggage of Benito Mussolini or Adolf Hitler.

Far-right antisemites bitterly resented what they perceived to be 

“smears” about their politics, and this shared sense of victimization became 

a key ingredient forging the right-wing popular front together into a 

common coalition. Right-wingers particularly begrudged the accusations, 

often trotted out by liberals and leftists, that they had been sympathetic to 

fascism before and during World War II. They were maddened that they 

were being smeared as fascists and agents of foreign powers for supporting 

American values—Christianity (as opposed to Judaism), free enterprise, 

white supremacy, anticommunism, anti-liberalism, and opposition to 

labor—by political opponents supposedly in thrall to international commu-

nism. Indeed, there was a considerable degree of schadenfreude on the 

American right in the early 1950s, as Senator Joseph McCarthy and other 

anti-communist activists turned the political tables on the liberal and anti-

fascist “smear artists” of the 1940s. But although sometimes the attacks 

from the left and the liberals were hyperbolic—while the right had its global 

dimensions, there was no fascist analogue to the Comintern—there were 
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core elements of truth to the left/liberal critique of the American right as 

fascist-adjacent, and not just at the moment of fascism’s apparent global 

ascendency in the 1930s. Buckley deeply resented the fascist smear, as did 

members of the John Birch Society, but there really were racists, antisemites, 

and Nazi sympathizers in the ranks of conservatism in the 1950s and 1960s. 

Conservative resentment about the fascism “smear” was so bitter precisely 

because the claim was not groundless.

Even before Donald Trump’s election in 2016, debate raged over 

whether or not Trump and/or Trumpism could be characterized as fascist. 

Some were open to the label early on, pointing to Trump’s demagoguery, 

calls for national renewal, and the fervor of the political mobilization behind 

him. (President Barack Obama reportedly called Trump a fascist in private 

during the 2016 campaign.) Others were more circumspect; the historian 

Robert Paxton said in an interview in February 2016 that there were “echoes” 

of fascism in Trumpism but he was reluctant to classify Trump himself as a 

fascist.20 While many other voices during the Trump administration empha-

sized its fascistic dimensions—in particular the work of journalist John 

Ganz—Paxton remained on the fence.21 But the chaos and political violence 

of January 6, 2021 were enough to convince Paxton, as well as other long-

standing critics on the left of the Trump-as-fascist thesis, like political scien-

tist Adolph Reed, that there was merit to the analysis.22 Still, there remain 

outspoken left-wing critics of the fascism thesis, in particular historians 

Daniel Bessner and Sam Moyn.23 This book will not resolve the debate nor 

satisfy critics of the fascism thesis, but it does seek to rethink what twentieth-

century American political history looks like when the question of fascism is 

taken soberly and seriously as part of the American political tradition.
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war was on the mind of most Americans when Secretary of the 

Interior Harold Ickes took the stage at New York’s town hall on the morning of 

November 20, 1940. World War II continued to rage in Europe. Only two 

months earlier, President Franklin D. Roosevelt signed into law America’s 

fi rst peacetime draft, signaling that the United States was gearing up for 

potential entry into the confl ict. Ickes’s speech at the town hall was not about 

the threat overseas, but rather the danger of “native fascist groups” at home, 

which he described as a potential fi fth column. These groups included the 

usual suspects of American fascism in the 1930s. The Ku Klux Klan, the Ger-

man American Bund, and the Silver Shirts were all castigated by the secretary. 

But Ickes also named individuals. Charles Lindbergh was a “busy appeaser 

who would voluntarily surrender his sword even before it is demanded.” 

Father Charles Coughlin, the infamously antisemitic radio priest, “gets his 

propaganda from German sources.” But not everyone whom Ickes singled 

out as a fascist sympathizer would have been immediately familiar to a nation-

al audience. Ickes berated Merwin K. Hart, the head of the New York State 

Economic Council and a longtime opponent of President Roosevelt, as a man 

who “misses few occasions to sneer at democracy.” When asked for comment 

by the New York Herald Tribune, Hart responded, “The last fi ve years any one 

who has fallen for the collectivist philosophy has called every one who differed 

from him a Fascist. If I’m a Fascist, Ickes is the proverbial Chinaman.”1

 chapter one

“It Is Time to Brush aside This Word 

‘Democracy’”
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Ickes was right, though—Hart had repeatedly demeaned the term 

democracy. On September 20, Hart gave a speech at the elite Union League 

Club on East Thirty-Seventh Street and Park Avenue in which he told an 

assembled audience of 150 businessmen that “it is time to brush aside this 

word ‘democracy’ with its connotations.” Hart’s comments were provocative 

enough to earn a riposte from the New York Times, which published an edito-

rial the next day decrying that democracy had in fact been “brushed aside 

nearly everywhere east of the English channel . . . [and] to brush it out of the 

United States would require a reversal of nearly everything that has 

happened in our political life since the Declaration of Independence.”2 

Never a man to allow someone the last word, Hart wrote a letter to the Times 

that very day irately noting that the “editorial fails to quote my next sentence. 

‘It is time to return to the conception of the republic—a conception so clear 

that all can understand.’ ” Hart also insisted that the Times reprint his speech 

in full—a request with which the paper duly complied. In his remarks to the 

Union League Club, Hart argued that the Founding Fathers rejected the 

conception of democracy but instead formed a republic—after all, “Julia 

Ward Howe did not write the Battle Hymn of Democracy.” America was a 

republic, not a democracy.

So why, then, did the Roosevelt administration and its political allies 

insist on calling America a “democracy”? Governor Herbert Lehman used 

the word democracy twenty-fi ve times in his annual address to the New York 

legislature in 1939, and thirty-three times in 1940, Hart noted. “So far as I 

can see, the great impetus to the use of this word appeared after the meeting 

of the Communist International in 1935.”

Democracy was, in fact, a communist plot.

Throughout his lengthy career as a professional political activist—

which spanned from the 1930s to the early 1960s—Merwin K. Hart was a 

liminal fi gure on the American right. Not quite a member of the conserva-

tive establishment, and not quite an unreconstructed far right activist, Hart 

fl itted from pole to pole within the big tent of the American right. He was, in 

many respects, a true popular front man, equally at home socializing with 

elites like senators, congressmen, and the Buckleys as well as appearing on 

the stump with notorious extremists like Elizabeth Dilling. An arch oppo-

nent of American intervention in World War II and so outspokenly antise-

mitic that the America First Committee maintained its distance from him, 

Hart was also careful never to explicitly endorse Nazism or fascism, 
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and—like subsequent generations of conservatives—bitterly resented 

“smears” that he harbored fascist sympathies. And yet Hart was also an 

unrepentant admirer of Francisco Franco, even declaring at the height of the 

Spanish Civil War that his fi ght against organized labor and the New Deal in 

America was simply another front in the war against international commu-

nism that Franco was waging in Spain. Hart has been long ignored by histo-

rians as a marginal fi gure, but his lengthy career illustrates just how central 

the far right was in the development of modern American conservatism. 

Throughout his life, in speeches, newsletters, and talking to reporters, Hart 

decried the “alien” infl uence of the New Deal on American life and argued 

for the importance of taking America back to its authentic values and iden-

tity. For Hart, this meant rejecting communism, socialism, and New Deal 

liberalism . . . and there was little distinction between the three.

Hart had been a fi xture in New York state politics for over thirty years before 

his spat with Ickes in 1940. Hart was born in Utica, in the heart of the 

Mohawk Valley, in 1881 to an old Anglo-Saxon Protestant family. Hart 

attended St. Paul’s School and Harvard University, where one of his class-

mates was Franklin Delano Roosevelt, his future nemesis. After graduating 

in 1904, he returned to Utica, where he went to work for his father’s manu-

facturing fi rm, building boilers and radiators for use in homes, offi ces, and 

factories. His early life trajectory was a thoroughly unremarkable story of an 

upper-middle-class businessman, right down to his marriage to the 

daughter of his father’s business partner in 1909.

Hart, however, harbored political aspirations. He was elected as a 

Republican to the New York state legislature representing his home Oneida 

County from 1906 through 1910. Hart was in many ways a typical 

Republican backbencher of the Progressive Era—he was a staunch 

supporter of both President Theodore Roosevelt and New York governor 

Charles Evans Hughes. His legislative accomplishments were modest—his 

most noteworthy was co-sponsoring anti-gambling legislation signed into 

law by Hughes in 1908. There were, however, early signs of Hart’s unease 

regarding democracy and its implied limitations on the power of capital and 

management. In 1907 he penned an article for the Outlook magazine criti-

cizing William Jennings Bryan for declaring that elected offi cials are 

“selected by the people to give legislative expression to their thoughts and 

their will.” Bryan “really advocates weakness and ineffi ciency,” Hart wrote, 
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in arguing that elected offi cials ought to be guided by concerns about the 

views of their constituents. Rather, the proper role of offi ceholders was anal-

ogous to management of a corporation. “If the manager is worthy of the 

place he holds, he will have free hand in the conduct of all ordinary matters.” 

Hart framed this as a sensible, pragmatic philosophy rooted in the best prac-

tices of the “modern business corporation.”3

How did a Progressive in 1910 move fi rmly into the camp of the right by 

the 1930s? Part of the answer lies in the very nature of Progressivism itself. 

The Progressive movement in the early part of the twentieth century was not 

a single, tightly organized political movement or even a coherently defi ned 

ideology; it was a variety of different intertwining movements and ideologies 

that tried to answer how best to govern a modern, industrialized society.

Modernity demanded new reforms and governmental regulation. 

When he became president, for example, Theodore Roosevelt instructed the 

Justice Department to begin to aggressively prosecute anti-trust cases and 

spearheaded broad health and safety regulations. But there were limits to 

Progressives’ zeal. While many Progressives could speak the language of 

radicalism, they were not socialists. Roosevelt, in his fi rst message to 

Congress, declared that the “mechanism of modern business is so delicate 

that extreme care must be taken not to interfere with it in a spirit of rashness 

or ignorance.” Too much regulation, let alone nationalization, was off the 

table. In a later speech, Roosevelt also warned that “class consciousness” 

along the lines of the labor movement would do “far-reaching damage” to 

American society. Modernizing the business and regulatory environment 

was one thing; empowering labor was quite another.4

Many Progressives were also unabashed xenophobes and white 

supremacists. Theodore Roosevelt was an outspoken believer in the provi-

dential destiny of the Anglo-Saxon race. Madison Grant, one of Roosevelt’s 

close personal friends in the cloistered world of New York Progressivism, 

was a prominent eugenicist and the author of the 1916 book The Passing of 

the Great Race, the most infl uential work of scientifi c racism of the twentieth 

century. (Upon reading the German translation for the fi rst time, Adolf 

Hitler is reported to have described the book as “my Bible.”) John B. Trevor, 

a law school classmate of Franklin Roosevelt and friend of Madison Grant 

(and, later in life, Merwin Hart), was one of the architects of the 1924 

Immigration Act levying discriminatory quotas against racially undesirable 

immigrants from southern and eastern Europe. And Woodrow Wilson, 
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who, although a Democrat and Roosevelt’s eventual political nemesis, was 

also widely recognized as a Progressive leader, was a viciously anti-Black 

racist who segregated the federal civil service and screened the 1915 epic 

white supremacist fi lm The Birth of a Nation at the White House.5

There was nothing incompatible between Progressivism and an unwav-

ering belief in America for (white, preferably Anglo-Saxon) Americans. 

Indeed, while urban reform work dedicated to providing aid to immigrants in 

the new urban metropolises in America was one of the most noteworthy 

Progressive causes of the era, Progressive reformers were at best paternalistic 

in their attitudes to immigrants, who had to be instilled with “100 percent 

American” values. (Others, like Trevor, preferred to keep new immigrants out 

of the country altogether.) And although many Progressives had a dynamic 

relationship with intellectual currents on the other side of the Atlantic—

many Progressive urban reformers looked to European cities for ideas on 

how best to govern the American cities—there was also a profoundly xeno-

phobic streak. Woodrow Wilson even went so far as to suggest that Thomas 

Jefferson was not truly a “great American” because of the infl uence of radical 

French philosophy on his thinking. Keeping America American, and free 

from radical foreign infl uences, was a key component of Progressivism.6

Some of these Progressives would, albeit grudgingly, embrace the New 

Deal coalition in the 1930s. Others saw it as the harbinger of unacceptable 

social and political change leading to socialism or even communism. 

Merwin Hart was one of the latter. Hart abandoned his political career after 

an unsuccessful state senate bid in 1910, and settled down to practice law in 

Utica. Despite his age and nearsightedness, Hart served in World War I, 

even appealing to his old Harvard classmate Franklin D. Roosevelt—then 

the assistant secretary of the navy—to obtain a commission. His postwar 

career was unremarkable until 1926, when Hart was named the employers’ 

representative to the New York State Industrial Survey Commission.7 The 

commission was one of dozens of state investigative bodies formed in New 

York under Progressive Democratic governor Al Smith’s tenure from 1923 

through 1929. Other commissions and inquiries focused on public health-

care, public land use, public ownership of utilities, and administrative 

service reform. In fact, Smith’s Republican opponent in the 1926 race for 

governor, Manhattan congressman Ogden Mills, repeatedly attacked the 

governor’s reform agenda as “Socialism.” (Smith, with characteristic blunt-

ness, replied that “the Congressman’s talk about Socialism is, using a mild 
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term, stupid.”)8 Unlike Smith’s reform commissions, however, the 

Industrial Survey Commission was created by the Republican legislature. 

The Democratic house minority leader in Albany called it an attempt by 

conservative Republicans to stifl e a proposed law to limit the workweek for 

women textile workers to forty-eight hours. In addition to Hart, members of 

the commission also included state legislators and a representative from 

organized labor. Hart, for his part, functioned as a kind of grand inquisitor 

of pro-labor witnesses. He challenged, for example, the claims of the secre-

tary of the boot and shoe workers’ union in Rochester that prison labor from 

Indiana, Maryland, and Kentucky was driving manufacturing losses in the 

Genesee River valley, instead pointing to the “restrictive” proposed forty-

eight-hour workweek bill and unionized workers’ higher wages.9

Hart’s presence on the committee, however, was not enough to prevent 

the group from recommending in its report to the legislature in 1927 that 

the bill be passed. In an attached dissent, Hart dismissed the commission’s 

recommendation as “not predicated upon either economic or legal grounds” 

and feared that the end result would be to drive smaller fi rms out of busi-

ness. (Hart was hardly a corporate titan; his business interests through his 

legal practice, family manufacturing company, and insurance fi rm ensured 

him affl uence and a degree of local prominence, but he did not have the 

resources of a Carnegie or a Rockefeller.) A forty-eight-hour workweek, he 

wrote, “has been a mere plank in a political platform. It has become a fetish” 

for labor activists, who ignored “widespread evidence that the economic 

tendency is toward shorter hours in industry” compelled by market forces. 

Hart’s dissent in the Industrial Survey Commission’s report touched on 

what would become common themes in his subsequent political activism: 

organized labor and other outside interests were engaged in a spurious 

political war against employers and management.10

There is no explicit indication in the 1927 report that Hart considered 

the demands of the garment workers to be motivated by “aliens” or 

“Communists,” but the International Ladies’ Garment Workers’ Union, the 

largest and most important union of women workers in New York State, was 

both heavily Jewish and had been wracked by bruising internal battles 

between socialists and social democrats on the one hand and members of 

the Communist Party on the other. Additionally, Emanuel Koveleski, the 

labor representative on the commission and a vice president of the New 

York State Federation of Labor, was Jewish, although hardly a radical (the 
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communist Daily Worker described his work on the commission as “rather 

timid”). If Hart did indeed harbor a belief that communists and Jews were 

responsible for the commission’s endorsement of the forty-eight-hour work-

week bill, he kept it to himself.11

Franklin D. Roosevelt’s election to the governorship of New York in 

1928 did not appear to signal, at least initially, anything more than a continu-

ation of Al Smith’s program of moderate reforms. Roosevelt’s election was 

an opportunity for Hart, since he had personally known FDR in college and 

had served as the Oneida County chair of Theodore Roosevelt’s 1912 election 

campaign. But it quickly became clear that the new governor would embark 

on a much more aggressive reform agenda. FDR’s appointment of Frances 

Perkins as New York’s industrial commissioner was an ominous sign to the 

business interests in the state that had opposed efforts under Smith to pass 

forty-eight-hour workweek legislation. Perkins assailed the conclusion of the 

commission that Hart endorsed most strongly—that high taxes and a rising 

public debt were discouraging business development—at a statewide 

economic conference at the Hotel Astor in Times Square in April 1929.12 In 

response, the manufacturers at the conference successfully proposed to 

create a “Committee of Twenty-Five” to further examine the economic 

conditions in the state from the perspective of capital. There was little hope 

of enacting a comprehensive pro-business agenda with Roosevelt in the 

governor’s mansion and Perkins as industrial commissioner, but Hart and 

his allies hoped to keep the issue alive into 1930 when, hopefully, there 

would be a change in government.13

But the ground was shifting under their feet. The basic assumptions 

that governed the Harding-Coolidge-Hoover years—that the purpose of 

government was to provide a nourishing environment for free enterprise, 

thereby ensuring mass prosperity—had been called into question (to put it 

mildly) by the economic collapse in 1929. Roosevelt, already eyeing the pres-

idency even before the onset of the Great Depression, set to work capital-

izing on the political opportunities presented by the economic crisis, and 

pushed for a robust agenda in Albany emphasizing pro-labor legislation, 

unemployment relief, and aid to the state’s farmers. Roosevelt’s proto–New 

Deal in Albany was the antithesis of what Hart advocated for on the 

Industrial Survey Commission.14

Hart’s “Committee of Twenty-Five” was made up of businessmen from 

around the state, including Magnus Alexander, the president of the National 
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Industrial Conference Board; Elon Hooker, the president of a chemical manu-

facturing concern; and James H. McGraw, the publishing tycoon.15 Unlike the 

Survey Commission, there was no offi cial state sanction for the committee—

it was in essence a pro-business pressure group. The political orientation of 

the committee can be gleaned by Hooker’s speech to the New York Women’s 

Forum in December 1929, in which he blamed high taxes for the economic 

downturn. (Hooker added that “the great prosperity of this country is due to a 

great extent to . . . restricted immigration,” and that “absolute prohibition of 

immigration is needed to maintain the high standard of living in America.”) 

Hart launched a campaign against the public development of the St. Lawrence 

Seaway the following January, since it would have to be fi nanced by a “heavy 

and growing burden of taxation.”16 In mid-June, the “Committee of 25” was 

redubbed the New York State Economic Council. In a press release accompa-

nying the rebranding, Hart declared that “we believe the present drifting 

tendency in government in its relation to the economic life of the people can 

be arrested.”17 Events over the next two years would prove him to be mistaken.

It is impossible to exaggerate the impact of the Great Depression on the 

history of the twentieth century. “But for it,” wrote historian Eric Hobsbawm, 

“there would certainly have been no Hitler. There would certainly have been 

no Roosevelt.” It was not simply that there had been no previous economic 

downturns in industrialized capitalist economies. The nineteenth century 

was replete with examples of depressions, recessions, and crises. What 

made the Depression unique was that it was a sustained global downturn 

that appeared to threaten the very foundations of liberal capitalism, already 

substantially weakened by the strains of the First World War. In Europe, 

communism and fascism offered alternative visions of industrial moder-

nity—and both ideologies had their American admirers.18

Merwin Hart’s initial vision for the business response to the economic 

crisis of the Depression was certainly bold. In a speech to an assembly of 

forty executives in Glens Falls on June 23, he told the gathering that New 

York’s economic leadership “must take a controlling part in government as 

it affects business” instead of leaving it to “muddling and trimming politi-

cians.” He blamed New York’s onerous regulatory environment, which had 

grown ever heavier under Smith and now under Roosevelt, for the 

Depression. He even went so far as to blame FDR for the explosion in unem-

ployment. Hart’s speech was short on specifi cs as to how businessmen 
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ought to “take control” of the legislative process, but the implication was 

clear. If a majority of voters elected into offi ce politicians who sought to 

expand programs and labor protections, then business ought to treat those 

politicians—and, by extension, their voters—as illegitimate. Hart was, in 

essence, rejecting a basic principle of liberal democracy. “Politics,” he 

sneered, “had her heyday.”19

Hart’s call for corporate leaders to take control of government made little 

sense, as businessmen from all walks of industry already exercised outsized 

power over American public life. Herbert Hoover was a proverbial self-made 

businessman who had built his fortune as a mining engineer and his reputa-

tion as a humanitarian before serving in the Harding and Coolidge adminis-

trations. Hoover’s secretary of the treasury, Andrew Mellon, was a prominent 

banker and fi nancier in Pittsburgh who owned or had a major interest in 

dozens of the largest companies in the United States. Hart sat on Governor 

Franklin Roosevelt’s Budget Advisory Committee in New York, along with his 

fellow Economic Council member Alexander Falck, chairman of the board of 

Corning Glass Works.20 However, the real issue was not that businessmen 

did not have enough political infl uence, but that the economic crisis of the 

Great Depression threatened the massive political, social, and economic infl u-

ence business leaders had hitherto enjoyed. The creation of the New York 

State Economic Council was a preemptive move to block a challenge to the 

power of business over policy in New York and the rest of the country.

Hart and the other members of the Economic Council quickly ran into 

a major obstacle, however. Their views were incredibly unpopular.

Franklin D. Roosevelt was reelected as governor in November 1930 by a 

margin of over twenty points. The Democratic ticket captured every state-

wide offi ce, putting a signifi cant dent in the GOP’s control over the State 

Assembly.21 The Economic Council’s reputation was not helped by the public 

statements of James W. Gerard, Woodrow Wilson’s ambassador to Germany, 

who sparked widespread outrage in the summer of 1930 by claiming that 

fi fty-nine people—all businessmen—were the true rulers of America by dint 

of the “virtue of their ability.” Although Gerard apparently meant his remark 

as a compliment, to detractors it suggested that businessmen both could and 

should effectively control local, state, and federal government through a 

behind-the-scenes exercise of political power.22

Hart was apparently undeterred by the widespread ridicule heaped 

upon Gerard or the punishing losses the Republican Party suffered in 
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Albany—less than a month after the election, he wrote several open letters 

to Governor Roosevelt protesting his public-works programs as “an injustice 

. . . to people not in the building trades.”23 The following spring, he told the 

New York State Bankers’ Association that “only a strong, virile policy against 

excessive taxation” would pull the country out of the Depression, main-

taining that in New York high taxes were driving job-producing businesses 

out of the state. Hart suggested that slashing school funding would provide 

the requisite savings to cut taxes, adding that for too long “we have been 

permitting experts to run education”—a theme that Hart would return to 

later in the decade.24 Even as Republicans in the State Assembly embraced 

the necessity of public relief—a proposed GOP plan in September 1931 

differed from Roosevelt’s relief program only in the distributive mechanism 

of some $20 million allocated for public relief, not the amount itself—Hart 

steadfastly maintained that government spending caused and exacerbated 

the economic collapse.25

Although the New York State Economic Council’s legislative infl uence 

on the policy process in Albany was limited, Hart’s speeches were frequently 

broadcast on the radio, and meetings of the Economic Council were reported 

by major newspapers, which generally framed the group as expert busi-

nessmen seeking good-faith solutions to the Depression. Press criticism 

was generally muted, prompted only by errors council members made, like 

Gerard’s much-maligned list. Given both Roosevelt’s popularity in New York 

State and the degree to which even the Republican Party had embraced 

elements of his agenda, Hart served as a voice of “balance” in the state’s 

newspapers. No matter what, Hart and the Economic Council could be 

relied upon to give a quote opposing the entirety of the relief agenda. An 

article in the New York Times detailing the battles in the state legislature over 

Roosevelt’s relief plan in September 1931 closed by quoting Hart’s opposi-

tion to, among other things, the payment of unemployment benefi ts, addi-

tional income taxes, and both the GOP and Roosevelt’s plans to disperse aid 

through state agencies (if aid must be disbursed, Hart preferred that it be 

done at the discretion of local offi cials). Given the relative unanimity among 

state offi cials about the necessity of state intervention, the Economic 

Council’s unyielding opposition at least provided good copy.26

Throughout the rest of 1931 and into 1932, the Economic Council 

continued its crusade to slash the state budget. Roosevelt openly rebuked 

Hart’s demands in a speech to the Albany chamber of commerce in January 
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1932, ridiculing the council’s call to slash the wages of state employees and 

retrench on public-works projects. The construction of state highways alone, 

Roosevelt told his audience, employed nearly ten thousand workers. The 

governor also dismissed another of Hart’s long-standing demands—to slash 

the state parks budget—by arguing that park spending provided recreation for 

the poorest New Yorkers, who could not afford other recreations. Hart’s grim 

insistence on fi scal austerity was no match for Roosevelt’s sunny economic 

populism. Frances Perkins scoffed at the council’s demands for aid cuts—“I 

am struck with the great amount of poverty and panhandling on the street,” 

she told state aid workers in the winter of 1932—“[and] if we were to cut off the 

social services” per the council’s agenda, the results would be disastrous.27

Still, the New York State Economic Council could claim some limited 

successes in its anti-spending advocacy. In February 1932 the state legisla-

ture, still controlled by the Republican Party, slashed $20 million from 

Roosevelt’s proposed $320 million executive budget—with half the budget 

reductions coming from cutting highway funding, long a target of the 

Economic Council’s ire.28 But the 1932 budget was still larger than the 1931 

budget by some $10 million, a far cry from Hart’s professed goal of cutting 

state expenditures by 25 percent. Even cutting the budget by a quarter from 

fi scal year 1931 to fi scal year 1932 would have meant that the state budget 

was nearly $85 million larger than in 1926. Roosevelt’s budget plans were in 

response to a massive economic emergency—the state’s unemployment 

rate was approaching 20 percent by 1931—and were limited by both state 

statute and Roosevelt’s own fi scal beliefs. Roosevelt never fully embraced 

defi cit spending even during his presidency—federal budget cuts in 1937 

were a major factor in sliding the economy back into recession—and in any 

event in New York the state government was constitutionally unable to 

engage in defi cit spending. The budget had to be balanced, which meant, 

among other things, that taxes had to go up.

The council correspondingly served a useful political purpose for the 

Roosevelt administration, which fought pressure for budget cuts at every 

possible opportunity. Roosevelt consistently opposed regressive tax 

measures like a sales tax during his time in Albany; what was the point, he 

argued, in shifting the tax burden to people who were already unemployed? 

Social welfare liberals could use austerity hawks like Hart to paint opponents 

of relief schemes as unreasonable ideologues clinging to tired old ideas 

instead of adapting to the new circumstances of the Depression.
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Meanwhile, the political situation in the United States continued to 

worsen. In June 1932 tens of thousands of unemployed World War I veterans 

descended on Washington, DC, to demonstrate for the early redemption of 

the “adjusted compensation certifi cates” they were to receive for their service 

during the war, which were worth about $1,000 and scheduled to be paid 

in 1945. Approximately twenty-two thousand marchers gathered in 

Washington by the end of June, assembling a shantytown on the banks of 

the Anacostia River about ten blocks from the Capitol. General Douglas 

MacArthur was suffi ciently concerned by the possibility that the Bonus 

Army demonstration was a prelude to communist revolution that he 

instructed his subordinates to compile the names of marchers with “known 

communistic leanings” and ordered the War Department’s “Plan White,” a 

contingency plan dealing with a communist uprising, to be revised in light 

of the situation. When President Herbert Hoover ordered the U.S. Army to 

assist DC police in clearing the Bonus Army marchers from their encamp-

ment on July 28, MacArthur personally led the detachment, telling his 

deputy, Major Dwight D. Eisenhower, that “incipient revolution [was] in the 

air.” President Franklin D. Roosevelt later privately described MacArthur as 

one of the most dangerous men in the country.29

Hart, apparently frustrated by the council’s continued ineffectiveness in 

Albany, began seeking out national allies. He secured a meeting with 

President Herbert Hoover at the White House in May 1932, at which he 

urged the president to immediately slash the federal budget to 1926 

spending levels, a demand that won Hart a ringing endorsement from 

conservative Chicago newspaperman Colonel Robert McCormick and his 

Chicago Tribune, one of the most widely read newspapers in the country.30 

Hart went even further than most austerity hawks when he warned the pres-

ident that continued federal profl igacy would cut into Hoover’s support in 

traditional Republican strongholds like upstate New York.31 McCormick’s 

paper applauded the council as a necessary crusader against the “unscrupu-

lous politicians within the District of Columbia” determined to effect the 

“destruction of private enterprise and the creation in its place of a collectivist 

society.” In June McCormick traveled to New York to attend the annual 

meeting of the Economic Council, where speakers inveighed against federal 

and state taxation and spending at every level. McCormick went even further: 

“Congress is composed,” he told the conference, “of a large majority of 

confused men who are led, dominated and driven by a handful of 
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Communists, who in turn are ably seconded by a crowd of morons calling 

themselves Progressives and Liberals.”32

Red-baiting was a tried-and-true tactic against liberal reformers; even Al 

Smith—who had by 1932 embraced an austerity program and was 

attempting to block Roosevelt’s nomination—had been smeared as a 

socialist by his Republican opponent in the 1926 New York governor’s race 

and again in the 1928 presidential race.33 But McCormick’s suggestion—

that progressives and liberals were themselves dupes of a shadowy commu-

nist conspiracy—was a new public talking point. Suggesting that 

progressives and liberals were taking their marching orders from the 

Communist Party, even if unwittingly, implied that the entire political 

project of liberalism was somehow alien or un-American. These themes 

would eventually dominate the life of Hart and his organization.

Roosevelt’s landslide election to the presidency in 1932—and a similar 

crushing victory by Democrat Herbert Lehman in the New York state gover-

nor’s race—demonstrated yet again that the general political tide of both 

New York State and the country had turned decisively against Republican 

politics of austerity. Hart continued, however, to press for dramatic budget 

cuts in New York, even going so far as to accuse Lehman of deliberately mis-

citing fi gures to mask the state’s $150 million budget defi cit and demanding 

that state aid to education be cut by some 20 percent.34 Education spending 

became the major political football in the debates over the 1933 budget; Hart 

found an ally in William Randolph Hearst’s New York Herald Tribune, which 

opined that “a deep cut should be made temporarily in the state’s aid to 

education” and commended Hart’s “telling factual arguments” about the 

budget crisis. But Hart continued to overreach. By any reasonable measure 

Lehman’s fi nal $200 million budget—$100 million less than Roosevelt’s a 

year earlier—was a massive victory for anti–government spending advo-

cates in New York State. But Hart still found these cuts to be inadequate. He 

called for an additional $30 million in spending reductions.35

Despite Hart’s disappointment with the continued glut of spending in 

Albany, his group expanded dramatically. The New York State Economic 

Council was, in the 1930s, a mass-membership organization. Fifty county 

chapters and affi liates formed across New York State, and in many instances 

these were actually able to substantively affect county and municipal 

spending. The local Economic Council branch in Westchester County 



28 the right-wing popular front,  1933–53

organized for tax relief, claiming that fi nancial hardships made it impossible 

to comply with the tax code. In Ulster County, the local chapter of the council 

managed to cut the county budget by 57 percent. According to Hart, the state 

council and its affi liates had a combined membership of more than fi fty 

thousand taxpayers across the state.36

The council also enjoyed increasing national prominence. Robert 

McCormick maintained his ties with the group, frequently sending letters to 

Economic Council meetings in Manhattan and occasionally making a 

personal appearance. McCormick’s Chicago Tribune began covering the 

council more frequently and more favorably in 1933, writing glowingly of the 

organization’s successful efforts to reduce Roosevelt’s budget in 1932 and of 

its grassroots organizing efforts at the county level. In a message read aloud 

by Hart at a council meeting in 1933, McCormick urged the group to continue 

to organize at the county and district level and “procure the election of . . . 

men who are . . . sound in their conceptions of public affairs and economics.”37

Hart and the Economic Council were opposed to most of Roosevelt’s 

New Deal agenda in Washington. In an op-ed published two months into 

FDR’s presidency, Hart savaged the president for his support of minimum-

wage laws, development plans for the Tennessee River valley, and the 

ballooning federal debt. But the council, reading the political winds, made at 

least an attempt to render their anti-tax, anti-spending, and anti-regulation 

views palatable to the public. In the same op-ed, Hart conceded that wages 

did in fact need be raised across the board and that infrastructure develop-

ment could be an important mechanism to solve the unemployment crisis, 

but maintained that these problems would solve themselves if a way 

could be found to “make private business profi table.” Hart’s proposed 

solution was to relax anti-trust laws and allow for trade associations to run 

entire industries—“to fi x prices, decide upon the volume of production, 

divide territory, agree upon minimum wages, set up unemployment 

reserves, etc.”38 Hart’s proposed solution to boosting industrial productivity 

was industrial cartelization—precisely the approach the Roosevelt adminis-

tration took with the National Industrial Recovery Act and the National 

Recovery Administration (NRA). Intimates in Roosevelt’s inner circle, from 

Bernard Baruch to Raymond Moley, had been pressing for a kind of “coop-

erative government-business planning” since before the election. Even hard-

ened anti-regulation groups—including the National Association of 

Manufacturers and the Chamber of Commerce—accepted in broad terms 
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the private-partnership aspect of the NRA. Hart even joined the New York 

Bar Association’s NRA committee. The NRA’s underwriting of corporate 

industrial organization was entirely in keeping with the New York State 

Economic Council’s raison d’être—to allow for businessmen to set national 

business policy. The problem, however, was organized labor.39

Under section 7(a) of the National Industrial Recovery Act (NIRA), the 

participation of companies in industrial cartelization—a major component 

of which was the long-sought relaxation of anti-trust laws—was contingent 

upon accepting the right of workers to organize unions and bargain collec-

tively free of company coercion. So-called yellow-dog contracts, which 

banned workers from participating in labor organizing on pain of termina-

tion, were outlawed. This was too far for the business lobby—the National 

Association of Manufacturers and the Chamber of Commerce both unsuc-

cessfully fought for section 7(a) to be torpedoed during congressional 

debates in May.40 Hart declared in an editorial that business should not have 

to swallow the poison pill of labor law in order for anti-trust laws to be 

relaxed. It was time, he wrote, “for the American people, and especially the 

workers, to wake up to what is going on”: section 7(a) was a scheme to 

promote the un-American philosophy of a “closed shop” that required union 

membership as a condition of employment, a usurpation of the free-labor 

right of contract. This had long been a talking point of anti-union manage-

ment—as well as the argument that the American Federation of Labor 

(AFL), which Hart singled out for particular vitriol, represented a third-party 

“purely private organization” that served its own interests, not those of its 

members. (This focus on the AFL was rather odd, considering that the feder-

ation was far more conservative than its rival industrial trade unions.) 

According to Hart, section 7(a), the AFL, and the very concept of labor orga-

nization itself were un-American. “We recognize no classes in America. We 

have no working class, in the sense they use in Europe. Half the men in 

overalls are on their way up. They will be foremen, superintendents, vice-

presidents, and presidents tomorrow.” Hart argued it was vital to allow those 

with God-given natural talent to rise to the top. “The closed shop recognizes 

classes. It bars the way for the better man.”41

Hart was enraged by the wave of labor organizing and strikes triggered 

by the passage of the NRA—he complained in a column in the New York 

Herald Tribune that the sidewalks on his daily commute to his offi ce in 

Manhattan were now clogged with union pickets, and, falling back on 
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anti-union bromides, charged that unions were an “outside organization” 

that “have not the slightest interest or responsibility in the successful 

conduct of business.” But already by October of 1933 Hart’s language had 

taken a turn toward the conspiratorial, at least as far as labor was concerned. 

The closed shop was not just un-American, it was “autocratic [and] tyran-

nical” because, contrary to public opinion, “unions are not . . . democratic 

organizations.” Labor unions, from national organizations like the AFL to 

the local construction unions in New York, were rather “almost entirely 

under control of an inner ring of offi cers.” Hart refrained, for the moment, 

from insinuating that all labor offi cials were communists or somehow 

under the sway of Moscow, but the implication was clear: trade unionism 

was in effect a conspiracy. Just who was pulling the strings, however, 

remained unclear in Hart’s public statements.42

In February 1934 the council began publishing a weekly newsletter 

written by Hart summarizing its positions and lobbying efforts in Albany. 

Initially limited to the legislative season in New York State, this newsletter 

would within a few years become Hart’s signature mouthpiece. Framed as a 

charitable service “to tax payers over the State,” the letter urged its readers to 

write to their assemblymen to vote down the latest rounds of pro-labor bills 

under consideration. The tone of Hart’s missives grew increasingly stri-

dent—he described the Tennessee Valley Authority as a “fanciful commu-

nistic plan” in March 1934, openly worrying “what other socialistic projects are 

pending[?]” The newsletter also turned its attention to goings-on in 

Washington—Hart described proposed legislation by Senator Robert 

Wagner that would eventually become the National Labor Relations Act as 

“part of the plan of a handful of men who . . . are seeking to bring about a 

revolution—bloodless, maybe—but a revolution that will bring liberty in the 

United States to an end.”43 Hart did not specify just who these men or their 

masters were, but the implication was clear: New Deal legislation, particu-

larly labor legislation, was the product of a massive conspiracy to transform 

the United States into something alien.

The Economic Council was hardly the only pro-business group that believed 

the New Deal was un-American. The American Liberty League, founded in 

1934 by a group of businessmen largely affi liated with chemical giant 

DuPont and automobile manufacturer General Motors, served essentially as 

the national analogue to Hart’s more modest state organization. Concerns 
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over labor power dominated the agenda of the Liberty League; its very 

founding can be traced back to a March 1934 letter from R.R.M. Carpenter, a 

former DuPont executive, to John Raskob, another former DuPont executive, 

in which Carpenter complained that his African American labor force on his 

South Carolina estate had proven to be truculent ever since Roosevelt’s 

public-works program began. “Five negroes on my place in South Carolina 

refused work this spring,” Carpenter wrote, “after I had taken care of them 

and given them house rent free and work for three years during bad times, 

saying they had easy jobs with the government.” (It is unclear whether or not 

Carpenter sought to deliberately evoke the rhetoric of antebellum slave owners 

in his complaint, but certainly his next sentence—“Planters in our vicinity 

were unable to get enough labor to harvest crops in the Fall, due to [Civilian 

Conservation Corps] employment”—did not make the comparison any less 

glaring.) If wealthy South Carolinians were having these kinds of problems 

disciplining their Black laborers, Carpenter went on, “how many thousands 

of men are leaving employment to accept easy jobs with the government, 

paid for with the taxpayers’ money and under the guise of relief[?]”44

Losing managerial control over their labor force was bad enough as far 

as businessmen were concerned, but the prospect that an organized labor 

movement could propel radical, even revolutionary, political change was 

utterly chilling. Labor organizing had intensifi ed with the apparent blessing 

of the Roosevelt administration after the passage of the National Industrial 

Recovery Act. In the fi rst half of 1934 alone, three major strikes—long-

shoremen all along the West Coast, auto workers in Toledo, and Teamsters 

in Minneapolis—lead to deadly clashes between workers on the one hand 

and police, National Guardsmen, and paramilitaries on the other. In Ohio, 

Washington, and California, Communist Party members and affi liates took 

a leading role in organizing workers; in Minnesota, the strike was organized 

by members of the Trotskyist Communist League of America.45

Contemporary press coverage of these strikes from left-leaning 

journalists—as well as recent scholarship—has emphasized the reactionary, 

even fascistic nature of the violent opposition to worker organization. Eric 

Sevareid, who covered the Minneapolis strike as a cub reporter for the 

Minneapolis Journal, wrote in his memoirs that he “understood deep in my 

bones and blood what Fascism was” after witnessing the violence in the 

streets of the city’s warehouse district.46 The basis for this analysis was that 

employers had moved beyond merely hiring Pinkertons as strikebreakers: 
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they attempted to mobilize—successfully, in the case of Minneapolis—anti-

union paramilitaries from the city’s professional classes. Ironically, the 

deadly violence was only halted—and the strike partially broken—when 

Farmer-Labor governor Floyd Olson, himself denounced by conservatives in 

Minnesota as a dangerous radical, deployed the National Guard to the city.

The wave of labor agitation in 1934, along with the concomitant violence, 

prompted a variety of organizing strategies against the New Deal—which 

businessmen blamed as the catalyst for the unrest—ranging from the local 

anti-labor lobbying of the New York State Economic Council to the creation 

of national organizations like the Liberty League. There were also rumblings 

of a coup. In August 1934 retired Marine Corps general Smedley Butler, who 

had loyally served American business interests in the occupations of nearly 

half a dozen Caribbean and Central American countries and had recently 

fi nished a stint as the commissioner of Philadelphia’s police force, was 

approached by bond salesman Gerald C. MacGuire with a bold proposal. 

Butler would lead an army of World War I veterans, modeled on far-right 

veterans’ groups in Europe, to topple the Roosevelt administration and 

replace it with some form of fascistic government. But MacGuire had the 

wrong man in Butler, whose politics had shifted increasingly to the left after 

leaving the corps; he promptly informed on MacGuire to Congress. As 

Butler’s biographer Jonathan M. Katz has written, it is unclear whether the 

Business Plot, as it was dubbed, was a serious attempt to overthrow the U.S. 

government. If there were serious plans for a coup, they were never put into 

action (unlike efforts in the nineteenth century to successfully topple 

Reconstruction state governments in the South or the unsuccessful effort by 

President Donald Trump to stay in power after losing the 2020 election). But 

even if the Business Plot did not extend beyond parlor talk, it was neverthe-

less parlor talk among some of the most powerful businessmen in America 

about the violent overthrow of the U.S. government. And while Butler was 

MacGuire’s fi rst choice to lead the coup, others—whom MacGuire vaguely 

identifi ed with the “Morgan interests”—preferred Douglas MacArthur.47

The New York State Economic Council was closely tied to these broader 

political currents. In late 1935 the U.S. Senate began an investigation into 

the fi nanciers of the Liberty League and its sister organizations. The inquiry 

was led by Alabama Democrat and administration ally Hugo Black, soon to 

be nominated to the Supreme Court. The committee sent questionnaires to 

hundreds of prominent businessmen across the country in January 1936 
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asking for “itemized statements of all sums contributed” to, among other 

groups, the American Liberty League, the Crusaders, the Sentinels of the 

Republic, the American Taxpayers’ League, and the New York State 

Economic Council. Subsequent hearings showed that the council did share 

donors with its fellow traveler organizations, including A. W. Erickson, 

chairman of the McCann-Erickson advertising agency; J. H. Van Alstyne, 

president of the Otis Elevator Company; and Alfred P. Sloan, president of 

General Motors. But the council was not a national organization—while it 

maintained offi ces in Manhattan, its power base and the bulk of its member-

ship were located in industrial regions in the Mohawk Valley and western 

New York. Still, the Economic Council was, with some fi fty thousand 

members, a sizeable organization. (Contemporary press estimates put the 

size of the national Liberty League at eighty-fi ve thousand.)48

The Economic Council was certainly larger than its Massachusetts 

analogue, the Sentinels of the Republic. The groups were similar in many 

ways—the Sentinels ferociously opposed child-labor laws and welfare legisla-

tion in the 1920s and early 1930s—but the Sentinels, despite being more 

generously funded (J. Howard Pew, president of Sun Oil, gave the group 

$5,000 out of his own pocket), were considerably smaller, with around three 

thousand members.49 The Sentinels were also more openly antisemitic. A 

letter from a supporter to Sentinels president Alexander Lincoln, a Boston 

lawyer, declared that America needed to wake up to the “Jewish Brigade 

Roosevelt took to Washington,” and that “this fi ght for Western Christian civi-

lization can be won; but only if we recognize that the enemy is world-wide 

and that it is Jewish in origin.” Lincoln replied, “I think, as you say, that the 

Jewish threat is a real one.”50 Still, such open expressions of antisemitic 

bigotry from right-wing business groups were relatively rare in the mid-

1930s. Code words were far more preferable—the New Deal was “un-

American,” inspired by “alien” infl uences, and/or was “communistic” and 

possibly directed from Moscow. Anticommunism, not explicit antisemitism, 

was central to this approach, but in practice the boundary between viewing 

the New Deal as either communistic or a “Jew Deal,” a popular phrase during 

the 1930s, was porous.51

The Economic Council’s newsletter echoed these themes and muddied 

these distinctions in its July 4, 1935 edition: the New Deal was simply “the 

American name for Communism”; Roosevelt had lied about his commu-

nistic political allegiances in 1932 (this was also a favorite charge in Liberty 
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League literature). By December the council’s newsletter charged that 

Roosevelt’s program—which had been fulfi lled in New York through the 

passage of compulsory unemployment insurance the previous year—“had 

its origin with the Felix Frankfurter type of citizen, of alien birth and even 

more alien sympathy, that has been all too prominent in American law-

making in recent years” (emphasis mine).52 This was as close to unambig-

uous antisemitism as one was likely to fi nd in the public statements of 

organizations like the council, but as the private correspondence of the 

Sentinels proved, more vitriolic sentiments were common on the right 

behind closed doors.

Hart’s oblique embrace of antisemitism did not harm him politically. If 

anything, the scope of his ambitions increased by the late 1930s, as he began 

working on issues of local, national, and international scope. Between 1937 

and 1941, Hart was involved in three major political initiatives: the creation 

of the so-called Mohawk Valley formula to break union organizing, lobbying 

for Francisco Franco in the Spanish Civil War, and his attempts to pull 

“socialist” textbooks from American schools. Hart understood these causes 

to be part of a broader global struggle against international communism. 

Taken together, Hart’s activities in the late 1930s rendered him an important 

fi gure in what Joseph Fronczak has called “an emergent global Right”—and 

Hart’s anti-labor activism and his increasing interest in foreign policy would 

soon earn him the epithet of “fascist” by writers and politicians on the left.53

The Mohawk Valley formula arose out of the attempts by the American 

Federation of Labor to organize the Remington Rand Corporation, a busi-

ness-machine manufacturer, in the spring of 1936. Remington Rand was 

located in Hart’s native country: its plant in Ilion, New York was only ten 

miles or so outside of Utica. The region had long been a stronghold for the 

New York State Economic Council, and indeed Remington Rand president 

James H. Rand Jr. was one of the council’s chief supporters. In May 1936 

workers walked out of Remington Rand’s plants in the Mohawk Valley in 

response to a variety of efforts by the company to undermine the campaign; 

a nearly year-long battle ensued between the company and the union. 

Remington Rand’s options to break the union were constrained by the 1935 

National Labor Relations Act, although the act had yet, as of the spring of 

1936, to survive legal challenges—and indeed business could hitherto count 

on a sympathetic Supreme Court, which had already struck down a variety of 
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New Deal legislation. But given that the NLRA did provide labor protections 

and given that New York governor Herbert Lehman refused to use the state 

police to break the strike, Rand—with the assistance of Hart and the 

Economic Council—embarked on a novel strategy.54

The “Mohawk Valley formula” entered into the lexicon of the labor 

movement thanks to an article in the Nation in August 1937. Journalist 

Benjamin Stolberg had apparently obtained a copy of the National 

Association of Manufacturers’ Labor Review Bulletin that outlined the 

strategy as written by Rand. It had several key components: labeling all 

union activists as outside “agitators” imposing their will on the majority of 

non-union workers; organizing a middle-class “citizens’ committee” of local 

“bankers, real-estate owners, business men, ministers, etc.” to oppose the 

strike; warning of violence from the strike to justify preemptive measures; 

organizing mass meetings to support the “citizens’ committee”: building a 

large armed force of police and/or deputized citizens; organizing a puppet 

“back-to-work” movement to sow dissension in the ranks of the union; orga-

nizing a public “re-opening” of the plant with the backing of the puppet 

workers’ organization and “staging the ‘opening’ as theatrically as possible”; 

and presenting the world with a fait accompli that the strike had been broken 

and the strikers were merely a minority attempting to interfere with the 

“right to work.”55

Rand denied that the company had engaged in either unfair labor prac-

tices or a deliberate union-busting campaign, blaming communist agitators 

borrowing practices from the Congress of Industrial Organizations—in 

particular the sit-down strike—for the labor troubles along the Mohawk. A 

scathing National Labor Relations Board (NLRB) decision issued on March 

13, 1937, however, threatened Remington Rand’s legal position. The NLRB 

concluded that the company had engaged in willful violations of labor law.56 

Hart, for his part, penned a lengthy letter to the New York Herald Tribune—

later prominently featured in anti-union materials distributed by Remington 

Rand while its appeal of the NLRB decision to the courts was pending—

defending the company in which he essentially applied the Mohawk Valley 

formula.57 Hart, presenting himself as an eyewitness to the strike at Ilion, 

wrote that a small minority (two hundred out of twenty-three hundred 

workers) voted for a strike; local merchants and bankers (at least some of 

whom, presumably, were New York State Economic Council members) 

called for a conference. This culminated in “a mass meeting of ‘all interested 
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citizens’ ” at which it was decided to swear in three hundred deputies to 

supplement the police force. Local businessmen organized a group of anti-

union workers. The plant reopened with an organized guard of deputized 

citizens “armed with rifl es and shotguns . . . placed at barricades set up on 

all roads leading to the village” to turn back union workers. “The next day 

1,800 men had returned to work . . . thus a blow was struck for the right to 

work—a right even more valuable to the worker than the right to strike.”58

The key to the political success of the Mohawk Valley formula was its 

adaptability and its deliberate packaging by Rand, Hart, and the National 

Association of Manufacturers as the lynchpin for putting down communist-

inspired labor unrest in other industries around the country, particularly as 

the 1937 strike wave intensifi ed. The Mohawk Valley formula was most 

successfully applied during the brutally violent Little Steel strikes in the 

spring and summer of 1937.59 Though the massacre of ten Republic Steel 

workers by the Chicago Police Department on Memorial Day drew the most 

headlines (and was immortalized in newsreels), much of the Little Steel 

industrial infrastructure was found in small towns in Ohio and central 

Pennsylvania. Bethlehem Steel’s Cambria Works, the single largest plant 

involved in the Little Steel strike, was located in Johnstown, Pennsylvania, 

about seventy miles east of Pittsburgh; the plant employed thirteen thou-

sand steelworkers.60 In Johnstown, as in Ilion, local elites formed a citizens’ 

committee in response to the strike; Hart wrote to its chairman offering to 

act as a liaison with Remington Rand offi cials to better coordinate the 

committee’s actions.61 In Johnstown, the formula worked too well: vigilante 

bands of mobilized middle-class men, deputized by the citizens’ committee 

and funded by Bethlehem, violently attacked anyone suspected of CIO affi li-

ations. (It was later revealed that the mayor of Johnstown embezzled the 

majority of the money Bethlehem placed at the committee’s disposal.)62

Left-leaning journalists at the time, as well as subsequent generations of 

scholars, have classifi ed the anti-union response to the Little Steel strike as a 

form of fascism—a popular, violent, anti-democratic, and anti-communist 

mass mobilization. Indeed, Hart and his allies blamed the violence during 

the strike on the CIO. Less than a week after the Memorial Day massacre in 

Chicago, Hart organized a meeting for “private enterprise” in New York that 

featured as speakers columnist George E. Sokolsky, a newspaperman from 

upstate New York; former Huey Long aide Gerald L. K. Smith; Elizabeth 

Dilling, author of the 1935 anti-communist tract The Red Network; Reginald 
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Boote, the chairman of Remington Rand’s puppet employee association; 

and Michigan congressman Clare E. Hoffman, who declared that the 

striking steelworkers in Chicago were killed by police “because John L. Lewis 

sent them to their death.” Hoffman also accused Lewis, infamously aggres-

sive in labor circles, of having “adopted methods of the Red Communist.”63

It was an irony worthy of Shakespeare that Sokolsky, Smith, and Dilling 

shared the stage at Hart’s meeting. Sokolsky was, like Hart, from Utica; his 

father was a Russian Jewish immigrant to the United States who relocated to 

upstate New York shortly before Sokolsky was born. Smith and Dilling, by 

contrast, were already notorious for rabble-rousing and conspiracy theories. 

Gerald L. K. Smith was, by 1937, widely reviled as a demagogue and a fascist. 

An evangelical Protestant minister who had a congregation in Shreveport, 

Louisiana at the beginning of the decade, Smith had fallen under the spell of 

Huey Long, the populist governor of the Pelican State. In early 1934 Smith 

left his ministry to devote himself full-time to political organizing, accompa-

nying Long on trips to Washington, DC (where Long introduced Smith to 

politically connected and infl uential people, including setting up a phone call 

with radio priest Father Charles Coughlin). When Long was assassinated in 

September 1935, Smith claimed his patron was murdered by a massive 

conspiracy that involved the highest echelons of American government, 

including President Roosevelt himself. In the 1936 election campaign Smith 

joined forces with Coughlin and Social Security advocate Francis Townsend 

to back a populist anti-Roosevelt ticket led by North Dakota congressman 

William Lemke under the banner of the Union Party; it got less than 2 

percent of the vote. The whisper campaign that Smith and his allies had 

fascistic ambitions intensifi ed after Smith announced a few weeks before the 

election that he planned to create a “vigorously nationalistic” organization to 

combat collectivism in America; with the defeat of the Union Party Smith 

reoriented to opposing the scourge of communism in organized labor.

Elizabeth Dilling, for her part, gained notoriety for writing The Red 

Network. She billed the book as a “who’s who and handbook of radicalism for 

patriots,” listing hundreds of different individuals and organizations as 

communists or controlled by communists—and Dilling did not readily 

distinguish between communists, socialists, and New Deal liberals. Her 

follow-up book, The Roosevelt Red Record, covered essentially the same 

ground but focused more on the alleged communistic nature of the New 

Deal. Both Dilling and Smith dabbled in antisemitism in the mid-1930s, 
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and by 1937 both were poised to wholeheartedly embrace the explanation 

that the Jews were behind the political trends that so distressed them.64

More conservative analyses of the American right have long down-

played Dilling’s prominence. Richard Gid Powers, in his 1995 study of anti-

communism in the United States in the twentieth century, characterized 

Dilling as a “crackpot” who by her “outrageous activities” overshadowed the 

work of respectable anti-communists like Sokolsky.65 After all, Sokolsky had 

come by his anticommunism honestly; a onetime radical, he went to 

Petrograd after the February Revolution in 1917 to cover the political tumult 

for American newspapers. His experience in revolutionary Russia turned 

him into a life-long anti-communist. When he relocated to Shanghai after 

the Russian Civil War, he took his newfound politics with him—Sokolsky 

became a representative of the National Association of Manufacturers in 

Asia, liaising with Chinese businesses and the Kuomintang government. 

(Ironically, Sokolsky was targeted by the International Anticommunist 

Entente, a far-right group based out of Switzerland, while overseas; the orga-

nization sent a series of letters to the Federal Bureau of Investigation 

denouncing Sokolsky as a Bolshevik “Mongoloid Jew.”) Sokolsky was a bitter 

critic of the Roosevelt administration and the New Deal—he infamously 

called the Social Security Act a “service charge for coercion.” Sokolsky may 

not have made as radical a break with the left as former Communist Party 

members and fellow travelers who decisively broke with the Soviet Union in 

the 1930s—like his counterpart at United Press International Eugene Lyons, 

who became disillusioned with Stalinist terror while a correspondent in 

Moscow in the 1930s and by the end of the decade had conclusively broken 

with the left—but Sokolsky was entirely within the mainstream of the 

American right and American anticommunism in 1937.66

Elizabeth Dilling was even more colorful than Sokolsky. “Combining 

burlesque humor and narratives of combat atrocity,” one of her biographers 

wrote, “she cultivated a performance routine that many described as enter-

taining.” She was reportedly lauded for her impression of Eleanor Roosevelt. 

Dilling’s reputation for theatrics was so great that, when she led a mothers’ 

group against American intervention in World War II in the early 1940s, 

other non-interventionists denounced her for giving the movement a bad 

name—and that was before Dilling began to refer to American intervention 

in World War as “the [war] for the kikes.”67 But Dilling’s uncouthness was 

also strategic. An upper-middle-class housewife from a posh suburb of 



“it  is  time to brush aside this word ‘democracy’”  39

Chicago, she played against expectations of middle-class propriety in order 

to dramatize her causes. More important, Dilling’s embrace of anticommu-

nism came from a similar place as Sokolsky’s. Dilling was something of a 

world traveler in the 1920s, touring Europe and Asia extensively. In 1931, 

Dilling took a trip through the Soviet Union. She attributed this experience 

as her road-to-Damascus moment, a life-changing event that plunged her 

headfi rst into the anti-communist struggle. She was shocked by commu-

nism’s “atheism, sex degeneracy, broken homes, [and] class hatred,” singling 

out the Soviet anti-religious campaigns and the common practice of 

Muscovites to bath in the city’s rivers in the nude for particular revulsion. 

She was also alarmed by the insistence of her guides in Russia that commu-

nist revolution would soon break out in the United States.68

Armed with her newfound anti-communist conviction, Dilling became 

a prominent anti-communist activist in Chicago in the mid-1930s, even 

testifying as an expert witness to an Illinois state senate panel investigating 

charges levied by drugstore magnate Charles Walgreen that communist 

professors at the University of Chicago were indoctrinating his niece with 

communist values. To insist that activists like Dilling were ultimately distrac-

tions from the serious work of sober anti-communists who had sincere and 

legitimate reasons to abhor communists belies the extent to which the 

“kooks” were the fact of anticommunism in the United States in the 1930s, 

had similar stories of anti-communist radicalization, and were to be found 

alongside the sober, respectable Sokolskys of the country.

The “kooks” and the sober anti-communist conservatives found themselves 

agreeing on most of the pressing issues of the day, including the most signif-

icant international issue after 1936, the Spanish Civil War.

Hart increasingly viewed the struggle against organized labor and the 

New Deal in the United States as but one front of a global war against inter-

national communism. This was not a unique view among critics of the 

Roosevelt administration—Al Smith suggested at a gala banquet in 1936 

that the New Deal was essentially communistic—but Hart’s view that the 

struggle against communism was both domestic and international affected 

his activist work.69 In 1938 Hart—purportedly on the advice of his doctor—

embarked on a lengthy trip to more temperate climates than upstate New 

York. Hart chose to travel to Spain, then in the midst of a brutal civil war 

between the Spanish Republic and the Spanish Nationalists, who started the 
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war after a failed attempted coup against the Republic after the left-wing 

Popular Front won the 1936 Spanish general elections.70 Even before his 

return to the United States he quickly became a mouthpiece for General 

Francisco Franco’s Nationalist regime.71 Articles and letters by Hart then 

began appearing in a variety of publications over the autumn and winter of 

1938 defending Franco and calling for American recognition of the 

Nationalist government. In November, Hart penned a column in the New 

York Herald Tribune claiming that the Spanish Republicans had fi rebombed 

Guernica while retreating from Franco’s troops in a false-fl ag operation.72 

Hart also helped to organize, along with Catholic writer and activist John 

Eoghan Kelly (who was almost certainly the catalyst for Hart’s trip to Spain), 

art deco artist Hildreth Meière, and several other prominent Manhattanites 

the American Union for Nationalist Spain (AUNS) in December 1938, 

allowing the new organization use of the New York State Economic Council’s 

offi ce to prepare mailers and other materials to promote Franco’s cause. 

Hart even became chairman of the AUNS and personally received a tele-

gram from Franco thanking him for his efforts on behalf of Spain in the 

United States.73

Hart was in some respects an outlier among pro-Franco Americans for 

the simple reason that he was Episcopalian, not Catholic. Most of the 

outspoken supporters of Franco in the United States were Catholics. The 

most prominent was undoubtedly radio priest Father Charles Coughlin. 

Coughlin, who served as a parish priest in Detroit, began broadcasting over 

the radio in October 1926 and built up a national audience that, at its peak 

in the mid-1930s, numbered over 10 million listeners. In 1930, in response 

to the Depression, Coughlin became increasingly fi xated on the dangers of 

Bolshevism, which he linked to Jewish conspiracy. In testimony before 

Congress, he claimed that socialism derived from “the Hebrew, Karl Marx” 

as well as from the Illuminati. Coughlin’s broadcasts became increasingly 

antisemitic as the decade progressed; he linked Jews to the global depression 

and speculative fi nance as well as communism. Originally a supporter of 

Roosevelt and the New Deal, Coughlin broke with the president in 1935 and, 

along with Gerald L. K. Smith, was one of the principal fi gures behind the 

Union Party in 1936. In 1938 Coughlin openly endorsed the notorious anti-

semitic forgery The Protocols of the Elders of Zion, alleged to be a blueprint for 

Jewish global domination but actually written by tsarist offi cials in Russia at 

the beginning of the century. Coughlin openly admired Mussolini, and 
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almost got his program kicked off the air in November 1938 for a rabidly 

antisemitic broadcast after Kristallnacht in which he defended Hitler and 

the Nazis, and—unsurprisingly—saw the Catholic Franco as the defender of 

Western Christendom in Spain against godless Judeo-Bolshevism.

The American public hardly champed at the bit for aggressive U.S. 

intervention in Spain—although pro-Republican mail sent to the State 

Department during the war outnumbered pro-Nationalist mail by nearly 

thirty to one, opinion polls showed some 70 percent of Americans opposed 

relaxing the embargo on trade with the belligerents in the Spanish 

war. Although most American Catholics were not particularly pro-Franco or 

pro-fascist in the late 1930s, actively pro-Franco voices tended to be Catholic 

and the Catholic hierarchy was generally sympathetic to Spain.74 

Anticommunism was the primary driver of opinion on the part of both the 

offi cial Church hierarchy and the Catholic laity—the Republicans were iden-

tifi ed with anarchism and communism, and American Catholics were quick 

to link anti-religious repression in the atheist Soviet Union to massacres of 

clergy by Republican troops in Spain. Christian supporters of Franco—

Protestant and Catholic—frequently linked the anti-clerical violence in 

Spain with the repressions of the Christian churches in Russia that had been 

ongoing for over a decade. Boston’s Cardinal O’Connell described Franco as 

“fi ghting the fi ght of Christian civilization”; Joseph Thorning, a professor of 

ethics at the Catholic St. Mary’s College in Maryland, told a meeting of 

the Knights of Columbus in Brooklyn in March 1938 that there were 

links between Republican atrocities targeting priests and the “slaying of 

‘millions’ of Christians” in the Soviet Union.75 Still, there were divides 

between Protestants and Catholics on Spain—Thorning’s comments 

were prompted by a statement issued by sixty-one Methodist and 

Episcopalian bishops urging the Catholic hierarchy to pressure Franco to 

cease bombing Republican-held cities—but these were also opportunities 

for anti-communist Catholics and Protestants to collaborate. Thorning 

praised the Protestant War Veterans of the United States for protesting the 

letter as pro-communist. Merwin Hart’s leadership of the American Union 

for Nationalist Spain was another element of rapprochement between anti-

communist Protestants and Catholics. Coughlin’s magazine Social Justice 

even published an article by Hart.76

Hart’s views on Franco, the Spanish war, and communism were expli-

cated most fully in his 1939 book America, Look at Spain, published shortly 



42 the right-wing popular front,  1933–53

after the Nationalists declared victory in April. Hart drew most of the mate-

rial for the book from his 1938 trip to Spain—in fact, both the title and the 

major arguments of the book were adapted from a radio broadcast Hart 

made from Málaga—along with supplemental material from representa-

tives of the Spanish government in the United States. In his introduction 

Hart specifi cally singled out for praise Juan de Cárdenas, the “duly accred-

ited agent of General Franco in the United States” and soon-to-be Spanish 

ambassador, making Hart’s work for all intents and purposes semi-offi cial 

Francoist propaganda. The book was not simply about Spain, however—

Hart wrote it to “warn the American people of a new danger”: international 

communism. Communism had been “defeated in Italy [by Mussolini], in 

Germany [by Hitler], and now in Spain,” but, he warned darkly, “it will prob-

ably make its last stand in the United States.” Communists, per Hart, caused 

the civil war in Spain by destabilizing the country and seizing power through 

the victory of the Popular Front in the 1936 Spanish elections. Communism 

as an international movement also menaced the United States, both as an 

impediment to American interests abroad and as a potentially revolutionary 

force at home.77

Throughout the book, Hart frequently digressed from his Francoist 

history of Spain and the civil war to compare the communist conspiracy in 

Spain to conditions in the United States; for instance, he noted in one 

section purportedly on communist policies in the Spanish Republic from 

1931 to 1936, that “in whatever countries the Communists have worked, they 

have favored laws . . . forbidding the people . . . to own or carry arms,” before 

launching a lengthy diatribe against the spate of federal and state gun-

control laws passed in the United States since 1919. “In view of the fact that 

active communism in the United States dates from the end of the World 

War and that many of these anti-gun laws have been passed since that time, 

is it entirely unlikely that the passage of these laws is due to Communist 

infl uence?” Hart didn’t leave it there. He maintained that American citizens 

needed to “heed the clear lesson of Spain and . . . own, and, if need be . . . 

carry arms to protect them from the Communist menace.”78

Three points immediately stand out from Hart’s comments. First, the 

suggestion that gun control was a communist plot to disarm the American 

public is both unsupported by any contemporary evidence and presages 

similar claims about gun control from the American right in the latter half of 

the twentieth century and the fi rst decades of the twenty-fi rst. Second, Hart 
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was directly involved in the creation of the Mohawk Valley formula three years 

before, a constituent element thereof being the creation of armed middle-

class property owners to fi ght union organizers, if necessary, with deadly 

violence. Third, Hart understood this call for armed self-defense against 

communism in both an international and a class context. In fact, Hart was 

explicit on this point later in his book, where in his penultimate chapter he 

reproduced verbatim his letter to the New York Herald Tribune on the 

Remington Rand strike as an example of middle-class Americans success-

fully organizing against the kind of communist-inspired disorder that neces-

sitated Franco’s coup in Spain. Hart also cited a letter he received during the 

Little Steel strike in June 1937, purportedly from the wife of a steelworker in 

Warren, Ohio. “They are going to try to make my husband join the C.I.O. We 

don’t believe in Communism. Our police don’t do a thing! . . . All of my 

people were born and raised in Warren, but I’m beginning to think we may 

as well go to Russia, or are we going to have what is happening in Spain?”79

Hart also looked to Franco’s Spain for political remedies for the New 

Deal. Long an opponent of the prevailing rate of wage and minimum-wage 

laws in New York, he wrote wistfully of how Nationalist Spain “has no 

‘prevailing rate of wage comparable in any sense to [the United States]. 

Plasterers do not get two dollars an hour. . . . There are no six hour-days. 

There is little interruption to normal work through senseless strikes.” 

Francoist Spain had, in sum, Hart’s desired socioeconomic order. The threat 

of violent reprisals properly disciplined labor. Hart also admired a peculiarly 

regressive tax imposed by the Nationalist mayor of Seville on the population 

of his city. “Every man over eighteen must give one day’s work a month.” 

Those with capital could simply pay a tax to exempt themselves from the 

labor requirement. “The mayor doesn’t go to any distant capital city and 

return with a grant from a ‘WPA.” . . . The labor is given, the money is paid 

by the people of Seville.” Hart applauded the Franco government’s labor 

charter, as well as the practices of Seville’s mayor, as rightly emphasizing “the 

right and the duty to work.” In this sense, Hart saw Franco’s agenda as essen-

tially synonymous with the goals of the Mohawk Valley formula: to build a 

middle-class alliance predicated on the explicit threat of violence to discipline 

labor and suppress communist activity.80

Not surprisingly, Hart’s arguments were widely interpreted as an 

apologia for fascism by American liberals and the American left. The Anti-

Defamation League (ADL) began monitoring Hart and his activities in 
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response to his pro-Franco activism, noting in their reports that Hart had 

begun, by early 1939, to be seen in public with Fritz Kuhn, the head of the 

German American Bund, a prominent Nazi front organization. (The ADL 

also noted that Hart downplayed Kristallnacht in Germany in America, Look 

at Spain, suggesting that press reports of the violence were exaggerated in a 

fashion similar to reports of German atrocities in Belgium during the First 

World War.)81 The press corps assailed Hart as a propagandist—even Jay 

Allen, the former European correspondent for the right-wing Chicago 

Tribune, dismissed Hart as a “special pleader” for Franco in November 

1938.82 The left was more direct in its criticism—the communist Daily 

Worker, which had never been supportive of Hart or his politics, described 

him as a “Big Business Tory” who was now working with “avowed fascists” 

to support Franco. (The Daily Worker dropped all pretenses by the following 

February, invariably referring to Hart as the “fascist president of the New 

York State Economic Council” in its editorials and reporting.)83

Hart’s advocacy for Spain, combined with his strident anti–New 

Dealism and anticommunism, provided him with interesting political 

bedfellows. On December 8, 1938, the council hosted a luncheon in 

Manhattan honoring Texas representative Martin Dies, the chairman of the 

House Un-American Activities Committee. Dies’s keynote speech 

denounced both the left and the right. “I detest the Communist Party and 

the German-American Bund alike,” he told the assembled audience, a 

remark made somewhat awkward by Fritz Kuhn’s presence in the audience. 

According to Dies, he had originally planned to limit his remarks to a denun-

ciation of communism, but felt compelled to mention the Nazis in his 

speech when he spotted Kuhn from the dais. Hart scrambled to tell the 

reporters covering the meeting that anyone was free to buy a ticket to the 

luncheon and he was unaware of Kuhn’s presence. “It is possible,” he said, 

“that not all who have come in this way are sympathetic to what we have to 

say.” Dies, for his part, was overheard muttering that he wished Kuhn “had 

brought [Earl] Browder,” the head of the American Communist Party, “along 

too and a few others to hear what I have to say about the American doctrine.” 

Dies singled out the bund’s promotion of “class hatred” as well as racial 

bigotry in his remarks, apparently under the impression that National 

Socialism and Soviet communism were synonymous. Kuhn’s presence may 

have been unwelcoming to Hart and Dies, but clearly something in their 

attacks on the New Deal and communism had attracted the Nazi 



“it  is  time to brush aside this word ‘democracy’”  45

leader—Dies, for example, condemned “the mistreatment of the Jews in 

Germany” in his speech but then almost immediately redirected to discuss 

the “massacre of thousands of Christians in Russia and Spain” and 

suggested that prominent members of the Roosevelt administration, 

including Interior Secretary Harold Ickes and Labor Secretary Frances 

Perkins, were secretly in the pocket of Moscow. (Kuhn quipped to a reporter, 

“[I could’ve] gone to a church and heard the same thing.”)84

Hart had another encounter, of sorts, with Kuhn less than three months 

later. The night before Kuhn and the German American Bund organized 

their infamous rally at Madison Square Garden on February 20, 1939, 

featuring some twenty thousand attendees under banners picturing George 

Washington and the swastika, Hart and the General Committee for 

Americanism and Neutrality (a redubbed version of the AUNS) organized a 

rally at the Seventh Regiment Armory on Park Avenue in Manhattan. Twelve 

thousand people attended. The general themes of the meeting were anti-

communism and the necessity of rapprochement with Franco’s Spain. The 

Christian Front, a radical antisemitic group organized by supporters of 

Charles Coughlin the previous summer, disrupted the meeting.85 An 

unidentifi ed spokesperson for the front demanded that Hart read aloud to 

the assembled audience a telegram supposedly sent to the group personally 

by Franco. Hart, after briefl y consulting with his fellow speakers, refused, 

and the Christian Front demonstrators were ejected from the meeting by 

police. This account, which appears in the press reporting of the event, was 

challenged by the historian Michael Chapman, who wrote a sympathetic 

study of the AUNS in 2011. Chapman claimed that the supposed Christian 

Front contingent were in fact staffers from Juan de Cárdenas’s offi ce who 

were prevented from taking the dais because of the arrangement the AUNS 

had with the armory to prohibit political messages from foreign govern-

ments from being read aloud. Regardless of whether or not this specifi c 

contingent was, in fact, an offi cial delegation of the Christian Front, the 

group’s literature was nevertheless distributed at the doors of the armory, 

and a substantial number of the rally attendees were Coughlin supporters. 

Later in the evening, a speech by Alexander Hamilton Rice, a geography 

professor at Harvard University, was drowned out by applause for a portrait 

of Coughlin being paraded through the audience. (The subject of Rice’s 

speech, the confl ict of “Christianity and civilization against communism 

and atheism,” was a common talking point with pro-Franco activists.) The 
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very next day, Kuhn held his rally at Madison Square Garden. Although 

Coughlin denied rumors that he had been scheduled to speak—and indeed 

the Detroit radio priest did not make an appearance that day—a number of 

his Christian Front supporters did reportedly attend the bund meeting.86 

Hart did not have any direct connection with the bund rally. In fact, the night 

before he had offered oblique criticism of the domestic Nazis as “making as 

serious a mistake as the Communists in their activities in the United States,” 

mirroring the statement of his political ally Martin Dies a few months earlier. 

And Hart’s pro-Franco rally did not spark anything approaching the same 

level of outrage in New York City as did Kuhn’s bund rally the next evening. 

Fifteen hundred police offi cers surrounded Madison Square Garden in an 

attempt to keep a hostile crowd, estimated at nearly fi fty thousand people, 

from engaging in violent altercations with the Nazis.87 There were no reports 

of counterdemonstrators at the Seventh Regiment Armory. Unlike Kuhn, 

Hart and his fellow pro-Franco speakers were implicitly accepted as legiti-

mate by New Yorkers—or at least as an acceptable part of American political 

discourse—in a way that Kuhn was not. Simply from a practical political 

perspective, affi liation with the openly Nazi bund was toxic—even Charles 

Coughlin felt compelled to distance himself from the rally.88 Still, there were 

some notable political commonalities between the two meetings. While 

Hart criticized the Nazis in the United States, he also praised Hitler and 

Mussolini, along with Franco, for having defeated communism in their own 

countries, lines that drew considerable applause from the audience.

The very presence of the Christian Front at both rallies suggests that 

Hart and Kuhn were speaking to a common audience. This overlap sparked 

a series of political attacks against Martin Dies in early 1940. Frank Hook, a 

liberal Democratic congressman from Michigan, accused Dies that January 

of having ties with radical antisemites and fascist sympathizers, citing his 

relationship with William Dudley Pelley, the leader of the fascistic Silver 

Shirts movement, and his friendship with Hart, whom Hook described as 

an “energetic fellow-traveler” and “Park Avenue operator” of the Christian 

Front. These charges were an exaggeration—the documents Hook cited as 

evidence of Dies’s relationship with Pelley turned out to be forgeries. Hart, 

for his part, denied he had any direct affi liation with the Christian Front, 

describing Hook’s allegations as “an unmitigated lie.”89 Although Hook’s 

charges were politically motivated—part of an unsuccessful effort to termi-

nate Dies’s committee—they did refl ect substantive concerns. Even the 
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most sympathetic biographer of Hart’s major collaborator in the AUNS, 

John Eoghan Kelly, concedes that Kelly was connected to the Christian Front 

and frequently gave speeches to gatherings of the group.90 Hart may have 

indeed been telling the truth when he angrily told the press he’d never heard 

of the Christian Front before the February 19 rally at the armory, but he was 

surrounded at AUNS meetings by Christian Front affi liates. And though 

Hart may not have been a Silver Shirt or a Christian Fronter, his pro-Franco 

and anti-communist political activism mobilized the same supporters.

In essence, Hart was continuing to operate according to the basic 

premise of the Mohawk Valley formula, a form of anti-liberal and anti-demo-

cratic mass politics. Hart, James Rand, and the anti-CIO organizers in 1936 

and 1937 were aware that mass mobilization might spin out of the strict 

control of management, but that the risks were worthwhile in order to 

preserve the power of employers. The question of whether or not Hart in fact 

was directly connected to the Christian Front is, in some respects, beside the 

point. So, for that matter, were debates about whether or not Hart’s support 

for Franco in Spain made him a fascist sympathizer. Fascism was not an 

organized international movement in the 1930s. There was no fascist equiv-

alent of the Communist International.91 Hitler and Mussolini did not auto-

matically become allies upon Hitler’s seizure of power in 1933 because of 

their shared radical right-wing politics; nor, for that matter, did the German 

Nazis maintain cordial relations with the “Austrofascist” regime of Engelbert 

Dollfuss, who was assassinated by an Austrian Nazi in 1934.92 At a 

minimum, however, all of these movements were part of a broader global 

right that drew its domestic support from similar groups of supporters—

generally middle and professional classes, backed by capital owners—and 

skeptical of liberalism and democracy.

Hart continued to engage energetically in right-wing activism in 1940 and 

1941. His overriding concern remained the same: to oppose communism 

and its sundry alien infl uences from gaining a foothold in American life and 

to advocate for the continued survival of the free-enterprise system in the 

United States. Although still ferociously opposed to organized labor, which 

he considered the prime domestic battleground in the struggle against inter-

national communism, Hart increasingly viewed education as another 

theater in that war. Most of Hart’s domestic activist efforts in 1940 and 1941 

were dedicated to building a national network to remove allegedly 
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subversive pro-communist textbooks from America’s schools. Hart and the 

Economic Council were by no means the only activists working on this 

issue, but he continued to be an important part of a dense ecosystem of 

conservative groups dedicated to fi ghting against communism, socialism, 

and New Deal liberalism. If the left had its anti-fascist Popular Front in the 

1930s, then the right had its own popular front of activists and organizations 

pushing a militantly anti-communist and anti-liberal agenda.

Hart had long been concerned about cultural subversion by Communist 

Party front groups and communist sympathizers. He constantly complained 

about mainstream press coverage of the Spanish Civil War and the pro-

Republican sympathies of many American intellectuals (singling out 

Theodore Dreiser in America, Look at Spain for particular ire).93 In December 

1939, in a speech in Binghamton, New York, Hart turned his ire to what he 

described as a “ ‘subtle, sugar-coated’ effort to convert youth to Communism” 

by the Binghamton school district’s use of subversive school textbooks 

written by Harold Rugg, a professor at Columbia University’s Teachers 

College. Hart was hardly the fi rst to claim that there was subversive activity 

afoot in America’s schools. Charles Walgreen, the founder of a national 

drugstore chain, drew headlines in 1935 when he claimed that his niece was 

being indoctrinated into “free love and Communism” by her professors at 

the University of Chicago. (Walgreen retracted his charges after an investiga-

tion by the Illinois state senate—at which Elizabeth Dilling testifi ed—

eventually donating some half a million dollars to the university by way 

of apology . . . on the condition that his funds be used to promote “pro-

American” views.)94 And to be fair, Rugg’s textbooks did have a political 

component to their pedagogy—since his earliest days as an educator, Rugg 

was explicit that he hoped to teach students to be skeptical of authority and 

conventional wisdom. As far as conservative activists were concerned, this 

was tantamount to communism. (It did not help matters that Rugg, although 

a critic of the Communist Party line himself, was willing to include commu-

nist writers in his pedagogical materials.) Correspondingly, Rugg found 

himself the subject of attacks from a variety of right-wing groups and activ-

ists in the late 1930s and early 1940s, ranging from the American Legion to 

Bertie Forbes, the publisher of Forbes magazine, to Hart and the New York 

State Economic Council (Hart apparently fi rst became acquainted with the 

Rugg books after reading a critical article in Forbes). The most recent study of 

the Rugg textbook controversy emphasized that competing visions of 
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“Americanism”—respect for authority, religion, and pro-market economics 

versus Rugg’s conception of participatory democracy—were the funda-

mental issues at stake. Both Rugg and most of his critics, including Forbes 

and the American Legion, contested “Americanism” through the term 

democracy, with Rugg insisting that he had a “deep loyalty to the historic 

American version of the democratic way of life” and that his textbooks would 

instill in students a healthy democratic skepticism that “could serve as the 

true implementation of democracy.”95

For Hart, who had already come to the conclusion that the very term 

democracy was a Comintern plot to subvert the American republic, Rugg’s 

commitment to democracy made him automatically suspect. In his speech 

in Binghamton, Hart relied on his continued close relationship with Martin 

Dies to bolster his expert anti-communist credentials—no small irony, since 

one of the major criticisms of Rugg’s texts was that Rugg could not be 

trusted as an elitist “expert.” Hart specifi cally cited Rugg’s hostility to the 

advertising industry in the textbook An Introduction to Problems of American 

Culture, saying that the Dies committee had exposed anti-advertising 

“impartial private research groups” as communistic.96 Hart’s accusations 

set off a fi restorm in Binghamton, spurring the Binghamton Teacher 

Association to investigate the books and conclude that Hart’s concerns were 

“justifi ed to a degree.” The superintendent of the Binghamton school district 

bowed to pressure the following spring and pulled Rugg’s texts out of the 

classroom. Hart, for his part, reveled in his role in removing Rugg’s books 

from Binghamton, urging readers of his Economic Council Letter to “ascer-

tain whether these Rugg Social Science Textbooks are in use in their 

schools,” and promising that the Economic Council would provide guidance 

through “constructive suggestions” on how best to remove them.97

The campaign against Rugg had become in essence a soft version of the 

Mohawk Valley formula. Rugg was a pro-communist outside agitator who 

required middle-class members of the Economic Council to organize 

against him and his work. While there was not the same implicit threat of 

violence in the anti-Rugg campaign as in the organizing efforts against the 

CIO, Hart and his fellow anti-communist activists saw the struggles in the 

same terms. If labor organizing threatened to disrupt control over labor, 

then Rugg’s textbooks threatened to disrupt control over young people and 

had to be dealt with accordingly. The council noted in the spring of 1940 that 

it had received inquiries “from states as far west as California” and that “aid 
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is daily being asked in ferreting out such books.” The council was “prepared 

to furnish” such aid, and would gladly “instruct parents how to proceed” in 

removing the Rugg books from their schools.98 By the fall, eight school 

districts had removed Rugg’s books from their curricula, a victory Hart 

attributed to the tireless activism of council members, noting that the coun-

cil’s committee on education was “already in communication with some 

sixty other communities from the Atlantic to Pacifi c” to fi ght back against 

Rugg’s subversive texts.99 Hart’s campaign reached a crescendo on February 

22, 1941, when Hart appeared alongside Rugg on a panel at the annual 

conference of the Progressive Teachers Association in Philadelphia. Hart 

reiterated that Rugg’s books had a “socialistic viewpoint” that painted a 

negative picture of capitalism and free enterprise; Rugg, for his part, retorted 

that Hart was bitter that scholars were insisting that “children study all of the 

historical records” (emphasis mine). “How free shall private enterprise be? 

. . . We want the story of free enterprise told, but we also want the story of 

[the] new defi nition of liberty told.” By this, Rugg meant the transformations 

in American society of conceptions of public versus private goods. Rugg 

pointed out that one hundred years ago, “all water supplies were privately 

owned, and now they are publicly owned.” But this spoke to the fundamental 

incompatibility of Rugg’s vision of American society with Hart’s—a man, 

after all, who had spent much of the last thirty years campaigning against 

public ownership and public expenditures of all kinds. Pointing to Hart and 

his fellow free-enterpriser on the panel, Alfred Falk of the Advertising 

Federation of America, Rugg declared, “Make no mistake. These men are 

not friendly enemies. They’re enemies. The interests Mr. Hart represents 

are your enemies and your children’s enemies.”100 The damage had already 

been done, though. Rugg’s textbook faded out of classrooms. Hart and his 

allies, coordinating with grassroots activists across the country, had won a 

major victory.101

Hart’s infl uence peaked between 1937 and 1941. There were admittedly 

limits to his accomplishments. Franklin D. Roosevelt was still president. 

The New Deal was still the reigning paradigm in American politics. Even 

Hart’s most important success, his work with James Rand in creating the 

Mohawk Valley formula, did not prevent the company from losing both its 

arbitration case in front of the National Labor Relations Board and a later 

case in federal court. Nevertheless, Hart could point to real successes over 

the past decade. He had organized a mass-membership organization in New 
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York State and had received national press coverage of his efforts—and was 

seen as suffi ciently infl uential to merit a congressional investigation. The 

Mohawk Valley formula was used successfully in the Little Steel strike in 

1937. Harold Rugg’s textbooks were pulled out of classrooms around the 

country. And Hart had built alliances with other right-wing activists to 

support Francisco Franco in Spain. He enjoyed an international reputation 

as an anti-communist crusader—and notoriety in the United States as a 

fascist sympathizer, in no small part thanks to Harold Ickes’s November 

1940 speech publicizing Hart’s belief that democracy was a Soviet plot.

Hart apparently believed that widespread circulation of his original 

claim would exonerate him from charges that he was hostile to the self-

governance of the American people and that he harbored sympathy for the 

fascist powers in Europe. His critics on the left saw through him. Freda 

Kirchwey, the editor in chief of the Nation, wrote that Hart’s speech contained 

“a slightly oblique expression of anti-Semitism.” What else could Hart mean 

by “foreign” and “alien” infl uences? Kirchwey went on to list Hart’s ample 

and well-documented ties with far-right and fascist-sympathizing groups in 

New York State and nationally, as well as his lobbying work for the Franco 

regime. And, Kirchwey concluded, Hart was no pariah among business 

elites for his efforts. “According to the news account of the meeting published 

in the columns of the Times itself, Mr. Hart’s ‘audience heard him in grim 

silence. Many came up to shake his hand afterward.’ ”102

Democracy, like most political concepts, has always had its meaning 

contested. In 1937, a few years before Hart gave his speech, W.E.B. Du Bois 

wrote a novella he called A World Search for Democracy in which a thinly 

fi ctionalized version of himself offers observations on comparative systems 

of government. Du Bois defi ned democracy, “real democracy,” as “based 

upon the widest recognition of human equality” in which no one individual 

or group, by dint of their race or class position, enjoyed disproportionate 

political and economic power over another. “Only for a moment, in the 

United States of America in 1867, when four million black slaves had 

enfranchisement and the possibility of economic power added to their legal 

freedom, did the world trend set toward universal human development,” 

that is, real democracy.103

The prospect of real democracy terrifi ed Merwin K. Hart.
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isolationism  is  a long-lamented term. Historians have largely 

rejected its usage to describe those opposed to American entry into World 

War II, favoring instead non-interventionism—Stephen Wertheim noted that 

the very term itself, which suggests a kind of retrograde political orientation, 

was coined by advocates of American intervention. Indeed, there have been 

recurrent waves of scholarship—ranging from the conservative Justus Doe-

necke to the work of leftist critiques like Wertheim and Daniel Bessner—

critical of the liberal internationalism of the Roosevelt administration, argu-

ing that the subsequent blood-soaked postwar American global empire was 

the direct consequence of the liberal internationalism of the Roosevelt 

administration.1

But while isolationism may have been a term coined by non-

interventionists’ political opponents, the equally charged America First was 

decidedly their own appellation. Like the overwhelming majority of advo-

cates of non-interventionism, Merwin K. Hart and his political allies—

ranging from Robert McCormick to Charles Lindbergh to Senator Robert 

Taft—did not describe themselves as isolationists, but rather as advocates of 

America’s national interests, which they identifi ed with free markets, free 

enterprise, and anticommunism. For them, Nazi triumph in World War II 

was preferable to U.S. entry into the war, which would signal the fi nal victory 

of the hated New Deal in American domestic politics. And while Hart, 
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McCormick, and even—to a lesser extent—Lindbergh were not Nazis, they 

did have a history of engaging in right-wing mass political mobilization as 

well as nativism and antisemitism, placing them on the far right of the polit-

ical spectrum. Hart was actually denied a leadership position with the 

America First Committee because leading members of that organization 

considered his political reputation to be too toxic to risk public affi liation.

The narrative of victimization—that right-wing critics of the adminis-

tration were particularly singled out for political persecution through 

the prosecution of alleged fascist sympathizers in the infamous U.S. v. 

McWilliams trial in 1944—needs to be read against the much more serious 

incarceration of hundreds of thousands of Japanese Americans in concen-

tration camps without trial, an action that met with a muted response from 

right-wing activists. Still, while the narrative of the “smear campaign” has 

been exaggerated, liberals did reap political dividends from portraying their 

right-wing critics as “crackpots.” The Roosevelt administration actually bene-

fi ted from Gerald L. K. Smith’s buffoonish 1944 campaign for the presidency 

as the candidate of his own America First Party. By the end of the war, 

considerable damage had been done to the public image of Hart and his 

political allies on the right.

Merwin Hart’s opposition to American entry into World War II was, given 

his earlier pro-Franco views, perhaps inevitable. In September 1939 the 

Economic Council’s newsletter darkly warned that if the United States did 

declare war on Germany, “economy and free enterprise will disappear and 

we shall probably never see them again.” Hart went on to suggest that 

President Roosevelt’s advisors were eager to enter the European war in order 

to eradicate the remains of the capitalist system in America and thereby 

hasten “Russia’s plan to communize the world.” Hart urged Congress to 

protect the American people from their interventionist president in the 

White House, adding that the “Hitler-Stalin pact shows [the communists 

and the Nazis] possesses a common tyranny” and emphasized that the real 

threat to America was internal communist subversion.2 These were 

common viewpoints across the political spectrum in 1939, as the Nazi-Soviet 

pact in August made it easy to confl ate communism and fascism into a 

common category in American political discourse.3

On November 30, 1939, Merwin Hart organized what he dubbed a 

“MASS MEETING FOR AMERICA” at Madison Square Garden. Hart modeled his 
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event on his pro-Franco rally at the Seventh Regiment Armory earlier in the 

year, and the list of co-organizers and speakers was a who’s who of “respect-

able” “patriotic” organizations in New York—the popular front of the right. 

The rally, which Hart described as “anti-Communist, anti-Fascist, and anti-

Nazi,” featured a speech from HUAC chairman Dies, as well as one by 

Jeremiah Cross, the former New York State commander of the American 

Legion. Some fi fteen thousand rally goers turned up. The evening proceeded 

tranquilly, in marked contrast to Fritz Kuhn’s bund rally in February. Dies 

extensively quoted George Washington’s farewell address warning against 

foreign entanglements, and cheers greeted the news that Fritz Kuhn had 

been arrested earlier that evening on embezzlement charges. (Chants of 

“What about Browder?” and “Browder next!” broke out in reply to the 

announcement.) Hart and his fellow non-interventionists had deftly 

managed, for the moment, to position themselves as simultaneously 

antiwar, anti-fascist, anti-communist, pro-American, and committed to 

racial and religious tolerance—one of the speakers on the handbill was the 

New York commander of the Jewish War Veterans. Hart, Dies, and the other 

speakers were able to position themselves as defenders of peace and 

American democracy, opposed to fascism and communism abroad and 

also, more importantly, at home. But this political alignment would last only 

through the following spring before it encountered a fatal obstacle: the 

collapse of France in the spring of 1940.4

Like most Americans, Hart and his fellow travelers professed a desire to 

see France and Britain defeat Hitler’s Germany. Strict neutrality in the war 

did not appear to offer any real downside as long as the French and the 

British remained in a strong strategic position. After all, France supposedly 

possessed the strongest army in Europe. Upon the outbreak of the confl ict, 

most American pundits confi dently predicted an Anglo-French victory, 

albeit one that would take years as the democracies mobilized their econo-

mies for total war. The United Press’s war analyst described Germany’s posi-

tion as “unfavorable” and its armies as “unseasoned and without the 

well-trained offi cers, non-commissioned offi cers, and soldiers” to be found 

in France.5 Herbert Hoover boldly predicted in October that a German 

victory was impossible; he was convinced that British and French naval 

power and the economic resources from their vast empires meant that the 

Allied powers would inevitably triumph. But the fall of France sent shock 

waves across the United States. Without American support, Great Britain 
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could soon go the same way as France, leaving Germany totally dominant in 

western Europe and, with an evident ally in Soviet Russia, rendering almost 

all of Eurasia hostile to the United States. Hart, characteristically, blamed the 

Popular Front government of the “Blum regime” in France for the country’s 

collapse and suggested that “[America’s] policies, too, have been infl uenced 

from foreign capitals.” (Léon Blum, the Socialist prime minister of France 

from 1936 to 1937 and again briefl y in 1938, was also the fi rst Jew to serve in 

the post, a fact not lost on his opponents both in France and abroad.) 

“National unity,” Hart went on, “is impossible unless we throw out interna-

tional infl uences.”6 But while public opinion increasingly favored relaxing 

the neutrality acts of the 1930s and assisting Great Britain, opponents of 

intervention began to organize.7

In the spring of 1940, a group of Yale students organized the America 

First Committee (AFC) to oppose American entry into the war. America 

First’s politics were initially moderate—early supporters at Yale included 

Gerald Ford, Potter Stewart, Sargent Shriver, and R. Douglas Stuart, AFC’s 

lead organizer—but the organization quickly attracted the backing of promi-

nent right-wingers, including veterans of the anti–New Deal right of the 

1930s as well as former New Dealers. Its professed aims in September 1940 

were hardly radical: the United States ought to fi rst arm itself. The prelimi-

nary nationwide advertisements for America First in October stressed that 

America “needs guns. We need men. We need ships enough for a two-ocean 

navy independent of any other power. Let nobody take them away from us. 

Let nobody give them away.”8 Preparedness was the watchword, not disar-

mament. Aviator Charles Lindbergh, although not yet affi liated with 

America First, endorsed the passage of the peacetime draft that same month.

America First committed itself to forming the broadest possible political 

coalition against extending American involvement in the European war. 

The new group took pains to incorporate liberals and even socialists into its 

ranks as well as those on the anti–New Deal right. This actually stymied 

Merwin Hart’s infl uence within America First and the broader non-

interventionist movement. Hart volunteered in the autumn of 1940 to set up 

a New York branch of the Chicago-based organization, but his efforts were 

blocked by John T. Flynn, a longtime columnist with the New Republic who 

was also based in New York.9 Flynn, like Hart, opposed American entry into 

the war and had been a long-standing critic of Franklin D. Roosevelt, but 

Flynn’s politics in the 1930s were the polar opposite of Hart’s. Flynn opposed 
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the National Recovery Administration on the grounds that it had 

effectively suspended the Sherman Anti-Trust Act and allowed for industrial 

cartelization—the very feature that Hart had advocated for and the only 

aspect of the NRA that he and the New York State Economic Council had 

praised.10 Flynn’s major complaint about the NRA was that it did not go far 

enough in ensuring the protection of labor rights. Flynn also supported the 

Loyalists during the Spanish Civil War, condemning Franco’s troops as 

“Spanish fascist legions” and claiming that fascist supporters were falsely 

attributing Francoist atrocities to the Spanish communists—which was, 

considering Hart’s charges about Guernica being a false-fl ag operation, 

true.11 And while Flynn opposed direct American intervention in the war in 

1940, he was hardly pro-German; he harshly criticized Neville Chamberlain’s 

appeasement policy in October 1938 and affi rmed his support for the cash-

and-carry policy advocated by Roosevelt and passed by Congress in September 

1939. Cash-and-carry loosened the 1937 Neutrality Acts to allow trade in arms 

and ammunition with belligerent powers provided that sales were made in 

cash and the belligerents assumed the risks of transportation, a policy that by 

default favored British interests, since the Royal Navy controlled the seas.12 

Flynn wrote to Douglas Stuart in Chicago, “Hart is himself the super super-

patriotic type. He has been widely accused of fascist leanings . . . and is 

constantly being ‘exposed’ [as such].” Flynn also told Stuart that Hart and his 

allies in Manhattan were upset that Lessing Rosenwald, the Jewish former 

chairman of Sears Roebuck, was on America First’s national committee. 

Flynn became head of America First’s New York chapter instead.13

The America First Committee, although a national organization, 

allowed its local chapters a considerable degree of autonomy. Flynn effec-

tively froze Hart out of the New York chapter because of their long-standing 

political disagreements and because Flynn made a conscious effort to 

exclude the fascist-sympathetic right from his local branch. Not every 

America First chapter followed suit. In Chicago, the head of the National 

Gentile League, an antisemitic group established in Maryland in 1934, 

addressed an America First meeting.14 Particularly in the Midwest, local 

AFC leaders leveled the old charges that the New Deal was the “Jew Deal” 

and that President Roosevelt was either being maneuvered into war by his 

Jewish advisors or was a secret Jew.15

These repeated scandals involving antisemitism and fascist sympathies 

would dog America First throughout its existence and contribute to its 
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image as a far-right, pro-Nazi organization. But, at least initially, liberals like 

Flynn retained a great degree of infl uence, albeit in constant tension with 

pressure from the right. Had Flynn not been active in blocking Hart from 

organizing the AFC New York chapter, it is highly likely that Hart would 

have succeeded in the power struggle, given both his relationship with 

Robert McCormick, one of the major fi nanciers of the national committee, 

and the high degree of tolerance AFC national leadership had for right-wing 

activists joining its ranks. Notably, Lessing Rosenwald, whom Hart objected 

to as an AFC national leader on the basis of his Jewish ethnicity, resigned 

from the organization after Henry Ford become a national committee 

member. (Mindful of bad publicity, the AFC ejected Ford by the end of 

1940).16 As a single-issue non-ideological organization, the America First 

Committee was not part of an anti–New Deal right-wing popular front. 

Ironically, outside of New York, it operated along political lines not dissim-

ilar to Hart and the New York State Economic Council: embracing oppo-

nents of Roosevelt from all political persuasions save explicit Nazis and 

communists.

Hart did not take his political defeat by Flynn lying down. He had main-

tained ties with Charles Lindbergh throughout 1940 and in October Hart, 

along with Carl W. Ackerman, dean of the Columbia Journalism School, 

approached Lindbergh about the formation of a new antiwar committee on 

the East Coast to coordinate opposition to American entry into the war. 

Lindbergh demurred, apparently unaware of the political fi ght between Hart 

and Flynn and preferring instead to throw his weight behind America First 

as a national organization in Chicago. Lindbergh in general hated organiza-

tional work, writing in his diary after Hart’s offer that “we have had more 

than enough of committees already. We need leaders, not [more] commit-

tees. . . . I think Hart feels like I should take over . . . but that would mean 

giving up the type of work that I am now doing,” making speeches on the 

radio and being feted as a celebrity speaker.17

With Lindbergh having rejected a leadership role, Hart turned to an 

incredibly unlikely front man for a New York-based anti-interventionist 

group—Manhattan’s answer to America First in Chicago—that was 

supposed to have as its remit organizing the eastern seaboard. The No 

Foreign War Committee almost immediately imploded, in no small part 

because the man Hart tapped for a leadership role, Verne Marshall, the 

editor in chief of a small Iowa newspaper, was completely out of his depth in 
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New York. In a radio debate at town hall with Dean Acheson, Marshall dared 

hecklers in the audience to join him onstage for fi sticuffs. By April, the orga-

nization had disbanded.18

Hart was temporarily chastened by the No Foreign War fi asco. He did 

not make further efforts to form a new dedicated non-interventionist group, 

nor did he attempt to wrest control of the New York America First chapter 

from Flynn. He did, however, continue to speak out against extending 

American aid to Britain and potential American entry into the war as head of 

the New York State Economic Council. He testifi ed in front of the Senate 

Foreign Relations Committee in February 1941 opposing Roosevelt’s 

proposed Lend-Lease legislation, telling senators that while he wanted 

Britain to win the war, American involvement would exhaust the country’s 

economic resources and then, “with the highly organized communistic 

network that has been developed in the United States,” Russia could “quietly 

and . . . effectively take control here. That, I believe, is the great danger that 

lurks in the background.” (Ironically, Joseph Curran, the president of the 

CIO’s National Maritime Union, also testifi ed against the bill the same day, 

on the grounds that the postposed legislation was “downright fascist.” 

Curran reversed himself in July after the German invasion of the Soviet 

Union.)19 Hart repeatedly expressed the fear that war measures would ulti-

mately serve the interests of the Soviet Union and international commu-

nism, especially after the beginning of the German attack on Russia on June 

22, 1941. Hart opposed an administration proposal in July that would allow 

for the seizure of industrial facilities for war production on the grounds that 

the war materials produced could fi nd their way to Russia—if the bill were 

passed, he told the Senate Foreign Affairs Committee, it must include an 

amendment preventing aid to Russia.20 He supported the extension of the 

draft in 1941, but called for strict prohibitions on sending draftees outside of 

the Americas.21 And Hart insisted that the expansion of industrial produc-

tion without coercive measures against industrial labor unions would lead to 

the victory of communism in the United States. In his penultimate peace-

time newsletter for the Economic Council, Hart bemoaned what he consid-

ered a basic truth—that the German-Russian war had blinded Americans to 

the incoming “swarms of Russian agents . . ., all of them Communist,” to 

the United States, which would inevitably “heighten Communist infl uence 

in our republic.”22 Hart wrote to Ohio senator Robert Taft in July urging that 

the United States shun Soviet Russia—“I hate Nazism and Fascism but 
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godless Communism is far worse. For us to join even indirectly with Soviet 

Russia would probably lead to a Communist United States [even] if we 

won.”23

It was no accident that Hart aired his concerns to Taft. The eldest son of 

former president William Howard Taft, Robert Taft shared Hart’s core 

conviction that American entry into the war would lead inexorably to the 

fi nal cementation of the New Deal and the end of the free-enterprise system 

in America. Taft had been elected to the Senate only recently, in 1938, but 

due to his political pedigree and support from former president Herbert 

Hoover had quickly emerged as one of the most important leaders of the 

anti-Roosevelt right within the Republican Party. For Taft the New Deal far 

outweighed any foreign adversary as his primary political enemy—indeed, 

Taft declared in a speech in early 1940, at the height of the Nazi-Soviet pact, 

that “there is a good deal more danger of the infi ltration of totalitarian ideas 

from the New Deal circle in Washington than there will ever be from any 

activities of the communists or the Nazi bund.” He adamantly opposed 

extending aid to Britain after the collapse of the Allied position on the 

European continent and was more or less indifferent to the prospect of 

German victory, which Taft did not feel signifi cantly affected U.S. interests. 

“War is worse,” he wrote to Hoover in early 1941, “even than a German 

victory.” Unlike Lindbergh and Hart, however, Taft did not see the specter of 

Jewish conspiracy behind efforts to bring America into the war.24

Hart increasingly resented the “attacks” on himself and the Economic 

Council as pro-fascist and antisemitic. In April 1941, Congressman Joseph 

Clark Baldwin, a Republican from Manhattan, said in a speech at a New 

York State Economic Council meeting on the proposed Saint Lawrence 

Seaway project, “I have been informed that certain sponsors of the New York 

State Economic Council hold views on our American democracy and its 

defense completely at variance with mine. . . . Those who place race or party 

prejudice above patriotism; those who refuse to recognize the vital impor-

tance of national unity . . . are preparing the downfall of our nation, just as 

the same elements prepared the downfall of France.” Hart, also present at 

the meeting, took the podium and attempted to directly respond to Baldwin. 

“I am not unaware that there has been a whispering campaign that members 

of the Economic Council have . . . prejudice against the Jews. . . . We have 

many Jewish members on our board and many Jewish members of the 

economic council itself.”25
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Despite his professed anti-antisemitism, Hart remained an outspoken 

supporter of Lindbergh as the aviator courted public controversy. On 

April 23, 1941, Lindbergh spoke to a crowd of some ten thousand to fi fteen 

thousand America Firsters at Madison Square Garden in Manhattan, 

sparking what press reports described as a “near riot” between non- and pro-

interventionists. The Associated Press reported that several men and 

women were beaten to unconsciousness in the garden during the rally when 

they produced anti-Lindbergh signs; there were also skirmishes in the 

streets between supporters and opponents of AFC. Hart wrote a letter to the 

New York Herald Tribune the next day defending Lindbergh from the “name-

calling and abuse heaped on him from certain directions,” including denun-

ciations from banker Paul Warburg, New York mayor Fiorella LaGuardia, 

and of course President Roosevelt.26 (In response to Roosevelt’s denuncia-

tion, Lindbergh resigned his commission in the Army Air Corps Reserve.)27 

Praise from the German press did not help Lindbergh’s image—the 

Hamburger Fremdenblatt described Lindbergh as a “real American of 

Swedish descent out of the Middle West” who opposed war “through 

devoted love of his country.”28

America First became increasingly sensitive throughout 1941 to criti-

cism that it was pro-Nazi or antisemitic. The liberal anti-fascist group 

Friends of Democracy labeled AFC part of a “Nazi Transmission Belt,” more 

dangerous than the bund because “it does not bear the stigma of an alien 

loyalty.” John Flynn retorted that this charge was an “infamous smear.”29 

But America First’s public image was further damaged by the appearance of 

Joseph McWilliams, whom Time had dubbed “Mr. McNazi” for his support 

for Hitler, at another America First rally at Madison Square Garden in May. 

John T. Flynn, who gave the introductory remarks, noticed McWilliams in 

the crowd. Echoing Martin Dies’s condemnation of Fritz Kuhn at a New 

York State Economic Council event two years earlier, Flynn declared from 

the dais that “just because some misguided fool in Manhattan who happens 

to be a Nazi gets a few tickets to this rally, this meeting of American citizens 

is called [by the press] a Nazi meeting.” Both boos and cheers greeted 

McWilliams. Despite Flynn’s protestations to the contrary, there were 

America First supporters in the audience who saw McWilliams as a fellow 

traveler, if not an outright ally.30

Lindbergh worsened matters for America First on September 11, 1941, 

when, in a speech in Des Moines, Iowa, the fl ier charged that the “British, 



“the super superpatriotic type”  61

the Jewish, and the Roosevelt Administration” were “the three most impor-

tant groups which have been pressing this country toward war,” adding that 

the Jews were also a “danger to this country” through “their large ownership 

and infl uence in our motion pictures, our press, our radio, and our 

Government.”31 North Dakota senator Gerald Nye—one of America First’s 

prominent allies on Capitol Hill—further damaged the group’s public image 

through his stump speeches decrying “international bankers” pushing 

America toward war, as well as his investigation into the pro-war content of 

Hollywood fi lms in September 1941. Nye, who specifi cally targeted Jewish 

fi lm industry leaders, was criticized for conducting an essentially antise-

mitic probe. Nye retorted that pro-war Jewish organizations had been the 

ones that injected the “anti-Semitic issue” into the proceedings. The hear-

ings, which had been aided by an independent investigation fi nanced by 

America First donors and led by Flynn, ultimately did more damage to 

America First than to the fi lm industry.32

Hart, for his part, wrote Lindbergh several congratulatory letters 

about his Des Moines speech, confi ding that he, too, had been smeared “as 

Fascist, anti-Semitic, and all the rest.”33 Lindbergh strenuously denied that 

his remarks were antisemitic, and received guarded support from the 

America First Committee, whose members were not eager to muzzle the 

voice of their most popular speaker. In a press statement AFC blamed 

pro-interventionists for “twisting and distorting what Colonel Lindbergh 

said at Des Moines [by] trying to label that address as antisemitic.”34 In the 

eyes of non-interventionists like Lindbergh and Hart, liberal and left-wing 

allies of the administration were unjustly smearing principled opposition to 

the Roosevelt White House as radical, pro-fascist, and antisemitic—a contin-

uation of liberal attacks on New Deal opponents in the 1930s. And, in the 

case of Lindbergh and Hart, these smears were paradoxically proof that their 

analysis of undue Jewish infl uence in the media and in the administration 

was correct.

Lindbergh and Hart were not outliers. Political antisemitism—the belief that 

Jews had an undue infl uence in the Roosevelt administration and, through 

this infl uence, were subverting America’s traditions and replacing them with 

the socialism and communism of the New Deal state—was commonplace 

on the American right in the 1930s and 1940s. Conservative broadcaster 

Fulton Lewis Jr., a pioneering Capitol Hill correspondent for the Mutual 
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Broadcast System whose folksy Washington, DC, commentary pioneered 

broadcast punditry, had dinner with Lindbergh and former diplomat William 

R. Castle shortly before the outbreak of war. According to Lindbergh’s diary, 

they discussed concerns “about the effect of the Jewish infl uence in our 

press, radio, and motion pictures,” with Lewis even confi ding to Lindbergh 

that “Jewish advertising fi rms threatened to remove all their advertising from 

the Mutual system if a certain feature [Lindbergh did not specify which] were 

permitted to go on the air.”35 After Lindbergh’s Des Moines speech, he 

recorded in his diary that John Flynn agreed with his point—“He feels as 

strong as I do that the Jews are among the major infl uences pushing this 

country toward war”—and was livid only because Lindbergh publicly 

expressed those sentiments.36

The defense of Lindbergh that the America First Committee made—

that the pro-war Jewish lobby was smearing patriotic American opponents 

of the war with spurious charges of antisemitism to stymie dissent—itself 

had a long history in American politics and the history of American anti-

semitism. When Henry Ford fi nanced the creation of the antisemitic tract 

The International Jew in the 1920s, he not only strenuously denied (in public) 

that he harbored any particular animosity to the Jews, but claimed in the 

penultimate chapter of the fourth volume of the tract his prediction that 

good Jews will “see the truth [of the book] and act upon it.” (Ford also called 

for the abolition of the Anti-Defamation League, “which grows frantic over 

innocent remarks on the part of ‘Gentiles.’ . . . No one can give the Jews 

[such] a bad reputation but the Jews themselves.”)37 Even William Dudley 

Pelley, the leader of the Silver Shirts, denied to the Dies Committee in 1940 

that he “[held] any hatred toward any Jew in the United States,” although in 

testimony the following day he told the committee, “I do say freely I that I 

am anti-Semitic.” However, Pelley insisted to the committee that he had “no 

animus against the individual Jew” but rather “against the tactics of Jewry as 

a whole.”38 This qualifi er did not pass the credibility test in the case of Pelley, 

who had built a career arguing, for example, that hubcaps produced by 

Chrysler Motors bore the Star of David.39 In general, however, the rhetorical 

move of denying that antisemitic statements or inferences harbored any 

particular animus to individual Jews was tied to a specifi c form of political 

antisemitism. Hart traffi cked in this form of political antisemitism, although 

he was careful to keep direct statements about Jewish infl uences out of his 

public statements in the 1930s and early 1940s. Lindbergh was less 
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circumspect—not only did he make frequent private asides about Jewish 

infl uence in his diary, he was willing to unequivocally embrace political anti-

semitism publicly in Des Moines.

These forms of political antisemitism were all the more infl uential 

precisely because they were not explicitly identifi ed with fascism; Hart and 

Lindbergh took pains to emphasize that they were not connected with 

foreign fascist governments or native fascist movements. But while neither 

fi gure was an explicit fascist, their public statements, political connections, 

and commitment to a right-wing form of mass politics—particularly when 

combined with their fi erce anticommunism and antisemitism—placed 

them both on the spectrum of fascistic politics. This was certainly the anal-

ysis of their liberal and left-wing critics. The American right consistently 

rejected this criticism in the 1940s as bad-faith smears, and indeed the belief 

that allegations of fascist sympathies and fascist politics were ultimately 

liberal and left-wing ad hominem attacks meant to silence dissent colored a 

later generation of American right-wing political culture. The origins of 

William F. Buckley Jr.’s later litigiousness in the 1950s and his threat to 

punch Gore Vidal live on national television in the 1960s ultimately lay in 

the political clashes of the early 1940s.

Merwin Hart and the American right continued to feel victimized by 

left-wing smears during the war years. Hart, like many right-wing non-

interventionists, made a gesture of closing ranks behind the war effort 

immediately after Pearl Harbor. The New York State Economic Council 

offered its support to the New York government as well as the War 

Department and the Treasury in December, and supported Roosevelt’s call 

for national unity. Hart, however, had conditions: “a truce on the effort to 

change the United States into a collectivist society.” He praised the selection 

of former executive vice president of Sears Roebuck Donald Nelson as head 

of the War Production Board, who could bring the entrepreneurial spirit of 

American private enterprise into Washington, DC (“Everybody behind 

Nelson!”) and conceded that “certain dictatorial powers must be exercised 

during this war,” but warned that “we must reject the idea now being so 

cunningly injected into the public mind that, of course, when the war is over, 

we shall be a Socialist State.” Hart was not alone in his misgivings; Lindbergh 

wrote in his diary the day that Germany and Italy declared war on the United 

States that “we talk about spreading freedom and democracy all over the 
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world . . . [but] we haven’t even got them here in America, and the farther we 

get into this war the farther we get from freedom and democracy.” (Given 

Lindbergh’s politics views on race, he was presumably referring to the New 

Deal state, not the American system of racial apartheid.) Calls for unity 

masked the reality that the bitter prewar political battles would continue.40

Franklin D. Roosevelt certainly harbored no illusions about that. Even 

before the war, state and federal offi cials, partly at the behest of Roosevelt, 

had taken a marked interest in investigating those with alleged right-wing 

sympathies. For all of the attacks levied against Martin Dies for his associa-

tion with Hart and other activists and Dies’s repeatedly stated belief that 

communism, not fascism, was the greater threat to American democracy, 

Dies’s House Un-American Activities Committee launched multiple inves-

tigations into various fascist organizations and sympathizers, including the 

German American Bund, the Silver Shirts, and Gerald L. K. Smith. The 

Federal Bureau of Investigation maintained open case fi les on hundreds of 

right-wingers, including Merwin Hart, Charles Lindbergh, and even U.S. 

senators Burton Wheeler and Gerald Nye. Roosevelt pressed his security 

chiefs to aggressively investigate and prosecute antiwar and right-wing 

opponents—he personally sought FBI fi les on Joseph McWilliams, the 

American Destiny Party leader whom John T. Flynn unsuccessfully 

attempted to have ejected from America First’s May 1941 rally at Madison 

Square Garden, as well as Lawrence Dennis, the Harvard-educated writer 

who had been dubbed by Life magazine as “America’s no. 1 intellectual 

fascist.”41 Attorney General Francis Biddle duly complied with Roosevelt’s 

directives. In July 1942 a grand jury in Washington, DC, indicted twenty-

eight right-wing activists for sedition. Pelley, McWilliams, and Dennis were 

among those facing charges. Father Charles Coughlin and Gerald L. K. 

Smith narrowly escaped charges themselves; Coughlin had by 1942 been 

forced by the Catholic Church to retire from public life, while neither the 

Justice Department nor the Treasury Department could fi nd anything to 

charge against Smith despite an exhaustive investigation.

Hart also escaped prosecution, but the sedition case had a broader 

chilling effect on the American right. The government investigations were 

only a part of what historian Leo Ribuffo in The Old Christian Right referred 

to as the Brown Scare of the wartime years. Right-wing critics of the New 

Deal were labeled as Nazis and fascist sympathizers by liberal and left activ-

ists. Hart was no exception. The communist Daily Worker, whenever it had 
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the occasion to devote column space to him, identifi ed him as “profascist.”42 

In November 1942 Hart fi led a lawsuit against the liberal anti-fascist group 

Friends of Democracy, the same organization that referred to America First 

as a “Nazi Transmission Belt,” for defamation in New York state court for 

listing Hart’s name in a pamphlet as one of “200 American Quislings” who 

were still active in the United States in 1942.43 Hart sought $1 million in 

damages, claiming that the charges, which his lawyer called tantamount to 

declaring him a traitor, caused “great anxiety of mind, humiliation, and 

mortifi cation.”44 Friends of Democracy—whose board members included 

Rex Stout, the author of the Nero Wolfe detective stories—defended its 

charges on the basis that all of the people called “Quislings” had connections 

with organizations mentioned in the July federal indictments. Friends of 

Democracy also asserted that Hart “has been actively engaged in the dissem-

ination of pro-Franco propaganda in the United States” and that this demon-

strated that he was “a pro-Nazi, pro-Axis propagandist following the Quisling 

line.” While the judge did not comment on the veracity of those claims in his 

verdict, the court did rule in favor of Friends of Democracy, dismissing in a 

sidebar Hart’s contention that Friends of Democracy’s allegations that he 

had relationships with other alleged “American Quislings” were based on 

“facts not truly stated.”45

Hart’s public reputation continued its precipitous decline with the 

publication in 1943 of investigative journalist Avedis Derounian’s 1943 best 

seller Under Cover: My Four Years in the Nazi Underworld of America—The 

Amazing Revelation of How Axis Agents and Our Enemies Within Are Now 

Plotting to Destroy the United States, which he published under the pen name 

John Roy Carlson. Both the major arguments and the overall tone of the 

book can be gleaned from the title. Derounian contended that a massive fi fth 

column of fascist agents and pro-fascist sympathizers formed a vast, well-

organized clandestine network that had been active in the United States 

since the late 1930s. It was, in many ways, the consolidation of the “Nazi 

Transmission Belt” charge levied against America First by Friends of 

Democracy. (The group in fact employed Derounian as their chief investi-

gator.) The book was a massive success, selling over 1 million copies between 

1943 and 1944, and earning praise from syndicated liberal columnists 

Walter Winchell and Max Lerner, among others. New York congressman 

Arthur G. Klein even lauded the book in the fl oor of the House of 

Representatives. Although Hart was not the focus of the book, which related 
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in breathless detail Derounian’s encounters with a number of right-wing 

activists then facing trial for sedition (Derounian, posing as an Italian 

American fascist sympathizer named George Pagnanelli, attended pro-

fascist rallies as well as bund and Christian Front meetings in New York 

City), Derounian dedicated a lengthy passage to Hart, describing him as a 

“grave digger of democracy.”46

Hart had not been taken in by Derounian, who repeatedly attempted to 

interview him in 1940 under the persona of Rudolph Eibers, a “patriotic” 

Detroiter, but was repeatedly rebuffed by Hart’s secretary. The best 

Derounian/Eibers could manage was a sit-down with Archibald Stevenson, 

Hart’s deputy at the New York State Economic Council, but Stevenson did 

not deliver the requisite pro-fascist material that Derounian was looking for. 

He called Stevenson “one of the shrewdest men I had ever interviewed” 

because instead of secretly confi ding to Derounian/Eibers a hidden admira-

tion for Adolf Hitler, disdain for the Jews, or belief that Francisco Franco was 

the greatest anti-communist fi ghter of the times, Stevenson actually 

condemned Charles Lindbergh for his racist views, denounced Hitler, 

Franco, and Mussolini, praised the American way of life, and assured 

Derounian/Eibers that some of his best friends were Jews.47

Derounian’s interview with Stevenson did not deter him from 

portraying Hart and his organization in a decidedly negative light. Under 

Cover quoted freely from America, Look at Spain, castigating Hart as having 

“denounced the ideals and principles which had motivated the French and 

American revolutions.” He savaged Hart for his leadership in the American 

Union for Nationalist Spain, his frequent denunciations of democracy in his 

public speeches, his support for America First (Derounian did not mention 

that Hart had actually been boxed out of America First for his right-wing 

political views), and his various contacts with the other far-right activists who 

were profi led in the book. Derounian also cited Supreme Court justice 

Robert H. Jackson and Interior Secretary Harold Ickes, both of whom had 

denounced Hart as a “pro-fascist.”48

Hart’s economic views were also cited by Derounian as evidence of his 

pro-fascist politics. Derounian labeled him a “professional propagandist” for 

corporate America and an “ultra-reactionary businessman” who had 

opposed the forty-hour work week, child-labor laws, labor unions, and prac-

tically every aspect of the New Deal. Although American political discourse 

increasingly eschewed centering economic analysis in Americans’ 
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understanding of fascism during the war, instead placing Nazism and 

fascism in the general category of “totalitarianism” (and many quietly 

putting Soviet communism, America’s putative anti-fascist ally, in the same 

category), the left continued to center capitalism in its examination of 

fascism. Derounian—who was neither a communist nor a particularly 

sophisticated political thinker—did not center capital and right-wing polit-

ical mobilization to either the same degree or with the same level of nuance 

as, for instance, Benjamin Stolberg, but Hart’s opposition to the New Deal 

state at practically every level—and in particular his ferocious hostility to 

organized labor—was understood to be related to his support for Franco and 

other alleged fascist sympathies.

Derounian’s claims were controversial at the time. Socialist leader 

Norman Thomas described Derounian’s book as an outrageous smear on 

anti-interventionists. Those on the right were particularly livid—conservative 

publisher Frank Gannett, who held a senior position in the Republican 

National Committee and briefl y entertained a bid for the Republican nomi-

nation for president in 1940, attempted unsuccessfully to suppress the sale 

of Under Cover. The Chicago Tribune claimed to have exposed Derounian as 

an antisemite for editing the Christian Defender, an antisemitic newspaper in 

New York, while undercover as a fascist sympathizer. (Although this was 

hardly to Derounian’s credit, it was not a shattering revelation—Derounian 

admitted having done so in Under Cover.) The Tribune also heavily implied 

that the Reverend Leon M. Birkhead, one of the leaders of Derounian’s 

employer, Friends of Democracy, was a communist. Various people 

mentioned in the book sued Derounian (although not Hart, who was 

presumably already chastened by the failure of his earlier lawsuit against 

Friends of Democracy), eventually receiving either apologies or settlements. 

Historians have been no less critical. Leo Ribuffo wrote in 1983 that 

Derounian had, on balance, done more harm than good with Under Cover, as 

the often unsubstantiated allegations found in the book fed into the hysteria 

of the wartime Brown Scare, a key prelude to the anti-communist hysteria of 

the postwar years. Another scholar of the period, Benjamin Alpers, described 

Under Cover as a rambling, conspiracy-fueled account that is “diffi cult 

to imagine reading . . . from start to fi nish.”49 Indeed, Derounian’s basic 

argument—that there existed a vast and tightly organized fascist under-

ground in the United States—was incorrect, and could have been better used 

as a description of the American Communist Party.
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There were indeed fascist sympathizers in the United States in the 

1930s and 1940s, and either fascist sympathies or the utilization of fascist 

forms of politics—in particular the harnessing of violent right-wing mass 

mobilization to be used against political enemies—were important compo-

nents of the American right in the period. But there was a distinction 

between being a proponent of fascistic politics and actively taking marching 

orders from Rome or Berlin. Hart bitterly noted in his newsletter that “a 

striking fact [about Under Cover] is that not a Communist or a Communist 

fellow-traveler is characterized anywhere in the book.”50

The Roosevelt administration sought to harness the power of the state 

to suppress the far right as far back as 1935, when he authorized the FBI to 

investigate pro-Nazi organizations and agitators. The outbreak of war in 

1939 was a catalyst for additional surveillance of far-right networks, which 

the administration identifi ed as a potential reservoir for foreign espionage 

and political opponents of Roosevelt’s interventionist agenda. “American 

entry into the war,” wrote Leo Ribuffo in his classic history of the wartime 

Brown Scare, “made . . . indictments virtually inevitable.” In January 1944 

the premier Brown Scare court case—U.S. v. McWilliams (Joe McWilliams 

was the fi rst-named defendant)—fi nally made it to the courtroom.

With a handful of notable exceptions, including Lawrence Dennis, 

Gerald Winrod, Elizabeth Dilling, George Sylvester Viereck, and William 

Dudley Pelley, most of the defendants were relatively obscure fi gures with 

small followings. No elected offi cials faced prosecution. Neither did Hart or 

his old allies in the American Union for Nationalist Spain, who could have 

in theory faced prosecution for violating the Foreign Agents Registration Act 

for their lobbying work on behalf of Franco’s government. But the United 

States was not at war with Spain, and in any event Roosevelt administra-

tion’s political aims were achievable without prosecuting a man who had sat 

on Governor Roosevelt’s economic advisory board only ten years prior.

The trial was a circus. Edward C. Eicher, the presiding judge, was a 

career politician and administrator who had only been appointed to the 

bench in 1942 and struggled to control the courtroom, an almost impossible 

task even for an experienced jurist considering the number of defendants. 

The chief prosecutor, O. John Rogge, struggled to prove his case that the 

defendants were a conscious part of a “worldwide Nazi movement” to estab-

lish like-minded governments in other countries, including in the United 

States. The problem was that, while prosecutors were amply able to 
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demonstrate that many of the defendants, in particular Pelley, who referred 

to himself as the “American Hitler,” held some political views in common 

with the German Nazis—above all with regard to Jews—there was no inter-

national conspiracy linking the defendants directly to Berlin. The courtroom 

antics dragged on throughout the summer and fall of 1944 until Eicher died 

of a heart attack at the end of November and his successor declared a 

mistrial.

Both the sedition trial and the runaway success of Under Cover need to 

be understood within the context of the New Deal state’s larger obsession 

with security and questions of loyalty. The same concerns were major factors, 

at least at the federal level, behind the incarceration of some 112,000 

Japanese Americans in concentration camps beginning in February 1942.51 

Lieutenant General John DeWitt, the commanding offi cer of U.S. Army 

troops on the West Coast, maintained in his reports justifying the concentra-

tion camps that large numbers of Japanese Americans had traveled to Japan 

to receive ideological indoctrination and acted as agents and lobbyists for the 

Japanese government on their return. “Their loyalties were unknown,” he 

wrote in 1943, “and time was of the essence.”52 California state senator Jack 

B. Tenney, a Democrat who had supported Roosevelt for president in 1932 

and 1936 and who headed the California Senate Factfi nding Subcommittee 

on Un-American Activities—the California state equivalent of HUAC—

expanded his focus from investigating communist subversion in the state to 

justifying extreme measures against the Japanese American population in 

California. To be fair, support for mass imprisonment of Japanese-Americans 

was found across the political spectrum—Earl Warren, the Republican 

attorney general of California, was also a key advocate. But the decision ulti-

mately rested with President Roosevelt who, at the same time he directed his 

attorney general to step up the investigation and prosecution of pro-fascists 

on the East Coast, also signed orders to round up and incarcerate Japanese 

Americans on the grounds of military necessity for national defense.

The imprisonment of Japanese Americans in concentration camps was 

a racially targeted component of the Brown Scare. Echoes of this were to be 

found in Derounian, who hardly mentioned Japan in Under Cover but did 

emphasize that Japanese sympathies were common among “Negro fascists,” 

quoting a Black nationalist speaker who told a meeting in a community 

basement hall in Harlem that he “felt no enmity with people of the totali-

tarian powers, especially Japan. The Japanese have never lynched or 
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exploited the Negro.” After the massive success of Under Cover, copycat 

books proliferated, justifying mass incarceration as a necessary measure 

against Japanese spies and their fascist allies in Germany and Italy. The 

most successful anti-Japanese Brown Scare book, Betrayal from the East, was 

even adapted into a motion picture by RKO. While overwhelmingly white 

right-wing opponents of the New Deal felt that their reputations had been 

smeared by the Brown Scare, there was a far higher human cost to the scare 

in the Japanese American concentration camps that dotted the landscape of 

the American West. Insofar as any on the far right were concerned with 

internment at all, it was to call for harsher measures—Gerald L. K. Smith 

demanded that rations for Japanese American civilians be cut in his May 

1943 newsletter.53 Hart and his organization also remained silent. Flynn, a 

ferocious critic of the sedition trials as a smear against patriotic Americans, 

was too busy preparing a book blaming communists and Jews for the 

government’s persecution of right-wingers and suggesting that the 

Roosevelt administration knew about Pearl Harbor in advance and let it 

happen as an impetus to enter the war in Europe.54 Right-wing solidarity 

against the wartime actions of the New Deal state apparently stopped at the 

color line.

Liberals were not exactly eager to critically examine race relations in 

wartime America, either. W.E.B. Du Bois wrote an essay for the Atlantic in 

December 1941 in which he argued that “Hitler’s race philosophy and 

methods are exactly the same as ours.” Edward A. Weeks, the editor in chief, 

rejected the essay. “You make an assertion which will antagonize literally 

forty-nine out of fi fty readers,” he said, before adding for good measure that 

Du Bois underestimated the “biological handicap” affl icting the American 

Negro.55

The campaigns against right-wing non-interventionists did ultimately serve 

a political purpose: the defense of the New Deal in American politics. By the 

early 1940s, many of the rising stars of the Republican Party had grudgingly 

accepted New Deal liberalism as the dominant paradigm in American poli-

tics and had shifted their messaging from outright opposition to a critique of 

its implementation. Harold Stassen had successfully campaigned on such a 

platform to win the governorship of Minnesota in 1938—although Stassen’s 

victory was also aided by an antisemitic campaign to tar incumbent Farmer-

Labor governor Elmer Benson as a puppet of Jewish interests in the state 
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capitol. Wendell Willkie ran a liberal and pro-interventionist presidential 

campaign in 1940; Earl Warren was elected governor of California in 1942 

pledging that he would support Franklin Roosevelt more closely than his 

Democratic opponent. But there were potentially troubling signs on the 

horizon; in the 1942 midterm elections, the Democratic Party lost the 

popular vote in the House as well as forty-fi ve seats, retaining its majority 

only because the South remained solidly Democratic. The party also lost ten 

Senate seats. How much of the Democrats’ losses refl ected discontent with 

government policy remains debated; the fact that several million mobilized 

servicemen were unable to cast ballots may have explained the severity of 

Democratic losses.56

The reversals dealt to the Democratic Party in 1942, however, did not 

translate into the American right posing a signifi cant electoral or political 

challenge to the liberal wartime state despite the complaints of Hart and 

other right-wingers that the administration continued to use its various 

wartime powers “to change America into a collectivist state,” either through 

high taxes, the proliferation of wartime bureaus and agencies, or wage regu-

lations that put “too much money” in the hands of consumers.57 The right’s 

inability to impact wartime policy was as much a product of the wartime 

state’s embrace of business—the traditional fi nancial and political backers 

of right-wing resistance to the New Deal—as it was of political disarray. Even 

Alfred Sloan and the du Pont family called a (tense) truce with the liberal 

state as wartime orders fl ew in.58

The right’s weak political power was also evident in the 1944 elections. 

Even though the Republican Party had enjoyed a resurgence in 1942 and in 

local elections in 1943, to the point that Henry Luce declared “the U.S. is 

now a Republican country,” the early Republican frontrunners in 1944 were 

Wendell Willkie, who ran largely on his 1940 platform, and New York 

governor Thomas Dewey, a moderate interventionist whom Hart had criti-

cized for liberalism during his fi rst unsuccessful bid for the high seat in 

Albany in 1938. Voices from within the party were adamant that embracing 

the right would be electoral suicide—Vermont governor William H. Wills, 

who endorsed Willkie, denounced in a radio broadcast the “four-year locusts 

of Republican politics,” including Robert McCormick and Gerald L. K. 

Smith, who “clouded the . . . crops raised in recent Republican victories in 

States and Congressional districts” by their hard-right opposition to the 

administration.59
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The only signifi cant internal Republican challenge from the right came 

from General Douglas MacArthur who, despite serving overseas as a senior 

commander in the Pacifi c, was briefl y a contender for the nomination. 

MacArthur was supported by both old anti-interventionist leaders like 

Robert Wood, the former America First chair and MacArthur’s old West 

Point classmate, and anti–New Deal internationalists like Henry Luce and 

his wife, Connecticut congresswoman Clare Luce. MacArthur’s campaign 

was doomed from the start—although interested in running, as a serving 

general MacArthur did nothing to campaign for himself and appeared on 

primary ballots only in Wisconsin and Illinois, coming in a distant second 

behind Dewey in the Wisconsin primary and effectively ending any hope of 

the right wing of the party making a play at the convention.60

The other right-wing challenge to Roosevelt came from Gerald L. K. 

Smith, who announced the creation of the America First Party in March 

1944. “The Democratic Party seems to be beyond redemption,” he told 

reporters, and though “we have hopes for the Republican Party . . . we are 

running no risks.”61 Smith’s third party, which nominated him as its presi-

dential candidate, was intended as a potential spoiler to deter Republicans 

from nominating Willkie. But although Smith had not been a target of the 

sedition trial, his political reputation as an antisemite and a fascist sympa-

thizer had already been cemented. The Maryland House of Delegates, in 

response to reports that Smith’s party was organizing in Baltimore, unani-

mously passed a resolution hoping that Smith “will imbibe some of the 

spirit of tolerance as practiced in Maryland during his visit to the State.”62 

After Smith issued a statement that he would not object to the nomination 

of Dewey, MacArthur, or Ohio governor John W. Bricker, Willkie unequivo-

cally condemned Smith and his party, telling reporters that “any candidate of 

the Republican Party who does not repudiate the America First Party and 

Gerald L. K. Smith cannot possibly be elected President of the United 

States.”63 Smith claimed a victory lap after Willkie’s defeat in Wisconsin, but 

his gloating was short-lived.64 By the beginning of May Smith was also 

condemning Thomas Dewey, demanding that the Republicans draft Chicago 

Tribune publisher Robert McCormick instead. Smith had by then been 

disavowed by several former America First Committee staffers, who made it 

clear that Smith had no connection with the 1940–41 organization, and 

even Henry Ford had publicly distanced himself from the Detroit-based 

activist.65 Smith’s biggest triumph came during the Republican National 
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Convention in Chicago in June, when he and his supporters briefl y “seized” 

control of the ballroom at the Stevens Hotel—an act that Smith bragged was 

“good old tea party Americanism,” proclaiming that America First had “won 

a beachhead for free speech.”66 Press coverage was unrelentingly hostile—

Ralph McGill, a columnist for the Atlanta Constitution, called Smith an “old 

act” familiar to “any man from the South,” right down to Smith’s theatrical 

display of his suspenders.67 By the end of the summer the America First 

Party barely warranted a paragraph’s worth of press coverage—even Smith’s 

theatrical selection of John Bricker as his running mate, despite Bricker also 

running as Thomas Dewey’s running mate on the Republican ticket, failed 

to attract much notice. Bricker, for his part, called Smith the “cheapest of 

demagogues.” (Smith eventually was forced to “drop” Bricker and select 

Harry Romer, a former organizer for Charles Coughlin, as his new running 

mate.)68 Smith and his buffoonish antics ultimately served the political 

interests of liberals and the Roosevelt administration, who took malicious 

joy in confounding his campaign efforts. Interior Secretary Harold Ickes 

gleefully denied Smith permission to use a bison from Yellowstone National 

Park as the mascot for the America First Party—“In a way I regret that I 

cannot see my way clear to arranging for you and one of our loudest voiced 

bull-buffalos to be introduced to each other.” Avedis Derounian attended 

one of Smith’s press conferences in New York at the end of September, 

directly challenging Smith’s assertions that Friends of Democracy was 

unfairly smearing him as an antisemite. Upon recognizing Derounian, 

Smith screamed that he was an “agent provocateur and racketeer,” grabbed 

him by the neck, and threw him out of the room, fuming, “And they wonder 

what makes anti-Semites.” (Derounian, surprisingly, did not press 

charges.)69 The Offi ce of Price Administration denied Smith’s request for 

additional gasoline allowances for his campaign, writing tersely that “he is 

not a qualifi ed candidate for President of the United States.”70 But Smith’s 

antics were not simply laugh lines. In a speech reminiscent of his addresses 

condemning Charles Lindbergh and Merwin Hart as fi fth columnists in 

1940, Harold Ickes said in October that Smith was part of a “Trojan horse” 

effort by isolationists to come to power in Washington, and that if Dewey 

were to be elected they would “foist upon the people of this country and of 

the world their own destructive and vicious ideas of isolationism.”71 This was 

a gross exaggeration; Dewey campaigned on largely the same foreign policy 

as Roosevelt, and Smith had in any event condemned him earlier in the 
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campaign. The charge also lacked the political credibility of the 1940 allega-

tions against Hart, who at least had demonstrable ties to Nationalist Spain 

and had been an active participant in right-wing mass politics in the 1930s. 

Nevertheless, that the charges continued to be made in the fi rst place 

demonstrate the political effectiveness of the liberal anti-fascist campaigns. 

The power of the American right in 1944 was negligible; the moderate 

Dewey won the Republican nomination, Roosevelt won handily in 

November, and the Democrats picked up twenty seats in the House of 

Representatives and recaptured the congressional popular vote.

Hart’s reaction to these political setbacks fi t a common pattern: a 

renewed burst of activism and organizing, but with mixed success. In 1943 

Hart rebranded the New York State Economic Council as the National 

Economic Council (NEC), as befi tting the group’s national political aspira-

tions. In an advertisement taken out over the Fourth of July holiday, the 

NEC called for a “Re-Declaration of Independence” patterned on the 1776 

document, with the New Deal state taking the place of Great Britain and 

“sovereign citizens” of the Continental Congress. The list of “outrages” 

included the expanding size of the federal government, the Roosevelt 

administration’s usurpation of the courts, restrictions on press freedom, 

“the employer . . . being deprived of authority,” and “the wage-earner being 

forced into associations”—read: trade unions—“not of his own choosing.” 

The organization, befi tting its grand ambitions, moved into new offi ce space 

in the Empire State Building later that month.72

A shared sense of resentment over “smears” eventually caused Hart 

and John T. Flynn to reconcile. Flynn had greatly resented the attacks on the 

America First Committee as a pro-fascist group during 1939–41, and his 

public identifi cation with AFC had led to diffi culty fi nding work as a colum-

nist. Flynn eventually took a job with the Republican National Committee 

and published As We Go Marching in 1943, a mass-market jeremiad that 

marked Flynn as a new man of the right. Rather than contending, as he had 

throughout the 1930s, that the New Deal was fl awed by its insuffi cient 

commitment to labor rights, the New Deal/wartime state was now quasi-

fascistic, marred by defi cit spending and corporate-state partnership, and 

reliant on mass society. It was a critique that would be familiar, in many 

respects, to Friedrich Hayek, who published his similar The Road to Serfdom 

the next year. Hart adored Flynn’s book and wrote to Flynn emphasizing the 

importance of his work in order to arrest the Republican Party’s drift to the 
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left. Like Hart, Flynn was also incandescent about Derounian’s Under Cover 

and Friends of Democracy; Flynn even went so far as to suggest to Senator 

Burton Wheeler that Congress launch an investigation of Derounian and 

others—Flynn called them “the Smear Bund”—who he believed were being 

secretly fi nanced by a liberal cabal. Flynn was also increasingly embracing 

antisemitism; he believed the Anti-Defamation League was the lynchpin of 

this cabal and that attempts to expose it would be squelched by Jewish infl u-

ence in publishing and the media.

Flynn would eventually publish a pamphlet in January 1947 entitled The 

Smear Terror, which claimed that he and others, including Hart, had been 

the victims of “private gestapos formed to terrorize citizens who differ with 

the objectives of the operators.” Flynn’s purpose was educational: “Our 

people do not yet understand the forces which are behind so many ‘move-

ments’ and ‘crusades’ for tolerance and security and democracy.” He identi-

fi ed a number of liberal and Jewish groups as the architects of the smears 

against non-interventionists. Among the targets of Flynn’s ire were the 

Non-Sectarian Anti-Nazi League, formed in 1933 to promote the boycott of 

German goods in response to anti-Jewish violence; Hart’s old nemesis the 

Friends of Democracy; and Derounian’s Under Cover, which he denounced 

as a “wilderness of lies.” Flynn’s language now echoed Hart’s from nearly a 

decade earlier: the Non-Sectarian Anti-Nazi League, for example, was not an 

American organization but was rather controlled by “recent alien refu-

gees.”73 Flynn even defended Hart on the charge of antisemitism. The sense 

of persecution on the right helped to create mutual bonds, particularly when 

that sense of persecution, thought to emanate from Jewish organizations, 

comingled with already existent antisemitism. In 1945 Flynn joined Hart 

and the National Economic Council in the creation of American Action, 

Inc., a group formed to catalyze right-wing reaction against the postwar 

liberal order.
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on october 15 ,  1947 ,  merwin hart’s  National Economic Council 

weighed in on the debate raging in the United States about whether to sup-

port the creation of a Jewish state in Palestine. Hart had hitherto kept silent 

on the question of Zionism, at least in the pages of his newsletter, but his 

choice of guest writer for his Palestine issue, New York businessman Benja-

min H. Freedman, betrayed his position. Freedman, whom Hart described as 

“born in New York . . . a substantial industrialist and of the Jewish faith,” was 

one of the most outspokenly anti-Zionist voices in the United States. Freed-

man was indeed Jewish—his parents were immigrants from Hungary—and 

he had been a fi xture of the New York Jewish community for decades, but he 

had converted to Catholicism in the mid-1930s after marrying a Catholic 

divorcée.1 Freedman claimed in the pages of the Economic Council Letter 

that “the infl uence of the Zionist organization reaches into the inner policy-

making groups of nearly every government in world—particularly into the 

Christian West.” The Zionist cabal in the United States controlled the Jewish 

vote, according to Freedman, in the fi ve key states of New York, Pennsylvania, 

Illinois, Massachusetts, and California. He further suggested that this Zionist 

voting bloc was dictating U.S. policy in the Middle East. Freedman warned 

that American support for a Jewish state in Palestine would unify the Muslim 

world against the Christian West and therefore serve the purposes of “Soviet 

Russian Communism,” the “world’s leading anti-Christian force.” Such an 
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alignment would almost certainly spark another world war, he argued, and 

“what if in such a war the newspapers of the United States begin printing 

casualty lists of American soldiers, Christians, killed in Palestine to satisfy 

Zionist aspirations?”2

Freedman’s article, like most of Hart’s earlier statements on “alien infl u-

ences” on American life, was carefully crafted to avoid explicit antisemitism. 

He deplored the existence of antisemitism as “bad enough already” in 

America and attempted to frame one of his primary objections to the Zionist 

project in Palestine as its potential to intensify antisemitism in the United 

States. He was not, Freedman maintained, an antisemite—his Jewish back-

ground, which Hart highlighted in an introduction to Freedman’s article, 

made that claim ridiculous. And indeed, Freedman was one of many 

American Jews who were either skeptical of the Zionist project or actively 

anti-Zionist, including Rabbi Elmer Berger and Lessing Rosenwald, the 

former America First Committee board member who resigned in protest 

over concerns about antisemitism in the organization in 1940, both of whom 

shared concerns about a potential American commitment to a Jewish state 

in Palestine.3 But Freedman went further: he claimed that political Zionism 

was a dead letter because eastern European Jews were in fact Asiatics, 

converts from the Khazar Kingdom in the steppes between the Black and 

Caspian Seas in the twelfth century. Freedman doubled down on these 

claims in a follow-up column in October, declaring that “Yiddish-speaking 

Jews” of eastern European origin have no “historic or racial connection with 

. . . the ancient Hebrews,” and that “American-Jewish supporters of political 

Zionism are guilty of un-American activity” by virtue of their “contradictory 

political loyalty.”4

Hart concurred with Freedman, writing in an editor’s note that 

American Jewish Zionists like Rabbi Abba Hillel Silver, who helped lobby 

the United States into voting for the United Nations plan for partition in 

British Mandatory Palestine at the end of 1947, were un-American. “Those 

who forced this project through UN are Jews fi rst,” not Americans fi rst, he 

argued, before pivoting to his familiar attacks on the “communist-inspired” 

New Deal regime. But what was once dog whistling for Hart was now stated 

openly: the issue was not simply that the Roosevelt and now Truman admin-

istrations had “alien” infl uences, they “were infested with Jewish appoin-

tees, many of them communistic” and involved in making “nigh-treasonable 

concessions to Soviet Russia.” Hart, too, brushed away criticism that he was 
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engaging in antisemitism, because “the real offense is anti-Gentilism. If anti-

Jewism is stronger in the United States than at any time in the past, the 

Zionist Jews have brought it about.” If the Zionists continued on their path 

of pro-Jewish state advocacy, “there will surely be a repetition here of all of 

the outbursts and violence against Jews that have taken place in so many 

other countries.” But Hart was, in his own unique way, being magnani-

mous. “May that day never come!” he concluded.5

Antisemitism remained a hallmark of the far right after World War II. 

Hart’s antipathy toward Zionism was matched by fears of a renewed wave of 

Jewish immigration in the aftermath of the Holocaust. While the Truman 

administration recognized Israeli statehood in 1948, the Displaced Persons 

Act passed by Congress that same year was deliberately written to exclude 

Jewish survivors of the Holocaust from fi nding refuge in America. This was 

linked to a renewed round of anti-communist and anti-labor activism; 

because radical Jews were widely understood on the right to be leading 

elements in the New Deal coalition, barring further Jewish immigration was 

a necessary precondition to rolling back the New Deal state. A new wave of 

political activism to “purge” the U.S. Congress in the 1946 midterm elec-

tions brought together Hart, Flynn, and a host of other right-wing popular 

fronters to form the fi rst conservative political action committee in U.S. 

political history, American Action, Inc. Although American Action would 

last only a single election cycle and would ultimately fail to topple most of its 

political targets, it was nevertheless the fi rst major effort at national right-

wing mobilization after World War II.

Antisemitism lingered as a force in American political life after the war. A 

survey conducted by Fortune in February 1946 identifi ed 8.8 percent of 

Americans as “conscious anti-Semites,” meaning those who openly 

expressed discomfort or dislike of Jews. Implicit bias against Jews was even 

greater—a follow-up poll in October 1947 showed that 37 percent of the 

country believed that Jews “are getting more economic power anywhere in 

the United States than is good for the country,” and 25 percent believed the 

same about Jewish political power. The surveys returned ambiguous results 

about the geographic center of antisemitism—the 1946 poll suggested that 

explicit antisemitism was strongest in the cities of the Northeast and 

Midwest, whereas the 1947 poll suggested that implicit antisemitism was 

stronger in rural areas outside of the Northeast—but did conclusively 
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correlate antisemitic attitudes with other political beliefs. These included 

distrust for Great Britain and the Soviet Union, hostility to organized labor, 

and disapproval of government-funded public-relief programs.6 These were 

the core political beliefs of the American right stretching back to the begin-

ning of the New Deal. Antisemitism as a political force in American life in 

the 1930s and 1940s was intimately connected with right-wing politics.

Antisemitism did not, however, go unchallenged. One of the biggest 

Hollywood fi lms of 1947, Gentleman’s Agreement, starred Gregory Peck as a 

Gentile reporter who poses as a Jew in order to write a magazine exposé on 

antisemitism. The fi lm won the Best Picture Oscar. Liberal writers were 

increasingly concerned with antisemitism as a social and political issue, a 

consequence both of Nazi genocide and postwar anxieties about a potential 

resurgence of American fascism. Among the most perceptive of these were 

themselves Gentiles. Bruce Bliven, the editor of the New Republic, wrote a 

seven-part series on antisemitism and discrimination in late 1947. Bliven 

acknowledged that anti-Blackness, not antisemitism, was the bedrock of 

American racism—“the burden the Negro is forced to bear is heavier, on the 

whole, than that of the Jew”—but argued that “racism, like every other char-

acteristic of potential or actual fascism, must be fought on all fronts simulta-

neously.” Indeed, Bliven’s solution to antisemitism as a political problem 

in America—and he singled out Merwin Hart as one of its chief political 

proponents—was the vigorous enforcement of fair employment laws and 

additional civil rights legislation, as well as the conscious transformation of 

social norms. “We must develop active, vigorous intolerance,” he concluded, 

“intolerance for the expression of prejudice.”7 But it was Carey McWilliams, 

a left-wing lawyer and journalist based in California, who made the most 

cogent and sophisticated link between antisemitism and American fascism 

in his 1948 book A Mask for Privilege.

McWilliams had written extensively about racial discrimination in the 

1930s and 1940s. For instance, he linked labor exploitation of Chinese, 

Japanese, Mexican, and Filipino farm workers in California in his 1939 book 

Factories in the Field. His stance on Japanese American mass imprisonment 

during the war was ambiguous; on the one hand, he condemned “evacua-

tion” as a racist act in early 1942, but by the end of the year praised the imple-

mentation of the imprisonment scheme as effi cient and humane. By 1944 

McWilliams had moved again to opposition to mass imprisonment as a 

racist and unjustifi ed war measure. McWilliams’s views on the federal 
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government shaped his torn conscience; he argued in his 1943 book Brothers 

under the Skin that the scourge of fascism abroad and at home necessitated 

aggressive government action. In some sense, McWilliams’s views were the 

inverse of the non-interventionist right, who bitterly complained about 

government persecution but lifted nary a fi nger in opposition to Japanese 

American imprisonment.8

Despite his ambivalent response to Japanese American incarceration, 

McWilliams remained an astute critic of American race relations and right-

wing politics. In A Mask for Privilege, McWilliams saw American antisemi-

tism as primarily related to capitalism and the labor market. The decisive 

factor in the appearance of organized antisemitism in the United States in 

the 1920s and 1930s, McWilliams wrote, was the “appearance, on the 

clerical labor market, of a new group of competitors who could be identifi ed 

for the purposes of discrimination.”9 This explained both the various 

social restrictions placed on American Jews—housing covenants, the 

quota system at the top colleges and universities in the United States, job 

discrimination—as well as the relative absence of mass violence against 

Jews in America. While the analysis in A Mask for Privilege was predomi-

nantly economic, McWilliams acknowledged the deep origins of the antise-

mitic tradition in Christianity, even if Christianity as such was an inadequate 

explanation for the explosion of organized antisemitism in the United States 

and around the world in the fi rst half of the twentieth century.

The book framed antisemitism as a strategy by elites to enlist the 

support of the frightened and dispossessed middle classes and to undercut 

socialist critiques of capitalism. “No one has ever been called a ‘communist’ 

or a ‘revolutionist’ for suggesting that the Jews have too much power or that 

restrictions should be imposed on ‘Jewish’ capital.”10 McWilliams identifi ed 

antisemitism as a right-wing or reactionary mechanism of control, “a 

powerful instrument in a violent and desperate struggle for power,” citing 

the Fortune surveys connecting antisemitism in America to anti-labor poli-

tics. (He also noted that the surveys showed that poor people, and above all 

poor Blacks, were the least likely to express antisemitic attitudes.) Who were 

the purveyors of antisemitism in America? According to McWilliams, the 

primary responsibility lay with the leaders of heavy industry—steel, automo-

biles, and other manufacturers—who were naturally sympathetic to the 

antisemitic rationalization of “productive” versus “predatory” (read: Jewish) 

capital. “It is not by chance, therefore, that Henry Ford, once the most 
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infl uential American anti-Semite, should have been smitten with this 

distinction.”11 McWilliams’s analysis of contemporary antisemitism as a 

mass form of discontent with industrial capitalism directed against opaque 

and shadowy agents—in this case, the Jew—shared much with Benjamin 

Stolberg’s analysis of fascism in the United States in the late 1930s.

Still, there were weaknesses in McWilliams’s account. Although polit-

ical antisemitism in the United States did not develop as a major movement 

in the nineteenth century, American civic and religious culture had a deep 

reservoir of anti-Jewishness stemming from the American Christian heri-

tage.12 Indeed, Richard Hofstadter, in his analysis of the Populist movement 

in the 1890s (writing only a few years after McWilliams) identifi ed the 

Populists as antisemites and proto-fascists largely on the basis of anti-Jewish 

imagery in their rhetoric against bankers and fi nanciers.13 Most historians of 

Populism have rightly rejected Hofstadter’s arguments as unnuanced and 

unsupported by evidence—the Populists did not center antisemitism in their 

politics to anywhere near the same extent as their agrarian radical contempo-

raries in other countries, or for that matter to the same extent as Henry Ford 

three decades later—but they were drawing on a common antisemitic imagi-

nary. This, however, was not the same as political antisemitism.14

McWilliams also dismissed “purely psychological” explanations for 

antisemitism as evidence of an aberrant or distorted personality. This is 

necessarily conditional to understanding antisemitism, he claimed, as a 

social and material phenomenon. But there was an internal contradiction to 

this analysis: if antisemitism was common among the professional middle 

classes because of status anxieties, that was a psychological reaction as much 

as a materially grounded one. The other missing factor was the relationship 

between political antisemitism and political failure. Leo Ribuffo, in his study 

of the careers of William Dudley Pelley, Gerald Winrod, and Gerald L. K. 

Smith in the 1930s and 1940s, emphasized how both personal psycholog-

ical factors and personal and political failures helped to radicalize the three 

toward extreme antisemitism.15 The same creeping radicalization can be 

seen with Merwin Hart, who harbored guardedly antisemitic beliefs in the 

1930s and became more willing to express them after World War II, as the 

New Deal state continued to apparently dominate American politics even as 

the political winds began to shift to the right. Related to antisemitism as a 

coping mechanism for political failure was antisemitism in response to a 

sense of (unjust) political persecution. Unlike with Hart, there is little 
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evidence that John T. Flynn harbored antisemitic beliefs before World War 

II, but he came to blame Jewish infl uences for his personal and political 

setbacks and what he perceived to be “smears” against him and his political 

allies—political setbacks and feelings of persecution were not intrinsically 

catalysts for antisemitic radicalization, but they were important constitutive 

elements in such radicalization.

A Mask for Privilege remains one of the most insightful works about anti-

semitism and capitalism in the United States in the fi rst half of the twentieth 

century; McWilliams’s analysis is remarkably insightful. While he referred 

to Gerald L. K. Smith and William Dudley Pelley as “crackpots,” marginal 

demagogues whose public personas, thanks to massive press coverage, far 

outweighed their political support, he took their social role seriously. “The 

real function of the crackpot anti-Semite . . . is to encourage the open expres-

sion of anti-Semitism on the part of the latent anti-Semite. The crackpots 

function vicariously for their inarticulate listeners by doing and saying what 

the latter would like to do and say, but either cannot or dare not.”16 The reason 

why the crackpots never congealed into a national movement was because of 

their diffuse nature and interpersonal rivalries among them—as revealed in 

the sedition trial—and because “armchair anti-Semites” like Hart, Flynn, and 

Lindbergh did not throw their full weight behind the crackpots. McWilliams’s 

analysis could be distorted—he believed the America First Committee was 

“the fi rst attempt to form an open alliance between the armchair anti-Semites 

and their crackpot allies,” while the reality was considerably more ambig-

uous.17 Nevertheless, McWilliams’s major argument—that “reactionary” 

politics acted as a magnet for antisemitism—was correct, and this continued 

to infl ect right-wing political culture in America after World War II.

In July 1945 Hart, Flynn, and a number of other anti–New Deal activists and 

former America Firsters, including William H. Regnery, the industrialist 

and fi nancier whose son, Henry Regnery, had just founded the conservative 

magazine Human Events, met in Chicago to discuss political strategy now 

that Roosevelt was dead and the war in Europe had ended. The assembled 

activists decided to embark on a new national strategy to fi nally roll back the 

most hated elements of the New Deal. The biggest priority was to defeat 

congressional allies of organized labor. The organization that was created at 

the Chicago meeting, American Action, was intended to be a right-wing 

analogue to the CIO’s Political Action Committee.
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CIO-PAC, as it was commonly referred to, was the fi rst political action 

committee in the history of American politics. Founded in 1943 under the 

aegis of Sidney Hillman, the president of the Amalgamated Clothing 

Workers of America, CIO-PAC was formed in reaction to the poor showing 

of liberal Democrats in the 1942 midterms. Fearful that the CIO would lose 

its ally in the White House in 1944, CIO-PAC intended to mobilize union 

voters behind Roosevelt and his supporters in Congress. CIO-PAC’s efforts 

in 1944 were largely successful—not only was Roosevelt reelected, but a 

CIO-backed voter-registration drive in Martin Dies’s district in Texas 

promoted the conservative congressman’s retirement. Hillman called 

Roosevelt’s 1944 election victory labor’s “Battle of Britain, our Stalingrad,” 

the loss of which would have been disastrous, even fatal, to the labor move-

ment. Still, the impact of CIO-PAC in 1944 was less decisive than the initial 

results suggested—in many of the congressional districts that CIO-PAC 

targeted, Roosevelt actually underperformed in his vote share, suggesting that 

at least some union voters the CIO counted on either stayed at home or 

voted for Republican Thomas Dewey. The same diffi culties that plagued 

CIO-PAC in 1944—especially building organizations in targeted congres-

sional districts—would plague American Action two years later in the 1946 

midterm elections.18

The specifi c goal of American Action was to fl ip targeted congressional 

seats from pro-labor to anti-labor representatives. Hart intended to “orga-

nize the inarticulate majorities of the Right . . . to purge both major parties 

of opportunist leadership that sells out American principles for minorities’ 

votes.” Although American Action leaders would insist throughout 1946 

that the group was nonpartisan, in every district where American Action 

was acknowledged to be active the group backed the Republican candidate. 

Hart solicited a number of old backers of the America First Committee for 

the new venture, including Flynn, Regnery, and Robert E. Wood, all of whom 

would serve on American Action’s executive board. The face of the organiza-

tion was to be the former national commander of the American Legion 

Edward A. Hayes, who would serve as American Action chairman. Hart also 

reportedly sought the covert support of Gerald L. K. Smith, who continued to 

lick his wounds from his drubbing in the 1944 presidential election, 

although Smith never enjoyed a formal relationship with American Action.19

Upton Close, a radio commentator on the Mutual Broadcasting System, 

was the other great public face of American Action. Close had been on the 
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air with the National Broadcasting Company as a Far East analyst for over a 

decade and had long courted controversy—the British and Canadian govern-

ments criticized his broadcasts as being damaging to the war effort in early 

1942 due to his harsh words on the failure of British and Canadian troops to 

hold Hong Kong in the opening days of the Pacifi c war. He was forced off of 

NBC in 1944 after implying that Franklin Roosevelt had had advance knowl-

edge of the Pearl Harbor attack and, echoing Verne Marshall’s old allega-

tions, that a cabal of pro-interventionists was responsible for a series of 

assassinations of antiwar voices. Close insisted that he was dumped by NBC 

because of communist pressure; he also maintained in his broadcasts on 

Mutual, which continued to give him time, that the Communist Party exer-

cised “control of the Jewish minority” and that the Jewish press “[has] 

become avowedly Communist.”20 Close’s case became something of a cause 

célèbre for conservatives, who claimed the broadcaster was the latest victim 

of liberal suppression of free speech (although he remained on the air at 

Mutual). One letter writer to the Chicago Tribune wrote that Close was the 

victim of the political power of the CIO and its Political Action Committee, 

which had fi led a number of complaints to the Federal Communications 

Commission that Close’s broadcasts were routinely “unfair to labor.” (CIO-

PAC did indeed complain to the FCC about Close, but about his Mutual 

broadcasts, not his commentary on NBC.)21 By 1945 Hart had become 

Close’s primary patron, with the National Economic Council providing the 

sponsorship for his radio program on the Mutual network.22

American Action had problems from its very beginning. At the second 

meeting of the executive committee at the Clark Hotel in Los Angeles at the 

end of August 1945, Howard Emmett Rogers, the head of the right-wing 

Motion Picture Alliance for the Preservation of American Ideals, reportedly 

walked out of the board room after denouncing the group as “nothing but 

another antisemitic enterprise.” American Action publicly announced its 

debut in early 1946, proclaiming that it intended to target 187 congressmen 

with labor and/or radical sympathies for defeat in the 1946 elections. The 

group was deliberately vague on specifi cs, seldom publicly acknowledging 

which specifi c congressmen it was targeting, or how it intended to partici-

pate in the campaign. Still, American Action enjoyed support from a variety 

of right-wing sources, particularly as the 1946 campaign heated up, raising 

some $300,000 in initial donations. Robert McCormick personally donated 

$1,000 to Hart for American Action at the end of 1945.23 And although 
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American Action repeatedly denied that it was connected with the America 

First Committee, many of the leaders, including Regnery and Wood, 

had also been America First executives in 1940 and 1941. There were even 

links with the American Liberty League from the mid-1930s: at a gala dinner 

sponsored by Merwin Hart and the National Economic Council in New York 

on November 12, 1946 in honor of Upton Close, prominent guests 

included John J. Raskob and Lammot du Pont.24 Carey McWilliams argued 

in A Mask for Privilege that the role of the National Economic Council and 

American Action was to bring together “respectable” right-wing fi nanciers 

and businessmen with more radical activists, the patina of money in spaces 

like the Waldorf-Astoria Hotel washing away the ugly stain of demagoguery. 

It was, McWilliams wrote, a model of “an inclusive right-wing political 

alliance.”25

Still, American Action could hardly be rated a success. John T. Flynn 

resigned from the group in March 1946, only a few months after American 

Action formed, again voicing concerns about Hart’s politics. Although Flynn 

believed that many of the attacks against Hart and other opponents of the 

Roosevelt administration as pro-fascist or antisemitic were liberal smears, 

and was even prepared to suggest in private that there was a Jewish compo-

nent behind the smears, he still sought to preemptively disarm those polit-

ical attacks. He wrote to Robert E. Wood in February objecting to Hart’s 

choice of Gertrude Coogan to head the Chicago offi ce of American Action—

Coogan had published a book in 1935 that blamed a Rothschild conspiracy of 

controlling international fi nance.26 Flynn was also irritated by Gerald L. K. 

Smith’s public support for the organization—Smith wrote throughout 1946 

that he was in “sympathy” with the aims of American Action, despite having 

been told by Flynn in a letter that “I know of nothing that would injure 

[American Action] more than your endorsement.”27

Far more damaging to American Action than Smith, however, was 

Hart’s inept organizational leadership. Charles Lindbergh had noted in the 

past that Hart, although he seemed to project strong and confi dent leader-

ship, was in fact surprisingly ineffective as an executive. Wood wrote to 

Flynn at the beginning of March stating, “I am very much disturbed about 

the whole course of the so-called American Action Committee” and 

expressing dissatisfaction with Hart’s leadership. “His intentions are all 

right,” Wood wrote, “but I think he is a poor organizer and a poor execu-

tive.”28 Only two districts on American Action’s target list had had any 
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organizational work dedicated to them as of March, and the lead organizer 

in one of those districts had not actually lived within its boundaries for years.

The initial stated goal of American Action was to organize in 187 

congressional districts; the group quickly abandoned this ambitious plan in 

order to concentrate on a handful of districts. Given the lack of internal orga-

nizational records, it is diffi cult to determine precisely which districts were 

targeted, but American Action leaders acknowledged that the group was 

active in the campaigns against New York congressman Vito Marcantonio 

and Washington state representative Hugh De Lacy, both among the most 

left-wing members of Congress.29 The chairman of American Action, 

Edward A. Hayes, longtime aide to FDR’s late secretary of the navy Frank 

Knox and former national commander of the American Legion, acknowl-

edged in a congressional hearing on political action committee activities in 

October that American Action was also active in Wisconsin, Illinois, 

Missouri, and Oklahoma, but declined to give specifi cs.30 In his testimony, 

Hayes stressed that the group was nonpartisan and opposed “communism, 

fascism, antisemitism, and all alien or un-American groups that are 

attempting to destroy our form of government and way of life,” but his gran-

diose words were belied by the relative lack of political sophistication exhib-

ited by American Action. Unlike CIO-PAC, which ran radio spots, 

distributed leafl ets, took out ads in newspapers, engaged in targeted regis-

tration campaigns, and had canvassers constantly working in neighbor-

hoods that had a heavy number of CIO-affi liated residents, American 

Action’s political work was apparently limited to knocking on doors—and 

there is no evidence on the actual effectiveness of American Action’s direct 

canvassing.31

Given that the group had a skeletal national staff and no extant state-

wide political organizations, and that CIO-PAC and its allies outspent 

American Action $665,920 to $115,000, it is doubtful that American Action 

played a decisive role in the districts where it was active.32 De Lacy, one of the 

group’s targets, was defeated in his reelection bid, but Marcantonio handily 

won reelection in New York. Indeed, there is evidence to suggest that 

American Action’s activities actually backfi red. The group was widely identi-

fi ed in the press, particular in Black and Jewish newspapers, as a fascistic 

continuation of the America First Committee—racist, antisemitic, and a tool 

of big business. Robert Segal, a columnist for the American Israelite, noted 

Gerald L. K. Smith’s sympathy for American Action and suggested that “as 
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Herman Goering goes to the gallows, well may he salute American Action, 

Inc.”33 The Chicago Defender called American Action a “reactionary mecha-

nism supported by right-wing business interests,” and Harlem Democrat 

Adam Clayton Powell openly bragged about his inclusion on what he called 

American Action’s “purge list” because of his support for the Fair 

Employment Practice Committee (long described by Hart as “part of the 

Communist program”).34 Powell handily won reelection. Marcantonio, for 

his part, bragged in his victory speech that he had overcome “the Pews, the 

du Ponts, and the American Action, Inc.” in his campaign.35

Still, two of the Democrats on American Action’s “purge list”—De Lacy 

and Michigan representative Frank Hook—were defeated in November, swept 

away in a Republican wave. Hayes claimed a victory for the group two weeks 

after the election, but the fundamentals of the 1946 midterm election—a 

postwar strike wave, a nationwide meat shortage that was popularly blamed 

on price controls (in actuality, the shortage was triggered by hoarding by 

producers), and fourteen years of Democratic control of Congress and the 

White House—were far more decisive than American Action’s targeted door-

knocking campaigns.36 Revealingly, the organization faded away by 1947.

Although the infl uence of American Action was muted and it did not 

leave a lasting institutional legacy, the group nevertheless indicated an 

important political shift for the American right. If the response of Hart and 

others to the New Deal, and in particular the CIO-led strike wave in the 

1930s, was to embrace an often violent right-wing anti-democratic mass 

mobilization, then American Action was an attempt by largely the same set 

of actors to accomplish the same political end—the defeat of organized labor 

and the New Deal—through an electoral approach. But 1946 was not 1937. 

While communists continued to be infl uential in the labor movement, the 

1946 strike wave did not appear to the right to have the same degree of apoc-

alyptic potential for communist revolution as had unrest in 1937. This did 

not mean that right-wingers like Hart and his political allies saw organized 

labor as legitimate, or without the taint of communism or socialism—far 

from it—but by 1946 labor was grudgingly understood to be engaging in 

institutional politics, to be fought against on those terms. American Action 

was ultimately a failed attempt to replicate the institutional political power of 

the CIO through its Political Action Committee. It was poorly managed and 

organized, but the form of a right-wing political action committee organizing 

against the administrative state would be reproduced in subsequent decades 
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by business interests.37 American Action therefore tells a transitional story in 

the evolution of right-wing political organizing, particularly among busi-

nessmen, away from the political mobilizations of the 1930s to a more 

hybrid, interest-based approach.

This is not to say that American Action was not also a story of attempted 

mass politics—as Carey McWilliams noted at the time, American Action 

brought together fi nanciers, reactionaries, and crackpots in common cause, 

an alliance between “the extreme reaction of right-wing industrial groups” 

and dedicated extremists that had the capacity to spark another fascist 

moment in American life. “I want to make it clear,” he wrote, “I do not 

regard American Action, Inc. as either fascist or antisemitic . . . [but] fascist 

movements never emerge out of thin air.”38 As an attempt at a broad anti-

liberal and anti-communist right-wing mobilization that welcomed fascistic 

and antisemitic support without necessarily centering those politics, 

American Action resembled nothing so much as a proto–John Birch 

Society—and indeed Hart would join the John Birch Society shortly before 

his death. Like the Birchers a decade later, American Action was also deliber-

ately modeled on an apparently successful left-wing organizational form—

the Communist Party itself in the case of the Birchers, the CIO-PAC in 

the case of American Action. The left remained the enemy, but given that 

within the framework of the broader right-wing political narrative in the 

mid-twentieth century liberals and leftists were in the dominant political 

position, mimicry made sense as a political tactic.

The consequences of the 1946 election were profound for American politics 

and American political economy. The Taft-Hartley Act was passed in 1947, 

amending the Wagner Act to prohibit, among other kinds of labor actions, 

wildcat strikes and sympathy strikes, and allowing states to pass so-called 

“right-to-work” laws prohibiting closed union shops. The hated price-control 

regime of the Offi ce of Price Administration was also gone.39 But “reaction-

aries” like Hart remained unsatisfi ed. In May 1948 Hart charged the 

Republican majorities in Congress with “Do-Nothingism”: the “great mass 

of New Deal socialist-tinged legislation” remained on the books, and 

communists and fellow travelers remained in government. Moreover, the 

Republicans had not fought suffi ciently against proposed FEPC legislation, 

had supported Zionist political aspirations in Palestine, and had done 

nothing to prevent an “avalanche of illegal immigration of undesirable 
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elements—some of them probably Communists.”40 Hart was speaking in 

dog whistles: the actual message was: keep the Jews out.

Nearly 3 million Jews, primarily from eastern Europe, had immigrated 

to the United States in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, but 

Jewish immigration had been severely restricted by the passage in 1924 of 

the Johnson-Reed Immigration Act.41 The law established strict admissions 

quotas for new immigrants, with the aim of maintaining the existing racial 

composition of the United States. In practice, this meant expansive quotas 

for immigrants from western Europe, particularly Ireland, Great Britain, 

and Germany, and stricter quotas for southern and eastern Europeans—

Italians, Greeks, Slavs, and of course Jews. One of the key architects of the 

1924 act, John B. Trevor, was an army intelligence offi cer during the First 

World War and drew plans in 1919 as part of his military duties to suppress 

a Judeo-Bolshevik uprising in New York City. Trevor became a conservative 

activist in his later years, heading a self-described coalition of American 

patriotic societies, and even appearing alongside Hart as a congressional 

hearing in 1942 to testify in opposition to expanding presidential authority 

to suspend tariff laws. Antisemitism and nativism had a well-defi ned rela-

tionship on the American right in the fi rst half of the twentieth century.42

Granted, support for immigration restrictions was hardly limited to the 

right. Samuel Gompers, the longtime head of the American Federation of 

Labor, supported literacy tests as a means of restricting immigration for 

decades before the 1924 act, under the belief that mass immigration threat-

ened to fl ood the labor market, suppress wages, and ultimately bolster the 

power of management. Gompers was one of the major supports of the 1924 

act, which went into law shortly before his death. The AFL remained a fi rm 

supporter of immigration restrictions into the 1930s, concerned that new 

waves of immigration would worsen the already abysmal living standards of 

American workers—the union even opposed the admission of Jewish refu-

gees from Nazi Germany. Granted, the AFL represented the conservative 

wing of the labor movement; the CIO, which built power through orga-

nizing fi rst- and second-generation workers, actively advocated lifting immi-

gration restrictions and admitting refugees, even going so far as to express 

solidarity with Mexican migrant workers admitted under the bracero 

program while opposing the program itself. Labor’s response to immigra-

tion restrictions and the European refugee crisis was ambivalent: the AFL 

continued to support the national origins quotas throughout World War II.43
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American Jews, too, had an ambivalent relationship with immigration 

restrictions. On the one hand, American Jews were overwhelmingly sympa-

thetic to the plight of their co-religionists in Europe and were at the forefront 

of anti-Nazi activism across the country. On the other hand, while liberal 

Jewish organizations called for the increased admission of German Jewish 

refugees beginning in 1933, Jewish leaders were careful to avoid calling for 

the outright repeal of the 1924 act: Nathan Perlman, a New York jurist and 

politician and an immigrant from Poland, urged Congress to set up special 

quotas for refugees in 1933 but said point-blank that the 1924 act ought to 

remain law of the land.44 Working-class Jews, like their Gentile counter-

parts, feared a wave of immigration from eastern Europe would suppress 

their wages and decrease what little bargaining power they had over 

employers.

There was another element, too: fear that large-scale Jewish immigra-

tion to America would lead to an intensifi cation of antisemitism in the 

United States. These concerns were rarely expressed openly among 

American Jewish leaders or in the Jewish press, but they were a palpable 

source of anxiety. Relaxing the immigration quotas could save hundreds of 

thousands, perhaps millions, of European Jews from persecution at the 

hands of the Nazis, but to do so invited, in the eyes of skeptical American 

Jews, the same forces of reaction to intensify in America. Even Franklin 

Roosevelt expressed these concerns: Roosevelt told Walter White, the head 

of the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People, that he 

was “quite apprehensive of the growing anti-Semitic and Nazi sentiment in 

the United States.”45 Felix Frankfurter, one of Roosevelt’s closest advisors 

and a frequent target of Hart and other far-right antisemites as the supposed 

leader of a Jewish cabal in the White House, warned that fears of intensi-

fying antisemitism should not deter the administration from acting on the 

refugee issue, but Roosevelt continued to express concerns in meetings with 

Jewish leaders about intensifying antisemitism in the United States if he 

moved too aggressively to help Jewish refugees.46

Opposition to loosening immigration and refugee restrictions was a 

hallmark of the right during the war. Hart testifi ed in front of Congress in 

November 1942 opposing the relaxing of such restrictions in a proposed war 

powers bill and wrote extensively about the issue in his newsletter. He 

avoided crude antisemitic stereotyping, but his tone was steeped in genteel 

white supremacy. “In 1808,” Hart wrote in the tone of an affable 
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schoolmaster, “the fi rst immigration barrier was erected. It stopped the 

importation of negro slaves.” He went on to provide in thumbnail form the 

standard nativist arguments against immigration: that even at the height of 

western European immigration in the nineteenth century Ireland, Great 

Britain, and Germany weren’t sending their best, but rather “incompetents 

and paupers,” although despite their limitations these very fi ne people 

“[merged] with our population with reasonable rapidity.” Immigrants from 

southern and eastern Europe were different—their “cultural background 

made assimilation . . . more diffi cult.” Unlike many of the nativists in earlier 

decades, Hart did not have a particular problem with Italians and Greeks—

the issue was Russian Jews who, he strongly insinuated, as a class had 

communist sympathies “antagonistic to our social order.”47

A poll in 1944 found respondents equally split, 46-46 percent, on the 

desirability of allowing Jewish immigration to the United States after the 

war—the only groups that had more negative ratings were the Japanese and 

the Germans. Even the Chinese, subject to strict exclusion laws since the 

1882 Chinese Exclusion Act, were deemed more desirable immigrants than 

Jews. The apparent about-face on Chinese exclusion was at least partially 

attributed to China’s status as a wartime ally against Japan, although even in 

the 1930s American attitudes were shifting thanks to popular novels and 

movies like Pearl Buck’s The Good Earth and the glamorous, American-

educated, and Christian wife of Chinese leader Chiang Kai-shek (Chiang 

converted to Methodism upon his marriage). By 1943 Congress was on its 

way to repealing the Chinese exclusion laws as a symbolic gesture—albeit 

one with important practical consequences—of wartime solidarity with an 

important ally. But while the Chinese benefi ted from the joint struggle 

against the Japanese—“This man is your FRIEND,” read one popular poster of 

the time, showing a smiling Chinese soldier; “He fi ghts for FREEDOM”—Jews 

did not register as “allies” in the same fashion in American culture.48

Rumors abounded in northern cities that American Jews were dodging 

the draft or using “pull”—either fi nancial or political—to purchase offi cers’ 

commissions or otherwise receive preferential treatment in the army. 

Whispers abounded, particularly in the Midwest, about “New York Jews” 

being responsible for the most hated aspects of the rationing system. (Gerald 

L. K. Smith blamed Jews for his inability to receive gas rations during his 

abortive 1944 presidential campaign.) Prewar antisemitism—the idea that 

Jews were pushing America toward war—transformed into wartime 
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prejudices that Jews were shirkers and war profi teers. Unlike the treatment 

of China in American popular discourse as a valiant ally, European Jews 

were hardly mentioned at all, and when Jews were discussed, it was as refu-

gees and displaced persons, not as fi ghting allies. The constant references by 

anti-immigration activists and their congressional allies to “alien” infl u-

ences, a favored term of Hart’s, was designed to undermine any specifi cally 

Jewish claims to exceptionality when it came to American immigration 

policy.49

Still, some measures were taken to admit Jewish refugees. The 

Roosevelt administration, under pressure from Jewish groups, grudgingly 

took steps to save European Jews from the Holocaust, but these actions were 

extremely limited. In 1944 the administration set up the War Refugee Board, 

which—working largely through neutral governments—was able to save 

nearly two hundred thousand Jews in the last two years of the war (consid-

ering that nearly a quarter of all Holocaust victims died in 1942 alone, this 

was very much too little, too late). Indeed, the question of what to do with 

Jewish refugees was largely academic in the early years of the war because of 

the German occupation of most of eastern Europe, the epicenter of the 

Holocaust.50 This began to change in 1944 and 1945, as the War Refugee 

Board worked to bring modest numbers of refugees into the United States 

(conservative columnist Westbrook Pegler quickly announced his skepti-

cism, writing in his column that Roosevelt was potentially allowing 

“Communists and others who don’t like our way of living and doing” into 

the country), but the issue did not become acute until the closing days of the 

war, when the advancing U.S. Army found itself responsible for the care of 

millions of displaced persons as it entered Germany.51

The conditions in which the army held displaced persons in Europe 

were generally appalling. Not all—not even most—were Jews. Germany 

utilized slave labor from all over Europe, which included huge numbers of 

Ukrainians, Poles, Russians, French, Czechs, and virtually every other 

nationality that had been under German dominion during the war. In fact, 

Jews numbered only around 5 to 8 percent of the initial displaced persons 

population under the control of the army. But virtually no special provisions 

were made for Jews as a special category of displaced persons. The condi-

tions in the camps were suffi ciently atrocious that President Truman was 

forced, under pressure from Jewish organizations, to convene a special 

committee under the aegis of former commissioner of the Immigration and 
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Naturalization Service, Earl G. Harrison. Harrison’s report prompted 

Truman to attempt a solution: pressuring the British government beginning 

in August 1945 to allow up to one hundred thousand European Jews into the 

British Mandate of Palestine.52

Truman’s pressure on the British made a great deal of political sense. 

Opinion polls were still hostile to loosening immigration restrictions in the 

United States, but Truman also faced political pressure from Jewish organi-

zations to solve the refugee crisis. Benjamin Freedman wrote in the 

Economic Council Letter in 1947 that Truman and the Democratic Party 

sought, through their immigration policy, to infl uence Jewish voters in the 

key states of New York, California, Illinois, and Ohio—although Freedman 

was an antisemite, a bigot, and a conspiracy theorist, his political analysis in 

this instance was sound.53 Embracing Zionist aspirations in Palestine 

provided a solution to the Jewish refugee crisis that would avoid battle over 

immigration and help to secure Jewish voters.

Ohio senator Robert Taft, one of the archconservatives in the United 

States Senate, embraced such a strategy. Taft had become an unlikely pro-

Zionist in 1944, when he developed a friendship with Rabbi Abba Hillel 

Silver, the Cleveland-based Zionist leader. Silver was instrumental in securing 

Taft’s support for the Zionist cause in Congress, including co-sponsoring a 

resolution in January 1944 with Robert Wagner, who represented to a great 

degree the antithesis of Taft’s domestic politics, to support increased Jewish 

immigration to Palestine. Taft and Silver were also largely responsible for the 

insertion in the Republican Party platform in 1944 of a “free and democratic 

commonwealth” in British Palestine, much to the chagrin of Gerald L. K. 

Smith and his merry band of antisemites at the Stevens Hotel. But Taft’s 

motives were not wholly idealistic. He faced a tough reelection battle in 

1944—he was targeted by CIO-PAC and leading members of the Roosevelt 

administration, who frequently cited his opposition to the war before 1941. 

Taft needed Jewish support—or, at the minimum, to cut losses among Jewish 

voters his record might otherwise precipitate. Embracing Silver and the 

Zionist cause did the trick. Taft eked out a narrow victory of only eighteen 

thousand votes over his Democratic opponent. Silver bragged to reporters that 

he had helped secure Taft’s victory. Taft remained one of the staunchest pro-

Zionists in the Senate before U.S. recognition of the State of Israel in 1948.54

But despite Taft’s ardor for the Zionist cause, he remained an immigra-

tion restrictionist, actively fi ghting measures to increase refugee quotas into 
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the United States. Taft helped maneuver the appointment of William 

Chapman Revercomb, his Republican colleague from West Virginia, to the 

head of the Senate Judiciary Committee on Immigration. Revercomb was a 

ferocious critic of the New Deal and a prominent advocate of “states’ rights,” 

opposing federal legislation abolishing poll taxes and objecting to a bill that 

sought federal oversight over wage standards.55 Revercomb reportedly told 

his colleagues on the committee that “we could solve this DP [displaced 

persons] problem all right if we could work out some bill that would keep 

out the Jews.”56 Indeed, the British government felt that American support 

for Jewish emigration to Palestine was self-interested—British foreign secre-

tary Ernest Bevin stirred outrage in both Britain and America when he told a 

Labour Party conference in June 1946 that the American government was 

pressing for the admission of one hundred thousand European Jews into 

Palestine because “they [do] not want too many of them in New York.”57 

Although Bevin’s remark was crude and widely condemned as antisemitic, 

there was an element of truth to his statement: immigration restrictionists 

like Taft supported opening up Palestine to Jewish settlement while they 

simultaneously resisted relaxing immigration restrictions in the United 

States.

The antisemitic far right found itself in a paradoxical position in the 

debates over immigration and Palestine. On the one hand, most far-right 

activists had long been opposed to loosening immigration restrictions, 

fearing a fl ood of foreigners with “alien” and communistic ideas. Men like 

Merwin Hart had long blamed the triumph of New Deal liberalism on 

“un-American” elements infecting the politics of the United States like 

some kind of virus. On the other hand, unlike Taft, Hart and his fellow trav-

elers were ferociously anti-Zionist and saw American support for Zionism 

as yet further evidence of a massive Jewish conspiracy. (Smith, for his part, 

remained grudgingly supportive of Taft in 1948 even as he lamented that the 

Ohio senator was engaged in a “breakneck attempt to please the Jew vote of 

New York” with his support for Israel.)58 This was tied to the belief that 

Zionism was essentially synonymous with communism (which itself was 

predicated on Judeo-Bolshevik conspiracy theories) as well as the political 

argument that the creation of a Jewish state in Palestine would involve the 

United States in a shooting war. The former attitude drew upon widespread 

sentiment—U.S. Army reports from 1945 suggested that soldiers had 

trouble distinguishing between Zionism and communism as both were 
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stereotypically “Jewish” ideologies—and the latter was itself a relatively 

common analysis of the Palestinian situation on the right.

Indeed, anti-Zionism based on American national interest need not 

have an antisemitic edge. Felix Morley warned in the inaugural issue of the 

conservative foreign affairs magazine Human Events in January 1944 that 

the U.S. risked being sucked into a war in the Middle East because of 

America’s oil interests in the region combined with the Arab-Jewish 

confl ict.59 Frank C. Hanighen likewise warned that rising pan-Arabism and 

American interests in Saudi Arabia could lead to American involvement in 

a Middle East war. Hanighen actually went further than most of his contem-

poraries. A respected foreign affairs correspondent who had been active 

with the America First Committee, Hanighen wrote an article published in 

Human Events in December 1946 describing Zionism as “imperialism.” 

Hanighen’s analysis of Zionism would fi t comfortably within the main-

stream of left-wing anti-Zionism in the twenty-fi rst century. He character-

ized Zionism as essentially a European colonial project that had the 

misfortune to collide with awakening pan-Arab nationalism and diplomatic 

maneuverings between the British Empire, the United States, and the Soviet 

Union. Hanighen was no leftist—he wrote angrily that the World Federation 

of Trade Unions, the “late Sidney Hillman’s brain child,” had “invaded trou-

bled Palestine” and spread like a virus throughout the Middle East, orga-

nizing workers in the Iranian oil fi elds and the Iraqi railways.60 But neither 

was Hanighen an antisemite—not only was his tone cool and analytical, he 

did not equate Zionism with communism nor suggest Zionists were an 

avatar of an international Judeo-Bolshevik conspiracy, and he did not 

complain of Jewish “anti-Gentilism.” There were a wide variety of positions 

on the American right on Zionism. Some, like Taft, were pro-Zionist. 

Others, like Hanighen, were anti-Zionist. And still others, like Hart, 

Freedman, and Gerald L. K. Smith, were antisemitic anti-Zionists.

The key markers of antisemitic anti-Zionism on the right were the 

embrace of conspiracy theories—particularly the Judeo-Bolshevik 

conspiracy theory—along with a persecution complex. There was no specifi c 

policy position that served as a litmus test for antisemitism, but rather one’s 

choice of language and identifi cation within the constellation of various 

policy preferences. Gerald L. K. Smith naturally provides a benchmark for 

political antisemitism and anti-Zionism; he opposed rescinding immigra-

tion quotas and the legislation that eventually became the 1948 Displaced 



96 the right-wing popular front,  1933–53

Persons Act while simultaneously opposing Jewish immigration to 

Palestine. These stances taken alone were commonplace in American poli-

tics in the late 1940s; taken together, they suggest an antisemitic political 

orientation but are not in and of themselves conclusive evidence. What is 

conclusive are the dozens and dozens of pages in Smith’s newsletter, The 

Cross and the Flag, which posed questions like “Is Communism Jewish?” 

(The answer, according to Smith, was yes.) Merwin Hart’s missives in his 

newsletter were rather more restrained than Smith’s—at least in the late 

1940s—but his repeated belief that if eastern European Jews were allowed 

to immigrate en masse into Palestine then “Zionist Palestine [would] even-

tually become a Soviet Republic” and his complaints that Jewish critics were 

smearing him with charges of antisemitism tipped him decisively into the 

category of far-right political antisemite.61

The political impact of the far right on U.S. policy in Palestine was 

muted—Truman successfully pressured the British government to increase 

immigration quotas, eventually endorsed Palestinian partition, and quickly 

recognized the independence of the State of Israel almost immediately after 

the Israeli declaration of independence in May 1948. But the political impact 

of the far right on U.S. policy regarding immigrants and displaced persons 

was far more infl uential. The House subcommittee on immigration called 

Merwin Hart as a witness to testify while considering a bill proposed by 

Illinois congressman William G. Stratton to admit up to four hundred thou-

sand displaced persons into the United States in 1947; Hart insisted that 

allowing displaced persons into the country would permit a wave of “terror-

ists” trained in communist revolutionary tactics (he also, more prosaically, 

argued that immigration would exacerbate unemployment and housing 

problems). Hart had an ally on the committee in the form of Texas 

congressman Ed Gossett, who frequently complained on the record that 

displaced persons camps in Europe are “small universities of subversives 

and revolutionary activities.” Gossett took to the House fl oor on July 2, 1948 

to blast the Stratton bill as a product of “a number of prominent Jewish 

organizations.”62

Even though the bill eventually passed, the 1948 Displaced Persons Act 

was designed and administered to exclude as many Jews as possible from 

entering the United States. Persons who entered the American zone of occu-

pation in Germany after December 22, 1945 would not be eligible for resettle-

ment in the United States; this excluded the vast majority of Jewish refugees, 
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who entered the American zone after the cutoff date. In order to make the bill 

more palatable to midwestern congressmen, in particular North Dakota 

senator and old non-interventionist leader William Ernest Langer, there was 

one major exemption to the cutoff date: ethnic Germans expelled from 

Poland, Czechoslovakia, and the Baltic states qualifi ed for admission if they 

entered Allied-occupied Germany by July 1948 and were exempt from public-

charge qualifi cations—essentially proof that the incoming person had 

enough fi nancial assets to avoid becoming a public burden—that other 

displaced persons needed to meet. Although President Truman signed the 

bill on the grounds that it was better than nothing, he castigated the legisla-

tion in a signing statement as “[discriminating] in callous fashion against 

displaced persons of the Jewish faith.”63 Revealingly, despite the far right’s 

militant opposition to relaxing immigration quotas or accepting refugees, 

there was very little outrage from right-wing quarters upon the passage of the 

Stratton Act. Not even Gerald L. K. Smith, whose 1948 Christian Nationalist 

Crusade convention platform included a plank against immigration of 

Asiatics and Jews, sought fi t to mention the new law in his newsletter.

The Displaced Persons Act was subject to amendment efforts almost as 

soon as it was passed. A new wave of Democrats took offi ce after the 1948 

elections, including future liberal giants Paul Douglas and Hubert 

Humphrey, who both endorsed liberalizing the act. So, too, did President 

Truman, who—to the surprise of nearly everyone—won his reelection bid. 

Efforts were stymied, however, by conservative Nevada Democrat Pat 

McCarran, the new chair of the Senate Judiciary Committee. Among other 

actions, McCarran appointed Richard Arens, an archconservative whom 

contemporaries described as “bitterly antisemitic,” as head of the chief of 

staff of the immigration subcommittee. He repeatedly used delaying tactics 

to avoid the passage of an amended bill. The dam fi nally burst in June 1950, 

when an amended version of the Displaced Persons Act was passed into law. 

The net effect of the opposition from activists like Trevor and Hart, and 

congressional representatives like Taft, Gossett, and McCarran was, however, 

unambiguous: while 450,000 displaced persons were eventually admitted 

into the United States through 1952, fewer than 150,000 of those admitted 

were Jews.64

Ultimately, the power of right-wing political antisemitism to affect policy 

began to wane in the late 1940s. A decade earlier political antisemites could 
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enter into an uneasy coalition with antiwar activists and present a united 

front that was able to substantively affect American policy toward the 

European war, although even at that early date the right was unable to arrest 

the foreign policy preferences of the Roosevelt administration. Throughout 

the war years, the right—with the support of most of the American public—

was able to block any efforts to relax American immigration laws that could 

prove to be favorable to Jewish refugees, and limited the options of an 

already disinterested Roosevelt administration in aggressively responding to 

the humanitarian crisis of the Holocaust. But by the end of the 1940s the 

non-interventionist, anti-immigrant, and antisemitic wing of the conserva-

tive coalition was unable to stop American recognition of the State of Israel 

or completely prevent the passage of the Displaced Persons Act. On an orga-

nizational level, the attempt by Merwin Hart and his political allies to build a 

new national right-wing movement through American Action was largely a 

failure. But while the infl uence of the far right was waning, it continued to 

score rearguard victories and exercised infl uence behind the scenes—

through legislative maneuvering, the Displaced Persons Act did manage to 

largely exclude Jewish refugees from admission into the United States. This 

trend would continue into the next decade: even as the organizational far 

right reached its nadir in the early 1950s, there remained surprising levels of 

infl uence in high circles. The far right remained part of the right-wing 

popular front, and as immediate fears of fascism faded in American political 

culture in the late 1940s, fears of communism intensifi ed. The antisemitic 

far right would not enjoy the level of infl uence it had in the 1930s, but 

further opportunities to fl ex its political muscle awaited.
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senator joseph mccarthy was a nexus fi gure in the right-wing 

popular front in the early 1950s. By dint of his demagogic anti-liberalism and 

anticommunism, he bound openly antisemitic far-right activists with less 

extreme fi gures, including many Jewish conservatives. Whispers of McCar-

thy’s latent antisemitism were suffi ciently politically damaging to the Wis-

consin senator that he chose twenty-six-year-old Jewish lawyer Roy Cohn as 

the chief counsel for his Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations in 1953 

in an attempt to quash the rumors. Nevertheless, McCarthy enjoyed almost 

universal acclaim on the American right during his heyday—McCarthy, 

Cohn, Merwin Hart, and William F. Buckley Jr. could and did all comfortably 

rub shoulders at black-tie galas. This feat was all the more remarkable 

considering that before Joseph McCarthy settled on anticommunism as his 

winning political issue, he had been an outspoken defender of Nazi war 

criminals.

In December 1944 Waffen-SS Standartenführer Joachim Peiper had 

already, by any reasonable defi nition, perpetrated innumerable war crimes. 

He had served in the SS for over a decade as personal assistant to 

SS-Reichsführer Heinrich Himmler, assisting the SS chief with—among 

other things, the logistical details of the Holocaust. Peiper commanded 

troops in the fi eld in the Soviet Union in 1942 and 1943, personally ordering 

several villages razed, and developing a reputation for brutality to the point 
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that his unit was dubbed “the blowtorch battalion”—on account of the 

number of towns and villages it burned—by other German soldiers. Peiper 

was given command of an armored column for Germany’s last-ditch offen-

sive in the Ardennes Forest in Belgium at the end of 1944. Peiper fought in 

the subsequent Battle of the Bulge in the same fashion as he had in Russia: 

with unrelenting brutality.1

The offensive began on December 16; on the afternoon of December 17, 

already more than sixteen hours behind schedule, Peiper’s troops captured 

an American convoy consisting mainly of elements of the 285th Field 

Artillery Observation Battalion near the town of Malmedy. Peiper continued 

on with his tanks southwest toward his objective, the town of Ligneuville. 

Shortly after the German tanks departed, some 120 captured American 

troops were machine-gunned in an open fi eld by their Waffen-SS guards; 84 

were killed and the survivors fl ed into the surrounding woods.2

On the scale of mass death in World War II, the Malmedy massacre was 

a relatively minor affair. The SS murdered over 33,000 Jews in Kiev over the 

course of a single day and night at the end of September 1941. The U.S. fi re-

bombing of Tokyo in March 1945—Operation Meetinghouse—killed 

anywhere from 83,000 to 125,000 people over the course of a single night.3 

But because American servicemen were the victims of Nazi atrocities at 

Malmedy, and because the fi rst reports of the massacre came trickling in 

from survivors who reached American lines within roughly an hour of the 

shooting, Malmedy quickly became a household word in the United States. 

As early as December 21 the fi rst Associated Press reports of a massacre of 

some 150 Americans by German troops in Belgium were being published 

on the front pages of major American newspapers, kept out of the banner 

headlines only by the latest updates from the front. The Washington Post 

breathlessly crowed, “Nazis Throw in Second Powerful Wave in Wake of 

Initial 200,000 Man Assault” in the headline of its December 21, 1944, 

edition, but “Nazi Slaying of 100 Yanks Is Confi rmed” was featured as the 

center story above the fold.4 Press coverage would intensify in the subse-

quent months.

In April 1946 the U.S. Army was ready to prosecute the man whom the 

newspapers had dubbed the “American doughboy’s number one criminal,” 

and the trial of Peiper and seventy-two other Waffen-SS members convened 

at Dachau, the site of one of Nazi Germany’s most infamous concentration 

camps, on May 16. Tried alongside Peiper was a cross-section of the 
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Waffen-SS, ranging from SS general Sepp Dietrich, Peiper’s commanding 

offi cer, to privates in Peiper’s regiment. A number of the defendants had 

signed confessions after extensive interrogation by U.S. Army personnel, 

but Peiper consistently denied all wrongdoing. He claimed, along with a 

handful of other defendants, that the U.S. Army had extracted confessions 

from his men illegally through the use of torture. The court sentenced 

Peiper and forty-three of his men to death. None, however, would end up 

facing the gallows.5

There were those in the U.S. Army who believed that Peiper and the SS 

troops under his command had been treated too harshly. None were quite so 

vehemently outspoken in that belief as Colonel Willis Everett, an Atlanta lawyer 

who served as the chief defense counsel for Peiper and his co-defendants. 

Everett was appalled by what he believed to be a sham trial and allegations 

that army interrogators tortured the German defendants to extract confes-

sions. He considered that the army’s conduct did not correspond to the liberal 

democratic values the United States supposedly fought for.6

But there was a considerably darker side to Everett’s outrage. He believed 

that Germany was being made subject to another harsh Carthaginian peace, 

as it had been after World War I, because of the machinations of vengeful 

Jews. Everett wrote to his family during the trial that the presiding judge, 

Abraham Rosenfeld, was a “Jew law member,” and even insulted his fellow 

defense counsel Herbert Strong—a German Jewish refugee who was 

assigned the case because of his language skills—as a “nosey-talking-arguing 

Jew.” He frequently complained of the “Jewish occupation” of postwar 

Germany. Large numbers of “Morgenthau’s boys”—meaning both Jewish 

American New Dealers and German Jewish refugees—were in positions of 

infl uence and authority in postwar Germany. Everett viewed liberals and 

Jews with barely concealed hostility and suspicion.7

Everett was not alone in his attitudes; the star witness for the defense 

during the Malmedy trial was Colonel Hal McCown, who commanded an 

infantry battalion during the Battle of the Bulge and had been briefl y 

captured by Peiper on December 21, 1944. McCown, who told the court that 

he had not seen any massacres or mistreatment of American soldiers by the 

SS during the battle, had his credibility somewhat undermined when he 

admitted on the stand he had provided tactical information to Peiper that 

allowed him to safely retreat during the battle; Peiper had told army counter-

intelligence interrogators that while McCown was his prisoner he had 
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confi ded to Peiper that Soviet communism was America’s real enemy, and 

that after the war Peiper should come to America and “help him hang the 

Jews there.”8

The Malmedy trial should have been resolved with the convictions of 

Peiper and his co-defendants, but instead it became a political lightning rod 

in both the United States and Germany. Everett embarked on a lengthy 

letter-writing and public relations campaign after the trial to drum up 

interest in allegations about a miscarriage of justice, culminating in a favor-

able Time magazine story in January 1949. Shortly afterward, Senator 

William Langer—who had fought to give preferential treatment to 

Volksdeustche refugees in American immigration quotas and keep out 

eastern European Jews—demanded an investigation into the army’s 

conduct. By the end of March the Senate Armed Services Committee 

convened a subcommittee to review the case. Its members included 

Democrats James Eastland, Lester Hunt, and Estes Kefauver, Republican 

Raymond Baldwin as chair, and an obscure junior Republican senator from 

Wisconsin, Joseph McCarthy.9

Why did McCarthy serve on the committee? McCarthy was hostile to 

communism and apparently believed that a harsh victor’s justice over the 

defeated Germans would drive the population into the arms of the Soviets. 

But there was another factor: Wisconsin, like Langer’s North Dakota, had a 

large concentration of German Americans. And while most of Wisconsin’s 

German Americans eschewed Nazi sympathies, not all did.10 And at least 

one of Wisconsin’s Nazi sympathizers was one of Joseph McCarthy’s major 

donors.

Walter Harnischfeger was a second-generation German American. His 

father, Henry, had immigrated to the United States in the 1870s and over the 

course of fi fty years established himself as one of the region’s leading 

construction equipment suppliers. When Henry died in 1930, Walter inher-

ited the company. During the 1930s and 1940s, the Harnischfeger family 

developed a reputation in Wisconsin for their Nazi sympathies. One of 

Walter’s nephews, while attending the University of Wisconsin, bragged 

about his family’s Nazi sympathies and of his prized possession, an auto-

graphed copy of Mein Kampf. Nor were the Harnischfegers’ politics merely 

idle talk; the company was cited by the Fair Employment Practice Committee 

for refusing to hire Blacks and Jews during World War II.11 Walter 

Harnischfeger had repeatedly advocated a negotiated peace with Germany 
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during World War II—he made a speech in 1943 urging peace as soon as 

possible because “the capitalistic system will not survive” the war—and 

shared the far right’s disdain for the Nuremberg trials after the war.12

Harnischfeger was also a major fi gure in Republican politics in 

Wisconsin. His fi nancial largesse was, according to newspaper accounts, 

primarily directed toward party committees, but he also donated to indi-

vidual candidates, including to incumbent Republican governor Walter S. 

Goodland’s reelection campaign (despite Goodland having nixed 

Harnischfeger’s demand for a tax cut in 1943) and to the challenge against 

progressive stalwart Robert LaFollette Jr. by then state circuit court judge 

Joseph McCarthy.13

The relationship between Harnischfeger and McCarthy is highly 

suggestive, and indicative of the broader relationship between Joseph 

McCarthy—and McCarthyism—and the far right. McCarthy, who was often 

dogged by allegations of fascism and antisemitism by liberals and the left, 

had an ambiguous relationship with the far right: he was not a doctrinaire 

rightist, but he welcomed their support and served as an important bridge 

linking elements of what would evolve later into “mainstream” conserva-

tism with fi gures later generations of conservatives would dismiss as 

“kooks.” But in the 1950s, they were part of the same political coalition.

The most direct evidence of a link between McCarthy and Harnischfeger 

stems from mutual social ties. Thomas Korb, an old friend of McCarthy’s 

from Marquette University, was Harnischfeger’s corporate attorney. Korb 

came to Washington as McCarthy’s “administrative assistant” for the 

Malmedy hearings, even helping to write a speech McCarthy gave on the 

fl oor of the Senate in July 1949 denouncing the conduct of the army. 

Harnischfeger also provided McCarthy with material fi nancial support, 

putting up collateral for a loan McCarthy took from the Appleton State Bank 

in 1947.14 More important, McCarthy actively provided favors for 

Harnischfeger on Capitol Hill. In 1947 McCarthy, as a junior senator, made 

his fi rst successful legislative push torpedoing a public housing bill that 

would have cost Harnischfeger, who was diversifying his interests into the 

postwar construction boom in the suburbs, millions of dollars. McCarthy, 

who served on the Senate Housing Committee, managed to block the 

appointment of Senator Charles Tobey to the chairmanship of a joint Senate-

House housing committee, which instead went to Representative Ralph A. 

Gamble from New York, a public housing skeptic. The mayor of Racine, 
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Wisconsin famously dubbed McCarthy the “water boy of the real estate 

lobby” for his efforts on behalf of Harnischfeger.15

Harnischfeger had other friends. It is unclear whether or not he was a 

donor to American Action, Inc. in 1946—McCarthy conditionally disavowed 

the organization during his 1946 campaign, saying that “if . . . this is merely 

the old America First Group under a new name, then I want no part of it,” but 

that “if the organization claims that it is organized solely for the purpose of 

defeating Communist and Communistically inclined candidates, then I 

welcome its support”—but Harnischfeger certainly fi t the profi le of an 

American Action supporter.16 He was a rock-ribbed Republican, an admirer 

of Herbert Hoover, fi ercely anti-union—he testifi ed in favor of the Taft-Hartley 

Act in Congress in 1948—and, most signifi cant, was a contributor to the 

National Economic Council throughout the 1950s, 1960s, and into the 1970s. 

In a report published in 1950 by the House Select Committee on Lobbying 

Activities, Harnischfeger was listed as a donor to the NEC. In 1959, Merwin 

Hart praised a speech given by Harnischfeger on Clarence Manion’s Manion 

Forum radio program, proudly noting that Harnischfeger was a member of 

the board of directors of the National Economic Council. And Harnischfeger 

remained active even after Hart’s death in 1962—he emceed an NEC awards 

dinner for segregationist Senator Harry Byrd Jr. of Virginia in 1972. (One of 

the evening’s featured speakers, Georgia lieutenant governor Lester Maddox, 

took the opportunity to declare that “Socialism and Communism have 

continued to spread like wildfi re because their fl ames have been fanned with 

American dollars, American technology, and American apathy.”)17

The point of noting Harnischfeger’s connections and associations is not 

to imply, as Joe McCarthy did repeatedly throughout his career, guilt by asso-

ciation. It is to suggest that Harnischfeger, like McCarthy, needs to be under-

stood as embedded in a broader right-wing network that had extreme 

right-wing elements, including overt fascist and Nazi sympathizers. And 

Harnischfeger’s position, as one of McCarthy’s fi nancial backers who had 

direct and overt ties to the far right, helps to explain a point that has puzzled 

historians of McCarthy and McCarthyism over the years. The question is not 

simply why McCarthy maneuvered himself into a position on the Malmedy 

committee, but also why the junior senator from Wisconsin crossed the line 

into overt antisemitism during the committee hearings.

McCarthy previewed many of his later tactics against alleged commu-

nists during the Malmedy trial investigation. He browbeat witnesses, made 
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wild and unsubstantiated statements, and showed himself to have a fl air for 

political theatrics. McCarthy quit the committee in May 1949 in bold 

fashion, declaring that his colleagues had predetermined to “whitewash” the 

army’s conduct in the trial. He constantly self-aggrandized, contrasting the 

clean war he fought with the Marine Corps in the Pacifi c to the army’s 

conduct in Europe. McCarthy’s manner toward Jewish witnesses was espe-

cially egregious. He questioned one witness as to whether Abraham 

Rosenfeld, the presiding judge, “felt friendly or unfriendly toward the 

German race as a whole?” He even went so far as to ask, “If you were a 

German, would you feel that you would be willing to have a matter of life 

and death decided by this man Rosenfeld?” William R. Perl, a lieutenant in 

the army and a practicing lawyer, wrote to a friend after being subjected to 

the McCarthy treatment that he understood McCarthy’s questioning to be 

contextually antisemitic, that McCarthy had come to the hearings to attack 

“the 1939ers and the refugees”—referring to Jewish emigrés from Nazi 

Germany—and that the “1939ers hated the Germans and therefore tortured 

them.” McCarthy’s abrupt departure from the committee was precipitated 

by his demand—which his fellow senators denied—to subject Perl to a lie 

detector test.18

McCarthy was dogged by allegations of antisemitism throughout his 

period of notoriety in the early 1950s, allegations fueled by his conduct 

during the Malmedy hearings. McCarthy deliberately recruited Jewish 

staffers in order to rebut charges of antisemitism,and famously selected Roy 

Cohn over Robert F. Kennedy as his chief counsel in 1953 for his investiga-

tions subcommittee, despite the political infl uence of Kennedy’s family and 

their shared Catholicism. Cohn’s anti-communist credentials as the zealous 

prosecutor of Julius and Ethel Rosenberg in 1952—as well as his own 

Jewishness—were critical factors in his selection. McCarthy even went so far 

as to attack critics of Cohn and his fellow investigator David Schine, also 

Jewish, as antisemitic, earning the senator rebukes from the American 

Jewish Congress, the Jewish Labor Committee, and dozens of other Jewish 

organizations around the country.19 There is little evidence to suggest that 

McCarthy was personally antisemitic, but he clearly understood that anti-

semites had a place in his political coalition, actively courted their support, 

and engaged in one of the common tactics of the antisemitic far right—he 

had many Jewish friends!—as a defense against concerns over 

antisemitism.20
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After McCarthy resigned from the Malmedy committee, the remaining 

members concluded that the army had acted appropriately in its trial of the 

Malmedy perpetrators at Dachau, but it upheld the army’s earlier commuta-

tions of the death sentences of the convicted Waffen-SS perpetrators of the 

massacre to life imprisonment. Most were released from prison by the mid-

1950s—Peiper was paroled in 1956, and he enjoyed a lucrative career as a 

salesman for a variety of German automobile manufacturers, including 

Porsche and Volkswagen, before moving to a village in eastern France in 

1972. He was gunned down there on Bastille Day by unknown assailants—

probably associated with the French Communist Party—in 1976, fi nally 

facing justice for a lengthy career of war crimes.21

Joseph McCarthy, for his part, had a date with destiny a few short 

months after the Malmedy committee hearings: at a speech in Wheeling, 

West Virginia on February 9, 1950, he alleged that the U.S. State Department 

contained over two hundred members of the American Communist Party in 

policymaking positions, and that the department was deliberately protecting 

its communist infi ltrators.

McCarthyism as a technique—the use of exaggerated and paranoid 

claims about left-wing subversive infi ltration and infl uence in the United 

States, along with demagogic practices for rooting out supposed infi ltrators—

obviously predated Joseph McCarthy. Martin Dies practiced a variation of the 

technique while serving as head of the House Committee on Un-American 

Activities. Merwin Hart engaged in a grassroots version while organizing 

vigilante groups against CIO strikers in the late 1930s. Jack Tenney, a former 

New Deal Democrat-turned-conservative Republican in California, led the 

state’s equivalent of the Committee on Un-American Activities in the late 

1940s, providing important pressure for the implementation, at the behest 

of University of California president Robert G. Sproul, of the university’s infa-

mous loyalty oath program, which required all employees to swear they were 

not members of the Communist Party.22 All of these initiatives predated 

McCarthy’s Wheeling speech.

Each of these cases also included a far-right political component. 

Tenney, who was eventually forced out of his chairmanship of the state 

senate’s Un-American Activities committee in 1949 in internal state 

Republican political wrangling, moved hard to the right after his ouster, 

eventually publishing a book on Zionism’s “trojan horse” in the United 

States and throwing in his lot with Gerald L. K. Smith, running as the vice 
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presidential nominee on Smith’s Christian Nationalist Party’s 1952 presi-

dential ticket, alongside the drafted Douglas MacArthur. Tenney understood 

his chances were nil; he wanted to punish the Republican Party for nomi-

nating Dwight Eisenhower. “There’s more to politics than just winning,” he 

told columnist Holmes Alexander. He merely wanted to, in Alexander’s 

words, “dramatiz[e] the right-wing fi ght against the socialist internation-

alism of the two major parties.”23

Joseph McCarthy and McCarthyism were not political novelties in the 

early 1950s; they consolidated these existing right-wing political traditions in 

the United States. And while McCarthy the man became a punchline for 

generations of American liberals and McCarthyism a byword for paranoid 

hysteria run amok, generations of scholarship have emphasized that 

McCarthyism, as a political project, was a largely successful one. Broad 

swaths of the American left were frozen out of federal and state govern-

ments, universities, and other institutions, their infl uence replaced by zeal-

ously anti-communist Cold War liberals or out-and-out conservatives.24

And McCarthy the man remained an icon to subsequent generations of 

the American right. The defense and rehabilitation of McCarthy as perhaps 

overzealous but largely in the right—and, in any event, perhaps mistaken 

only in some of his tactics—were at the center of right-wing mythmaking for 

much of the remainder of the twentieth century. William F. Buckley Jr. wrote 

his second book in defense of Joseph McCarthy in 1954; in 1999, he returned 

to the subject in a novel “based on the life of Senator Joseph McCarthy.” 

Far-right provocateur Ann Coulter’s 2003 book Treason: Liberal Treachery from 

the Cold War to the War on Terrorism argued that McCarthy was completely 

correct and the victim of traitorous liberal smears; her book was praised by 

Buckley. Conservative journalist M. Stanton Evans made a similar case in his 

2007 book Blacklisted, arguing that McCarthy’s reputation had been unfairly 

maligned by biased historians. Evans wrote that Senate historian Donald 

Ritchie was “routinely stacking the deck against McCarthy” in the edited 

volumes containing the transcripts of McCarthy’s hearings—Evans called 

Ritchie on the telephone and accused him of not actually reading the primary 

sources, offering to “sum up the relevant data” as to why McCarthy was actu-

ally right. “The historian grew irate,” he recounted, and “said ‘I am growing 

very tired of this conversation,’ and abruptly ended our discussion.”25

If McCarthyism was bigger than Joe McCarthy, than McCarthy’s status 

as a right-wing icon means that his personal biography and his political 
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connections demand close examination. Defenders of McCarthy, both in the 

1950s and in subsequent years, have emphasized that McCarthy did not 

have extensive personal ties to the most extreme elements of the American 

right and eschewed racism and antisemitism—highlighting, among other 

things, McCarthy’s employment of Roy Cohn and his alliance with Rabbi 

Benjamin Schultz, head of the American Jewish Crusade against 

Communism. Yet while historians have generally concluded that McCarthy 

did not center antisemitism, fascist sympathies, and other hallmarks of the 

far right in his politics, in fact he had direct ties to a number of far-right 

political organizations and donors and acted as a kind of binding agent of 

the American right during the height of his notoriety from 1950 through 

1954. Joseph McCarthy became one of the key icons of the American right—

exceeded perhaps only by Douglas MacArthur—and the lynchpin of the 

right-wing popular front.

McCarthy and the far right did not play a major role in the arrest and prose-

cution for espionage of Julius and Ethel Rosenberg and their associates—

although twenty-four-year-old prosecutor Roy Cohn came to McCarthy’s 

attention because of the notoriety of the 1951 trial of the pair. But McCarthy—

along with prominent conservative broadcaster Fulton Lewis, Benjamin 

Freedman, and Gerald L. K. Smith—were involved in an attempt to smear 

the reputation of Anna Rosenberg (no relation to Julius or Ethel) in 1950. 

Rosenberg was a Hungarian Jewish immigrant who was the Truman admin-

istration’s nominee for an assistant secretary of defense post—she was 

smeared by McCarthy and his media allies, using information fed to them 

by Freedman and Smith. The extent to which McCarthy and Lewis knew 

about the involvement of Smith and Freedman remains in question, but the 

allegations—which temporarily derailed Rosenberg’s confi rmation hear-

ings in December 1950—fi t a broader pattern of right-wing conduct.26

Anna Rosenberg should not have been a controversial appointment for 

a top post in the Defense Department. Her credentials placed her to the right 

of many New Dealers. But she was a Jewish immigrant, born in Budapest at 

the beginning of the century. She grew up in New York and became a reason-

ably prominent New Dealer in the city in the 1930s, serving as a regional 

director for the National Recovery Administration. After her stint in federal 

service, Rosenberg became a labor and personnel consultant for various 

fi rms and corporations in New York; her clients included Nelson Rockefeller 
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and Macy’s department store. During the Second World War, she served on 

the War Manpower Commission and was awarded the Medal of Freedom 

for her efforts. George Marshall, the sitting secretary of defense, nominated 

Rosenberg for an assistant secretaryship on November 9, 1950, on the basis 

of her wartime work. Marshall cited her as the “acknowledged authority” on 

“labor, manpower, and public relations.” As if to underline her inoffensive 

moderateness, Rosenberg brought up several times in her initial confi rma-

tion hearings that she had publicly opposed the universal health insurance 

program proposed by President Truman, and also insisted that strictly 

“voluntary methods” for industrial coordination were suffi cient to meet the 

crisis of the Korean War—distancing herself, at least rhetorically, from the 

recent passage of the Defense Production Act that centralized industrial 

production authority with the administration. Rosenberg was, in sum, the 

very portrait of a moderate New Dealer, in the mold of fi nancier Bernard 

Baruch, who zealously advocated for the interests of private industry and 

voluntarism as an advisor to Franklin Roosevelt.27 Rosenberg was to the right 

of the Truman administration on labor and health issues. But she was also a 

Jewish immigrant and a woman who was slated to be appointed to one of 

the senior positions in the American military establishment. A politically 

uncontroversial appointment erupted into a fi restorm.

On November 10 conservative radio broadcaster Fulton Lewis Jr., whose 

program was heard on some four hundred radio stations across the country 

over the Mutual Broadcasting System, alleged on his show that Rosenberg 

had belonged to the John Reed Club, a Communist Party front organization 

for writers and intellectuals in New York City in the 1930s. Lewis had made 

a name for himself as one of the fi rst congressional correspondents on the 

airwaves. His program, which predated the establishment of the Fairness 

Doctrine mandating balanced coverage of news and political events, was 

heard by millions.28 Lewis received this information about Rosenberg from 

J. B. Matthews, a former Communist Party sympathizer-turned-HUAC 

informer, who in turn apparently based his information on the name “Anna 

Rosenberg” appearing in a John Reed Club petition published in the New 

York Times in 1930.29 In response to the ensuing outcry, the Senate Armed 

Services Committee convened a hearing on November 29. Rosenberg 

denied that she had ever been a member of the John Reed Club, noting that 

the signature on the petition was “Anna Rosenberg,” whereas she had been 

very careful to always sign “Anna M. Rosenberg,” as her name was common 
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in New York. She told the committee that the postmaster of New York State 

had informed her that there were currently forty-six Anna Rosenbergs in 

New York City. The signature on the petition was not hers—it would have 

been odd, at any rate, for a professional of her sort to have joined an organi-

zation primarily intended for writers, as Rosenberg herself pointed out to 

the committee during her testimony.30

Rosenberg’s responses impressed the Armed Services Committee 

enough to unanimously recommend that she be confi rmed, but then things 

took a wild turn. On December 1, chair Richard Russell was approached by 

Texas congressman Ed Gossett and Benjamin Freedman. Freedman 

demanded that Russell reopen the Rosenberg hearings, claiming he had 

new evidence against her.

At the same time, the Reverend Wesley Swift, a Christian Identity 

minister based in Los Angeles, and his longtime friend and colleague Gerald 

L. K. Smith, met with Mississippi congressman John Rankin. Rankin has 

gone down in infamy as one of the most viciously outspoken racists in the 

U.S. Congress in the twentieth century. Rankin—leveraging his position as 

an infl uential southern Democrat—repeatedly steered legislation to reify 

and reinforce the Jim Crow apartheid state in the American South. He 

helped to quash attempts at meaningful federal election-law reform to allow 

mobilized soldiers to vote in 1942 and worked together with Republicans to 

neuter similar legislation in 1944, in order to ensure African Americans 

would not have easier access to the ballot. He also helped craft the 1944 GI 

Bill of Rights that excluded African Americans in the South from receiving 

access to federal benefi ts. Rankin was also a notorious antisemite. He had 

opposed relaxing immigration quotas for eastern European Jewish immi-

grants in the debates over the Displaced Persons Act, and repeatedly used 

slurs to describe his Jewish opponents. In 1944 he called Jewish columnist 

Walter Winchell a “little kike,” an outburst widely reported by the press. 

Rankin condemned Albert Einstein as a “foreign-born agitator” in 1945 on 

the fl oor of the House for Einstein’s temerity for criticizing calls for recon-

ciliation with Francisco Franco in Spain.31

After Swift’s meeting with Rankin, the congressman took to the fl oor of 

the House of Representatives to denounce Rosenberg as a “little Yiddish 

woman” whose nomination ought to be opposed by all right-thinking 

Americans.32 After visiting Rankin’s offi ce, Swift then paid a call to Senator 

McCarthy. The precise nature of his solicitation is unclear, but it illustrates 
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how freely far-right infl uence peddlers circulated on Capitol Hill and eluci-

dates a key point about McCarthy. He may not have been an ideological ally 

to the same degree as the openly racist and antisemitic Rankin, but he was in 

a material sense understood to be on the same side.

On December 5, Swift submitted to the Armed Services Committee a 

memo by Freedman alleging that a Ralph De Sola of New York City, a former 

member of the Communist Party, could testify that he had seen Anna 

Rosenberg attend meetings of the John Reed Club. That evening, Edward 

Nellor, a reporter who worked for Fulton Lewis, and Donald Surine, a former 

FBI agent turned investigator for Senator McCarthy, fl ew to New York to 

interview De Sola. Nellor carried with him a sealed letter from Gerald L. K. 

Smith to Freedman—it is unclear whether Nellor knew of the contents—in 

which the gregarious Smith congratulated Freedman on the “terrifi c job you 

are doing in helping to keep the Zionist Jew Anna M. Rosenberg from 

becoming the dictator of the Pentagon.” Nellor and Surine interviewed De 

Sola the next day and reported on the conversation to Lewis and McCarthy, 

respectively. Fulton Lewis took to the airwaves the evening of December 6 

and crowed to his listeners about the investigation, even quoting from the 

affi davit before it was submitted to the Armed Services Committee. With De 

Sola’s written testimony in hand, procured by the rather motley alliance 

between McCarthy, Lewis, Smith, and Freedman, the Armed Services 

Committee reconvened its hearing on December 8 to hear De Sola testify in 

person.33

De Sola’s story, however, quickly developed some glaring problems. 

Freedman’s involvement in the whole affair was already known to the 

committee, and several senators sought to shine a light on Freedman’s poli-

tics. Tennessee Democrat Estes Kefauver drew out from De Sola that the 

man who had put him in touch with Freedman was Freedman’s lawyer, 

Hallam Richardson, whom Kefauver connected to the “famous anti-Semitic 

street corner orator” Joe McWilliams, the central defendant in the 1944 anti-

fascist Smith Act trial. What was this? Explain? De Sola sheepishly replied 

that he had decided that “I couldn’t go along with . . . a person who was an 

anti-Semite.” More damningly, De Sola testifi ed that he was under the 

impression that Nellor and Surine were investigators from the Armed 

Services Committee. (Florida senator Edward Gurney eventually established 

from De Sola that Surine worked for McCarthy.) De Sola also admitted that 

he had been invited by Surine to leave his coat in McCarthy’s offi ce while he 
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was testifying before the committee, and had in fact done so, as had Ben 

Freedman. Finally, De Sola testifi ed that some of the allegations in 

Freedman’s initial memo—that, for example, Rosenberg had instructed De 

Sola’s wife to plant communists in the New York public school system—

were false.34

Even though De Sola was adamant that Rosenberg was a Communist 

Party member—in a face-to-face encounter before the committee that after-

noon he appealed to Rosenberg to confess for her own sake—it quickly 

became apparent that the case against Rosenberg was a concocted house of 

cards. Freedman was called before the committee on December 11 and was 

forced to admit, among other things, his association with Gerald L. K. Smith, 

his mailing to various offi ces on Capitol Hill some twenty-fi ve thousand 

copies of an edition of the far-right magazine Common Sense that attacked 

Rosenberg, and that he had dictated the memo he had submitted to the 

committee in the offi ce of Congressman John Rankin.

Nellor testifi ed shortly afterward. He told the committee that he and 

Donald Surine had clearly identifi ed themselves to De Sola, calling his testi-

mony a “misrepresentation.” He initially avowed that he had no idea that 

Gerald L. K. Smith had been involved at all in the affair (and that his boss 

had warned him to be careful about the possibility that the accusations 

might be coming from far-right plants), but then almost immediately 

contradicted himself by telling Massachusetts Republican Leverett 

Saltonstall that Surine had told him that Gerald L .K. Smith had “been 

running around the Senate Offi ce Building with a copy of Freedman’s state-

ment regarding De Sola.” It remained unclear, even after Nellor’s testimony, 

just what Smith’s role was in Nellor’s and Surine’s trip to New York. The 

committee, based on the tone of its questions, seemed concerned about a 

possible link between McCarthy and Smith with Surine as an interme-

diary—but curiously, Surine was never questioned over his role in the 

matter.35

With De Sola’s testimony revealed as seriously compromised, and the 

full involvement of Freedman and Gerald L. K. Smith now a matter of public 

record, the case against Rosenberg swiftly collapsed. There were several 

reasons. One, the evidence against Rosenberg was practically nonexistent. 

Two, while Rosenberg, as a Jewish immigrant—and, importantly, a 

woman—was viewed with suspicion by the far right and their allies on 

Capitol Hill, she did not actually have a political record that indicated affi nity 
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with the left wing of the New Deal coalition, let along the actual Communist 

Party. If, as Landon R. Y. Storrs has argued, the Second Red Scare was 

primarily directed at freezing out radical and even left-liberal voices from the 

policymaking apparatus, Rosenberg—simply from the perspective of her 

own politics—hardly qualifi ed as a meaningful target.36 And while Smith 

and Freedman were able to peddle infl uence on Capitol Hill, their reputa-

tions were such that they did not bear close public scrutiny. Merwin Hart or, 

for that matter, Walter Harnischfeger may have held similar political views, 

but they both either still had access to fi nancial backing from corporate 

donors or owned large businesses themselves. Without institutional 

backing, Freedman and Smith found themselves adrift.

The Senate voted on December 21 to confi rm Rosenberg’s nomination. 

She served as an assistant secretary of defense until 1953. Gerald L. K. Smith 

continued to denounce Rosenberg in the pages of The Cross and the Flag, 

citing her foreign birth, Jewishness, and her support of socialized medicine 

as reasons enough to oppose her continued public service. Merwin Hart also 

took potshots at Rosenberg in the pages of the Economic Council Letter—

Hart suggested in 1957 that the Kremlin was behind her appointment.37 

Fulton Lewis, his reputation now damaged by his involvement with the 

affair, took to the airwaves to denounce Freedman as a “vicious anti-Semite,” 

an act of damage control after syndicated columnist Drew Pearson chal-

lenged him, via his own radio show on ABC, to “prove that the recent attacks 

on Anna Rosenberg were not inspired by un-American religious 

prejudice.”38

Although Lewis distanced himself publicly from Smith and other far-

right activists, he received a number of letters from other such activists 

expressing solidarity with him. Upton Close, his former stablemate at 

Mutual Broadcasting, wrote to him in January congratulating him “on the 

way your [sic] handling things now, and what you are saying,” and expressing 

sympathy about him being targeted by “the ADL smear-gang.” The National 

Blue Star Mothers of America, an organization that included a platform to 

“outlaw Political Zionism” on its letterhead, wrote to him cordially inquiring 

why he had denounced Smith, given the “existence of the Marxist-Zionist 

conspiracy to overthrow the existing government.”39 Lewis was chastened by 

the Rosenberg saga. He told Mike Wallace in a 1958 TV interview that he 

“automatically throws away” mail from Gerald L. K. Smith. Lewis also 

refrained from endorsing some of the wildest claims of the John Birch 
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Society in the early 1960s, even going so far as to suggest in 1962 that Birch 

founder Robert Welch should step down as the leader of that organization.40 

But despite his repeated denunciations of the far right in the 1950s, Lewis 

continued to be seen by the far right as a fellow traveler in the struggle 

against communism.41

Senator Joseph McCarthy was largely responsible for the delay in 

Rosenberg’s nomination and for bringing De Sola’s charges to the fl oor of 

Congress. His part in the affair was, unwittingly or not, as a front man for 

far-right activists to pursue their political agenda in Washington, DC. 

Particularly given that McCarthy had engaged in barely coded antisemitism 

while serving on the Malmedy massacre investigation committee, one 

might have reasonably expected him to lose political infl uence—or at least 

be subject to open criticism from his colleagues—in response. But McCarthy 

remained on the ascent. The Armed Services Committee declined to 

subpoena Donald Surine, McCarthy’s chief investigator who had been 

involved in the affair. A 1952 Anti-Defamation League book on far-right 

infl uence networks, The Trouble-Makers, singled out Freedman, Smith, 

Swift, and Rankin by name in their summary of the “hatemongers” and 

their enablers in the Rosenberg affair. McCarthy’s name was conspicuous by 

its absence. The bulk of the report was dedicated to the infl uence networks 

of Smith and Merwin Hart, even going so far as to publish correspondence 

between Hart and Smith, including a letter in which Smith enclosed a “nice, 

fresh copy” of the Protocols of the Elders of Zion.42 But McCarthy was suffi -

ciently alarmed by his growing reputation for antisemitism, thanks to his 

conduct over the Malmedy massacre and the Rosenberg affair, to replace 

Donald Surine as his principal investigator, with Roy Cohn. He told his 

friend future Watergate judge John Sirica that his hiring of Cohn “might 

convince people I am not anti-Semitic.”43 There is indeed little evidence to 

suggest that McCarthy harbored any particular animus toward Jews or 

equated, as the professional antisemites did, Judaism with communism. 

But anti-communist politics make for strange bedfellows, and unlike Fulton 

Lewis or Richard Nixon, McCarthy never publicly distanced himself from 

his far-right supporters. McCarthy may not have been a committed anti-

semite, but he was a crass political opportunist who was happy to boost the 

causes of committed antisemites when it suited his own interests—provided 

the political cost to himself was low. When Rosenberg’s nomination came to 

the Senate fl oor, McCarthy ended up voting to confi rm her. Gerald L. K. 
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Smith bore him no grudges—he continued to call McCarthy a “fearless 

patriot” throughout the rest of his life.44 McCarthy remained socially and 

politically connected to a wide range of far-right fi gures, and his infl uence 

was not yet at its apotheosis.

On February 13, 1953, the right-wing popular front held its high summit. 

The luminaries of the American right gathered at the Waldorf-Astoria Hotel 

in New York City to pay homage to one of their own: professional anti-

communist activist Joseph Brown “Doc” Matthews, better known as J.B., 

who was poised to be named as Senator Joseph McCarthy’s chief research 

director. Matthews had once been a left-wing fellow traveler—in fact, 

William F. Buckley Jr. attributed the very term fellow traveler to Matthews. He 

had written for the Daily Worker and the New Masses in the 1930s, visited the 

Soviet Union several times, and had even briefl y served as head of the 

American League against War and Fascism, a Communist Party front group.

Unlike other left-wingers turned conservatives who moved right in 

response to Stalinist repressions (like Eugene Lyons or Isaac Levine), fear of 

reprisals from Soviet intelligence (like Whittaker Chambers), or evolving 

political analysis (like James Burnham), Matthews had a much more prosaic 

reason for his shift: he became management.

In 1935 Matthews held a senior position at Consumers’ Research, one of 

the fi rst dedicated consumer advocacy groups in the United States. That 

September, seventy Consumers’ Research employees went on strike 

demanding union recognition—staff had recently organized and affi liated 

with the Technical, Editorial, and Offi ce Assistants’ Union, itself part of the 

American Federation of Labor—and the reinstatement of three workers 

fi red for union organizing. Negotiations between the union and Consumers’ 

Research had broken down when Matthews, a member of the board of direc-

tors, accused union organizers at a fi rm-wide meeting of “using gangster 

and racketeering methods” to build the union.45

The strike rapidly escalated. Matthews’s son was reportedly beaten up 

by strikers while attempting to cross the picket line.46 The communist press, 

unsurprisingly, backed the union—the Daily Worker noted the irony of 

Matthews, “noted lover of labor, now being protected by three hired detec-

tives from an agency notorious for its strike-breaking.”47 Radical New York 

congressman Vito Marcantonio stood in solidarity with strikers on the picket 

line. On October 16 picketers, aroused by a mounted policeman injuring a 
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worker outside of the Consumers’ Research facility in Washington, New 

Jersey, threw stones at the plant, shattering most of its windows and 

prompting the arrest of twelve union members.48

As the strike dragged on, members of the League of Women Shoppers, 

a progressive consumer activist group, offered to arbitrate; Matthews and 

the other Consumers’ Research leaders refused. In fact, Consumers’ 

Research stonewalled the league, refusing to cooperate with its investigation 

at all—which, unsurprisingly, placed the onus for the strike on Consumers’ 

Research management, that is, Matthews. Another independent inquiry 

about the causes of the dispute led by the Reverend Reinhold Niebuhr, then 

a professor at Union Theological Seminary in New York, reached the same 

conclusion, that management at the fi rm was autocratic. “Authority in the 

hands of a few people . . . is a set-up bound to make for . . . friction.” 

Matthews was singled out for his “unreasonable” stance in the dispute.49

The strike ultimately destroyed Consumers’ Research. In 1936 the 

National Labor Relations Board ordered that the fi red union organizers be 

reinstated, but rather than go back to work for Matthews the labor activists 

formed their own rival organization, Consumers’ Union, which—in part-

nership with the League of Women Shoppers—rapidly outstripped 

Consumers’ Research in prestige and infl uence. Indeed, Consumers’ 

Union’s magazine Consumer Reports became the leading consumer research 

publication in the United States for the rest of the century.50

Matthews did not take his defeat lying down. In 1938 he published his 

memoir, Odyssey of a Fellow Traveler, in which he decisively broke with the left 

and alleged that his critics in the Consumers’ Research strike were either 

Communist Party members or dupes subject to Communist Party disci-

pline. The League of Women Shoppers, according to Matthews, was a 

communist front. So was Reinhold Niebuhr’s committee—though 

Matthews at least gave Niebuhr the courtesy of not directly labeling him a 

communist. In his memoir, Matthews called himself a born-again conserva-

tive, opposed not simply to socialism or communism but to “collectivism” of 

any kind, which he described as “invariably lethal” to a free society.51

Still, Matthews’s political posturing would be a mere footnote in the 

broader history of the American right if he had not backed up his words with 

actions—he became a star witness for Martin Dies’s House Un-American 

Activities Committee in 1938. Dies promptly snapped up Matthews as his 

research director; Matthews, taking the skills he had honed at Consumers’ 
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Research, began amassing an incredibly vast fi le on suspected communists 

and other subversives. Matthews’s greatest value to the American right in 

the 1940s and 1950s, as one study of his career argued, was as essentially a 

living compendium of communists, radicals, and their fellow travelers. 

Matthews worked for Dies until 1944, when he left for a position as a consul-

tant with the Hearst Corporation, one of the largest media organizations in 

the country. Hearst executives used Matthews’s voluminous research fi les—

his indexed fi les on communist front organizations and individuals 

comprised nearly twenty-fi ve hundred names at their peak—as an effective 

writers’ blacklist. Hearst columnists, especially George Sokolsky and 

Westbrook Pegler, used Matthews’s material in their own writings. And 

Matthews was sought out by activists like Alfred Kohlberg and politicians 

like Joseph McCarthy—to whom Matthews fed information about Anna 

Rosenberg—seeking targets for persecution.52

Matthews was dismissed by Richard Gid Powers as a “paranoid 

conspiracy theorist.” But other historians, including Robert M. Lichtman 

and Landon R. Y. Storrs, have emphasized that Matthews was in fact a 

central fi gure on the American right in the late 1940s and early 1950s, 

binding together various elements in a shared anti-communist orientation. 

In this sense, Matthews was a pivotal fi gure in the right-wing popular front. 

Even Powers conceded that Matthews played a major role in “[joining] forces 

with far more disreputable counter-subversives [while] maintaining . . . 

access to mainstream politicians and journalists.” Lichtman, for his part, 

argued that Matthews’s career demonstrates that there was an “almost 

seamless pattern of cooperation” between what Powers labeled “responsible 

counter-subversives” and “red-web conspiracy theorists.” This assessment is 

correct and refl ects a deeper underlying unity on the American right in the 

1940s and 1950s. There was no fi rm wall of separation between the far right 

and “responsible” conservatism.53

The guest list at J. B. Matthews’s testimonial dinner on February 13, 

1953, was a who’s who of the American right. Matthews’s friend and Hearst 

stablemate George E. Sokolsky organized the black-tie gala. Rabbi Benjamin 

Schultz of the American Jewish League against Communism gave the invo-

cation. Martin Dies, Alfred Kohlberg, Sokolsky, and Senator Joseph 

McCarthy all appeared on the program as speakers. (Dies was prevented 

from attending the actual event because of a bout of fl u, but his tribute to 

Matthews—whom he praised as “[deserving] the gratitude and thanks of 
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everyone who realizes the transcendent threat of Communism to everything 

that is decent and worthwhile in the world”—was read at the meeting.) 

Eugene Lyons, Alfred Kohlberg, Irene Corbally Kuhn, and former assistant 

to Albert Jay Nock Suzanne La Follette all appeared on the program as 

sponsors.54

Tickets went for $12.50 apiece; Roy Cohn bought out an entire table, 

bringing along fellow McCarthy staffers David Schine and Donald Surine as 

well as Julius N. Cahn, chief counsel of the Senate Foreign Relations 

committee; Robert Morris, chief counsel for the Senate Subcommittee on 

Internal Security; and Paulette Ames, the niece of media baron Walter 

Annenberg. William F. Buckley Jr. was in attendance, as was his sister 

Priscilla and his brother-in-law and future collaborator L. Brent Bozell. Ayn 

Rand also made an appearance. Not everyone in the room that night was a 

staunch right-winger; Lawrence Spivak, the moderate host of NBC’s Meet 

the Press, also attended the dinner. Henry Hazlitt, Willi Schlamm, and 

Ludwig von Mises were also present. A number of prominent personages 

who could not attend in person wired their tributes; in addition to Dies’s 

message, Sokolsky read tributes from Vice President Richard Nixon, William 

Randolph Hearst Jr. and movie star and virulent anti-communist John 

Wayne.55

Many of Matthews’s guests were Jews. Schultz, Lyons, Kohlberg, Cohn, 

Cahn, and Rand were all Jewish. So were Ralph de Toledano and Victor 

Lasky, the coauthors of Seeds of Treason, a book-length defense of Whittaker 

Chambers; Benjamin Mandel, an ex-communist turned investigator for 

HUAC; and Jacob Spolansky, an old self-proclaimed red-baiter from 

Michigan. Morrie Ryskind, a conservative activist who would later provide 

seed money for William F. Buckley’s National Review, was not personally 

present but sent his greetings from California. It is unclear if Arnold Forster, 

the general counsel for the Anti-Defamation League, personally attended 

the dinner; regardless, he bought a ticket from Sokolsky in January.56

The presence of a large and infl uential contingent of Jewish conserva-

tives at the Matthews testimonial dinner was all the more remarkable 

considering who else was there. Merwin Hart bought a ticket, as did John T. 

Flynn; Allen Zoll, head of the National Council for American Education, 

bought out an entire table. Joseph P. Kamp also made an appearance. John 

B. Trevor bought a ticket and was due to attend, but was hospitalized shortly 

before the dinner; he sent a telegram to Sokolsky conveying his regrets. 
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Harry Jung, the former head of the American Vigilant Intelligence 

Federation, also bought a ticket and appeared on the guest list but was like-

wise unable to attend; when Matthews learned about Jung’s aborted reserva-

tion, he wrote to him, “I wish you could have been there. I would have been 

honored, indeed.”57

There was, in short, a sizeable contingent from the antisemitic far right 

at Matthews’s special night, with the full knowledge and support of 

Matthews and Sokolsky. Only one prominent Jewish conservative, labor 

journalist Victor Riesel, withdrew from the event because of the presence of 

Hart and company; in a telegram to Riesel, Sokolsky responded, “I regard 

you as bigotted [sic], as narrow-minded. Kindly never communicate with me 

under any circumstances for any purpose.”58

As the presence at an event of so many on the Jewish right alongside the 

antisemitic far right—and particularly Sokolsky’s response to Riesel—

makes clear, a sizable number of Jewish conservatives were willing to make 

common cause with antisemites, and vice versa.59 How did Jewish conserva-

tives and the antisemitic far right justify their grudging mutual alliance?

Even Henry Ford, who, through his newspaper the Dearborn 

Independent, published a serious of infamously antisemitic articles in the 

1920s, compiled into a book with the provocative title The International Jew, 

made an appeal to right-thinking Jews to accept his analysis. “What the 

Dearborn Independent says [about the Jews]”—that Jews have subverted the 

Anglo-Saxon business ethic, that Jews control Hollywood and the stage, that 

Jewish “Orientalism” is sapping American strength in literature, art, poli-

tics, economics, fashion, and sport—“is true, and tens of thousands of Jews 

know it is true.” The fervor of the Dearborn Independent’s antisemitism was 

such that it was favorably referenced by the Nazis, and yet the paper—and by 

extension Ford—seemed to imply that right-thinking American Jews “who 

have given [the Jewish Question] a thought will agree” with the publication’s 

conclusions. Ford was incredulous when his friend and neighbor the 

Reform Rabbi Leo Franklin objected to The International Jew. Ford assured 

Franklin that he considered him one of the “good” Jews.60 This distinction 

between “good Jews”—sober, respectable, assimilated, and above all 

embracing right-wing politics—and “bad Jews”—devious, untrustworthy, 

supportive of the New Deal, socialism, or communism—is critical to under-

standing how right-wing antisemites internally justifi ed working together 

with Jewish conservatives.
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It is not a coincidence that the antisemitic right was most comfortable 

working with George Sokolsky, Alfred Kohlberg, and Benjamin Schultz. 

Unlike Eugene Lyons, who was an immigrant from Byelorussia, Sokolsky 

and Kohlberg were both native-born Americans. Sokolsky was from Merwin 

Hart’s hometown of Utica, New York—his father was a Russian Jewish 

immigrant who settled there in the late nineteenth century—and Kohlberg 

was born in San Francisco. Kohlberg, Sokolsky, and Benjamin Schultz were 

all examples of “good Jews,” zealous anti-communists. But not everyone on 

the Jewish right welcomed the tacit support.61

Of all the members of the Jewish right establishment, Isaac Don Levine, 

the editor of Plain Talk, was the most uncomfortable working in coalition 

with the antisemitic far right. He was notably not in attendance at J. B. 

Matthews’s testimonial dinner in 1953. In February 1950, Levine published 

a front-page broadside against Merwin Hart and his scribblings in the 

Economic Council Letter entitled “The Strange Case of Merwin K. Hart.” Hart, 

Levine wrote, was a “Trojan Horse” who, by bringing to the “noble cause of 

freedom the disease-carrying elements of hate and civil strife”—in other 

words, injecting his anticommunism with antisemitism—“unwittingly 

serves the common enemy and furthers the divide and wrecking operations 

of Stalin’s fi fth column.” This was one of the fi rst uses of a rhetorical device 

that would be increasingly common on the right throughout the next decade: 

that the issue with far-right antisemites like Hart was that they were under-

mining the credibility of the American right more broadly.62

Levine, in his article, examined a number of Hart’s articles over the 

preceding two years, but honed in in particular on his recent December 

1949 issue of the Economic Council Letter in which Hart argued that interna-

tional communism was dedicated to establishing a “WORLD FAITH,” which 

meant, in essence, Judaism. (Hart had contemptuous words for those who 

“grovel in an effort to prove that [Pontius] Pilate, and not Jewish authorities, 

were responsible for the death of Jesus.”) He went on to allege that there was 

a “direct attack on Christianity” by a “minority of a minority [of American 

Jews] (for multitudes of Jews are loyal Americans and they thank God they 

live here, who have received privileges in this great Christian Republic such 

as they have never enjoyed elsewhere, [but] who now seek to destroy the very 

religion and culture that have given them refuge.”63

Who was to blame for stirring up this “minority of a minority?” 

Unsurprisingly, Hart blamed Zionism for encouraging dual loyalty between 
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the United States and Israel, arguing that it was hypocritical for Zionists to 

condemn American Christians for supporting Arab Christians in Palestine. 

Elements of Hart’s attack on Zionism could be found in Jewish anti-Zionist 

discourse—Elmer Berger and Lessing Rosenwald had both expressed 

concerns about Zionism as an obstacle to Jewish assimilation—but Hart also 

included an explicit antisemitic and conspiratorial edge. Neither Berger nor 

Rosenwald, in their writings and public statements, framed dual loyalty as an 

intentional goal of the Zionist movement, and Berger affi rmed in 1946 that 

“there can . . . be no challenging the loyalty and patriotism of American Jews, 

Zionists or non-Zionists,” language far different than that of Merwin Hart.64

Hart blamed Zionists for the size of the Soviet occupation zone in 

eastern Germany; the insistence of the Roosevelt administration on uncon-

ditional German surrender in World War II, which he suggested was a plot 

by Jewish interests to infl ict maximum pain on Germany and to extend 

Soviet infl uence in the country; and “the Nuremberg and Dachau ‘war crim-

inal’ trials, where vital American tradition and principle were trampled into 

the dirt”—a reference to Joachim Peiper’s death sentence. “A wealth of 

evidence,” Hart concluded, “can be adduced to show that the Zionists have 

Mr. Truman’s administration in the hollow of their hand. The Socialist 

program is their program, as it is in Britain. There the Labor [sic] govern-

ment is controlled by them. Even some of the top conservative leaders, 

through fi nancial or other favors, are Zionist-infl uenced.” Here was uncon-

cealed, unmitigated, conspiratorial antisemitism—although even here, Hart 

insisted that he was talking only about bad Jews. Good, loyal, patriotic 

American Jews who accepted the tenets of the “great Christian Republic” in 

which they lived had nothing to fear.65

Levine didn’t buy it. “Mr. Hart,” he wrote, “is shrewd enough to describe 

the Zionists as only a minority among the Jews of the United States, to be 

sure, a domineering and all-powerful minority. And yet no fair-minded 

person can read Mr. Hart and misinterpret his design: every Jew is a Zionist, 

every Zionist is a Communist, every Jew is an enemy of Christianity.” And 

Hart’s words were dangerous considering his base of supporters and past 

statements—Levine noted both that the National Economic Council had the 

support of “captains of industry, prominent members of the bar, politicians, 

clergymen, and educators,” and that Hart had actively encouraged his 

readers to procure fi rearms in preparation for a communist insurrection in 

his July 1948 issue of the Letter.66
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But although Levine was unrelenting in his criticism of Hart, he stopped 

short of making fi rm prescriptions about him or right-wing antisemitism 

more broadly. Plain Talk merely was “[submitting] our clinical analysis of 

Merwin K. Hart’s record to the public judgment of all those who seek the 

truth in the name of Christ’s precept: Know the truth and the truth shall set 

make ye free,” a line clearly directed at Christian allies on the right. While 

the implication was clear—the right needed to distance itself from men like 

Hart—there was no explicit exhortation to banish Hart from the right-wing 

popular front; in fact, Levine, at the end of his article, took pains to distin-

guish between Hart and the supporters of the National Economic Council, 

which “has an impressive list of infl uential citizens as its offi cers and 

directors.”67

Hart, for his part, responded churlishly to Levine; he dismissed the 

column as a “smear” and Plain Talk as “by no means unsympathetic to 

Socialism, the twin brother of Communism.” He denied that he was anti-

Jewish, insisting that the National Economic Council has “always had Jewish 

members and supporters.” He went on to add that the basic problem with 

Levine, as a Russian-born Zionist, was that he was “anti-Gentile” and that he 

“clearly does not understand the sentiments of honorable fair-play long 

since practiced by true Americans. He has not resisted reverting to the fear 

and hatred of his youth and of his fathers.”68

But Hart also offered an olive branch of sorts: he held “a high regard for 

Mr. Levine’s long and effective fi ght against organized Communists” and 

“welcomed the inception of Plain Talk,” to which he had “gladly” given “our 

help in obtaining subscribers.” Even when calling Levine’s article a smear—

at one point, Hart compared it to the work of Avedis Derounian—he quali-

fi ed that it was “unlike Mr. Levine’s usual writing.” Levine dismissed Hart’s 

words as his “merchandising [of ] anti-Semitism,” “[wrapping] his contra-

band in packages bearing the labels of free enterprise, anti-communism, 

and Christian love.”69

Levine was right—Hart did strategically camoufl age his antisemitic 

views by appealing to more ecumenical right-wing causes. But Hart also 

understood himself to be part of the same anti-communist struggle as, if not 

Levine, then other stalwarts of the Jewish right. The Economic Council Letter 

sang the praises of George Sokolsky and Alfred Kohlberg throughout the 

1950s, citing them as experts on international communism.70 And they 

were part of the same right-wing social and political circles in New York. 
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Both Hart and Kohlberg were guests at J. B. Matthews’s testimonial dinner 

in 1953. As late as January 1960, four representatives of the National 

Economic Council attended Kohlberg’s seventy-third birthday party (which 

turned out to be his last—he died less than three months later).71 The Jewish 

right and the antisemitic far right were partners—albeit tense partners—in 

the right-wing popular front.

Merwin Hart’s infl uence on the right became increasingly marginal as 

he aged. The House Buchanan Committee, convened to investigate lobbying 

activities in 1950, included Hart and the National Economic Council in its 

dragnet. Concerned that congressional investigators would embarrass the 

council’s deep-pocket fi nancial benefactors—the du Pont family alone 

contributed $90,000 in the late 1940s—Hart and the council went on the 

offense, declaring the subpoenas part of a fi shing expedition. But Hart was 

eventually forced to open his books, revealing the reliance of his fund-raising 

apparatus on contacts furnished to him by Lammot du Pont. Although Hart 

continued to enjoy the infl uence of wealthy backers, among them Walter 

Harnischfeger, he was unable to leverage these connections into his dream 

of building a right-wing political movement in the United States. The energy 

on the far right was, by the mid-1950s, coming from elsewhere.

There was one signifi cant far-right personage who was absent from J. B. 

Matthews’s summit meeting in February 1953. Russell Maguire, the owner 

of the ferociously right-wing American Mercury magazine, was not physically 

present at Matthews’s testimonial dinner (although he was invited), but 

copies of his magazine were, according to press reports, “on every table” at 

the dinner.72 Maguire, who had once been a fi nancial backer for the 

Economic Council, would become one of the most controversial fi gures in 

American media before the decade was out.



This page intentionally left blank 



P A R TP A R T  T W OT W O  T H E  P U R G E  T H A T T H E  P U R G E  T H A T 

W A S N ’ T ,W A S N ’ T ,  1 9 5 31 9 5 3 – 9 19 1



This page intentionally left blank 



127

russell maguire,  the owner and publisher of the American Mer-

cury magazine from 1952 to 1960, is a relatively obscure fi gure today. If 

Maguire and the Mercury are remembered at all, it is for the circumstances of 

their decline and fall. The Mercury was, for a time, one of the most important 

right-wing publications in America, featuring a large stable of conservative 

writers and access to some of the most prominent conservative politicians in 

America. But Maguire and the Mercury had a dark side. When Drew Pearson 

noted that the Mercury was on every table at J. B. Matthews’s testimonial din-

ner in February 1953, he was making a pointed critique: Maguire, whom 

Pearson linked to the publication of antisemitic propaganda in the United 

States, was one of a broader network of far-right activists who were part of 

the conservative coalition being feted that evening.

Maguire had earned a public reputation for bigotry as early as 1952, and 

yet he continued to enjoy access and stature throughout the broader 

American right. It would not be until 1959, after William F. Buckley’s 

National Review distanced itself from the Mercury—after years of antisemi-

tism and far-right rhetoric from Maguire that often spilled over into the 

pages of his magazine—that Maguire would lose much of his public respect-

ability. Even then, the effects of Buckley policing the “boundaries” of 

American conservatism by criticizing the Mercury have been exaggerated—

National Review distanced itself from the magazine only after the publication 

 chapter five
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had been dropped by national news distributors. And that the organ of 

“responsible” conservatism felt the Mercury had gone too far did not neces-

sarily mean the American right’s rank and fi le felt the same way—Buckley 

received hundreds of letters criticizing his decision from Mercury and 

National Review readers, though the amount of subscription cancellations to 

his own magazine was less than he feared. The Mercury was clearly articu-

lating the views of a substantial number of right-wingers. The Mercury affair 

previewed, in many respects, the later battles between “responsible” conser-

vatives and the John Birch Society, and like those battles—which have been 

written about extensively—it suggests that there was a broad overlapping 

base of support between the “kooks” and the mainstream right.

The American Mercury enjoyed a long and prestigious history before it 

was acquired by Maguire in 1952. Founded by H. L. Mencken in the mid-

1920s, the magazine changed hands a number of times in the subsequent 

decades. In 1950 freelance reporter William Bradford Huie became the 

editor and took the magazine in an explicitly conservative political direction. 

In addition to Huie’s own editorials, which called for college students to 

“join me in a revolt against the Democratic Party” and baldly declared in 

1951 that “a Republican can’t be a liberal,” Huie brought conservative writers 

and staffers to the magazine. Among the most prominent was the twenty-

seven-year-old William F. Buckley Jr., who, after the success of his fi rst book 

God and Man at Yale accepted a job with the Mercury in early 1952. (Buckley 

lasted less than a year; he found it diffi cult to work under Huie.)1 The newly 

conservative American Mercury had a problem, however—it was perennially 

short of money. Opportunity struck later in 1952 in the form of an unlikely 

fi nancial angel. Arms manufacturer turned oil and gas executive Russell 

Maguire decided to purchase the Mercury. “I’ve done very well in America,” 

Maguire told a reporter, “and now I want to start putting something back.” 

Huie gushed, “Now it looks like the very sane and respectable people on our 

side are getting into the fi ght.”2

Maguire was extraordinarily successful. Born in Meriden, Connecticut, 

in 1897, he attended Worcester Academy and graduated from MIT with a 

degree in electrical engineering. Maguire later became an investor on Wall 

Street, and by the mid-1930s owned several industrial businesses as well as 

a brokerage underwriting fi rm. But his real claim to fame was his acquisi-

tion in 1939 of the Auto-Ordnance Corporation, the patent holder and 

manufacturer of the Thompson submachine gun.3 Through his control of 
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Auto-Ordnance, Maguire quickly built up substantial contacts within the 

political and military establishments of the United States and Great Britain. 

He poached the assistant to the president of the Columbia Broadcasting 

System, Frederic A. Willis, as Auto-Ordnance’s new vice president in June 

1940, in no small part because Willis was a former U.S. Army offi cer and 

Winston Churchill’s cousin.4 Auto-Ordnance had been worth practically 

nothing before 1939 and did not even have a manufacturing plant, but the 

war brought booming business. Maguire received so many orders for 

Thompsons from both the British and the Americans that he had to contract 

out to other fi rms before the completion of a dedicated Auto-Ordnance 

factory in Bridgeport, Connecticut. By early 1941 the company had a healthy 

$3 million contract with the U.S. government to produce Thompsons—the 

company would make nearly $16 million in net profi t through 1944.5 Drew 

Pearson praised Maguire in his syndicated column for his foresight in 

“[envisioning] the sub-machine gun as one of the outstanding weapons of 

modern warfare” and for his patriotic business savvy.6

But Maguire had an ugly side. He weathered several high-profi le busi-

ness scandals in the 1930s and 1940s that brought forward (fair) accusations 

of fraud. In 1940 the Securities and Exchange Commission revoked 

Maguire’s license to operate as a securities broker on the basis that he had 

illegally manipulated stock of a company in which he had interests. His 

acquisition of Auto-Ordnance was also the subject of a lawsuit—the estate of 

Marcellus Thompson took Maguire to court in New York State in December 

1940, alleging “fraud, duress, and coercion” in Maguire’s takeover of the 

company. (The lawsuit was quietly settled out of court a few months later.) 

And in 1942 Auto-Ordnance—by then renamed Maguire Industries—was 

forced to reimburse the federal government some $7 million in excessive 

profi ts. Maguire’s own attorney later told the Anti-Defamation League that 

Maguire was a “thoroughly unscrupulous individual”—even the establish-

ment of the charitable Russell Maguire Foundation, which netted Maguire 

favorable press coverage for his donations to war relief efforts, was created 

primarily as a tax dodge.7

Despite his unsavory business practices, Maguire thrived socially and 

fi nancially after the end of the war. He parlayed his tidy, but still relatively 

modest, fortune from arms manufacturing into the oil and gas industries in 

Oklahoma and Texas. By the early 1950s he was reputed to be worth nearly 

$100 million. Maguire and his family enjoyed the life of the social elite in 



130 the purge that wasn’t,  1953–91

New York City. A 1945 profi le of Maguire described him as a “millionaire by 

intuition” and praised his philanthropic work through his foundation and 

patronage of the arts in Manhattan.8 Maguire’s marriage in 1942 to Suzanne 

Saroukhanoff, the daughter of a wealthy Russian businessman who fl ed to 

Paris after the Bolshevik revolution, made the New York Times wedding 

announcements page; his daughter and stepdaughter’s debutante ball at the 

Ritz Carlton merited a column on the society page of the New York Herald 

Tribune. His stepdaughter Natasha Boissevain, whom Maguire would later 

appoint as the Mercury’s managing editor, modeled for Vogue.9 Maguire cut, 

in sum, the fi gure of a wealthy, sophisticated New York businessman and 

social leader, a reputation that persisted even after his death. His obituary in 

the New York Times described him as an industrialist and fi nancier, praised 

him for his charity work, and pointedly did not mention the Mercury or his 

politics.10

Although there is little evidence that Maguire was politically engaged before 

World War II, the Anti-Defamation League believed him to be infl uenced by 

Merwin Hart. Maguire and Hart developed a close relationship by 1947, 

with Hart inviting Maguire to join the National Economic Council. (Hart 

was by this time widely understood by other far-right activists to be a conduit 

to gain access to “fat cats” with deep pockets like Maguire.)11 In July, Hart 

circulated a memo introducing Maguire to his colleagues and stating that 

the businessman had committed to contributing as much as $10,000 to the 

group. Maguire attended a dinner in Hart’s honor at the Union League Club 

in Manhattan along with other wealthy New York businessmen, and 

appeared on a list of the NEC executive committee in a fund-raising letter 

authored by Hart in November 1947. The two men had a falling-out, 

however, over Maguire’s lack of commitment to the work of the NEC. Hart, 

ever interested in the prospect of popular right-wing mobilization, outlined 

a vision of building nearly a dozen organizations to embark on a “plan of 

consolidated effort” to take America back from its (unnamed) enemies. This 

required money and organizational commitment, and Maguire had reneged 

on both, promising to serve on the NEC board and to donate $5,000 but 

never delivering. “Frankly, I have never quite understood your attitude 

towards us,” Hart wrote. “You became quite interested in the council at one 

time and agreed to come on the board and the executive committee. Then 

you withdrew.”12 Maguire’s tight-fi stedness and unreliability as a business 
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partner, already evident in his SEC ban, the lawsuit over his acquisition of 

Auto-Ordnance, and his tax-dodge charitable foundation, crippled his asso-

ciation with Hart, and these toxic character traits would be common 

complaints made by Maguire’s fellow travelers over the next decade.

Hart was not the only far-right activist with whom Maguire was 

connected. The new owner of the Mercury was also close to Allen Zoll, the 

former Christian Fronter who was, by the 1950s, the head of the National 

Council for American Education and had recently waged a successful 

campaign against “progressive” educators in Pasadena, California. 

Education was Zoll’s bailiwick. He was the author of numerous pamphlets 

warning about communist subversion in American schools through liberal 

dupes and fellow travelers—one of his more popular pamphlets on the 

danger of direct federal aid to schools was entitled They Want Your Children! 

(Unsurprisingly, Zoll was denounced by the National Education Association 

as a dangerous extremist.)13 Zoll had a business relationship with the 

Mercury during Maguire’s early tenure at the magazine—he sold subscrip-

tions for the magazine in 1952 and claimed to have infl uence over Maguire’s 

editorial policy.14

These activists constituted a loose but interlocking network of far-right 

activists within a broader right-wing popular front in the 1950s that ampli-

fi ed the voices of their fellow travelers. Both Zoll and Maguire endorsed and 

distributed the work of John O. Beaty, a professor at Southern Methodist 

University whose 1951 book Iron Curtain over America alleged a Jewish plot to 

subvert the American republic. During the Second World War Beaty was a 

staff offi cer for army intelligence in Washington, DC, a section with a long-

standing reputation for antisemitism and far-right politics.15 Iron Curtain 

over America was a typical catalogue of right-wing complaints about U.S. 

policy since the Roosevelt administration: FDR’s recognition of the Soviet 

Union in 1933; the administration’s maneuverings toward war with 

Germany in 1941; the harsh victor’s peace over Germany in 1945; the loss of 

China; and restrictions placed on Douglas MacArthur during the then raging 

Korean War.16 Beaty went further than other right-wing authors by insisting 

that “Judaized Khazars” were behind these politics as part of their “quadruple 

aims of international Communism, the seizure of power in Russia, Zionism, 

and continued migration to America.” Zoll recommended the book in his 

mailings for the National Council for American Education—Beaty was one 

of his vice presidents. Iron Curtain was endorsed by a number of prominent 
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generals in MacArthur’s clique in the military, including MacArthur’s intel-

ligence chief, Major General Charles Willoughby, and the former 

commanding general of the Far East Air Forces, Lieutenant General George 

E. Stratemeyer.17 William F. Buckley Sr. was a fan as well, even lobbying 

Henry Regnery, the publisher of his son’s book God and Man at Yale, into 

assisting Buckley with his attempts to distribute the book to libraries across 

the country.18 Maguire, for his part, fi nanced repeated printings of the book 

and helped to circulate them around the country, particularly to churches. By 

1954 the book, with Maguire’s fi nancial support, was on its ninth printing.19

The promotion of Iron Curtain over America by these various fi gures was 

all the more remarkable because it was published six years after the end of 

World War II. But while the war did damage the public reputations of many 

right-wing and antisemitic activists who had been prominent in the 1930s—

over thirty activists were indicted for sedition by the U.S. government in 

1942, although the case was eventually declared a mistrial after the death of 

the presiding judge—the political infl uence of the “old right” continued well 

into the 1950s.

As long as Maguire and his fellow travelers on the far right could prove 

fi nancially useful and their antisemitic views were not the subject of intense 

scrutiny from liberals and the left, they were welcomed—albeit uneasily—

within the broader right-wing popular front. William Bradford Huie 

resigned from the Mercury only in December 1952, after Maguire’s far-right 

connections were reported by NBC and Time magazine. Huie admitted to 

Time that he “knew about Maguire’s indiscretions and operations with the 

Christian Front crowd. But to me money is impersonal. If suddenly I heard 

Adolf Hitler was alive in South America and wanted to give a million dollars 

to the American Mercury, I would go down and get it.”20 This attitude 

persisted among conservative publishers well into the 1950s—William F. 

Buckley Jr. approached both Maguire and Beaty in 1955 (the latter on the 

advice of his father) for seed funding for National Review.21 But this closeness 

came at a price. The younger Buckley was enraged by allegations and ad 

hominem attacks that he harbored fascist sympathies. Buckley attempted to 

balance these tensions throughout his early years as a right-wing activist—

when an aging Merwin Hart appealed to him in 1954 to set up a meeting 

with Senator Joseph McCarthy, Buckley wrote to the senator’s offi ce 

forwarding the request, but he urged McCarthy to “plan the meeting in 

secret,” noting that it would be advisable not to meet with Hart at all, given 
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that “he is now almost universally regarded in Liberal circles as a patholog-

ical anti-Semite.” But even as Buckley advised McCarthy to keep his distance, 

he also insisted that “90% of what has been said about [Hart] is unjust” and 

he continued to have prominent and respectable businessmen on the board 

of directors of the National Economic Council. Widespread public exposure 

of radical right-wing politics, not those politics as such, was the key to exclu-

sion from the right-wing popular front in the 1950s, and even here money 

and infl uence could insulate individual activists from total banishment. 

Notably, in his letter to McCarthy Buckley contrasted Hart with Gerald L. K. 

Smith, the head of the Christian Nationalist Crusade, who had neither 

wealth nor politically infl uential friends.22

In Russell Maguire’s case, his exposure as an antisemite in 1952 crippled 

neither his own political infl uence nor the Mercury’s fortunes—the maga-

zine’s best days under his ownership were still ahead. Maguire replaced 

Huie with John A. Clements, the public relations director for the Hearst 

Corporation, and promised Clements a free hand at the magazine. The fi rst 

post-Huie edition had a print run of 150,000 copies.23 Clements brought in 

a whole stable of Hearst contributors and alumni to the magazine—J. B. 

Matthews, Howard Rushmore, Victor Riesel (ironically himself Jewish), and 

Irene Corbally Kuhn, among others. The political direction of the magazine 

remained unchanged; the Clements-edited Mercury was militantly anti-

communist and published frequent defenses of Joseph McCarthy’s red-

baiting campaign. The magazine’s infl uence peaked under Clements, and a 

number prominent right-wing writers contributed to the Mercury—the 1953 

issues featured articles and reviews from Matthews; Ralph de Toledano, a 

friend and confi dant of Richard Nixon; Frank Meyer; China lobby bigwig 

Alfred Kohlberg; and even William F. Buckley Jr., who penned a broadside 

against “the intellectuals” in June 1953. The Mercury under Clements 

remained a monthly edition of about 150 pages and had a style and format 

similar to Reader’s Digest, but with original as opposed to syndicated content. 

The magazine was by no means as infl uential as Reader’s Digest, but it was 

one of the most widely read conservative publications of the decade. While 

National Review struggled to reach twenty thousand readers as late as 1959, at 

its peak the Mercury boasted a circulation of over one hundred thousand.24

A glance at the July 1953 issue—which was one of the most controver-

sial Clements published as editor—provides a good overview of the style and 
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tone of the content. The bulk of the magazine was dedicated to anti–New 

Deal politics to one degree or another: one article blasted Franklin D. 

Roosevelt as a weak old man who gave away too much to the Soviets at Yalta; 

another declared the Securities and Exchange Commission a “good idea 

gone wrong,” now dominated by bureaucrats “bent on putting a straight-

jacket over the vital securities industry” and sneakily promoting the New 

Deal program of socializing business; still another predicted that private 

enterprise would easily exceed the track record of socialism. Not every article 

was explicitly political or even intellectual; the magazine included cornpone 

missives on the lost art of kite fl ying, tongue-in-cheek remembrances about 

basic training in the army, and dime-novel treatments of exotic espionage. 

The overall tone of the magazine was sentimental, maudlin, and culturally 

conservative in a middlebrow sense. At least some of Buckley’s later 

contempt for the magazine stemmed not from its antisemitism but from its 

petit-bourgeois appeal in contrast to his own intellectual project.

Even the general-interest articles incorporated right-wing—often far-

right—analysis. Alice Widener penned an exposé on the Ford Foundation in 

June 1953 that decried how the foundation was dominated by former New 

Deal bureaucrats—a standard conservative line, but Widener also found 

space to minimize Henry Ford’s record with the antisemitic Dearborn 

Independent. “The thought occurred to me,” Widener wrote, “that Henry Ford 

II, misled by the Foundation brain trusters, is trying to atone for all the sins 

his grandfather never committed.”25 Contributors to the magazine generally 

confl ated New Deal liberalism, socialism, and communism. Harold Lord 

Varney, who served as an associate editor for the Mercury throughout the 

decade, labeled the liberal Americans for Democratic Action “unquestionably 

the most infl uential political body now working for Socialist ends in 

America.”26 There were limits to these confl ations: an article ripping Arthur 

Sulzberger at the New York Times for the tone of his paper’s coverage of 

McCarthy compared the Times’s objectivity on McCarthy unfavorably with the 

communist Daily Worker, but refrained from stating outright that the Times 

had pro-communist sympathies.27 The Mercury’s line on liberal opposition to 

McCarthyism was for all intents and purposes identical to that of William F. 

Buckley Jr. and Brent Bozell in their 1954 McCarthy and His Enemies. Buckley 

and Bozell did take pains to distinguish between communists and liberals 

(something that Buckley did not always do in his personal correspondence), 

but suggested that “atheistic, soft-headed anti-anti-Communist liberals” were 
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ultimately little better than communists.28 The Mercury, if anything, was 

slightly softer on liberal opposition. It castigated liberals for being “contemp-

tuous of the opinions of those who disagree with them,” but argued that 

liberal opposition was due more to their embarrassment about having been 

“taken in ridiculously by the Reds before and during World War II” than to 

real ideological sympathy with communism.29

Conspicuous by their absence during much of Maguire’s ownership of 

the magazine were articles on race. The attitudes of Maguire and the Mercury, 

however, can be gleaned from general-interest articles that touch on race, 

like a piece from December 1954 that endorsed the idea that the ruins of 

Great Zimbabwe in southern Africa must have been built by pre-Dutch 

white colonizers. The civil rights movement was understood solely through 

the lens of communism, although the Mercury generally eschewed race-

baiting for a somewhat more nuanced approach of amplifying the voices of 

anti-communist Black journalists like George Schulyer or Manning Johnson, 

who criticized the radical sympathies of civil rights leaders without endorsing 

segregation. The Mercury also published pro-apartheid pieces justifying the 

colonialist project in South Africa in racist and paternalistic terms—“ ‘Give 

the natives the vote!’ comes the cry from across the seas. How incongruous. 

One might just as well toss the franchise in to the laps of seven-year-olds.” 

Maguire’s magazine also made its endorsement of segregationist candidates 

crystal clear. In 1936, Eugene Talmadge, then governor of Georgia, told a 

reporter that he had read Mein Kampf seven times. W.E.B. Du Bois singled 

out Talmadge as a particularly fascistic example of southern segregationism. 

In February 1958 the Mercury wrote a glowing cover profi le of Eugene 

Talmadge’s son Herman—who had been recently elected to the Senate—

praising his opposition to communism, his steadfastness in the face of left-

wing media smears, and his opposition to civil rights legislation. The elder 

Talmadge’s political commitments in the 1930s were left unmentioned, 

although the cover featured a drawing of Herman Talmadge in humble mili-

tary fatigues in front of a Confederate fl ag. Still, despite the magazine’s 

praise for Talmadge, the New York–based magazine remained a world apart 

from southern politics and letters—signifi cantly, no prominent southern 

politicians had articles appear under their own bylines in the Mercury during 

Maguire’s tenure.30

Congressional conservatives saw the Mercury as an ally in the 

struggle against communism and liberalism. California Republican William 
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F. Knowland, the widely acknowledged leader of the conservative faction in 

the Senate and Republican leader from 1953 to 1959, was friendly with a 

number of conservative publications while in Congress, including both 

National Review and the Mercury. Knowland wrote an article in the debut 

issue of National Review in November 1955 calling on Republicans to 

recommit to the policy of rolling back communism in eastern Europe. Only 

a month before Knowland had made the same substantive points in an 

extraordinarily friendly interview with the Mercury, which lobbied softball 

questions like “Was the diplomatic recognition of the USSR in 1933 a 

blunder?” (The answer, unsurprisingly, was yes.)31

Ironically, considering that Maguire brought in Clements and the Hearst 

crowd to mute the controversy over his own antisemitic beliefs, it was Hearst 

stalwart J. B. Matthews who wrote one of the most controversial articles the 

Mercury ever published—not about Jews, but about mainline Protestants. In 

the July 1953 issue Matthews—who had just been named chief investigator 

for Senator Joseph McCarthy—alleged that the “single largest group 

supporting the Communist apparatus in the United States today is composed 

of Protestant clergymen.” The clergy, according to Matthews, even 

“outnumber professors two to one in supporting the Communist-front appa-

ratus.”32 Matthews’s claims elicited widespread outrage and dominated 

headlines across the country, leading directly to Matthews’s downfall and the 

fi rst signifi cant dent in McCarthy’s armor.33 After a bitter—and public—

battle, McCarthy was forced to fi re Matthews. McCarthy stood publicly 

bloodied.34

The condemnation from Protestant pulpits was not, however, universal. 

Fundamentalist preacher Carl McIntire, whose byline would later appear in 

the Mercury, was one of the few clergymen to publicly defend Matthews and 

McCarthy—this was all the more remarkable because McIntire was an 

inveterate anti-Catholic as well as an anti-communist, and McCarthy was in 

1953 the most prominent Catholic politician in America. But although 

McIntire never abandoned his anti-Catholicism, he was more than willing to 

cooperate with conservative Catholics to oppose more paramount 

concerns—namely, communism and what he believed to be secular 

modernist theology, the major targets of Matthews’s article.35 Even right-

wing Jews could fi nd themselves in coalition with antisemites in this 

ecumenical right-wing popular front; in July 1954 the Mercury ran an article 

by Rabbi Benjamin Schultz, head of the American Jewish League against 
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Communism, complaining that liberals had unfairly weaponized the charge 

of antisemitism against the right.36 The irony of a rabbi publishing an article 

in a magazine owned by a widely recognized antisemite went uncommented 

on in Schultz’s article.

Maguire’s religiosity was ambiguous. He was on the one hand an 

Episcopalian, but on the other his editorials for the Mercury—which ran 

monthly beginning in 1954—frequently invoked fundamentalist language 

and themes, particularly as Maguire began publishing more openly antise-

mitic content. A column from June 1956 is typical: “Christ meets the deepest 

needs of every soul. . . . Evil forces within our borders have brainwashed us 

to turn to government. . . . World Government is the Beast who will lead us 

to destruction. It will command that we bow down and worship the coming 

Anti-Christ!”37 Maguire’s use of the term World Government was a coded 

reference to an international Jewish conspiracy, but his language was typical 

of eschatological Protestant fundamentalism.38 Carl McIntire had also 

ominously warned about the looming “World Dictator” and “World 

Government” that would herald the end times.

Ironically, given his predilection for fundamentalist rhetoric, Maguire 

would cultivate the friendship of the dashing, fl axen-haired, and much more 

moderate Billy Graham, already a national celebrity by 1950. Maguire had 

hosted Graham at his Palm Beach estate in the summer of 1952 and offered 

the preacher fi nancial support—“I want to subsidize you. . . . Whatever it’ll 

take, you tell me, and I’ll fi nance it.” Graham politely declined Maguire’s 

offer of support at that meeting, but a year later he tapped Maguire to lead 

fund-raising efforts for the Glen Eyrie Endowment Fund, an attempt to build 

a compound for Graham’s ministry in Glen Eyrie, Colorado.39 Graham 

became another regular contributor to the American Mercury between 1954 

and 1958—his debut essay, an anti-communist polemic entitled “Satan’s 

Religion,” was adapted from one of his sermons. Anticommunism formed 

the basis of the political alliance between Graham and Maguire. That a 

public fi gure of Graham’s stature continued to publish in the Mercury even 

after Maguire had been repeatedly and publicly criticized for antisemitic 

politics is a testament to the enduring strength of the right-wing popular 

front approach even into the late 1950s.40

The landscape of right-wing media began to shift in the latter half of the 

1950s with the debut of William F. Buckley Jr.’s National Review. The new 
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magazine was framed as a disavowal of both New Deal liberals and what 

Buckley called “the irresponsible Right,” with which, Buckley wrote, he had 

a “considerable stock of experience.” (Buckley was being modest, since he 

had approached Maguire earlier that year for funds for National Review, and 

in the mid-1950s had appeared as a guest on the H. L. Hunt–funded TV 

program Answers for Americans; Buckley would condemn Hunt years later 

for “[giving] capitalism a bad name.”)41 The magazine was to be devoted to 

high-minded intellectual opposition to communism, socialism, and New 

Deal liberalism—unlike the Mercury, which took mass-market cues from 

Reader’s Digest, National Review was an elitist publication. This is a theme 

Buckley would return to time and again in his subsequent writings—that 

National Review and his various other conservative enterprises, by dint of 

their elitism and intellectualism, represented a respectable alternative to the 

crudity of right-wing politics found in places like the Mercury.

Buckley was the scion of an extremely wealthy family, was acclaimed for 

his erudition both as a speaker and a writer, and was educated at the 

Millbrook School and Yale University. (The most consistently thick fi les in 

Buckley’s personal papers are concerned with his yacht.) Buckley’s wit, 

wealth, and sophistication have made him an idol among conservatives on 

par with his friend and longtime political ally Barry Goldwater.

Yet Buckley was not as distant from the “irresponsible Right” as he liked 

to portray. Buckley’s father, William F. Buckley Sr., was—like Russell 

Maguire—an oilman; the elder Buckley’s precise personal wealth is 

unknown, but one biographer estimated his fortune in the mid-1950s to be 

around $20 million.42 Billie, as he was affectionately known by friends and 

family, was profoundly infl uenced by his father and the class position he had 

been born into. Both father and son fi rmly believed in hierarchy as the 

natural order of the world and considered the mass democratic nature of 

New Deal–era society to be coarse and vulgar. The younger Buckley wrote 

candidly of his father’s attitudes later in life—particularly his father’s anti-

semitism—and this worldview infl uenced him as a youth.43 The elder 

Buckley was a close friend of the writer Albert Jay Nock, an infamously anti-

democratic and antisemitic man of letters who was later cited by Billie as a 

major political infl uence.44 When Billie Buckley was searching for seed 

money to start National Review, he scoured the entire spectrum of the right 

for fi nancial angels. Robert Welch, the future founder of the John Birch 

Society with whom Buckley would later have a prominent public feud in the 
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1960s, donated some $1,000 to the venture.45 Buckley also reached out to 

Maguire and, at his father’s suggestion, John O. Beaty and former Texas 

representative Ed Gossett.46 Although the younger Buckley positioned his 

new magazine as the voice of the responsible right and wrote of his distaste 

for the “popular front” approach to conservative politics during his later 

fi ghts with the Birchers, Buckley and National Review were embedded within 

this coalition during their formative years.

By 1955, however, there were signifi cant cracks forming in the popular 

front. In September John A. Clements resigned from the Mercury; along with 

Clements went most of the Mercury’s regular contributors, including J. B. 

Matthews, Irene Kuhn, and Ralph de Toledano. The precise catalyst for 

Clements’s departure is not clear, but in general it was sparked by Maguire’s 

desire to take the magazine in a more explicitly antisemitic direction. De 

Toledano, writing to William F. Buckley Jr. to inform him of his departure 

(“You don’t need a book-and-record critic, do you?”) said that “indications of 

The Mercury’s future course are such that I could not, in any conscience, give it 

the tacit endorsement of further participation.”47 Kuhn similarly told the 

Associated Press, “I [couldn’t] continue [at the Mercury] in good conscience.” 

Maguire and the Mercury suffered considerable damage from the departure of 

Clements and the Hearst crowd. With Clements out, the Mercury no longer 

had a professional journalist running the show; Maguire instead appointed his 

stepdaughter Natasha Boissevain managing editor despite her lack of jour-

nalism experience. Maguire’s reputation, too, was publicly maligned. He 

skipped a ceremony where he was to appear alongside Senator William Jenner 

to receive the Americanism Medal from the American Legion a week after 

Clements resigned. The legion itself was embarrassed to be giving recognition 

to Maguire—a spokesperson told the press that the organization had no knowl-

edge of Maguire’s antisemitism when it voted to award Maguire the medal 

(despite public reporting about his views since 1952) and hastened to add that 

the legion was “honoring not Mr. Maguire personally but the magazine and 

the staff collectively.”48 But more important, the magazine was, by the time of 

Clements’s departure, increasingly diffi cult to fi nd on newsstands. The cause 

of the Mercury’s declining infl uence came not from Clements’s resignation or 

conservative disavowals, but rather from an unoffi cial boycott of the magazine 

from the distribution companies that monopolized the publishing business.

Starting in 1954, the major national distributor of magazines, the 

American News Company, refused to handle any more editions of the 
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Mercury.49 American News’s boycott was a serious blow to the magazine 

because the company and its subsidiaries effectively had a monopoly on the 

distribution of magazines in the United States. In 1955, American News 

serviced ninety-fi ve thousand local news dealers across America; as a verti-

cally integrated company, it also directly operated newsstands, restaurants, 

coffee shops, book shops, drug stores, and dozens of other retail outlets 

where books, newspapers, and magazines were sold. A contemporary study 

of the magazine industry found that American News sold more than half of 

the total value of magazines in the United States in 1954—and that did not 

take into account the market share of American News’s subsidiaries. 

American News also owned the Union News Company, which itself owned 

and operated concessions in thirty-two states and had exclusive rights for 

sales and distribution in 170 different department stores, hotel chains, and 

transit hubs, including Grand Central and Penn Stations in New York City.50 

The company’s power was immense. National Review itself had almost been 

strangled in the crib by American News, which threatened to discontinue its 

distribution of the magazine in 1956 due to poor sales—William F. Buckley 

Jr. had to personally prevail upon Roy Cohn, who included American News 

as a client, to intercede on his behalf.51

The Mercury could not count on Cohn as an ally, for reasons that are 

unclear.52 The American News boycott crippled the Mercury’s circulation 

and revenue stream. But it was not just the American News Company that 

was the problem—independent vendors had little appetite for the maga-

zine’s content. William LaVarre, a former roving correspondent in Latin 

America for a variety of American wire services whom Maguire hired as 

editor in chief for the Mercury in the summer of 1957, recalled that during 

his initial interviews with Maguire he had been told the magazine was foun-

dering because the New York–based Kable News Company, a small indepen-

dent distributor that continued to vend the Mercury after the American News 

boycott, dumped the magazine after its April 1957 issue thanks to 

“complaints from various Jewish organizations.” The catalyst was a recur-

ring column titled “Money Made Mysterious” which traffi cked in thinly 

disguised antisemitic language about an international fi nancial conspiracy 

consisting of Jewish bankers Bernard Baruch, Henry Morgenthau, Sidney 

Weinberg, and Paul Warburg. The Anti-Defamation League described the 

column as “[using] language which to the bigot can have strong antisemitic 

meanings.”53 The May issue saw fewer than twelve thousand sales.54
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Nevertheless, there remained a loyal audience for the Mercury’s 

content—the only profi table component of the magazine was the “Mercury 

Reprints” series, a direct-mailing service to subscribers that reproduced 

individual articles, usually in a serial digest format—from the Mercury’s 

back catalogue. (J. B. Matthews’s articles were among the most popular.) 

Individual right-wing activists and “patriotic organizations” made up most 

of the bulk purchases, often in lots of one thousand or fi ve thousand. This 

had the benefi t, as LaVarre saw it, of amplifying the Mercury’s voice on the 

right, especially among “patriotic” grassroots activists. “A reader could 

obtain knowledge from an article in the Mercury and then get a hundred 

copies to mail to acquaintances who did not have the magazine each . . . 

month.”55 Even as the sales of the magazine plummeted in 1956 due to its 

distribution problems, both the sales and income of “Mercury Reprints” 

were on the uptick. One reprint, entitled “Funeral of the Constitution,” had 

nearly one hundred thousand copies purchased. This did not mean that one 

hundred thousand individuals had bought reprints; the actual number was 

probably under one hundred, considering that most reprint sales consisted 

of block orders. But it did mean the Mercury enjoyed the dedicated patronage 

of well-heeled right-wing activists.56

LaVarre began his editorship of the Mercury in September 1957. As part 

of his contract, he retained the option to purchase the magazine after a year 

if he so desired; there was also a no-penalty escape clause should he choose 

to disassociate himself from the publication. His initial impressions of the 

magazine were mixed. The Mercury had suffered from a lack of experienced 

leadership ever since Clements’s departure, and it showed. On his fi rst day, 

LaVarre found a contract with a subscription vendor that stipulated the 

vendor could keep all of the money from his subscriptions himself—

between this and the boycott by American News and its subsidiaries, it was 

no wonder the magazine was fi nancially underwater. LaVarre promptly 

voided the contract. LaVarre also understood that the magazine would never 

recover if distributors continued to boycott the Mercury. Fortunately for him, 

the American News Company effectively dissolved its monopoly on national 

distribution in the spring of 1957, the victim of corporate maneuvers 

involving a takeover and liquidation of assets. This meant that local distribu-

tors that had hitherto been largely suppressed by American News suddenly 

became major distributors in their own right. LaVarre met that August with 

George B. Davis, the president of Kable News, in an attempt to revive their 
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past relationship. Davis told LaVarre that antisemitic content in copies of the 

Mercury that were to be were to be distributed to newsstands, as well as the 

direct-mail “Mercury Reprints” series, was unacceptable and would have to 

be discontinued as a condition for Kable to consider redistributing the maga-

zine. LaVarre relayed Davis’s conditions to Maguire, who went on a lengthy 

tirade in his offi ce. “I am not in any form a racist or anti-Jew! I have many 

Jewish associates!” Maguire’s protestations were somewhat undercut, 

however, when he reminded LaVarre that “the Bolshevist Revolution in 

Russia was the work of Jewish brains, of Jewish dissatisfactions, of Jewish 

planning, whose goal is to now create a new order in the world.”57 Maguire 

did slightly back down, easinig up on coded antisemitism in the fi rst half of 

1957, but by August Maguire was back to declaring that “we must cut out the 

cancer of Communism, Socialism, and treason. They are fi nanced by our 

only real threat—the enemy within.”58 Unsurprisingly, the distribution prob-

lems continued.

Due to the antisemitic content, the Mercury also found it diffi cult to 

attract advertisers and corporate support, with two signifi cant exceptions. 

The United States Steel Corporation cut Maguire a $2,000 check in 

December 1957 in response to Maguire’s entreaties for fi nancial assistance 

“in distributing The American Mercury to school, college, and public 

libraries.” U.S. Steel gave Maguire an additional $2,000 for the same 

purpose several months later, in March 1958. One of U.S. Steel’s major 

competitors, Republic Steel, was even more generous. Republic’s president, 

Charles M. White, personally wrote Maguire a $1,500 check for the distribu-

tion of the Mercury to libraries, and the company underwrote an additional 

$3,000 for the same effort.59 Republic Steel was also the only major corpora-

tion that, by 1958, continued to advertise in the print issues of the American 

Mercury. Charles White’s own politics may have played the key role in 

Republic’s continued support of the Mercury, even as Maguire’s editorials 

castigated the “Zionist-Socialists” and their attempts to “[manipulate] us and 

our various States into a Socialist Federal Autocracy.”60 White had been the 

vice president of operations for Republic Steel during the Committee of 

Industrial Organization’s drive to organize “Little Steel” (the major steel 

companies in America that were not U.S. Steel) in 1936–37 and was infa-

mous for his use of violence to repress labor organizing, drawing upon the 

so-called Mohawk Valley formula for strikebreaking that Merwin Hart 

helped to develop. (Hart even offered to assist organizing grassroots 
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resistance to the strike.)61 As president of Republic Steel during the 1950s, 

White advocated for national right-to-work laws, called for the repeal of the 

National Labor Relations Act, and fi nanced the distribution of literature on 

behalf of Senator William F. Knowland, describing Walter Reuther, the pres-

ident of the United Auto Workers union, as a “cunning conspirator” and an 

“evil genius.”62

The steel companies’ $8,500 worth of support for the Mercury was 

modest—not even enough to pay for a single issue of the magazine—but it 

was nevertheless signifi cant. It was part of a broader pattern of corporation 

subsidization for right-wing causes in the postwar years—the libertarian 

Mont Pelerin Society, for example, owed its survival to the support of sympa-

thetic businessmen—but the steel companies went further than others in 

continuing to support an open antisemite. Given Little Steel’s past alliances 

with far-right activists like Hart against labor unions two decades earlier, this 

was an important political continuity on the part of the steel industry’s 

corporate management. Steel support provided a lifeline for the Mercury. 

Maguire had been publishing antisemitic content in his editorials for over a 

year and was already on a distributors’ blacklist. The support from the steel 

companies allowed the Mercury to do a limited end-run around the boycott.63

It also bought content. The Mercury had always been anti-labor—a 1953 

profi le of Reuther by Ralph de Toledano portrayed him as a ruthless dema-

gogue dedicated to “[bringing] the dictatorship of a corporate state to 

America”—but more and more column space was dedicated to anti-labor 

agitprop after the generous fi nancial support of the steel companies. The 

March 1958 edition was dedicated to the “labor issue” and featured contribu-

tions from Senator Knowland, among others, urging a partial repeal of the 

National Labor Relations Act. (An editorial insert from LaVarre reminded 

readers that the “notorious Wagner Act” was “written for Senator Wagner . . . 

by Communists from Manhattan. Manhattan’s Wagner was but the front for 

introducing this alien ideology and ‘law’ into the Congressional Record.”) 

Even as the Mercury explicitly traffi cked in antisemitism in Maguire’s 

editorials—and implicitly with the reference to “alien” ideologies in LaVarre’s 

inserts—it still enjoyed support from other elements of the right-wing 

popular front due to shared opposition to pillars of the New Deal state.64

The same year that Maguire hired LaVarre, he brought on board a thirty-

nine-year-old Brown University alumnus recently discharged from 
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active-duty service in the U.S. Navy. Commander George Lincoln Rockwell 

had ambitions of making a new career for himself in publishing; he had 

launched his own magazine, U.S. Lady, in 1955, targeted specifi cally at the 

wives of serving U.S. military personnel. The magazine refl ected Rockwell’s 

political interests. He idolized Senator Joseph McCarthy and General 

Douglas MacArthur—he adopted MacArthur’s habit of smoking a corncob 

pipe as a self-conscious tribute to the old soldier in the early 1950s—and 

staunchly opposed communism. U.S. Lady also took a fi rm stand against 

racial integration, one of Rockwell’s other pet causes. The magazine did not, 

however, explicitly endorse Rockwell’s most cherished, albeit quietly held, 

political belief: that Adolf Hitler was on to something. At the same time as 

Rockwell publicly embraced McCarthy and MacArthur, he had privately read 

Mein Kampf and the Protocols of the Elders of Zion and come to the conclusion 

that Hitler was absolutely right. He, George Lincoln Rockwell, would do 

what was necessary to preserve the white race. Rockwell even honeymooned 

at Berchtesgaden, Hitler’s Alpine retreat, in 1953. His wife, Margrét Þóra 

Hallgrímsson, whom he had met while on military deployment in Iceland, 

was the niece of Iceland’s ambassador to the United States.

U.S. Lady was initially successful. Remarkably for a magazine solely 

supported by advertising dollars, the fi rst four issues turned a profi t, but 

Rockwell sold his stake in the publication after those four issues. In his 

memoirs, Rockwell blamed the largely female staff of U.S. Lady for “over-

whelming” him; the magazine continued to publish under different owner-

ship for at least a decade, promoting broadly conservative—but not 

fascistic—standards of behavior for military wives.65 Rockwell subsequently 

bounced around a variety of right-wing publications in New York, including 

William F. Buckley’s National Review, for which he worked for about six 

months selling subscriptions on college campuses before he moved on to 

the American Mercury.

Rockwell, with his background at U.S. Lady, ironically fi t the gender 

politics of American Mercury better than National Review. Although National 

Review published a number of right-wing women in the 1950s—Freda Utley 

placed an article in the magazine in its second issue—entire weeks could go 

by without a woman writing a column. The Mercury, by contrast, published 

around half a dozen women per issue. When LaVarre became editor in 

1957, three of the four editors at the Mercury were women.66 Buckley’s 

dismissal of the magazine as uncouth had more than a hint of his disdain 
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for the housewife market, which the Mercury appealed to with articles like 

“Pity the Childless Couple” and “Tried Walking Lately?”67

Rockwell penned three articles for the Mercury in 1957, all of which 

expressed anxieties regarding decadence and feminization. One was a 

Spenglerian-like lament of Iceland’s degradation thanks to Marxist infl u-

ences and the impression offered by American servicemen stationed there 

that “America is a land of uncultured, jazzy barbarians”; another was a 

complaint that liberals and socialists were feminizing American soldiers by 

making basic training less cruel (which also managed to squeeze in a dig at 

“brotherly-love advocates who howled for the blood of millions of Germans 

and gloatingly hung the German leaders” for war crimes after World War II). 

Rockwell’s fi nal article for the Mercury—published in an issue that featured 

his idol Douglas MacArthur on the magazine’s cover, was an ode to how the 

Marine Corps makes “men” out of boys, which is why the liberals and the 

communists were out to neuter the corps.68

Rockwell’s brand of casual misogyny was hardly out of step for the 

Mercury, despite its stable of women writers and an editorial staff largely 

consisting of women, including Maguire’s stepdaughter. This was the maga-

zine, after all, that under Maguire’s ownership published an article by Irene 

Corbally Kuhn declaring that “women don’t belong in politics,” and another 

article wondering “is democracy making Japanese women neurotic?” Kuhn 

also helpfully articulated her vision of what women in politics should look 

like in a 1955 feature profi ling the wives of twelve Republican senators, 

ranging from Peggy Goldwater to Jean McCarthy. Doloris Bridges and Mary 

Mundt were described as “forceful personalities without being in the least 

unfeminine or personally and unpleasantly aggressive.” Paeans to keeping 

men masculine and women feminine were a staple of the magazine, 

although occasionally the Mercury encouraged particular forms of female 

mobilization. One article in 1954 argued that “the better element of women 

must come to the aid of their country” by, among other things, forming 

study groups to learn the mechanics of electoral politics and master political 

issues in order to “contribute the utmost to your family, your husband’s 

work-opportunity, your schools, government, and church.” There were 

limits to this vision, however; women were to “take up the challenge of the 

hour and learn the things we need to know to preserve our American heri-

tage,” but once the crisis had passed, women were to return to the “home 

[in] which [they] breath[e] the free air of American liberty. . . . The sooner 
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women get into politics in a practical way, the sooner we can get out.”69 

Traditional female gender roles could be stretched only insofar as they 

underwrote anti-communist politics, and only then in the context of the 

immediate political crisis. As for men, anything that smacked of feminiza-

tion was verboten—as Rockwell wrote, “Who wants panty-waisted Marines?”

Rockwell didn’t last long at the Mercury. He was disgusted by what he 

called “left-wing sympathies in some of the editors”—particularly the 

women working at the magazine—and made few friends with his colleagues 

because he reported these heterodoxies to Maguire. But Rockwell quickly 

grew to dislike Maguire, who, a fellow fascist told Rockwell, was “rabid about 

only one thing, the Mercury, his pet project—and the hell with the cause 

itself,” and was all talk, no action.

Rockwell also claimed that Maguire later met with Rockwell and his 

friend and ally DeWest Hooker (Frederic Willis was also allegedly present). 

Rockwell and Hooker “presented a complete plan for a slow, secret Nazi 

build-up under Hooker throughout [the country]. . . . Maguire seemed 

entranced with everything we presented. . . . “All right!” said Maguire, with 

the air of a man suddenly decided on an immense step. “I’ll back it! The 

country doesn’t have fi ve years! We’ve simply got to do it! I’ll put in a thou-

sand dollars for the fi rst year!”70

Rockwell and Hooker were apparently insulted by the sum, given both 

Maguire’s vast wealth and the expenses he had already sunk into the Mercury. 

“Here was a multimillionaire with over $80 million dollars, sitting in an 

apartment which alone must have cost him $1,500 a month, to say nothing 

of his fabulous palace on the water-front in Connecticut, telling us that he 

was going to ‘back’ a national political movement of gigantic proportions to 

save America—WITH A THOUSAND DOLLARS A YEAR!”71

Rockwell’s account is obviously unreliable—he also claimed Maguire 

had tried to hire his friends to “kill key Jews at $10,000 a head,” but there is 

no doubt that Rockwell and Maguire were close for a brief time. In any event, 

Rockwell’s account of the internal goings-on at the Mercury has the ring of 

truth. Maguire was in a constant pitched battle with his staff over his polit-

ical views. “Three or four of Maguire’s supposedly picked staff were not only 

violently anti-Hitler, but were actually sneaky liberals. . . . Once we caught a 

pro-Negro article by a black married to a White girl.”72

According to Rockwell, the Mercury was Maguire’s way of injecting his 

antisemitic and pro-fascist views into conservative discourse while 
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simultaneously clinging to respectability for both himself and his family. 

His socialite stepdaughter Natasha Boissevain, in 1957 the managing editor 

of the magazine, felt the same way. There were certain lines they would not 

cross—in public, anyway. After Rockwell approached him about the “left-

wing” editorial direction at the Mercury, Maguire told Rockwell to meet him 

in the men’s room two fl oors below his offi ce, so they wouldn’t be seen 

talking. “He told me that his wife was giving him a hard time about me. She 

was a White Russian and on ‘our side,’ but didn’t want to jeopardize the luxu-

rious life she had attained with her husband, nor risk the security of her chil-

dren. . . . He told me his wife had heard of my efforts to organize a ‘hard-core’ 

for him, and was ‘terrifi ed.’ He whispered on and on so disgustingly about 

the pressure on him, and kept referring to the possibility of ‘cutting the 

thread’—meaning my employment—that I naturally offered to resign. He 

accepted before I had all the words out.”73

Rockwell despised Maguire as a soft, decadent coward who—like many 

conservatives—was a fi ckle ally too terrifi ed of being denounced by the Anti-

Defamation League to do the necessary public work of organizing against 

the Jews. Maguire, deeply involved in the day-to-day operations of the maga-

zine, frequently clashed with his staffers who objected to his antisemitic and 

pro-fascist leanings. The Mercury was the right-wing popular front in a 

microcosm—disparate groups brought together under one roof by their 

shared antipathy toward communism and liberalism. If the conservative 

elements of the popular front were uncomfortable with the fascistic far 

right, they were still suffi ciently comfortable to work alongside the far right 

so long as they did not express their antisemitic views publicly.

The year 1958 would be the Mercury’s swan song. LaVarre opted to leave the 

magazine that July, frustrated—according to his memoirs—by the continued 

distributors’ boycott and his constant battles with Jewish organizations over 

the Mercury’s content. With LaVarre gone, the Mercury no longer had a 

professional journalist running the day-to-day operations of the magazine.74 

The political fortunes of the Mercury’s right-wing allies in Washington also 

waned. Ever since Joseph McCarthy’s censure in 1954, the infl uence of the 

right in Washington appeared to be in decline. McCarthy lingered in the 

Senate for two and a half years until his death, a staggering, alcoholic punch-

line who found himself persona non grata at Republican campaign events. 

The results of the 1958 election were a new low. William Knowland, George 
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Malone, and William Jenner were all defeated in their election bids. (The 

one bright spot was Barry Goldwater, who crushed his Democratic opponent 

in Arizona.) The conservative wing of the Republican Party in the Senate 

had lost many of its most outspoken leaders—of the twenty-two Republicans 

who had voted against McCarthy’s censure in December 1954, only eleven 

were still serving by the beginning of 1959 (and North Dakota’s William 

Langer would die at the end of the year, leaving only ten). Maguire had lost 

most of his allies on Capitol Hill.

The political blows to conservatism in 1958 were a catalyst for further 

radicalization in order to “save” America. Robert Welch founded the John 

Birch Society a mere month after the 1958 election. Maguire, for his part, 

began abandoning all pretense of restraint and doubled down on the antise-

mitic rhetoric in the Mercury. Maguire ran a column in December 1958 enti-

tled “The Mercury Warned You” insinuating that a Jewish conspiracy was 

behind the passage of the Seventeenth Amendment establishing direct elec-

tion of U.S. senators. In January 1959, with his stepdaughter Natasha once 

again serving as managing editor of the Mercury, Maguire published an 

editorial in which he declared that “International Zionists” were seeking to 

enslave the world, and that “documents are available to prove [this],” alluding 

to the Protocols of the Elders of Zion.75 The editorial was only slightly less 

blatant than the usual fare in Gerald L. K. Smith’s newsletter.

Maguire’s column was the fi nal catalyst that precipitated an open break 

between the American Mercury and National Review, the fi rst great crack in 

the postwar right-wing popular front. Buckley had been expressing 

increasing misgivings about the Mercury since 1957, when he wrote to Karl 

Hess, an occasional contributor to National Review who also appeared on the 

masthead of the American Mercury, expressing “mounting alarm and horror” 

about the direction the Mercury was going under Maguire and said that the 

board at National Review was debating the question as to whether National 

Review and the Mercury “could . . . afford to have any regular personnel in 

common.” Buckley’s major concern was that the Mercury’s growing anti-

semitism would open National Review’s right fl ank to attack. “I am . . . aston-

ished the left hasn’t pounced,” he told Hess in April. “Was there ever so 

exposed a target as the incumbent Mercury?” But Buckley confi ded to Hess 

that National Review would “not . . . do anything of a public nature” about the 

Mercury.76 So long as left-wing critics did not seize on Maguire’s relationship 

with Buckley’s faction on the right, Maguire’s increasingly blatant 
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antisemitism in his columns did not warrant an open attack. In any event, it 

was the Mercury’s apparent crudity that repelled Buckley as opposed to anti-

semitism per se, because he made exceptions in his personal associations 

for refi ned and polished antisemites. He maintained a close friendship with 

Revilo Oliver, a classics professor at the University of Illinois, throughout the 

1950s despite acknowledging to Brent Bozell that Oliver had demonstrably 

antisemitic views. Buckley even wrote to Senator William Knowland in 

February 1958 appealing to him to pressure the president to pardon Ezra 

Pound for his collaboration with the Italian Fascist government during 

World War II. “Nobody takes Pound’s anti-Semitism seriously.”77

There were also signifi cant potential risks for Buckley if he publicly criti-

cized fellow travelers on the right. Charles Willoughby was on the Mercury’s 

masthead as well as that of National Review. Most National Review contribu-

tors had bylines in the Maguire-run Mercury, and even Maguire’s latest turn 

toward undisguised antisemitism had not triggered a right-wing backlash. 

Ralph de Toledano, who had resigned from the Mercury’s masthead in 1955 

due to Maguire’s antisemitism, continued to write for the magazine, 

publishing a feature on the dangers of communist subversion in the April 

1959 issue and a glowing front-page profi le of Richard Nixon in May.78 A 

public attack on Maguire and the Mercury would expose National Review to 

charges of factionalism on the right, and could provoke a backlash from 

National Review subscribers, many of whom also read the Mercury. Buckley 

continued to opt for a moderate course. In April he decided—over the objec-

tions of several of his editors and staffers, including Willoughby, William 

Rusher, and his public editor A. E. Bonbrake (who served essentially as the 

magazine’s ombudsperson)—to circulate an internal memo to National 

Review contributors stating that “National Review will not carry on its mast-

head the name of any person whose name also appears on the masthead of 

the American Mercury,” but that “we will not refuse to run material submitted 

by persons who continue to write for the Mercury for the reason that to do so 

would be presumptuous.”79 This memo was not made public, nor was 

Maguire offi cially notifi ed of National Review’s new policy.

Buckley’s behind-the-scenes break with the Mercury was only a slight 

step further than his expression of private misgivings in 1957. It was not the 

decisive blow that crippled Maguire and his magazine. Maguire had already 

tried to unload the magazine to William LaVarre the previous year because 

of the Mercury’s chronic circulation problems given the unoffi cial boycott by 
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the distributors. (These problems had only been compounded by LaVarre’s 

departure.) It is exceedingly unlikely that Buckley’s memo would ever have 

become public knowledge if Russell Maguire had not made it so. He was 

leaked the memo by Charles Willoughby, who shared Maguire’s antisemi-

tism and resented Buckley’s “arbitrary posture”—Willoughby was one of the 

handful of National Review contributors who sided with Maguire.80 Maguire 

took the dispute public in July, publishing the memo in an editorial. Maguire 

even bitterly noted that the Mercury had been in the habit of referring writers 

to National Review when their pitches better suited the needs of a weekly. 

“We, in fact, have tried to help feed the mouth that now nibbles at us!”81

Buckley and his editors were concerned that Maguire’s public attacks 

would cripple National Review by prompting subscription cancellations. 

There were scores of angry letters, mostly concerned about the opening of a 

breach in the right-wing popular front. One subscriber wrote, “I am a strong 

conservative, and an ardent anti-socialist and anti-communist. As such, I 

believe all conservatives should strive to pull together and ignore relatively minor 

differences.” Another letter writer wrote that she “deplored any confl ict 

between the two leading conservative publications which might hurt our 

common cause.” Still another correspondent—a Catholic priest—wrote to 

Buckley asking, “Why can’t we conservatives subordinate the secondary 

things to the fi rst things?” “The common enemy is communism,” wrote yet 

another letter writer. “Let’s get with it and stop the nonsense.”82 To his credit, 

Buckley stood fi rm in the face of intra-movement criticism, but tried to 

emphasize the softness of his response. His standard reply to Mercury-

inspired hate mail was to affi rm that the “insidious anti-Semitism that lurks 

in the corners of the Mercury . . . has done considerable damage” to conserva-

tism, but he emphasized that National Review contributors were still free to 

write for the Mercury—only the masthead was verboten, since it implied 

sympathy with Maguire’s “pathological insinuations against a religious 

minority.” This was apparently suffi cient for many; Buckley later recalled 

that the damage to National Review’s brand was minimal; most conservative 

writers stuck with National Review over the Mercury.83

The Mercury affair was only the beginning of a bitter, protracted fi ght on the 

right that led to the splintering of the right-wing popular front in the 1960s. 

The John Birch Society, founded in December 1958, was the zenith of the 

popular front approach. The group’s founding members were a veritable 
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who’s who of right-wing businessmen and political activists of the period, 

including founder and candy manufacturer Robert Welch, oil magnate Fred 

C. Koch, and University of Illinois classicist Revilo Oliver, a close personal 

friend of William F. Buckley Jr. and a contributor to National Review. Welch, 

who exercised a considerable degree of power over the organization, 

welcomed anti-communists of any political stripe and any political baggage 

into the organization; Merwin K. Hart became the head of the New York City 

chapter of the society before his death in 1962. Maguire never became a 

Bircher—as we shall see, he largely abandoned public life after 1960—but 

many of his former associates did join.84

Buckley’s repudiation of the Birchers is a familiar story to historians of 

the American right: unnerved by Robert Welch’s conspiracy theory–laden 

claims that Dwight D. Eisenhower was a dedicated communist, Buckley—

partly at the behest of Barry Goldwater—penned a broadside on Welch in a 

February 1962 issue of National Review, consolidating the boundaries of 

“responsible conservatism.” There were important resonances in the 

Bircher repudiation with the Mercury saga. Both Buckley and Goldwater 

were frequently assailed in the liberal press for far-right and even fascistic 

sympathies; disavowing the Birchers was at least in part a political tactic to 

nullify those attacks as Goldwater began preparing his bid for the presidency 

in 1964.85 But both Buckley and Goldwater attempted, paradoxically, to hold 

the right together; Buckley repudiated the popular front approach in his 

letters to prominent Birchers while at the same time attempting to keep 

the public dispute confi ned to the person of Robert Welch, not the John 

Birch Society as a whole. There was a personal element in this move as well 

as a political one. Buckley attempted repeatedly in the early 1960s to mend 

his friendship with Revilo Oliver despite the latter’s drift into explicit 

antisemitism—unlike Maguire, Oliver was witty and erudite in his approach 

and earned private praise from Buckley for a guardedly anti-Jewish column 

submitted to, but not published by, National Review on Jewish journalist 

Harry Golden.86 Buckley’s approach—specifi c criticism of certain leaders, 

as opposed to groups and organizations—was supported by Goldwater, who 

maintained that “you can’t just [excommunicate the Birchers] in Arizona,” 

given the prominence of their supporters. Specifi cally targeting Welch as 

irresponsible helped soften the blow; Goldwater was able to maintain 

support from the Birchers and other elements of the far right—he even had 

the support of Willis Carto, who was by the mid-1960s one of the more 
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prominent antisemites in the United States, despite Goldwater’s own partial 

Jewish ancestry.87

Russell Maguire, however, was on the sidelines during the 1964 

campaign. By the mid-1960s, Maguire had disappeared from the political 

scene. Embittered by Buckley’s repudiation, Maguire sold the magazine in 

1960 to the Defenders of the Christian Faith. The Mercury changed hands a 

number of times throughout the 1960s before Willis Carto’s Liberty Lobby 

acquired it, continuing to publish the magazine until 1981. But there is an 

unusual denouement in Maguire’s story. After selling the Mercury, Maguire, 

using his old Hearst editor John Clements as an intermediary, began to 

supply information to the Anti-Defamation League on George Lincoln 

Rockwell, the head of the American Nazi Party, and his activities. Rockwell 

had briefl y been a contributor to the Mercury in 1957, but quickly broke with 

Maguire. Clements told an investigator from the ADL in early 1961 that 

Maguire had underwritten an “intensive investigation” of Rockwell and had 

made the results available to the FBI. This was almost certainly motivated by 

the unfl attering portrayal of Maguire in Rockwell’s newly published autobi-

ography, This Time the World, in which Maguire is portrayed as a coward 

unwilling to embrace the swastika because it would destroy his family’s 

reputation among Manhattan’s social elite.88 Maguire actually began a 

reasonably warm correspondence with Arnold Forster, the ADL leader. 

Forster wrote to Maguire that his efforts against Rockwell “[contributed] to 

the cause of human decency and your participation in it is most heart-

ening.”89 Forster circulated an internal memo at the end of July in which he 

declared, “We consider the problem of Russell Maguire to be closed,” citing 

his professed desire to break with his past political activity and his work 

countering Rockwell.

Maguire’s fi nal dalliance with the Anti-Defamation League was the perfect 

coda to decades of duplicitous behavior. He ended his life despised by his 

former friends and allies in the growing conservative movement and by his 

contacts on the far right. The root cause of his unpopularity was not his poli-

tics, nor his bigotry and racism per se—those were common enough atti-

tudes across the American right in the 1950s and 1960s—but his repeated 

untrustworthiness. Maguire made many promises of fi nancial support to 

fi gures across the right-wing political spectrum, but rarely delivered on 

those promises. He made probable false claims about his charitable giving 
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to defl ect attention from his repeated practice of backstabbing his business 

and political partners. Even his fi nancing of the investigation into Rockwell’s 

American Nazi Party was motivated by petty revenge, since Maguire’s corre-

spondence with Forster suggests that he never abandoned his right-wing 

views. For all Maguire’s importance as the publisher of the major right-wing 

magazine of the 1950s, his organizational incompetence and his inability to 

work reliably with others prevented him from ever making the kind of 

outsized political impact that he so desperately desired. This was probably a 

factor in Maguire’s distance from the John Birch Society; joining the 

Birchers would have meant subordinating himself to a larger organization. 

Merwin Hart, Maguire’s onetime ally and an organizational entrepreneur 

through the National Economic Council, was able to make this leap. Maguire 

was not. He died in 1966.
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robert welch fervently believed that president Dwight David Eisen-

hower was a communist. In a private letter he circulated at fi rst to close 

friends and eventually to hundreds of leading conservative activists and intel-

lectuals across the country, the sixty-something retired candy manufacturer—

the genius behind the Junior Mint—claimed that Eisenhower was a “dedicat-

ed, conscious agent of the Communist conspiracy.” Welch went on to 

allege that practically every prominent member of the Eisenhower adminis-

tration, with the notable exception of Vice President Richard Nixon, was 

also either a communist or a communist sympathizer. The notion was 

ludicrous—Welch’s analysis was rooted less in hard evidence and more in 

overweening resentment that his preferred candidate, Robert Taft, had not 

secured the GOP nomination over Eisenhower in 1952—but it could not be 

easily dismissed as the rantings of an (admittedly wealthy and infl uential) 

crank. Welch was, after all, the founder and leader of the John Birch Society, 

the largest and most widespread right-wing mass-membership organization 

in a generation. Many erstwhile establishment conservatives—not the least of 

whom was William F. Buckley Jr.’s friend and collaborator Revilo Oliver—

joined the Birchers.1

The John Birch Society, which made its public debut with a series of 

newspaper and magazine exposés in the spring of 1961, terrifi ed liberals. A 

radical right-wing anti-communist organization whose leader apparently 
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believed that moderate Republican Dwight Eisenhower was, in fact, a card-

carrying Red not only raised the specter of a resurgent McCarthyism a scant 

four years after the Wisconsin senator fi nally drank himself to death, but the 

secrecy surrounding how the John Birch Society was organized, the support 

of wealthy industrialists, and its apparent mass base raised fears that the 

society was fascist. Ohio Democrat Stephen Young described Welch in a 

speech on the fl oor of the U.S. Senate as a “little Hitler”; the California 

attorney general’s offi ce opened an investigation into the society that 

summer to determine it if was, indeed, subversive.2 Predictably, conserva-

tives lashed out against Birch critics—especially those who cried fascism. 

Barry Goldwater blasted in his syndicated column liberal critics who were 

engaged in a “deliberate attempt to categorize all conservatives as fascists.” 

“Enough of Anti-Anti Reds,” wrote an irate member of the society in 

February 1962, tired of being accused of being a fascist “because I believe in 

the work that the John Birch Society is doing to save our republic.” (The 

letter writer, James Oviatt, a Los Angeles haberdasher, was later found by the 

Anti-Defamation League to have been distributing copies of the Protocols of 

the Elders of Zion in Southern California.)3

Liberal anxieties over resurgent fascism had been a staple of American 

political and intellectual life since the end of World War II. But from roughly 

1961 through 1964 these anxieties—centered around, but not exclusively 

about, the John Birch Society—reached such a crescendo that the historian 

Rick Perlstein dubbed it the Second Brown Scare.4 Barry Goldwater’s 1964 

bid for the presidency, which cultivated and in many respects relied on the 

support of far-right groups like the Birchers, saw these liberal anxieties reach 

new heights—only to shift radically to the apparent threat of the New Left 

once Goldwater was defeated in a landslide by Lyndon Johnson in November 

1964. The subsequent clashes between liberals and leftists in the late 1960s 

and 1970s—and the development of a hegemonic conservative politics 

during the same period—meant that the Second Brown Scare was either 

forgotten or ignored as liberal paranoia. Even most twenty-fi rst-century 

scholars of the John Birch Society generally dismiss charges that Welch or 

the group was “fascist”—with the corresponding implication that most of 

the anxieties about the right-wing revival in the early 1960s were, at best, 

grossly exaggerated.5

But the Second Brown Scare was not simply a phantasm. Although 

extremists like George Lincoln Rockwell dismissed the Birchers as 
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milquetoasts, the group had a broad tolerance of racism, antisemitism, and 

fascist sympathies among its grassroots membership, as attested to by 

extensive fi eld reports by the Anti-Defamation League. The John Birch 

Society was a vehicle for political mobilization that was, in many respects, 

the apotheosis of the dreams of right-wing organizers like Merwin Hart for 

a national, mass-membership conservative organization that stretched back 

to the 1930s. The period also continued to see deep, albeit increasingly 

fraying, ties between more mainstream conservative factions and a progres-

sively militant and violent white nationalist right. William F. Buckley Jr., 

Robert Welch, Revilo Oliver, and George Lincoln Rockwell, despite their 

political differences and frequent clashes, were nevertheless deeply inter-

twined fi gures throughout the 1960s, all part of the same right-wing mobili-

zation that would eventually propel the American right—although not 

necessarily its most extreme coalition members—into a position of political 

hegemony within a decade.

Liberal panic over the John Birch Society led to many reporters “infi ltrating” 

the organization, which in practice usually meant simply reading through 

Birch literature and attending a local chapter meeting. These “undercover” 

efforts at looking at the inner works of the society were the major selling 

point of an explosion of exposé books by journalists in the early 1960s. Gene 

Grove, a reporter for the New York Post, wrote one of the earliest examples 

with Inside the John Birch Society, which mostly rehashed the existing press 

coverage of Robert Welch and included excerpts from The Politician, but 

which also promised readers a detailed look at a Birch Society chapter 

meeting in New York. Grove had managed to fi nagle an invitation to the May 

1961 meeting of chapter 26 in Manhattan. The chapter’s leader was none 

other than Merwin Hart.6

Grove was largely unimpressed. “Recruits whose enthusiasm for the 

society may have been diminished by rumors of bigotry within the organiza-

tion will not be reassured by the meeting place”: the headquarters of the 

National Economic Council, in suite 1100 at 156 Fifth Avenue (“an equivocal 

location midway between the charm of New York’s Washington Square and 

the splendor of uptown”). Most of the chapter leadership consisted of NEC 

affi liates; the assistant chapter leader was Constance G. Dall, Hart’s execu-

tive vice president at the NEC, and the JBS treasurer was retired navy vice 

admiral Charles Freeman, another NEC associate. At the meeting Grove 
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attended, approximately thirty people showed up, either existing members 

of the society or people who (like him) were invited as potential recruits. 

Most were men; only a third were younger than fi fty. Still, Grove was 

impressed by the social standing of the Manhattan Birchers. This was no 

rag-tag bunch of lunatics. He made a point of noting that the vast majority of 

attendees were well dressed, with the men in neat, sharply pressed suits and 

the women sporting minks and pillbox hats—“if John Kennedy hadn’t won 

the crowd, Jackie certainly had.”7

Hart, who showed up fi fteen minutes late, opened the meeting 

outlining the expected line of attack on the society by liberals and commu-

nists. It seemed, Hart told his audience, that a CPUSA member had infi l-

trated a John Birch Society meeting, and he had leaked details to CBS. But 

there was an upshot—CBS, afraid of being sued for libel by the JBS, was 

burying the story. (Grove noted sardonically that the major CBS investigative 

report broadcast that week was on movie censorship and did not mention 

the John Birch Society at all.) With the inoculation against a looming smear 

out of the way—“Perhaps some of you are familiar with [attacks like] that,” 

Hart told his audience, no doubt mulling on his decades of resentment over 

liberal, communist, and Jewish “smears”—Hart queued up the centerpiece 

of most Birch Society meetings around the country: the fi lmstrip. In May 

1961 the movie of the month was an educational program produced by 

Time, Inc., and ABC on the political situation in Latin America, and in 

particular Venezuela’s diplomatic support for Cuba after the 1959 revolu-

tion. Hart labeled the fi lm “out-and-out Communist propaganda, an attempt 

to lay the blame for South American poverty on the better classes in 

Venezuela and a plea for more foreign aid from the United States.” A report 

from a member in charge of the letter-writing campaign in support of Major 

General Edwin Walker followed—“[It’s] going magnifi cently,” she said, 

without providing details, and claimed to be in touch with sympathizers of 

both Walker and the John Birch Society in army intelligence. Another young 

woman, whom Grove lecherously emphasized was surprisingly attractive 

for a Birch Society member, talked about the dangers from the American 

Civil Liberties Union; still another attendee went into a lengthy diatribe 

about communist infi ltration of the Protestant churches. By this point in the 

meeting, the discussion had turned into a kind of greatest hits of right-wing 

anti-communist conspiracy theories and resentments. As the meeting 

adjourned, Grove leafed through an issue of Hart’s Economic Council Letter, 



158 the purge that wasn’t,  1953–91

which he picked up from a display table; it included an article arguing that 

the genocide of European Jews by the Nazis was a hoax and that many of the 

6 million Jews supposedly murdered by the Nazis “are right here in the 

United States and are now joining in the agitation for more and more 

support for the state of Israel—even if the American Republic goes down.”8

Hart was never a particularly infl uential member of the John Birch 

Society—he was eighty years old in 1961 and in the last year of his life, and 

his chapter was small, consisted mostly of NEC sympathizers, and existed 

primarily to promote NEC talking points—but his membership and local 

leadership roles in the society are nevertheless revealing. For one, the John 

Birch Society was the fulfi llment of Hart’s long dream of a national grass-

roots right-wing organization. The Manhattan chapter meeting might have 

been small, but hundreds if not thousands of chapters were being organized 

all over the country, educating members and potential members about the 

communist conspiracy and, most important, preparing members for polit-

ical action. Hart’s old political action committee American Action, Inc., an 

early attempt to politically organize the American right under the umbrella 

of a national group, had foundered because of organizational ineptitude 

and, crucially, because it had been created with the specifi c purpose of infl u-

encing the 1946 elections. The John Birch Society did not have the same 

narrow political remit. And for far-right activists like Hart, the Birchers 

offered an opportunity to bring their conspiratorial antisemitic messages to 

a new audience already primed to believe in fantastical conspiracy theories. 

If Dwight D. Eisenhower could be a covert communist, then maybe the 

Zionists really did fake the Holocaust. Anything was possible.

Other conservative leaders were threatened by the apparent scope and 

power of the John Birch Society, which Welch claimed had one hundred 

thousand members by the mid-1960s. (By contrast, Young Americans for 

Freedom claimed only twenty-one thousand members in 1962.)9 William F. 

Buckley Jr. was, in many respects, a close ideological ally of Robert Welch. 

They were both zealous anti-communists, hated the New Deal state, rejected 

the moderate Republicanism of Dwight Eisenhower, and longed for an 

authentically conservative political party. Welch had even provided Buckley 

with (modest) fi nancial support for the creation of National Review in the 

mid-1950s. But Buckley was wary of the blatant conspiracy theorizing of 

Welch, as well as Welch’s closeness with the American Mercury and Russell 

Maguire, whom Buckley was now keeping at arm’s length. “The differences 
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between us are grave indeed,” he wrote to Welch in October 1960. “You have 

a popular front attitude towards conservatism which I do not share.”10 This 

was rather an exaggeration on Buckley’s part, considering his markedly 

ambivalent condemnation of the American Mercury in 1959. Nor was it 

entirely fair to Welch, who did have limits on just whom he would collaborate 

with in the broad spectrum of the American right. When Gerald L. K. Smith 

wrote to Welch fi fteen months later suggesting collaboration, Welch politely 

declined: “In this fi ght against the Communist conspiracy, Mr. Smith, it is 

not possible for us to cooperate with you—as we try so hard to do with most 

other anti-Communist groups or leaders . . . because of a basic disagreement 

between us as to the main sources of strength of the conspiracy.”11 Concerns 

about the scope of the conservative coalition were rather less important than 

the prospect that Welch might jeopardize the enfant terrible editor’s status as 

one of the most infl uential fi gures within the growing conservative move-

ment. American Opinion, Welch’s magazine, which had become the unoffi -

cial journal of the John Birch Society, had nearly as many subscribers as 

Buckley’s National Review, and—like the American Mercury—was written in 

a considerably more accessible middle-brow style. If National Review 

attempted to be a conservative version of Harper’s, the New Yorker, or the New 

Republic, appealing to an urbane, sophisticated, and well-educated audience, 

American Opinion strove to be a tribune for the common man.

Well, not the common man, precisely. John Birch Society members 

tended to be relatively affl uent professionals and small-business owners, and 

many of the contributors to American Opinion, at least before the mid-1960s, 

were also to be found in the pages of National Review.12 The paradox of the 

Buckley/Welch dispute, and their eventual public split, was that it was predi-

cated on class tensions as much as ideological disagreement, but both Buckley 

and Welch were, by any objective standard, part of the American aristocracy: 

Buckley, the Yale graduate son of a multimillionaire, and Welch the soft-

spoken North Carolinian who grew up on the family plantation and briefl y 

attended Harvard Law School before making millions as a candy manufac-

turer. But crucially, Welch actually made his fortune as an industrialist—in 

contrast to Buckley, who inherited his wealth from his oil tycoon father and 

owed his national reputation to his journalism. Welch—and by extension the 

John Birch Society as a whole—was every bit as committed to the free-market 

and free-enterprise system as National Review was, but embedded in the 

Welch’s politics was a crude form of producerism—the sense that 
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“productive” capital derived from hard work and production was superior and 

more authentically American than parasitical speculative capital. This did not 

mean that the John Birch Society was critical of capitalism or, God forbid, 

supportive of organized labor—articles in American Opinion were ferociously 

hostile to labor leaders, with even conservative AFL-CIO leader George Meany 

singled out for criticism—but that there were tensions between the more 

elitist vision for the conservative movement that Buckley pioneered and the 

more populist Birch Society.13

Buckley was nervous that Welch’s increasing political infl uence would 

sideline him among leading conservatives. In May 1959 Welch founded a new 

group—for all intents and purposes a front organization for the John Birch 

Society—called the Committee against Summit Entanglements (CASE). Its 

purpose was to pressure Eisenhower to rebuff Soviet attempts to convene a 

summit meeting between Eisenhower and Soviet leader Nikita Khrushchev—

conservatives would eventually go apoplectic when Eisenhower not only 

agreed to meet with Khrushchev but allowed Khrushchev to make a twelve-

day goodwill tour of the United States in September. (Presumably Welch, who 

believed that Dwight Eisenhower was a secretly a communist, thought that 

Khrushchev was to deliver to Ike his instructions on how to destroy America.) 

The masthead of CASE was a who’s who of prominent conservatives, 

including Welch, Clarence Manion, Alfred Kohlberg, T. Coleman Andrews, 

and Fred C. Koch—all members of the John Birch Society.14 Buckley feared he 

was being shut out and reached out to his old friend Revilo Oliver, the 

University of Illinois classicist and a contributor to National Review who was 

also a founding member of the John Birch Society. Buckley was concerned 

there was a boycott against himself and other National Review contributors 

and that CASE was a power move by Welch. “I undertake to say this to prove I 

have a nose for conspiracy, the impression to the contrary notwithstanding.” 

He asked Oliver to talk to Welch for him. Oliver declined, but solicitously, also 

reassuring Buckley that there was no “boycott” of National Review in CASE 

and pointing out that none of the associate or contributing editors at Welch’s 

magazine American Opinion were included on the masthead, either.15

But Oliver was irritated by what he perceived to be Buckley’s sectari-

anism. “I strongly and emphatically deprecate the fi ssiparous tendencies of 

American conservatives. . . . I am dismayed by the amount of energy and 

emotion that conservatives in this country devote to internecine warfare.” 

Oliver was, at heart, a popular fronter. He recognized that there were real 
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divides on the American right, but that these were “and will remain irrele-

vant so long as conservatives, in both numbers and in infl uence, [are] a 

minority.” The only way forward was unity—or at least, in popular front 

terms, a tacit agreement to avoid public feuding “until [the right is] in a posi-

tion to dominate and reform the political life of the United States.”16 This 

was almost certainly a not-too-subtle jab at Buckley’s recent memo on the 

American Mercury, which had been circulated at the beginning of April to 

National Review contributors, including Oliver.

William F. Buckley Jr. and Revilo Oliver were unlikely friends. The dour, 

curmudgeonly Oliver, whose pencil mustache and rumpled, bloated appear-

ance gave him the aura of Clark Gable suffering from late-stage alcoholism, 

was a marked visual contrast to the young, handsome, and clean-cut Buckley. 

One acquaintance of Oliver in the 1950s wrote that “he gave me the creeps. 

His long face was exaggerated by black hair glistening back with pomade, 

bushy eyebrows, and beady eyes. When he smiled, his lip curled into a 

snarl.”17 The unpleasant and querulous University of Illinois classicist and 

the National Review publisher may have been unlikely friends, but friends 

they were. For a time, anyway.

Born in Corpus Christi, Texas, in 1908, Oliver—whose sinister-

sounding palindromic name was a family tradition dating back at least six 

generations—was a renowned scholar of Sanskrit, having taught himself 

the language with the help of a Hindu missionary while an undergraduate at 

Pomona College in Los Angeles in the mid-1920s. He earned his doctoral 

degree at the University of Illinois in 1940, the bulk of his work being based 

on a new translation of the fi fth-century Sanskrit drama Mrcchakatika. The 

thirty-three-year-old Oliver, as a trained philologist, was recruited by the War 

Department as a cryptanalyst in 1941 and served in Washington, DC, during 

World War II.18 Ironically, considering Oliver’s intense antisemitism, he was 

close during his wartime service with William F. Friedman, a Russian Jewish 

immigrant and the head of the Army Signal Intelligence Service.19 After the 

war, he returned to the University of Illinois and settled into his academic 

career. Oliver won a Guggenheim Fellowship in 1945 and a Fulbright in 1953 

and was respected among his classicist peers as an erudite, if pompous and 

long-winded, academic talent.20 He was also notorious for his extreme anti-

communist views. Oliver, writing his memoirs in 1980, recounted that he 

had been content to sit on the sidelines politically until 1954, when he had 

an “intellectual jolt” that Senator Joseph McCarthy was doomed to be pulled 
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down by the liberal and communistic “wolf-pack.” He weighed his options—

one was to simply continue to teach Greco-Roman history and classics in the 

belief that this would encourage “the best minds” to understand, through 

“historical and philological research,” the full scope of the crisis facing 

America. But Oliver opted for the career of a public intellectual.21

An erudite anti-communist academic was a natural fi t for National 

Review magazine in the 1950s. Willmoore Kendall, Buckley’s mentor in 

college and an iconoclastic conservative presence at Yale, tapped Oliver as a 

contributor to the nascent magazine in 1955 and introduced him to 

Buckley.22 Just what the enfant terrible of the American right saw in Oliver is 

a mystery, although according to Kendall National Review, which was 

intended to be a serious intellectual magazine, was having a devil of a time 

attracting academic writers. Oliver was one of a handful of conservative 

scholars, along with folks like Kendall, Russell Kirk, and Richard Weaver, 

who was enthusiastic about contributing to the magazine. In April 1956, 

after publishing a few book reviews, Oliver was formally named an “asso-

ciate and contributor” to the magazine (ironically Oliver shared the 

announcement of his formal relationship with National Review with Charles 

Willoughby, also named an “associate and contributor” in the same issue).23

Oliver and Buckley got on famously. Both were pretentious, verbose, 

and full of snobbery. Oliver, too, shared Buckley’s low opinion of the 

American Mercury in the 1950s—not because of the magazine’s antisemi-

tism, but because it contained “a good deal of trash” in its selection of arti-

cles. Not only did Oliver fervently back National Review upon its launch in 

1955, he also urged Buckley and the other editors to further distance the new 

venture from the dictates of mainstream journalism. “Are those the readers 

whom you really want?” he chided in a letter to Buckley.24

But even as Oliver began writing for the magazine in earnest, he was 

uneasy about the venture. Part of this was pure intellectual snobbery. 

Throughout his life, Oliver was prone in his private correspondence to puns 

in classical languages and allusions to obscure literary fi gures. No doubt his 

overriding arrogance and elitism formed the basis of his friendship with 

Buckley. Both had high opinions of themselves as intellectuals and wits. 

Buckley, however, was a much more talented, disciplined, and modern writer; 

raw Revilo Oliver prose had a turgid, overwrought quality akin to that of H. P. 

Lovecraft (with similar levels of racism but considerably less imagination). “I 

have noted with increasing misgivings and sorrow,” Oliver commented, “a 
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failure to retain the intellectual fi nish and stylistic polish that I regard as 

requisite to success.” While Buckley was also a snob, he, at least, had practical 

experience in journalism and writing for a nonacademic audience. “If the 

magazine dies, Revilo,” he responded, “it will be precisely because it was not 

suffi ciently ‘journalistic in manner’ to attract a large readership.25

There were signs of a more substantive disagreement between the two. 

Oliver, purportedly simply sharing criticisms made by friends of his but 

probably using his “friends” as sock puppets, attacked National Review for 

being insuffi ciently conservative. “It is critical, but it is a dull, apathetic, 

listless criticism which at times seems only the reverse of the criticism 

the liberals have so long applied to our society.” It was also—crucially—

insuffi ciently aggressive. “I can’t help feeling that the journal is too defen-

sive, that it waits to make up it [sic] mind on most issues, that it doesn’t carry 

the battle to the enemy.” Here Buckley took issue. “On the matter of foreign 

policy we are like a beacon, I feel, pointing to the fact that we are engaged in 

a great struggle, and that the enemy has attributes,” contrasting this position, 

based on “our knowledge of history, of Communism, of diplomacy, of civili-

zation, of original sin” with the “tergiversations” of liberalism. He also 

chided Oliver for missing his “principled position” on domestic policy. “Our 

stand on the question of desegregation, for example, entitles us, I believe, to 

the respect that is due those who follow principle.”26

Oliver was, like many of National Review’s contributors, an unrepentant 

believer in the biological reality of race and the clear racial superiority of 

whites. Arguments to the contrary were an indicator of liberal and/or 

communist degeneracy. Oliver was tapped in 1957 to review the latest book 

of anthropologist Ashley Montagu, Man: His First Million Years. It is hard to 

imagine anyone Oliver would have loathed more—Montagu was an English 

Jew whose 1942 book, Man’s Most Dangerous Myth: The Fallacy of Race, was 

one of the fi rst works written—at least by a white academic—to challenge 

assumptions about the naturalness of racial hierarchy; he was later chosen 

by UNESCO to assist in drafting its landmark 1950 report “The Race 

Question,” which rejected, with qualifi cations, the objective existence of 

racial hierarchy. Oliver accused Montagu of having “skillfully trimmed the 

facts of anthropology to fi t the Liberal propaganda line,” and had ignored 

“striking evidence” of the different “intellectual capacity” of different races. 

He even implied that Montagu was part of a plot by the United Nations to 

defraud and delegitimize the United States.27
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These were not uncommon sentiments in the pages of National Review 

at the time. Just a few months before Oliver was given the Montagu assign-

ment, Buckley penned his infamous “Why the South Must Prevail” editorial 

in which he declared that southern whites, as the “advanced race,” were 

“entitled to take such measures as are necessary to prevail, politically and 

culturally in areas where it does not predominate numerically.” Buckley 

added for good measure—mirroring Oliver’s views—that there were ample 

“statistics evidencing the median cultural superiority of White over Negro; 

but it is a fact that obtrudes, one that cannot be hidden by ever-so-busy egali-

tarians and anthropologists.”28

But while Buckley and Oliver were close through the 1950s, by the end 

of the decade their relationship was increasingly tense, as Oliver began to 

move more into the orbit of Welch and the John Birch Society. Still, despite 

the tension between the two, both were careful not to strain their friendship 

to the breaking point—at least not yet. Oliver was even a guest of Buckley’s 

on his yacht that summer for a cruise that lasted several weeks. Indeed, 

Oliver was a frequent guest on Buckley’s yacht, the Panic. Garry Wills, one of 

Buckley’s protégés at National Review in the 1950s and 1960s, recalled 

meeting Oliver on the Panic—Buckley had invited him specifi cally to meet 

Wills to see if the University of Illinois classics department might be a good 

place for Wills to pursue a PhD. (“We can give you a fi rst-rate education,” 

Oliver told Wills, “but you will not have the fi rst-rate chances at a good posi-

tion you would get by coming from an Ivy League school.”)29 Oliver was still 

very much part of the inner circle.

But Buckley increasingly regarded him as a renegade. Oliver had deliv-

ered a speech to the Congress of Freedom, a far-right political conference 

that was the brainchild of Willis Carto, in Colorado Springs, Colorado, on the 

dimensions of the international communist conspiracy and its implications 

for conservative strategy. It was in many respects a boilerplate speech, a repe-

tition of a long list of conspiratorial litanies that could have been (and often 

were) found in New York State Economic Council literature from the 1930s. 

Communists had infi ltrated every dimension of American life; millions of 

Americans were either communists or fellow travelers, the equivalent of 

“some twenty combat divisions on American soil.” Communism is an inher-

ently nihilistic philosophy, one that owes as much to John Dewey as to Karl 

Marx. Felix Frankfurter was “the most brilliant and dangerous immigrant 

ever imported into this country.” Buckley wrote in a private letter to Oliver 
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that “our disagreements here are . . . not trivial; they are critical.” Oliver saw 

communist conspiracy everywhere; Buckley believed that it is “primarily the 

non-Communists, indeed anti-Communists—as for instance Dwight 

Eisenhower is an anti-Communist—who preside over our undoing.”30

Buckley’s critique of Oliver was substantively the same as his critique of 

Robert Welch and the John Birch Society, although in Oliver’s case it was 

carefully worded both to be conciliatory and to demonstrate an intellectual 

respect for the classicist—a respect that Buckley clearly did not have for the 

retired candy manufacturer. Not everything was because of a secret, all-

powerful international communist conspiracy. But there was less daylight 

between himself and Oliver than Buckley admitted.

Oliver did not “see the formal opposition between our views. . . . So far 

as I know, we both attribute the evils that we most deplore primarily (i.e. by 

a simplifi cation that excludes a large number of forces that we regard 

as secondary or incidental)” to “two normally distinguishable forces, 

Communism and the more amorphous (or polymorphic), wide-spread, and 

seemingly diverse thing that we call Liberalism.” For Oliver, liberalism was 

theoretically distinct from communism, but “obviously the Communist 

conspiracy can fl ourish only under the cover of Liberalism in a society whose 

intellectual and moral resources have been sapped by Liberalism.” The real 

difference between their analyses, according to Oliver, was that Buckley 

believed time was on his side. Oliver did not. He noted that Friedrich Hayek 

had recently estimated “it will take at least forty years” to overturn liberal 

hegemony in the United States—and that was clearly National Review’s long-

term project. But Oliver did not believe that America would survive—at least 

in a recognizable form—for much longer. “I think of Liberalism as some-

thing that, like the bacilli of tuberculosis, will be found throughout Western 

society; the problem is keeping it under control by building up resistance to 

it in individuals.”31

It was this sensibility—that time was running out for America and 

extreme times called for extreme measures—more than Oliver’s racism or 

even antisemitism that ultimately led to the rupture of Oliver and Buckley’s 

relationship. And it would propel Oliver to seek new political allies who 

seemed—at least for a time—to understand the fi erce urgency of the moment.

Buckley had been broadly tolerant of Oliver’s antisemitism throughout the 

1950s. After the imbroglio over the American Mercury, however, he and the 
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other editors at National Review became more squeamish about Oliver’s 

views. In December 1959 Oliver submitted a pseudonymous book review of 

Only in America, a collection of essays by Harry Golden, a prominent Jewish 

journalist in Charlotte, North Carolina and a cheeky critic of the Jim Crow 

system. Oliver, of course, hated the book. Golden, who was born in 

Manhattan’s Lower East Side, was in his opinion an interloper to the South 

whose liberal bromides—“the drums for the ‘United Nations,’ more ‘Foreign 

Aid,’ and the rest of the ‘Liberal’ line”—were really just “Jewish wisdom.” 

Buckley winced; pseudonyms were not allowed at the magazine, it was a deli-

cate subject, and Oliver’s antisemitism was impossible to miss. The editorial 

staff was divided; Buckley’s sister Priscilla and John Leonard both wanted to 

scupper the piece. Frank Meyer—himself Jewish—wanted to publish it. 

Bozell voted to turn it down. “I think it is good enough,” he told Buckley, “if 

anyone else had written it. But I am sure it would be unwise for us to run 

anything by Revilo on the Jewish question. A persuasive case of anti-Semitism 

could be made out against N.R. by showing that we assigned a Jewish story to 

a demonstrable anti-Semite.” The review went unpublished.32

The fi nal rupture in Buckley and Oliver’s professional relationship 

came a few days later, again over the issue of antisemitism. A National Review 

subscriber had written to Buckley earlier in the month asking why Revilo 

Oliver—who was publicly associated with Buckley’s magazine—had an 

advertisement appear featuring his name and likeness in Conde McGinley’s 

antisemitic broadsheet Common Sense back in October. (The ad was for a 

recording of Oliver’s speech to the Congress of Freedom, which was being 

sold as an LP by an affi liate of Common Sense.) Buckley again took a concilia-

tory approach. He wrote a cordial letter to Oliver asking him to disavow 

Common Sense in writing that could be forwarded to other readers who wrote 

in about the matter. Buckley framed it as a way to protect the reputation of 

National Review, similar to the Mercury affair, which Oliver had disagreed 

with but had not—unlike Charles Willoughby—sided with Russell Maguire. 

Oliver initially defl ected—“I have no knowledge of the phonograph record of 

which you speak”—but Buckley insisted on a formal letter. Even if—as 

Oliver claimed—the speech had been bootlegged (a common enough 

problem in the recording industry, as a generation of pop music stars would 

learn in the subsequent decade), Oliver was still in a position, “through no 

fault of our own, to embarrass your colleagues on National Review.” All 

Buckley wanted was a letter, “which I could send out to those who inquire 
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about the anomaly,” stating that Oliver would not “willingly associate with 

Common Sense or the American Mercury.” If Oliver could take that step, all 

would be forgiven. (Buckley also enclosed a $60 check for the review of 

Harry Golden’s book, calling it “hilarious” but rejecting it for publication on 

the basis of the use of a pseudonym and the business with Common Sense.) 

Oliver grudgingly complied, producing a formal letter in which he said he 

wrote “only for periodicals whose literary standards and editorial policies I 

can in general approve. . . . I have thus far written only for National Review, 

American Opinion, and Modern Age.” He did not mention either Common 

Sense or the American Mercury. But by that point it was too late. In May, after 

an editorial meeting, National Review took Oliver’s name off its masthead.33

Still, Buckley took pains to maintain the relationship, writing as friendly 

a note as possible, under the circumstances, to Oliver about the editorial 

board’s decision. He sent another friendly inquiry a few weeks later, even 

suggesting that they meet when Oliver was visiting the Yale campus that 

summer. Oliver did not answer.

By the end of the year, Buckley was taking a harder line on the size and 

scope of the conservative coalition. In a letter to Robert Welch that October, 

he reiterated many of the points that he had made to Oliver: that there was a 

“critical difference” in the analysis that the John Birch Society made of the 

state of affairs in America versus that of National Review—namely, that 

National Review had never claimed that the Communist Party of the United 

States had “operative control” of the U.S. government—and that the Birchers 

had done grave damage to the conservative cause as a result. Buckley also 

continued to be stung by his falling-out with Oliver, whom he felt had treated 

him shabbily despite their close and affectionate relationship. “When I 

ventured to disagree with him on the question whether he should publicly 

associate with those people . . . he immediately struck me off his list of 

friends. In other words, it is all right for the crackpots to disagree with him, 

but it is not all right for me to do so.”34

Buckley’s views had evolved, but there was more than a degree of 

prevarication in his comments. After all, he had distanced himself from the 

American Mercury only a year earlier despite nearly a decade of warning 

signs, had disavowed the Mercury in a calculated way that was—until Russell 

Maguire wrote about it—decidedly not meant for public consumption, and 

had continued to maintain a close friendship and working relationship with 

Oliver despite full awareness of his views. Oliver defended the popular front 
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approach in a response to Buckley—Welch had evidently forwarded him the 

letter—writing that “Conservatives cannot afford internecine quarrels.” 

Buckley was too worried about what liberals thought of him and not worried 

enough about solidarity with anti-communists. “When an association in a 

Conservative cause has been made public and conspicuous, so that the 

rupture of the association would be publicly noticed and commented upon, 

there is a strong moral obligation to continue the association, even at the 

cost of personal sacrifi ce.” (With a characteristic classical fl ourish, Oliver 

went on to compare conservative infi ghting to the “pious jackasses who 

were fi ghting in the streets of Constantinople” over doctrinal disputes while 

the Ottomans lay siege to the city in 1453).35

But this was, oddly enough, unfair to Buckley. He even conceded to 

Oliver, “I am aware of the dangers of my position when taken too far in the 

direction of an exquisite aloofness.” He had no problem whatsoever—quite 

the contrary, as a matter of fact—with forming political alliances with segre-

gationists and white supremacists, provided they were from the right stock. 

Buckley was, throughout his life, an unremitting elitist who was attracted to 

men—and they were almost always men—who had what he perceived to be 

good breeding and intelligence. Men like Oliver were acceptable, for a time, 

provided they were learned, erudite, witty—and above all, right. Buckley 

shared their commitment to global white supremacy and, in the case of 

Oliver, tolerated or found ways to minimize their antisemitism. But Buckley 

also valued loyalty. And if the loyalty of someone like Oliver shifted toward 

the Birchers, well, that was that.

Oliver was a member of the John Birch Society inner circle in the early 

1960s. Not only did he sit on the society’s National Council and was person-

ally friendly with Welch, he also maintained close ties with other senior 

Birch leaders, including Slobodan Draskovich, an anti-communist Yugoslav 

exile with an academic background (Draskovich taught economics at the 

University of Belgrade until 1941) and Frank Cullen Brophy, one of the most 

prominent members of the Birch Society in Arizona and a major local 

backer of Barry Goldwater. Oliver was also a regular contributor to American 

Opinion throughout the fi rst half of the 1960s. His February 1964 article 

“Marxmanship in Dallas,” on John F. Kennedy’s assassination, however, 

easily dwarfed his other output for the society in terms of notoriety.

The John Birch Society initially treated the Kennedy assassination 

gingerly given its outspoken opposition to the administration. The 
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December 1963 issue of American Opinion even had to be pulled from the 

shelves because, printed before November 22, it tore into JFK with the 

magazine’s usual gusto. But as time passed—and especially as it became 

apparent that the assassin was not a far-right militant but rather a self-

described Marxist who had defected to the Soviet Union in 1959—the old 

tone quickly returned. Oliver upped the stakes in his article, proposing 

several outlandish hypotheses for the assassination. Oswald was, of course, 

acting as an agent of the international communist conspiracy, but why did 

the conspiracy want to assassinate Kennedy? One possibility, according to 

Oliver, was that Kennedy, while obviously a member of the communist 

conspiracy, was killed because he was planning to “turn American” and 

betray his communist masters. Another possibility was that JFK was killed 

because he had failed to keep to the communist timetable for the internal 

subversion of America—Oliver noted that Kennedy had failed to muscle a 

civil rights bill through Congress, which the professor claimed was an inte-

gral part of communist strategy to foment a race war in America. Still 

another possibility was that Kennedy, despite his loyalty to the bosses in the 

Kremlin, was killed in order to smear the American right by blaming “right-

wing extremists” for the assassination to promote a national uprising by the 

communist underground. (Oliver also theorized that other communist-

infi ltrated institutions in the United States—for instance, the CIA—could 

have killed Kennedy as part of an internal power struggle, although he 

deemed this unlikely.) Every one of Oliver’s theories on the assassination 

took for granted that Kennedy was a closet communist. Kennedy had faked 

the Bay of Pigs invasion to solidify Castro’s control over Cuba. He had 

secretly collaborated with Nikita Khrushchev to manufacture the Cuban 

missile crisis in order to ensure Democratic victory in the 1962 midterms. 

He coordinated with the communist Martin Luther King Jr. to gin up a race 

war in America. “So long as there are Americans,” he portentously intoned 

in his original draft of the article, “his memory will be cherished with execra-

tion and loathing.” American Opinion as a general rule did not exercise a 

signifi cant amount of editorial discretion over its contributors, but this line 

was slightly too infl ammatory even for that publication. It was changed to 

“his memory will be cherished with distaste” for the print run.36

The outcry was immediate. On February 11 the wire services picked up 

the story and Oliver’s charges hit almost every major newspaper in 

America—among smaller newspapers, especially in the Midwest, the story 
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even made the front page. As he was a founding member of the John Birch 

Society, sat on the National Council, and his piece appeared in the society’s 

magazine, Oliver’s analysis of the Kennedy assassination was widely inter-

preted by the press to be the society’s offi cial line. Oliver even drew interna-

tional headlines—the French newspaper Le Monde picked up on the story a 

few days after it hit the American press, billing it as the “the assassination of 

President Kennedy as seen by the John Birch Society.” David D. Henry, the 

president of the University of Illinois, quickly issued a statement 

condemning Oliver’s views and referred the professor’s conduct to the board 

of trustees. Oliver was fortunate, however; not only did he have tenure, but 

the University of Illinois was already under sanction by the American 

Association of University Professors because the school had terminated a 

biology professor’s contract in 1960 after he wrote a letter to the editor in the 

student newspaper that endorsed, in principle, premarital sex. Although 

Oliver was a headache to the administration, widely loathed by his 

colleagues, and had embarrassed the university on an international scale, 

the board of trustees not only declined to pursue fi ring Oliver but ultimately 

decided not to institute any disciplinary proceedings whatsoever other than 

issue a statement deploring his views.37

As for the John Birch Society, Robert Welch described Oliver’s article in 

the March edition of American Opinion as “superb commentary” and John 

H. Rousselot, a former California congressman and spokesman for the 

society, told reporters that while Oliver’s theories were not the offi cial views 

of the organization, he agreed with Oliver that Kennedy was killed for failing 

to adhere to the communists’ timetable. Only in May did Welch begin to 

tepidly distance himself from article, admitting at a press conference that he 

“did not agree with some of his premises and some of his conclusions” but 

that nevertheless “we think the article was worth publishing.”38

William F. Buckley, for his part, described Oliver’s theories in his syndi-

cated column as “disastrously wrongheaded, and I say this concerning the 

work of a man and a scholar for whom I have the highest affection and 

esteem.” Buckley struck an almost mournful tone, refl ecting disappoint-

ment at the depths of conspiracy theorizing to which his old friend had 

sunk, as well as an apparent sense of responsibility for politicizing Oliver in 

the fi rst place. “Ten years ago the professor, who is the single most learned 

man I have ever met, knew nothing about, and cared nothing for, politics. 

Five years or so ago we were talking in the wee hours and I chided him on 
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the ignorant political company he was beginning to keep. He replied with a 

twinkle: ‘Bill, just remember you got me started.’ ” (Buckley characteristi-

cally closed his column on a bothsides-ist note, saying that “the smear of 

Kennedy has been noticed and condemned” but smears against Barry 

Goldwater were being ignored by the liberal media.)39

Oliver was not the only former colleague by whom Buckley was now embar-

rassed. George Lincoln Rockwell and his American Nazi Party were a minute 

faction on the American right in the 1960s. While the John Birch Society 

could claim tens of thousands of members, Rockwell never had more than a 

few hundred followers at any given time. But what the American Nazis 

lacked in numbers they made up for in media notoriety. Rockwell had an 

almost preternatural knack for attracting press coverage, and he understood 

how to create public spectacle in order to amplify the spread of his message. 

Rockwell established his headquarters in Arlington, Virginia—just across 

the Potomac from the U.S. capital—and hoisted a swastika fl ag over his 

suburban compound. He toured the South with a self-described “Hate Bus,” 

parodying the 1961 Freedom Riders protesting segregated interstate bussing. 

His followers shadowed and occasionally attacked prominent civil rights 

leaders, including Martin Luther King Jr., who was punched in the face by 

one of Rockwell’s “stormtroopers” at a meeting in Birmingham, Alabama in 

September 1962. Rockwell was a popular speaker on college campuses, often 

invited by liberal student groups eager to prove their absolute dedication to 

free speech by platforming neo-Nazis. Sometimes Rockwell’s campus visits 

didn’t go according to plan. At San Diego State College in March 1962, rather 

than listening to and politely rejecting Rockwell’s views as student organizers 

had hoped, one Jewish student rushed the stage and punched the Nazi leader 

in the face after he suggested that the Holocaust was a myth. Buckley, who 

was notoriously litigious about suggestions that he harbored fascist sympa-

thies, deeply resented any suggestion that Rockwell was in any respect part of 

his movement. When the New York Times mentioned Rockwell and National 

Review in the same article in April 1961—characterizing Rockwell as a far-

right activist and National Review as the house magazine of “the Right-Wing 

organizations,” Buckley wrote an angry letter insisting that “to suggest that 

we have anything to say interesting to the membership of any organization 

whose heroes are . . . men who rate highly among those most despised by the 

editors of National Review is, well, news unfi t to print.”40
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Rockwell, for his part, took malicious glee in tweaking Buckley over their 

past association, peppering him with letters for years after their formal rela-

tionship ended. In December 1958, about two months after Rockwell came to 

public notoriety for embracing Nazism due to his alleged connection with the 

bombing of a synagogue in Atlanta, Rockwell wrote a mash note to Buckley. 

“Although I know you have either chosen the path of pretended ignorance of 

the Jewish question, or been forced to it by circumstances, I have such 

unbounded respect for your genius that I cannot simply dismiss you as a 

‘sell-out,’ as do so many of us ‘extremists.’ ” Buckley replied that he viewed 

Rockwell’s embrace of Nazism “with deep regret” and that he “can only hope 

you will fi ght free of its infl uence.” Rockwell wrote a one-word reply: “Boo.”41 

Buckley, who publicly referred to Rockwell as a “maniac,” nevertheless kept 

tabs on him—National Review even requested a review copy of Rockwell’s 

autobiography from the American Nazi Party in 1961, which was turned 

down on the grounds that “your publisher once worked with Rockwell and is 

prominently mentioned in the book.”42 Indeed, Buckley was singled out for 

praise by Rockwell who, in recounting his fi rst meeting with Buckley in New 

York in 1958, described the offi ces of National Review as possessing “more 

pulsating brain-power and genius than any place else on earth I have ever 

been,” despite Buckley being “extremely cagey on the Jewish question.”43

Rockwell, ever grateful for publicity of any kind, kept tabs on what 

Buckley had to say about him. He wrote to Buckley that August mocking his 

former employer for referring to him as a “maniac,” saying that he eagerly 

awaited the “inevitable course of events to bring you gracefully to your 

conservative knees.” Rockwell enjoyed tweaking the National Review crowd 

as pampered, effeminate dilettantes who had neither the physical nor moral 

courage of their convictions. “The ‘nice’ ‘Conservatives’ of the National 

Review stripe . . . see the idiocy of the . . . left [and] propose to ‘fi ght the 

menace with crushing blows from their silken gloves across the cheek of the 

liberals and Communists.’ ” Still, Rockwell offered an olive branch of 

sorts—he predicted that once the communists and Jews, like the big bad 

wolf from Little Red Riding Hood, had knocked down Buckley’s house, he 

would be welcomed to “the barbeque” prepared for the communists by the 

American Nazi Party.44

Rockwell took glee in provoking Buckley. In a “humorous” pamphlet 

entitled The Diary of Ann Fink that captioned pictures of Holocaust victims 

with antisemitic statements, Rockwell ran a disclaimer: “William F. Buckley 
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had nothing to do with this book.” But Rockwell also slavishly sought 

Buckley’s approval. His letters to Buckley—he wrote nearly a dozen between 

1958 and 1964—were a mixture of puerile sexualized insults (“I shall . . . 

pull down your fancy britches and give you a spanking you won’t forget” in 

response to a suggestion by Buckley that Rockwell was working to advance 

the cause of international communism) and fawning praise (in the same 

letter Rockwell gushes over Buckley’s “intellectual brilliance”).45

What he wanted most of all was for Buckley to admit that Rockwell was 

right. In January 1964 Rockwell published a fi ctitious teleplay of a “debate” 

between himself, Buckley, and John Birch Society leader Robert Welch. In 

Rockwell’s fantasy, Buckley was far too concerned with appealing to moder-

ates and liberals (and their Jewish backers). Rockwell did, however, certainly 

understand that what Buckley hated above all else was being compared to the 

Nazis; in his teleplay, the enfant terrible of the right was reduced to hysterics 

upon being compared to National Socialism. Rockwell, meanwhile, insisted 

that “we need ALL of us . . . —Buckley, Welch . . . and Rockwell.” “Nazism,” 

Rockwell insisted, “is the most EXTREME form of ‘right-wingism,’ and right-

wingers should have no more terror of being connected with it than liberals 

have of being connected with Communists.” Just as liberalism and commu-

nism were on the same side in Rockwell’s Manichean worldview, so too were 

conservatism and Nazism. At the end of Rockwell’s fantasy, he links arms 

with Welch and Buckley and all three shout “Sieg Heil!”46

Buckley did not reciprocate Rockwell’s gestures, but—as with Oliver—

he tried to affect, if not a reconciliation, then at least an effort to break 

through to Rockwell and get him to question his commitment to Nazism. 

As far as Buckley was concerned, this was Christian charity. In 1964 Buckley 

interceded with a friend of his, Father Clark, a Catholic priest in Washington, 

DC, to talk to Rockwell and try to convince him to renounce his political 

path.47

It didn’t work.

Rockwell wrote to Buckley after the meeting. He thanked Buckley, 

saying that “I enjoyed the talk with Father Clark more than I am able to put 

into words,” and that being challenged on his Nazism “cleared up a lot of 

hazy areas in my thinking.” But the meeting also “exposed what is incontro-

vertibly an impassable chasm between our two worlds.” According to 

Rockwell, the main difference between them was not antisemitism or even 

Nazism, but rather utilitarianism: “In a life boat sinking from overcrowding, 
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once death was imminent for ALL and I knew I could save some thereby, I 

would cast out the least likely to survive. Father Clark, as I presume you 

would, recoiled from this in horror.” Still, there were some areas of agree-

ment. Rockwell wrote that Clark did agree with him when Rockwell 

suggested that “we shall smite the enemy hip and thigh as did our brothers 

in Spain, when we get our chance.” (Clark, for his part, reported to Buckley 

that Rockwell was a “Nazi of the true, vulgar, 1937 variety.”)48

In many respects, Buckley’s attempt to intercede on behalf of Rockwell’s 

soul only further overinfl ated Rockwell’s ego. After all, by 1964 Rockwell 

was one of the most hated men in America. He lived in squalid poverty in a 

ramshackle “barracks” in Arlington with a handful of unstable followers. 

Buckley was a wealthy, infl uential, and respected New York journalist, editor 

of a major right-wing magazine and writer of a nationally syndicated news-

paper column, who had taken a personal interest in engaging with 

Rockwell’s message. For Rockwell this was vindication, and he was eager to 

shoulder the burden. “As I see it, I shall provide you and the Father and 

others like you with a great comfort. I shall eagerly perform a dirty, messy 

task which MUST be done, down here in the gutter, soiling my soul, 

suffering the lonliness [sic] of ostracism and loss of family and the curses of 

most of the world, but fi nally delivering to men like the Father, and, perhaps, 

you, a world in which ‘nice’ people can once again exist.” Rockwell was 

carrying the load for Buckley. “Please don’t KICK me,” he concluded, “as I 

walk past you with the load.”49

Buckley may not have thought that Rockwell was shouldering the heavy 

burden of fi ghting the Jews and the Blacks in the streets for him, but 

Rockwell did serve a useful purpose for Buckley and many other fi gures on 

the right. He was a useful contrast in claiming respectability for one’s own 

political views—no matter how vociferously one might oppose the civil rights 

movement or the national liberation movements in Asia, Africa, and Latin 

America, or how eagerly one might embrace biological racism through the 

legitimating “science” of intelligence studies, one could point to Rockwell 

and say, “At least I’m not a Nazi.” Moreover, Rockwell also served as a foil to 

attack opponents to the left. Buckley defended the mass arrests of civil rights 

protestors in Birmingham, Alabama in April 1963—including Martin Luther 

King Jr., who was arrested on April 12 and penned his “Letter from 

Birmingham Jail” during his incarceration—on the grounds that the protes-

tors were as provocative to southern whites as Rockwell and his Nazis were to 
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Jewish New Yorkers. “What we need to ponder is why the Southern commu-

nity . . . are as hostile to these demonstrators as New Yorkers are to Rockwell,” 

he wrote, concluding that such hostility was entirely reasonable given the 

civil rights movement’s sights on the “jugular vein of Southern life.”50

William F. Buckley might have been a stalwart defender of white supremacy 

in America, but still, he was no fool, and he understood, unlike Rockwell, 

that by the mid-1960s it was unproductive to openly wear one’s racism on 

one’s sleeve. One of Buckley’s regular contributors to National Review, James 

J. Kilpatrick, the editor in chief of the major daily paper in Richmond, 

Virginia, was one of the architects of “massive resistance” to court-ordered 

desegregation in the state after Brown v. Board of Education. Kilpatrick had no 

reservations about proclaiming the innate supremacy of whites. In early 

1964 he participated in a debate with James Farmer, the director of the 

Congress of Racial Equality, in which he insisted that “Negroes as a race 

were not equal to whites and that Negros had made no signifi cant contribu-

tions to Western civilization.” This was too far for Buckley—he wrote to 

Kilpatrick that he was “very queasy . . . about the superiority bit” in his 

remarks at the debate—but not only did National Review continue to regu-

larly publish Kilpatrick, the magazine repeatedly ran stories affi rming the 

biological existence of race and suggesting that Black people were biologi-

cally less intelligent than whites. As historian Edward Miller has pointed 

out, in the early 1960s National Review was more explicitly racist in its edito-

rial line than American Opinion, despite Revilo Oliver being a major contrib-

utor to the latter. But while Buckley repeatedly defended publishing race 

science in his magazine, he differentiated himself from the Rockwells and 

Olivers by insisting that Christian charity precluded treating Blacks as infe-

rior. “My position is that whatever are the differences among the races, and I 

suppose they exist, they are utterly immaterial when put alongside . . . their 

unity in the brotherhood of man” (emphasis mine). Here was a conservative 

vision of “race relations” for the rest of the twentieth century: a move away 

from the crude bigotry of a Rockwell or even the more urbane scientifi c 

racism of an Oliver, but a defense of existing racial hierarchies that eschewed 

an explicit commitment to white supremacy.51

In 1964, the political avatar of this new conservatism was Senator Barry 

Goldwater. With the backing of the National Review crowd, as well as fervent 

support from the right-wing grassroots, above all from the John Birch 
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Society, Goldwater handily beat moderate Nelson Rockefeller for the 

Republican nomination. Goldwater’s triumph in the primary—despite his 

landslide loss to Lyndon Johnson in the general election in November—is 

widely seen, both by historians and the conservative movement itself, as a 

seminal moment in American politics, the moment when the conservative 

movement successfully made a bid for power over one of America’s two 

major political parties. For someone like Robert Welch—or Buckley, for that 

matter—Goldwater’s nomination righted the historic wrong of Dwight 

Eisenhower’s nomination in 1952. But it was not just movement conserva-

tives who were excited about Goldwater. Despite his Jewish ancestry on his 

mother’s side, the overwhelming majority of openly antisemitic far-rightists 

openly supported his campaign. An Anti-Defamation League postmortem 

of the campaign found that only George Lincoln Rockwell explicitly 

disavowed Goldwater on the grounds of his Jewish ancestry (a group of 

Rockwell’s followers heckled Goldwater at Washington National Airport in 

July)—but Gerald L. K. Smith declared that Goldwater, since he had been 

raised as a Christian in a Christian home, was “ ‘cleared’ of being Jewish.”52 

It became a suffi cient problem for Goldwater during the election that he had 

to disavow some of his more radical support—after Dean Burch, the new 

conservative Republican National Committee chairman and William Miller, 

Goldwater’s own running mate, said that the GOP would not reject the 

support of the Ku Klux Klan, Goldwater hastily issued a correction repudi-

ating them.53 But Goldwater did not condemn the John Birch Society, despite 

his private misgivings about Welch and some of his supporters. When 

Goldwater told a cheering crowd at the Republican National Convention in 

July that “extremism in defense of liberty is no vice,” there was no doubt 

about to whom he referred.

Like Buckley, Goldwater was savvy enough to understand that defending 

white supremacy in the 1960s required a new language, one based not in 

openly stated assumptions of white racial superiority but couched in terms 

of personal liberties. Goldwater was outspoken in his opposition to the Civil 

Rights Act, signed into law by President Johnson a few weeks before the 

Republican convention, on the grounds that the act—particularly its prohi-

bitions on discrimination in public accommodations and employment 

opportunities—was an unconstitutional, even authoritarian, attempt to 

regulate private business, although he also insisted that he was “unalterably 

opposed to discrimination of any sort.”54



the john birch society  177

But while Goldwater—and, for that matter, much of the conservative 

press—was careful to couch his hostility to civil rights in more palatable 

language, the upshot of Goldwaterism was not lost on political opponents. 

The Black press was uniformly hostile to the Goldwater campaign—the 

Chicago Defender declared that “Goldwater’s extremist pronouncement is an 

invitation to violence and race riots,” and that “Goldwaterism and fascism 

are now synonymous.” Roy Wilkins, the head of the NAACP, compared 

Goldwater supporters to Hitler’s brownshirts.55 Even moderate Black 

Republicans loathed Goldwater—Jackie Robinson, who had by the early 

1960s become one of the GOP’s most prominent Black leaders, wrote in 

1962 that a Goldwater candidacy would mean “farewell forever to the 

Negro.”56 This was not an uncommon attitude. The Goldwater campaign 

seemed to validate liberals’ worst fears of the prospect of a new American 

fascism.

Ironically, the most sophisticated analysis of the fascistic potential of 

Goldwater came not from an American but from a Polish Marxist economist 

named Michał Kalecki. It was, of course, the standard line in the Soviet bloc 

to refer to Goldwater as a fascist or a Nazi; even Nikita Khrushchev had done 

so at a congress in Warsaw in July, when he compared the spectacle at the 

Republican National Convention to the Nuremberg rallies.57 But Kalecki 

took a more sophisticated approach. He noted that the economic basis of 

Goldwater’s support came from a “new” group of capitalists with “ ‘young,’ 

‘dynamic’ concerns” who rejected the New Deal regulatory state because of 

their naïve belief in the self-regulatory power of laissez-faire capitalism. 

More important, Kalecki linked the Goldwater phenomenon to the political 

crisis over Algeria in France, noting that what linked Goldwater and the 

right-wing terrorists in the Organisation armée secrète was that their “main 

driving force . . . is the potential emancipation of the oppressed nations, or 

decolonization in the broad sense.” Goldwater, then, and his political allies—

be they the “responsible” conservatives of National Review or the rightists of 

the John Birch Society—were unifi ed by their fundamental commitment to 

preserving the global racial and political hierarchy.58

Goldwater lost to Johnson in one of the most lopsided elections in 

American history, pulling in only 38.5 percent of the vote to Johnson’s 

61.1 percent. But despite his landslide loss, Goldwater still managed to win 

fi fty-two electoral votes—Arizona, of course, voted for its native son, but so 

too did Louisiana, Mississippi, Alabama, Georgia, and South Carolina. 
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Goldwater might have eschewed crude racism on the campaign trail, but 

white voters certainly understood that Goldwater was the man to vote for if 

you were for white supremacy.

Still, it was clear that while enthusiasm from the right-wing grassroots 

had been crucial to securing the nomination for Goldwater, groups that had 

been pegged as fascistic during the Second Brown Scare—above all the John 

Birch Society—were now a liability in expanding the conservative electoral 

coalition. In October 1965 National Review ran a special issue devoted to 

criticisms of the John Birch Society, ranging from its penchant for conspiracy 

theorizing (“Liberalism—Not Conspiracy,” intoned Frank Meyer) to its 

initial opposition to the American escalation in Vietnam. Goldwater wrote a 

supportive letter to the magazine: “I hope that you will keep up what I 

consider to be reasonable discussions of the Birch Society.” This was yet 

another seminal moment in the self-narrative of the American conservative 

movement, when principled, thoughtful, and responsible conservatives 

purged the “kooks” of the John Birch Society once and for all from their 

ranks. But the genesis of the “purge” lay less in high-minded principles and 

more in pragmatic calculation of the limits of a Birch-dominated political 

coalition. In June Neal Freeman wrote an article for National Review that 

repeated the favorite chorus of Merwin Hart and John T. Flynn from twenty 

years before: conservatives were being “smeared” by liberals alleging they 

were sympathetic to the John Birch Society. Goldwater, in his letter to 

National Review, urged Birch Society members who wished to contribute to 

the growing conservative movement within the Republican Party to leave 

Welch’s organization in order to reassure nervous moderates. That the 

“purge” was mainly based on cold political calculation robs the purge narra-

tive of some of its mythic power—but, more important, the John Birch 

Society, its members, and fellow travelers did not simply disappear because 

of some harsh words from Buckley’s typewriter.59

Nor, for that matter, was the John Birch Society the only image problem 

American conservatism faced in 1965. In May 1965 the New Jersey State 

Republican Committee told its Young Republicans organization to clean 

house after a conservative group within the Young Republicans, who called 

themselves the Rat Finks, were overheard singing antisemitic and racist 

songs at a state convention in Wildwood, New Jersey and again at a national 

Young Republican conference in Miami. One song, set to the tune of “Jingle 

Bells,” had pointedly offensive lyrics:
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Riding through the Reich

In a Mercedes-Benz

Shooting all the kikes, making lots of friends

Rat-tat-tat-tat-tat

Mow the bastards down

Oh what fun it is to have the

Nazis back in town.

None of the Rat Finks were Birchers. In fact, the head of the Rat Finks, 

Richard Plechner, was a founding member of Young Americans for 

Freedom and had participated in the conference at Buckley’s Sharon, 

Connecticut estate where the group was created. He claimed that the songs 

were sung in jest, poking fun at the smears of conservatives as equivalent to 

Nazis. Plechner lost his reelection bid as the head of the New Jersey Young 

Republicans as a result of the fallout of the scandal, but told reporters that 

the real reason he lost was because John Birch Society loyalists forced him 

out. Plechner’s opponent, Clark Allen, was not a Bircher (although he did 

have support from some Birchers in his election bid) and in any event his 

political career was essentially undamaged from the episode—he later 

became a superior court judge.60

Even taking the excuses of the Rat Finks at face value—boyish all-

American pranks and jocularity that simply got out of hand, the episode—

and the sterling careers that most of the Rat Finks would enjoy in New Jersey 

Republican politics going forward—was as good an indication as any that 

fl irting with the aesthetics of fascism was a-okay as long as you could plau-

sibly deny that you meant it. The Anti-Defamation League, which had built 

a considerable apparatus in countermobilizing against the John Birch 

Society and other radical right-wing groups, was skeptical of Buckley’s 

“purge” of the right. One staffer wrote in a memo analyzing the October 

issue of National Review that “the ‘ideological blur’ between Extreme 

Conservatives and the Radical Right . . . still exists and a real house-cleaning 

has not yet been attempted on the right. . . . It would take years of effort to 

separate the conservatives from the Radicals, and a lot more than articles in 

‘National Review,’ resolutions, and mere words.”61
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as far as william f.  buckley  jr . was concerned, George Wallace 

was no conservative. The Alabama governor appeared on Buckley’s TV pro-

gram Firing Line on January 24, 1968 in a debate moderated by C. Dicker-

man Williams. Wallace was fl irting with a presidential run and had been 

courting the support of right-wing voters. Buckley was determined to expose 

Wallace to conservatives as a fraud. The governor, evidently unaware that the 

program was meant to be a debate, appeared rattled as Buckley tore into him 

as a country-fried New Dealer and populist who had voted for John F. Ken-

nedy and enthusiastically took federal dollars as governor of Alabama. Wal-

lace was appealing to conservatives “as an imposter.” Wallace was merely 

using the “rhetoric of conservatism” to appeal to racial grievances. Wallace’s 

appearance on Firing Line followed a series of attacks on the Alabama gover-

nor in National Review going back nearly two years. James J. Kilpatrick, the 

magazine’s resident southerner and arch-segregationist, wrote a profi le of 

Wallace in 1967 dripping with condescension, although he acknowledged 

that his appeal “ought not to be taken lightly.” Buckley was spooked enough 

by the Wallace movement, which even he publicly speculated might be 

“fascist,” to dedicate another Firing Line program to debunking it. In April 

Leander Perez, a Wallace surrogate from Louisiana, made an appearance 

opposite Buckley, smoking a comically oversized cigar, showing every one of 

his seventy-six years on Earth on his face, and repeating John Birch Society 
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talking points about the total infi ltration of all elements of American society 

by international communism. The studio audience laughed at him.1

The message was clear: the Wallace movement was not only not 

“authentically” conservative—look at how Wallace supported Franklin D. 

Roosevelt!—but was for rubes, illiterates, and old people. Real conservatism 

in the United States was youthful, dynamic, well educated, and had no place 

for crazies, kooks, and southern-fried rednecks. Gone, evidently, was even a 

hint of the old popular front approach to the American right. Wallace bitterly 

maintained that Buckley thought of himself as the “messiah” of American 

conservatism, sitting in judgment on high at the National Review offi ces 

in New York determining who was and who was not authentically 

conservative.2

And yet Buckley, for all of his importance in conservative politics, was 

not the pope of American conservatism. He was not able to excommunicate 

renegades at will and demand they pay indulgences to be let back into the 

true faith. The American right was never a strictly regimented and orga-

nized hierarchy like the Catholic Church. Rather, American conservatism 

resembled the fragmentation of the Protestant churches, with various 

factions and sects vying among themselves over who was “truly” conserva-

tive. George Wallace called himself a conservative, and while many pundits 

on the right dismissed his self-appellation as a cynical attempt to win the 

votes of their movement, plenty on the right embraced the Alabama governor 

as a true brother. The John Birch Society continued to call itself a conserva-

tive group; so, too, did Willis Carto’s Liberty Lobby, even as it skirted ever 

closer to explicit neo-Nazism by the end of the decade. Still, there were some 

on the right for whom the label “conservative” was increasingly a term of 

derision. George Lincoln Rockwell was dead—assassinated by one of his 

own followers in 1967—but his philosophy of militant white nationalism as 

the spearhead of the American right continued to infl uence his followers. 

But white nationalist leaders in the late 1960s and early 1970s—ranging 

from Carto to Revilo Oliver to William Luther Pierce, Rockwell’s successor as 

head of the American Nazi movement—increasingly rejected Rockwell’s 

fantasy of being vindicated by the conservative movement.

Instead, Oliver and Pierce collaborated together in the creation of the 

National Youth Alliance (NYA) from the youth wing of George Wallace’s 

failed 1968 bid for president. The NYA sought to cultivate the next genera-

tion of white nationalist leaders, particularly by appealing to right-wing 
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college students disgusted with the tumultuous atmosphere on campuses 

during the late 1960s and early 1970s. Conservatism had lost its appeal; 

there was little apparently left to conserve in the late 1960s and early 1970s, 

with the entire racial, sexual, and biological order in the United States being 

apparently overturned by communists, feminists, and Black nationalists—

and the European colonial empires being rolled back by communist-backed 

anti-colonial movements overseas. Conservatism had failed because it had 

failed to preserve explicit white supremacy.3 The fi rst generation of the 

“white power” movement—a term coined by Rockwell in 1966—were self-

consciously apostate conservatives, unwilling to make even modest conces-

sions to the civil rights movement and committed to an understanding of 

whiteness that excluded American Jews.

But despite the mutual antagonisms between these various factions 

of the right in the late 1960s and early 1970s, and increasing differences 

in strategies and tactics, mainstream conservatives and the far right 

continued to draw from a common set of social and political assumptions 

and, crucially, were competing for the same common pool of support. 

Buckley felt it necessary to take down Wallace because, as he admitted on 

Firing Line, Wallace was “appealing to people to whom Mr. Goldwater 

appealed, and Mr. Reagan appeals.”4 Just who was a “conservative” remained 

very much contested.

One of the biggest dividing lines on the American right in the late 1960s 

was how to approach the question of race. There has been an explosion of 

scholarship since the 2000s on the centrality of white supremacy in 

American politics and the ways in which white supremacy undergirded 

liberal, conservative, and even radical politics throughout the twentieth 

century; the observation that the vast majority of the various factions of the 

American right in the late 1960s were committed to white supremacy is 

correspondingly banal.5 However, there were growing fi ssures among 

conservatives between those who were committed to an explicit defense of 

white supremacy as a fi rst principle, predicated on the biological reality of 

race, and those content with an implicit defense of white supremacy. This 

did not necessarily mean rejecting racial essentialism—National Review, for 

instance, continues, as of this writing in 2023, to publish defenses of race/

IQ science—but it did mean downplaying and de-emphasizing explicit 

racism, often by cultivating or co-opting Black conservatives as instrumental 
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fi gures. The historian Heather Hendershot, who wrote the defi nitive history 

of Buckley’s Firing Line program, noted that by contrasting his own brand of 

urbane, apparently race-neutral conservatism—at least to the TV audience 

of Firing Line—to the crude bigotry of caricatures like Wallace and Perez, 

Buckley was able to shore up his reputation as a conservative maverick, even 

moderate, to liberal audiences.6 (It also helped Buckley erase the stain of the 

“Why the South Must Prevail” editorial.) But Buckley was not the only 

conservative to adopt such an approach in the late 1960s.

The John Birch Society’s views on race were complicated. On the one 

hand, Robert Welch publicly and repeatedly disavowed anti-Black bigotry, 

insisting that his organization did not discriminate by color, race, or creed, 

so long as one was a dedicated anti-communist. And indeed, there were 

African American members of the John Birch Society, among both the lead-

ership cadres (notably conservative journalist George Schuyler) and rank-

and-fi le activists. On the other hand, large swaths of the JBS’s membership 

were avowed racists, including people (like Oliver) in leadership positions. 

The John Birch Society opposed the civil rights movement as a communist 

plot, and correspondingly threw its weight behind segregationist politicians 

like George Wallace. And despite whatever proclamations Welch made 

about the openness of the Birch Society to Americans from all walks of life, 

even a cursory examination of literature and fi lm produced by the society—

and the JBS was nothing if not prolifi c with educational materials—clearly 

shows that the organization itself considered the prototypical John Birch 

Society member to be a middle-class white professional.7

Welch, like most prominent fi gures on the right, thought the Supreme 

Court’s decision in Brown v. Board of Education was a disastrous overreach. 

But Welch was also to the left of National Review on segregation. His 

September 1956 essay in One Man’s Opinion—the immediate precursor to 

American Opinion—entitled “A Letter to the South: On Segregation,” argued 

that “formal segregation”—meaning the legal structure of the Jim Crow 

South—would “eventually be abandoned everywhere in the South” and 

that this was in fact a desirable outcome. The races would still be separate, 

of course, but this would be from the natural “voluntary” tendency of whites 

and Blacks, well within their rights as Americans, to associate with whom-

ever they prefer.8 Paternalistic and condescending as the future John Birch 

Society leader’s stance was, he notably did not defend the necessity of 

the “advanced race” taking whatever steps might be necessary to defend 
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its hegemonic position in the South, as Buckley did in National Review a 

year later.

Many commentators and analysts from the early 1960s who were other-

wise hostile to Welch and the John Birch Society were amazed to fi nd that 

the formal leadership of the organization did not, as a matter of course, 

explicitly center racism as part of its political program, at least initially. 

Scholars of the John Birch Society have agreed; one recent history of the 

group concluded that “the Birch Society was not formed in opposition to the 

desegregation process”; rather, its raison d’être stemmed from its “anticom-

munist, antiliberal conservatism.”9 In fact, Welch’s writings on the subject 

in the 1950s show—in notable contrast to Buckley—a disinterest in the race 

question altogether, except insofar as racial tension advanced the cause of 

international communism. Welch blamed Brown v. Board of Education—

which had been made possible, of course, by the communist-infl uenced 

Supreme Court under Chief Justice Earl Warren—for infl aming race rela-

tions; the civil rights movement, by pressing southern whites on political 

and economic rights, was tipping the South toward civil war. And this is 

what the communists wanted.

Because, of course, the communists secretly controlled the civil rights 

movement.

By the mid-1960s the JBS was making a conscious effort to highlight 

Black voices and Black faces in its propaganda materials. These fi gures were 

almost uniformly Black ex-communists who had turned against the party in 

the 1940s and 1950s. Two prominent Black speakers were featured in 

Anarchy U.S.A., an infamous JBS fi lmstrip produced after the Watts 

uprising. The thesis of Anarchy U.S.A. was straightforward: the interna-

tional communist conspiracy was behind the civil rights movement. Their 

strategy, as outlined by Vladimir Lenin, was to foment division in American 

society along racial lines until open warfare broke out, then use the resulting 

chaos to seize power and Sovietize America. Most of the leaders of the civil 

rights movement were in on the conspiracy; grassroots civil rights activists, 

although perhaps not communists themselves, were functionally serving 

their goals. “The civil rights movement, as we know it today,” the [white] 

narrator solemnly intoned, “is simply part of a worldwide movement orga-

nized and directed by communists to enslave all of mankind.” For good 

measure, the fi lm explicitly equated the American civil rights movement to 

the communist revolutions in Cuba and China, and above all to the Algerian 
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independence war, underscoring Michał Kalecki’ s thesis about the common 

features of the French and American movements.10

To underscore the point, Anarchy U.S.A. featured two Black ex-

communists to assure the fi lm’s viewers that the civil rights movement was 

both communistic and actually harmful to Black people. Leonard Patterson 

joined the Communist Party USA in New York City in 1928, at the age of 

twenty-two. Originally from North Carolina, Patterson was selected by the 

CPUSA leadership in 1931 to attend the Lenin School in Moscow.11 This 

was an important initiative as far as the party was concerned. Black party 

members had been sent to Moscow before, but hitherto had primarily 

studied at the Communist University of the Toilers of the East, a school 

comprised primarily of communists from the European colonial empires 

and Soviet Central Asia. Europeans (and white Americans) were sent to the 

more prestigious Lenin School. Patterson and the some dozen other Black 

communists sent on the trip were essentially there to integrate the 

commanding heights of the Communist International.12 The experience 

was less than auspicious. The white American communists in the delega-

tion repeatedly demeaned and humiliated their Black comrades, particularly 

if it was known or suspected that they had been fraternizing with Russian 

women, who were implicitly understood to be fellow whites (and who were 

also denigrated by the white American communists as whores and race trai-

tors for fraternizing with Black men).13 Tired of the party’s racism, Patterson 

left the party in 1937 and by the 1950s, he was not only an eager collaborator 

with HUAC, he was a star witness at a hearing in Baton Rouge that sought 

to blame the Communist Party for the civil rights movement, even going out 

of his way to ingratiate himself to the arch-segregationist Louisiana state 

senators, saying that he opposed the Communist Party line of Black 

self-determination.14

The other Black ex-communist featured in Anarchy U.S.A. was Julia 

Brown, a self-described former FBI agent who had infi ltrated the 

Communist Party USA at the behest of J. Edgar Hoover. In fact, Brown was 

not an FBI agent but rather an FBI informant. She was not, and had never 

been, employed by the Federal Bureau of Investigation but had taken it upon 

herself to infi ltrate the local chapter of the Communist Party in Cleveland, 

passing information to the FBI on a voluntary basis. The National 

Association for the Advancement of Colored People denounced Brown as a 

fraud and huckster for misrepresenting herself, and even J. Edgar Hoover 
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testifi ed in front of a House subcommittee that Brown was not in fact an FBI 

agent and that her claims were an “improper attempt to capitalize on the 

name of the FBI.”15

Nor was Brown the only Black woman affi liated with the John Birch 

Society to make such a claim: Lola Belle Holmes, a resident of St. Louis, 

Missouri, also billed herself as a former FBI agent on the John Birch 

speaking circuit. (Holmes, in addition to repeating the standard Birch line 

that the civil rights movement was a communist front, claimed that the 1963 

March on Washington was originally her idea and that it had been stolen by 

Bayard Rustin and A. Philip Randolph.) The message from prominent Black 

Birchers was consistent: the civil rights movement was a communist front, 

and opposition to the movement by white Birchers did not make them 

racists. Besides, as Holmes assured an overwhelmingly white audience at a 

high school in New Bedford, Massachusetts in 1967, Black people “as a race 

have done more to retard our progress than any white man has ever done.”16 

Patterson, Brown, and Holmes were featured prominently on the Birch 

Society’s lecture circuit—not, signifi cantly, to address Black or white 

southern audiences, but white northern ones. The point was not to solicit 

Black support for the John Birch Society, but to convince skeptical northern 

whites that the John Birch Society was not a racist organization.

The Birchers took a similar stance regarding antisemitism. From its 

very beginnings, the John Birch Society had been dogged by allegations that 

it was antisemitic, something that Robert Welch strenuously denied. Yet not 

only were prominent Birch leaders—not least of whom was founding 

member Revilo Oliver—outspoken antisemites, there were a considerable 

number of openly antisemitic Birchers at the local chapter level. The Anti-

Defamation League, although it hesitated to label the Birch Society as an 

antisemitic organization outright, described the group in its publications as 

encouraging an atmosphere of tolerance toward antisemitism, and promi-

nently profi led the group in its 1964 publication Danger on the Right. The 

combined weight of Goldwater’s landslide loss as well as the criticism from 

National Review on the right and from the ADL on the left was suffi cient to 

prompt Welch to opt for an image change. In February 1966 Samuel 

Blumenfeld, a senior Jewish Birch leader, formed, with Welch’s approval, 

the Jewish Society of Americanists (JSA), essentially a Jewish front organiza-

tion of the Birch Society. By creating an explicitly Jewish pro-Birch group, the 

JBS hoped to defl ect some of the ADL’s criticism and—as with its use of 
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Black Birchers to rebut charges of racism—reassure Gentile Birchers that 

the organization was not antisemitic.17

That was a tall order as long as Revilo Oliver remained a leader of the 

organization. In July Oliver gave a speech at the annual New England Rally 

for God, Family, and Country that drew widespread condemnation as antise-

mitic. Drawing from the ideas of the far-right political philosopher Francis 

Parker Yockey, Oliver obliquely criticized the foundational premise of the 

Birch Society—the existence of an overarching international communist 

conspiracy—by insisting on the biological reality of race, and darkly warning 

that “we, the white men of the West, who were the undisputed masters of 

the world a few years ago, may . . . become extinct.” Oliver articulated a mid-

twentieth-century version of the twenty-fi rst-century “Great Replacement” 

theory—that immigration and exploding birth rates in the Third World 

meant that soon, European and American whites would be overwhelmed by 

people of color. He suggested that the civil rights movement, if it were 

allowed to attain real power, would end in a Haitian-style massacre of the 

white population, and he openly fl irted with genocidal rhetoric directed 

toward the people of Africa and Asia. He predicted that in the near future 

that “wars of extermination” would be waged “on a scale and of an intensity 

that your mind will, at present, refuse to contemplate. The only question will 

be what peoples will be among the exterminated.” The speech was, in and of 

itself, less antisemitic than committed to biological racism, but he did at one 

point reference a Jewish conspiracy going back to the fi fth century AD—and 

Oliver’s views on the Jews were an open secret going back to his days at 

National Review.18

The speech was the fi nal straw for Oliver. For the past six months the 

JSA had been dedicated to attempting to disprove the ADL’s charge that the 

Birch Society created a tolerant atmosphere for antisemitism, and Oliver’s 

continued presence as a prominent Birch leader was more than an embar-

rassment. It was a political liability. As early as April Blumenfeld was pres-

suring Welch to expel Oliver from the organization after it came out that 

Oliver was scheduled to appear at a meeting of the Congress for Freedom in 

Shreveport, Louisiana alongside other prominent antisemites. Blumenfeld 

warned Welch that “when the ADL discovered Oliver’s commitment to 

participate in the meeting, it would have disastrous consequences for both 

the Birch Society and the Jewish Society of Americanists.” Welch demurred. 

A month later at a meeting in Chicago, Welch told JSA leaders that he knew 
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Oliver was an antisemite and had urged him repeatedly to tone down his 

views, but that the professor had remained recalcitrant. When Blumenfeld 

suggested that Oliver be expelled from the society, Welch again demurred. 

Oliver had “many supporters within the organization, and many Birchers 

were in accord with Oliver’s views about the Jews.” Only after Oliver’s speech 

in New England did Welch take action, and only after the ADL publicly 

charged that Oliver’s statements were antisemitic. Blumenfeld and other 

JSA leaders gave Welch an ultimatum after the ADL’s public statement: 

either get rid of Oliver, or they would resign and the JSA would dissolve. 

Even then, Welch tried to defend Oliver, telling Blumenfeld “There were a lot 

of good patriotic Americans in the Birch Society who don’t like the Jews or 

the Negroes and we simply can’t get rid of them. . . . They are basically good 

people.” Eventually, though, Welch succumbed to the JSA’s pressure, largely 

because he calculated the society’s public image would be harmed more by 

the JSA resigning than by Oliver doing so. Initially, he attempted to persuade 

Oliver to resign quietly, but unsurprisingly Oliver proved to be vindictive. He 

publicly bashed Welch as a sellout and a puppet of Jewish interests. While 

Oliver seldom, if ever, said anything negative in his private correspondence 

about William F. Buckley, he derided “the Welcher,” as he dubbed him, for 

the rest of his life.19

At least some militant white nationalists saw themselves as embodying 

the ideals and principles upon which the John Birch Society was originally 

founded. Revilo Oliver, in his correspondence to his political admirers in the 

late 1960s and early 1970s, repeatedly expressed the belief that the original 

mission of the Birch Society was to organize a clandestine network of right-

wing activists and supporters to mobilize in an insurgency if and when the 

communists seized total control of the state. Oliver wrote in 1970 that, at the 

1958 meeting that established the Birch Society, he and Welch discussed 

contingency plans that included the “possibility that it would be necessary 

for the Society to go underground.”20 Perhaps unsurprisingly, Oliver was an 

admirer of the anonymously authored 1959 novel The John Franklin Letters, 

which envisioned a future in which the communists, under the aegis of the 

United Nations, abrogate American sovereignty and seize control of the 

country. As the communists commence a race war against the American 

public, with most whites in the cities and suburbs either killed outright or 

deported as slave labor to Africa and Asia, a small group of American 

patriots band together to form the Rangers, a paramilitary group that 
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eventually overthrows the communists through a guerrilla war that culmi-

nates in a 1956-style mass uprising against the regime.21 The book 

was popular among Birchers and favorably reviewed in American Opinion 

(by Oliver, no less) as a chilling warning “which incidentally conveys infor-

mation about techniques of survival that [the reader] may need to know 

someday soon.”22

Still, there were limits to Birch militancy. Robert DePugh, a Missouri-

based Bircher, was expelled from the society after he founded the Minutemen, 

an underground militia movement (that drew, consciously or not, on the 

model of the Rangers in the John Franklin Letters) pledged to violently oppose 

the looming communist takeover of the United States.23 But while the 

Minutemen were condemned by the national offi ce of the John Birch Society, 

many rank-and-fi le members were sympathetic to that group’s goals. An 

Anti-Defamation League report from a Birch Society bookstore in New 

England in January 1966 noted that customers there were openly discussing 

stockpiling arms and ammunition.24 Certainly Oliver was not the only 

former Bircher who felt that the society was all talk and no action when it 

came to the breakdown in social order in the tumult of the late 1960s. Donna 

Allegro, a University of Denver graduate student, conservative activist (she 

was a member of the Intercollegiate Studies Institute and the recipient of the 

Richard M. Weaver Fellowship), and Birch Society member, wrote to Oliver 

in 1970 complaining that the society’s solution to “starvation, looting, 

rioting, and in short the beast coming out in men” was a mere “educational 

program.” “Frankly if the situation is this bad then why should I send my 

money to [the John Birch Society headquarters in] Belmont?”25

The John Birch Society did not offi cially endorse any candidate for president 

in 1968. Certainly Hubert Humphrey was anathema, given his ties to orga-

nized labor and his support for the civil rights movement. But Richard 

Nixon, the Republican candidate, had relatively lukewarm support. Many 

conservatives preferred Ronald Reagan—although, notably, Buckley 

endorsed Nixon in the primary as a move to block the liberal Nelson 

Rockefeller from winning the nomination—but while the California 

governor had run a reasonably strong primary campaign in the spring, he 

was unable to overtake Nixon.26 But, in a fear Buckley expressed on Firing 

Line in January, George Wallace’s third-party run on the American 

Independent Party ticket threatened to peel off conservative voters from 
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Nixon in the general election, potentially keeping a liberal Democrat in the 

White House. Many Birchers—and those farther to the right—were sympa-

thetic to Wallace. American Opinion ran back-to-back profi les of Nixon and 

Wallace in September 1968: Nixon was portrayed as a scheming opportunist 

who sold out to the liberals the moment he accepted Eisenhower’s vice pres-

idential nod in 1952. Wallace, by contrast, was “the only candidate in the race 

who is genuinely, outspokenly anti-Communist”27 Buckley might have 

dismissed him as a poseur and—quelle horreur!—a populist, but Wallace’s 

schtick could captive an audience more rapturously than Buckley’s affected 

Ivy League mannerisms. Gonzo journalist Hunter S. Thompson would 

compare Wallace’s charisma at rallies to a rock concert performance; 

Wallace’s campaign appearances in 1968 were some of the most emotion-

ally intense (and violent) of any presidential candidate in the twentieth 

century, not equaled until Donald Trump’s 2016 run nearly fi fty years later.28

Wallace consistently denied throughout the campaign that he was 

running as the candidate of segregation, extremism, or racism—rather, he 

was a “states’ rights” man who supported law and order. Some on his 

campaign actually believed this—Tom Turnipseed, Wallace’s campaign 

manager, later told an interviewer that he was attracted because Wallace was 

“anti-establishment . . . in a way that appealed to the average person in the 

South, the little guy.” Turnipseed was a segregationist—he helped set up a 

series of segregation academies in South Carolina after Brown v. Board—but 

even he blanched at the character of Wallace supporters he met on the 

campaign trail. In Webster, Massachusetts, a small town on the Connecticut 

border, he met a bartender who asked him, “Now, when George Wallace is 

elected president, he’s going to line up all the niggers and kill them, isn’t 

he?” Turnipseed recalled, “It kind of got to me to know that these people 

really felt that way, that they wanted to kill Black people.” (Turnipseed later 

broke with segregationism and became a civil rights lawyer.)29

Wallace’s choice for vice president, retired U.S. Air Force general Curtis 

LeMay, also raised eyebrows, particularly when LeMay suggested, at the 

press conference in which he was introduced as Wallace’s running mate, 

that he would support the use of nuclear weapons in Vietnam, waxing poeti-

cally in front of the cameras that if he had the choice between being stabbed 

by a rusty knife or dying in a nuclear blast, he’d chose the bomb. (This 

prompted Wallace to bring the press conference to a rapid conclusion.) But 

LeMay had his admirers, too. One supporter proudly wrote to the general 
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calling him a “living legend” and opining that the vice presidency would be 

a “fi ne job for a man of your will and your effi ciency.” The author, Harald 

Friedrich, identifi ed as a Wehrmacht veteran who had served with Rommel 

in the Afrika Korps.30

The Wallace campaign, in no small part because it was anarchic, chaotic, 

and poorly managed, appeared to offer new opportunities for right-wing 

organizing. Unlike more cerebral conservative groups like Young Americans 

for Freedom, which focused on organizing college students and profes-

sionals, particularly from elite backgrounds, Wallace appealed to working-

class whites fed up with urban unrest and long-haired college hippies—the 

“hardhats” who would notoriously attack an antiwar protest in Manhattan in 

May 1970. Unlike the Humphrey or Nixon campaigns, the Wallace 

campaign had no dedicated student wing. Instead, there was Youth for 

Wallace, which sought to organize young working-class whites along with 

students and professionals. It was not particularly successful on either score, 

but it was nevertheless savvy in understanding that white working-class 

youths and lower-middle-class white college students shared many of the 

same political grievances and the same political antipathies, particularly 

toward the campus left.

The organizing forces behind Youth for Wallace were actual young 

people. John Acord, a twenty-fi ve-year-old conservative activist with a variety 

of connections to Willis Carto’s Liberty Lobby and affi liated groups, was the 

major organizational entrepreneur of the group. Acord had a lengthy back-

ground in right-wing politics. He was the titular head of the American 

Southern Africa Council, a lobbying group that supported aid to Ian Smith’s 

white-minority government in Rhodesia, as well as the national fi eld director 

of the American Victory Force, a pro-Vietnam War group co-organized by 

twenty-six-year-old Vietnam veteran Richard Barrett.31

Barrett was involved in American Independent Party politics—in the 

spring of 1968 he embarked on a speaking tour across the South in front of 

local Independent Party audiences—and was an outspoken Wallace 

supporter in his adopted hometown of Jackson, Mississippi. But Barrett was 

not a native of the South. Born in New York City in 1943, he served in 

Vietnam as an infantryman after graduating from Rutgers University, being 

wounded twice in combat. By his own account, his experience in Vietnam 

radicalized him. After returning to the U.S., Barrett became a self-identifi ed 

“racist.” He returned his college diploma to Rutgers in protest of the 



192 the purge that wasn’t,  1953–91

university’s continued employment of the historian Eugene Genovese, at 

the time an outspoken Marxist and critic of the American war in Vietnam.32 

Barrett popped up on the FBI’s radar after moving to Mississippi in 1966 

and attempting to build connections with local Ku Klux Klan chapters—he 

told FBI agents sent to interview him that he had chosen to move to 

Mississippi specifi cally because he had been impressed by the commitment 

of Mississippi whites to racism and segregation. American Victory Force 

became a vanity project for Barrett after moving to Jackson. He frequently 

organized small pro–Vietnam War demonstrations in Jackson, drawing 

perhaps fi ve dozen supporters brandishing anti-communist signs, burning 

Viet Cong and United Nations fl ags, and calling for Student Nonviolent 

Coordinating Committee leader Stokely Carmichael to be deported. At one 

such rally, Barrett led a group of supporters to the steps of the Mississippi 

statehouse to place a wreath to commemorate Theodore Bilbo, the late arch-

segregationist senator. Barrett’s ambition to build a militant, pro-war, and 

segregationist organization hit a wall, however, because the local Klan orga-

nizations in Mississippi considered him “a nut” who “could not keep his 

mouth shut.”33

Acord, on the other hand, although a native southerner, had moved to 

California at an early age and, before throwing in with Wallace, was a “paid-

up” member of the Young Republicans. Acord was precisely the kind of 

conservative whom Buckley tried to dissuade on Firing Line from supporting 

Wallace—after Nixon beat out Reagan for the GOP nomination, Acord said 

he would try to infl uence Reagan delegates to switch their support to 

Wallace.34

Youth 114 or Wallace (YFW) did not approach the political power of the 

Young Republicans or even Young Americans for Freedom, but it did attract 

right-wing dissidents on campuses across America. Acord claimed that 

6,322 students had signed up for the group by September 1968, with active 

chapters at NYU, Ohio State, UCLA, Dartmouth, St. John’s University, 

Creighton, Kentucky, and North Carolina State.35 It is diffi cult to characterize 

the politics of the typical campus member of Youth for Wallace. They were 

overwhelmingly male and universally white, but their political backgrounds 

ran the gamut. The University of Maryland student newspaper profi led a 

number of YFW members during the campaign; the head of the YFW 

chapter there, a twenty-one-year-old senior named Tom Brown, blasted the 

Democrats and Republicans for being out of touch and undemocratic (he 
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claimed that if there had been party plebiscites before either convention, 

Eugene McCarthy and Nelson Rockefeller would have been the nominees). 

He supported Wallace’s American Independent Party because it was “the 

true conservative party. It is representative of the populist and American 

working class philosophy.” Another Wallace supporter at Maryland, twenty-

year-old Michael Burke, initially supported Robert F. Kennedy but switched 

to Wallace after RFK’s assassination. (When questioned about whether or 

not the Wallace campaign was racist, Burke candidly admitted, “Personally, 

I’m prejudiced.”) Youth for Wallace ran ads in at least twenty college news-

papers in the run-up to the election, but—as the vice president of Youth for 

Wallace at the University of Kentucky admitted—it was an uphill struggle to 

organize college students for Wallace, especially since the governor made 

bashing college students one of his campaign trail standards. “Our problem 

is the people on campus who support Wallace and won’t say anything about 

it. That (supporting Wallace) is not the cool thing to do in this election.”36

Other students voiced support for Wallace with more unorthodox justi-

fi cations. Charles Hopkins, one of the leaders of Duke University’s Afro-

American Society, wrote in an editorial in the student newspaper in early 

October that he would “either go fi shing on election day or vote for Wallace” 

because, paradoxically, “perhaps a vote for Wallace would be in the best 

interest of black people.” Hopkins was under no illusions that Wallace was 

friendly to Black power, but if Wallace won enough states to throw the elec-

tion to the House of Representatives, the ensuing constitutional crisis would 

“cause a restructuring of the political system” and “demonstrate the inade-

quacies of the political institutions to speak to the need of all the people.”37 A 

vote for Wallace, in other words, was a vote to heighten the contradictions of 

the American political and economic system in a way that could potentially 

bring about revolutionary change.

Hopkins’s strategy—-insofar as it was a serious political statement as 

opposed to a provocation directed against liberal Humphrey supporters who 

assumed that campus radicals would cast a ballot for their candidate—was 

unlikely to succeed, in no small part because of the character of the Wallace 

coalition. One “curly-haired youth” attending a Wallace rally in Durham on 

October 24, 1968 told a reporter that he wished somebody would “run a 

knife through some of those Communists from Duke” who were protesting 

Wallace’s speech. Wallace promised in his stump speech that he would run 

over protestors who blocked his car, shortly before a pro-Wallace crowd 
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attacked an interracial group of student demonstrators, with the Wallace 

supporters wielding signs as clubs and throwing tear gas canisters.38 

Accelerationism was a dangerous game against these enemies.

Given that the Wallace campaign specialized in encouraging violence 

against college students at its rallies, it is less than surprising that Wallace 

supporters on campus were generally guarded in their views. The head of 

the Duke chapter of Youth for Wallace asked that his name be withheld 

before giving a quote to the Duke Chronicle.39 Clearly, there was a social price 

to be paid for openly supporting a candidate whom other college students 

regularly compared to Hitler.

Youth for Wallace did not disband at the end of campaign. On November 15, 

1968, Willis Carto announced at the Army and Navy Club in Washington, 

DC, that Youth for Wallace was being reorganized as the National Youth 

Alliance, an organization that would be dedicated to organizing against left-

wing student groups, in particular Students for a Democratic Society (SDS). 

Acord later told the FBI that NYA was meant to be a “coalition of conserva-

tive youth organizations whose purpose was to counter certain campus 

orientated groups such as Students for a Democratic Society, which in the 

opinion of many of these conservatives, are fomenting chaotic conditions on 

American campuses.” Acord and Carto already knew each other from the 

Wallace campaign; Carto was one of Youth for Wallace’s major fi nancial 

backers. NYA was the direct successor of Youth for Wallace—not only did 

Acord stay on as chairman, the NYA inherited YFW’s mailing lists.40

Acord’s relationship with Carto, however, quickly soured. The latter 

intended to take the National Youth Alliance in a more explicitly neo-Nazi 

direction—he distributed copies of Francis Parker Yockey’s Imperium under 

the aegis of the NYA—and at the end of January held a meeting at a motel 

outside of Pittsburgh that Acord attended. He was disgusted by the proceed-

ings, which resembled a meeting of the American Nazi Party, complete with 

swastika fl ags and the singing of the “Horst-Wessel-Lied,” the offi cial 

anthem of the NSDAP. By March, Acord had been forced out, replaced by 

Carto with Louis T. Byers, a former fi eld organizer for the John Birch Society 

who had been ejected for his neo-Nazi views. At another NYA conference in 

Pittsburgh at the end of March 1969, several of Acord’s allies attempted to 

eject Carto and the more explicit neo-Nazi elements from the organization, 

actually managing to win a majority of the delegates. Carto simply ignored 
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the results of the vote and walked out of the meeting. By June there were two 

competing National Youth Alliances: Carto’s organization based in 

Washington, which included Byers; Revilo Oliver; John Crommelin, a 

former Navy admiral and onetime vice presidential candidate for the 

National States’ Rights Party; and retired Marine Corps general Pedro Del 

Valle; and a splinter faction based in Los Angeles headed by John Acord and 

Dennis McMahon.41

The Acord NYA soon launched a barrage of publicity against the Carto 

faction, leveraging relationships with politicians, media fi gures, and the 

conservative movement to maximize the spread of their message. Acord and 

McMahon received the blessing of Wallace and Turnipseed themselves, trav-

eling to Montgomery in June 1969 to brief Wallace and his staffers on the 

state of the organization. “You are doing a great service to your country” in 

exposing Carto’s neo-Nazism, Turnipseed told the pair. Even John Rarick, 

the Louisiana congressman described by Charles Diggs, the fi rst chairman 

of the Congressional Black Caucus, as the “leading racist in Congress,” 

disavowed Carto when questioned by reporters, claiming he had never heard 

of either Carto or the Liberty Lobby. There were hard limits, however, to the 

effectiveness of Acord’s campaign. Signifi cantly, the Acord NYA could not 

compete with the fi nancial resources available to Carto and his organization. 

The Liberty Lobby’s budget rivaled that of the John Birch Society; Acord esti-

mated in 1969 that it was nearly $1 million a year.42

Initially, the Carto faction of NYA seemed poised for success. 

Theoretically, the organization was supposed to be militant. Byers boasted to 

the Washington Post in December 1969 that the “NYA is a fi ghting move-

ment and not a talking one or a money raising one and is therefore struc-

tured like an army.” He added that the NYA had not ruled out the use of 

violence against left-wing radicals on campus, although no plans had been 

made to do so.43 Still, NYA rallies could occasionally descend into violence. 

An August 16, 1969 meeting at a bar in Towson, Maryland where Byers was 

speaking was broken up by police after a fi ght between organizers and a 

local Black man.44

The initial recruits to NYA were usually former Wallace supporters and 

members of other conservative groups—Byers was a former Bircher. What 

NYA offered was a much more explicitly racist and youth-oriented edge. At a 

meeting at the Pick-Roosevelt Hotel in Pittsburgh in September 1969, Byers 

and Michael D. Russell, the NYA national fi eld director, quipped to a group 
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of white college students that they probably didn’t expect that they’d “have to 

fi ght those black savages for your girls.”45 In general, most of the NYA fi eld 

organizers were young white men with explicitly racist views who felt 

betrayed by mainstream conservatism for accepting the language (if not the 

substance) of the civil rights movement and were spoiling for a fi ght with 

their left-wing classmates. James Parker Faris, a student at Berkeley, was a 

case in point. Faris had long been an admirer of Revilo Oliver and read his 

work studiously in American Opinion, but felt the Birch Society had not lived 

up to its mission. Faris was active in Youth for Wallace in California and felt 

delighted “when I discovered that many of the hard Right, who were coming 

together in the American Party, were actually secret Nationalist Socialists.” 

But Faris was also disgusted by many of these covert Nazis, who “seemed to 

take delight in denouncing Hitler and National Socialism in public, and 

then fi lling their rooms with momentos [sic] of that era.”46 Faris would even-

tually be on the advisory council of the Carto NYA and a member of the 

National Socialist White People’s Party.

Not all were as comfortable as Faris with explicit embrace of the swas-

tika, but NYA activists were uniformly racist. John Hayes, the head of NYA’s 

UCLA chapter, led a “Right Power Rally” at Meyerhoff Park on the UCLA 

campus demanding, among other things, that Ralph Bunche Hall be 

renamed for Douglas MacArthur; that genetics, eugenics, and ethnology 

be added to the science curriculum; that SDS and the Black Student Union 

be dissolved; and that “UCLA must provide segregated facilities for whites 

and non-whites.”47 (Unsurprisingly, none of Hayes’s demands were met.) 

Many fi eld organizers bemoaned the ineffectiveness of their demands and 

the harsh response from their fellow students. Stephen Lynch, the NYA 

chapter leader at St. John’s University in New York City, complained to his 

student newspaper that “there is no justice for a white nationalist in the 

United States of America.”48

The effectiveness of the Carto NYA was undercut by factional infi ghting 

and personality clashes. Carto, as his biographer George Michael has 

pointed out, had a reputation in far-right circles for alienating supporters 

and swindling them out of money—Revilo Oliver even accused Carto of 

having a Swiss bank account to protect his ill-gotten gains.49 By the end of 

1970 the Carto NYA had split into two factions—one led by Carto, the other 

by Byers. The Byers NYA quickly became dominated, however, by William 

Luther Pierce, Rockwell’s former deputy, and by Revilo Oliver. Unlike Carto, 
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who—like Russell Maguire before him—qualifi ed his commitment to white 

nationalism with the desire to retain social respectability, the Byers/Pierce 

NYA was much more comfortable explicitly advocating violence. A 1971 

editorial, “Why Revolution?”, concluded that it was no longer possible to 

cure “the system” through constitutional methods and that revolutionary 

violence was in fact the answer. (Pierce also hoped that the “bold, forth-right 

revolutionary tone” could appeal to “young Marxist militants,” who might be 

converted to white nationalism.) Pierce and the NYA were careful about 

their appeals—by 1972 their national organization apparatus had effectively 

ceased to exist, and in Attack! they encouraged supporters to organize local 

“action units” to create a layer of insulation between NYA and any violence.50 

Pierce advocated a prototypical version of what would become known as the 

strategy of “leaderless resistance,” in which small independent groups, or 

even individuals, would commit acts of violence against the far right’s litany 

of political enemies—communists, socialists, student radicals, Black nation-

alists, Jews—in pursuit of a strategy of tension. Later issues of Attack! called 

for the assassination of judges and the execution of whites deemed race 

traitors.

Attack! frequently published instructions on how to build or obtain 

weapons, especially explosives. This information in and of itself was not 

particularly unusual in the genre of underground literature in the early 

’70s—Abbie Hoffman’s 1971 Steal This Book!, a favorite of New Left radicals, 

contained information on how to buy guns and build explosives, and 

William Powell’s Anarchist Cookbook, which also provided detailed instruc-

tions on how to build or obtain weapons, was in Powell’s own words directed 

to the “silent majority” of Americans to enable them to defend themselves 

from New Left radicals or right-wing groups like the Minutemen.51 What 

was distinct about Attack! was that its instructions on procuring weapons 

were explicitly linked to fi ghting the race war on campuses and in the streets. 

Pierce’s belief in the necessity of extralegal violence against radicals and 

agitators may have been ludicrous—from the violent police suppression of 

the People’s Park in Berkeley, California under the orders of Governor 

Ronald Reagan in May 1969 to the shootings of students by National 

Guardsmen at Kent State a year later, the state had few qualms about 

unleashing violence against radicals. But that was not the point. In the pages 

of Attack! violence was an affi rmative good—an expression of vitality, mascu-

linity, and racial pride.
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Most of the themes that Pierce explored in Attack! would resurface in 

his most infamous work, The Turner Diaries, a 1977 novel about a successful 

white nationalist revolution against the federal government that culminates 

in the total genocide of all non-whites in the United States. Pierce was 

inspired by Revilo Oliver in fi ctionalizing his political writing; Oliver gave 

him a copy of The John Franklin Letters and suggested that Pierce use the 

alternative future narrative device of that book for his own.52

Mainstream conservatives eyed the infi ghting over the National Youth 

Alliance warily. James J. Kilpatrick dedicated one of his syndicated columns 

to the NYA and Willis Carto, whom he described as likely to be “elevated to 

the position of Number One Devil” by “the Liberals’ Demonology.” Kilpatrick 

clearly disapproved of what he dubbed the “far-out right”—“These statesmen 

dwell in a shadow world 100 miles to the right of Robert Welch, where 

Americanism and anti-Semitism somehow get equated”—but his column, 

based largely on Acord’s account, betrayed two anxieties. One—which by 

1969 was already a well-worn cliché—was that liberals would use the neo-

Nazi NYA to smear responsible conservatives with the charge of extremism. 

But the other was that the NYA and the Liberty Lobby actually represented 

the views of a sizable faction on the right. Louis Byers claimed that the NYA 

had recruited two thousand members under his tenure—an insignifi cant 

fi gure by the standards of national politics, but an impressive number for an 

explicitly neo-Nazi organization. While there was little danger that the 

Liberty Lobby, the National Youth Alliance, or any of their affi liate groups 

would rival the doyens at National Review in terms of raw political power, 

they were still very much an active and dynamic presence on the right. Other 

right-wingers certainly saw them as both a potential rival and a potential ally. 

With Young Americans for Freedom in disarray after a contentious split at 

its 1969 convention, a number of former YAFers found their way into the 

NYA.53 At least one NYA member told the FBI that he was infi ltrating the 

NYA on behalf of the YAF, because he believed “the NYA intended to destroy 

the YAF [and] currently all NYA leaders are ousted YAF members and great 

hostility exists between the two groups.”54 At Emory University, however, 

conservatives took a somewhat more ecumenical approach. D. Frank 

Andrews III, a conservative undergraduate, founded with the assistance of a 

few friends a right-wing underground newspaper on campus, the Right 

Angle. “I am the voice of conservatism at Emory,” the editorial in the second 

issue intoned. “My writers are many: the Republican, the Y.A.F. member, 
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the E.C.C. member, the Bircher.” They were “tired of being called racists by 

the supporters of ‘black power,’ ‘tired of being called fascists . . . tired of the 

break down of law and order.” Andrews, the editor in chief, was also a 

member of the National Youth Alliance, joining the group in the spring of 

1970, well after the Acord-Byers split. He even invited Revilo Oliver to speak 

on campus; he graciously declined due to a scheduling confl ict and compli-

mented Andrews: “Keep up the good fi ght. The important thing is to prepare 

a few potential leaders who will know what to do when the crash comes.”55

In September 1971 National Review ran a cover story by C. H. Simonds 

detailing the infi ghting surrounding the Liberty Lobby and the National 

Youth Alliance. It was not complimentary. Carto was a “furtive man” who 

“delights in secrecy, conspiracy, and power.” His brief membership in the 

John Birch Society in 1959 was highlighted—his prior relationship with 

Buckley and National Review went unmentioned. Most of the article was a 

dissection of Carto’s relationship with Yockey, his promotion of Imperium, 

and an analysis of the Liberty Lobby’s newsletter. But Simonds also retold 

Acord’s version of the split between the Acord and Byers factions, making 

sure to highlight that “next to Jews, the most despised of all are the leaders of 

the legitimate Right like such as Bill Buckley Jr. . . . They are the principal 

obstacles to be overcome.” Ironically, Oliver was a signifi cant factor in the 

story being run—he wrote a letter to Colonel Curtis B. Dall, a retired offi cer 

in the Air Force Reserve and one of Carto’s closest allies, in which he 

described Carto as a “species that I do not have the stomach to contemplate 

without nausea.” Oliver made sure that his former associates at National 

Review were aware of the contents of his letter.56 Despite the far right’s 

growing contempt for conservatives, far rightists saw no contradiction in 

airing their inter-factional political disputes in conservative publications. 

Conservatives continued to be leery of their fellow travelers on the right. And 

Oliver was by no means the last National Review contributor to make the 

journey from the National Review’s masthead to Holocaust denier.
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it  wasn’t supposed to  end this way.

At the banquet celebrating National Review’s thirty-fi fth anniversary 

at the Waldorf-Astoria Hotel in Manhattan in October 1990, William F. 

Buckley Jr. announced that he was stepping down as editor in chief. He told 

his friends and associates that he could look back with pride on his accom-

plishments over the decades at the magazine. Buckley had sought to be a 

“revolutionary against the present liberal political order” and to “revitalize 

the conservative position.” He had done so, even winning the hearts and 

minds of many of his long-standing opponents. National Review, reviled by 

liberals in the 1950s as the vanguard of reaction, “is now recognized as a 

central journalistic document.” And the political project to which National 

Review was dedicated had reshaped America. “We did as much as anybody,” 

he boasted to his friends, “with the exception of himself, to shepherd into the 

White House Ronald Reagan.”1 At sixty-four years old, Buckley could leave 

National Review confi dent of its future success and enjoy a productive retire-

ment as an éminence grise of American politics and culture—particularly 

because he had no plans to give up his TV program Firing Line, which is how 

most of the 249 million Americans who were not regular readers of his 

magazine were familiar with him.

Buckley should have departed National Review in unmitigated triumph. 

But ghosts from the past resurfaced. Buckley had begun his career at the 
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magazine guardedly distancing himself from the antisemitism of the 

American Mercury; he ended it by guardedly defending prominent conserva-

tive writers, publications, and politicians from similar allegations of anti-

semitism. Most of Buckley’s focus in his fi nal years at the magazine revolved 

around Pat Buchanan, the long-standing conservative journalist and offi cial 

in the Nixon and Reagan administrations, and Joe Sobran, Buckley’s protégé 

at National Review, both of whom fl irted with explicit racism, antisemitism, 

and even outright Holocaust denial in the 1980s and early 1990s. The 

confl ict between conservative veterans like Buchanan and Sobran and the 

increasingly infl uential bloc of largely (though not exclusively) Jewish 

neoconservatives during the Reagan years threatened to tear the conserva-

tive coalition asunder—and illustrated how, even two decades after the 

“purge” of the kooks from responsible conservatism, just who was a conser-

vative remained an open question.

The immediate catalyst was Buchanan. A frequent guest on The 

McLaughlin Group—the host, John McLaughlin, was a former National 

Review contributor—Buchanan declared on the program in August 1990 

that “there are only two groups that are beating the drums for war in the 

Middle East”—specifi cally military action against Iraqi leader Saddam 

Hussein to remove his troops from Kuwait, which Iraq had invaded a month 

earlier. They were “the Israeli Defense Ministry and its amen corner in the 

United States.”2

Buchanan’s remarks were initially ignored by the rest of the media. The 

syndicated columnist and co-host of the CNN program Crossfi re had already 

staked out a position opposing U.S. military intervention in the Persian 

Gulf, declaring that it has “quagmire written all over it.” Buchanan, along 

with former U.N. ambassador Jeane J. Kirkpatrick and columnist Robert 

Novak, was widely recognized in the press as one of the leaders of “the old 

right,” who, with the end of the Cold War, opposed further expansion of 

American overseas commitments. And Buchanan was not shy in identi-

fying in his syndicated columns whom he considered his opponents to be: 

“neoconservatives,” former Democrats or eastern Establishment types eager 

to spread American power at the barrel of a gun—or, as the New York Times 

more blandly put it, “assert America’s primacy in the post-cold war world.” 

Buchanan’s opponents were men like former secretary of state Henry 

Kissinger, former assistant secretary of defense Richard Perle, and New York 

Times columnists William Safi re and A. M. Rosenthal. These men shared 
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three things in common. One, they were all infl uential in U.S. political and 

foreign policymaking circles. Two, they were all champing at the bit to go to 

war in the summer and fall of 1990. And three, they were all Jewish.3

In mid-September Rosenthal fi red a broadside back at Buchanan. 

Writing about his remarks on The McLaughlin Group, Rosenthal argued that 

what Buchanan was really saying was “The Jews are trying to drag us into 

war. Only Jews want war. Israeli Jews want war to save Israel’s hide. 

American Jews who talk of military action against Iraq want war because it 

would suit Israeli interests. They are willing to spill American blood for 

Israeli interests.” What Buchanan was doing, argued Rosenthal, was 

invoking the same dual-loyalty charge that had been a staple of the anti-

Zionist right since before the creation of the Israeli state. Nor, insisted 

Rosenthal, was this an isolated incident. Buchanan had repeatedly down-

played and diminished the Holocaust, quipped that Congress was “Israeli-

occupied territory,” and sought to raise tensions between Catholics and Jews. 

Rosenthal highlighted Buchanan’s role in Ronald Reagan’s state visit to a 

military cemetery in Bitburg, Germany, where Waffen-SS members were 

interred.4

The pugnacious Buchanan was hardly one to back down from a fi ght. 

He blasted Rosenthal in his own column and told reporters that Rosenthal 

was incensed that President George H. W. Bush had not followed his advice 

to launch an immediate preemptive strike on Iraq. Other media fi gures 

quickly began choosing sides. Morton Kondracke, a senior editor at the 

liberal (but hawkish) New Republic and a frequent guest alongside Buchanan 

on McLaughlin, said that “calling somebody an antisemite is one of the worst 

things you can say” and that Rosenthal hadn’t proven the charge.5 Richard 

Cohen at the Washington Post concluded that “Buchanan had it coming” 

because of his claims that Rosenthal’s column was prompted by a “pre-

planned smear campaign” from the Anti-Defamation League.6 The Jewish 

press, for its part, excoriated Buchanan, both for his comments about the 

ADL-led conspiracy against him and his past remarks on the Holocaust—

the Jewish Exponent lauded Rosenthal for “affi x[ing] to Buchanan the anti-

Semitic label he so richly deserves.”7

With tempers fl aring over Buchanan inside and outside the ranks of the 

American right—and given that he called both Buchanan and Rosenthal 

friends—Buckley could not help but be drawn in. On September 19, he 

tackled the issue in his syndicated column. Buckley contended that 
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Rosenthal “reads Buchanan out of civilized society” by labeling him an anti-

semite, and that the attack on Buchanan was “an example of Rosenthal gone 

ballistic”—as, he coyly suggested to the reader, Rosenthal was wont to do. 

Buchanan’s crime was being “insensitive to those fi ne lines that tend 

publicly to defi ne racially or ethnically offensive analysis or rhetoric.” Yes, 

Buchanan had gone too far in suggesting that all the pro-war voices on the 

American right were Jewish—Buckley was a counterexample, as he 

supported war on Iraq. But his rhetorical excesses, while insensitive, were 

not substantial. Antisemitism was a sensitive issue, but “Pat Buchanan’s 

trespasses are miles this side of the awful genocidal line in the sand.”8

But the issue wouldn’t go away. It gained momentum throughout 1990 

and 1991, especially as rumors began to circulate that Buchanan would 

challenge President Bush in the 1992 Republican primary. Buchanan’s 

candidacy—as well as the success at the state level of former Ku Klux Klan 

leader David Duke in Louisiana—sparked anxiety and outrage. Could it be 

that the radical right could make a comeback in 1990s America?

Buckley would eventually produce a forty-fi ve-thousand-word essay for 

National Review entitled “In Search of Anti-Semitism,” published in the 

December 30, 1991 issue of the magazine and a year later slightly expanded 

into a book of the same title. In it, Buckley defended Pat Buchanan against 

the charge of antisemitism, along with Buckley’s friend, former protégé, and 

onetime National Review contributing editor Joseph Sobran, who had made 

similar comments. Buckley self-consciously invoked the political capital he 

had built—particularly among liberals—as the gatekeeper of reasonable, 

responsible, and non-bigoted big-tent conservatism. Yes, Buchanan and 

Sobran had gone over the line and made remarks that could be reasonably 

interpreted as antisemitic, Buckley insisted. But no, this did not make them 

antisemites on the same level as Russell Maguire.9

As in the 1950s and 1960s, Buckley’s overriding concern was how to 

keep the conservative coalition together. In many respects the stakes were 

even higher in the 1990s. Conservatism had won in the 1980s. Reagan was 

the president. Pat Buchanan had briefl y served in the Reagan White House 

as communications director. And while many on the right had been bitterly 

disappointed with the Reagan administration for not going far enough in 

either eradicating the hated New Deal state or rolling back the civil rights 

revolution, the institutional and cultural gains made by the right in the 
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1980s had been very real. But Reagan’s successor, former vice president 

George H. W. Bush, had long been looked on with suspicion by conserva-

tives. The end of the Cold War and the ongoing collapse of the Soviet Union 

also meant that the role of anticommunism could no longer be taken for 

granted in binding the right-wing coalition together.

Buckley’s dilemma was heightened by the divisions on the broader 

right over Israel and U.S. foreign policy. There were fi ve broad camps.

On the most extreme anti-Zionist end was the militant white power 

movement, which called for violent revolutionary struggle against the 

“Zionist Occupational Government” and saw Jews as the malevolent force 

behind American policy abroad as well as the civil rights revolution at home. 

Guardedly sympathetic to Ronald Reagan in the late ’70s and early ’80s, by 

the middle of Reagan’s fi rst term white power militants rejected the conser-

vative revolution as insuffi cient to ensure white supremacy. Neo-Nazi mili-

tias like the Order declared war on the state. A spate of bombings and 

targeted assassinations followed.10 As with George Lincoln Rockwell in the 

1960s, these groups were easy for movement conservatives to disclaim—

more often than not with barely concealed resentment that liberals had the 

temerity to suggest that there was any overlap between “far-right extremists” 

and, as National Review put it, “American conservatives, neoconservatives, 

and people who just celebrate the Fourth of July.”11

The Liberty Lobby and its affi liates were less militant than the Order but 

shared the same broad assumptions about Jews, Zionism, and U.S. policy. 

Liberty Lobby chief Willis Carto had been writing since the 1950s about 

alleged Zionist control over American diplomacy, as well as Jewish control of 

the civil rights movement and its efforts to “pollute” the white race by 

promoting racial intermixing. By the late 1970s Carto had become one of the 

key institutional supporters of Holocaust denial through the foundation of 

the Institute for Historical Review, promoting among others the work of 

David Hoggan and the late Harry Elmer Barnes.12 While Carto winked and 

nodded at the violent white power movement and frequently expressed 

sympathy in his writings, he was careful to avoid explicitly calling for violence.

The Liberty Lobby, too, was easy and politically useful for conservatives 

to disavow, in no small part because of Carto’s litigiousness. In 1979 Carto 

sued Buckley for libel over an article published in National Review showing 

that the Liberty Lobby was one of the major fi nancial backers of Lyndon 

LaRouche.13 The case was quickly dismissed. But Buckley, no stranger to 
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frivolous lawsuits, countersued in federal court in Washington, DC, for $16 

million. The trial was, to say the least, colorful. Carto retained the services of 

Mark Lane, a former civil rights activist turned iconoclast author and 

attorney. Lane wrote several books promoting JFK assassination conspiracy 

theories; he also represented Peoples Temple leader Jim Jones and was 

present at the mass murder-suicide at Jonestown in 1979, which he survived 

by fl eeing into the jungle. Lane’s opening statement to the all-Black DC jury 

posited that “National Review, since its inception, has been a racist, pro-Nazi, 

pro-fascist publication” that smeared Black leaders like Adam Clayton 

Powell Jr. and Martin Luther King.14 Lane’s argument was dismissed by 

observers as cynical race-baiting on behalf of an openly pro-Nazi client, but 

Lane did manage to score some points. Buckley admitted that he had 

employed George Lincoln Rockwell at National Review before Rockwell’s 

open embrace of Nazism—something he generally sought to minimize—

and that he had written the infamous “Why the South Must Prevail” editorial 

in 1957. Buckley defended himself in court, saying that he didn’t believe in 

universal franchise either for Blacks or for whites.15

Buckley’s overall demeanor did little to endear him to either the jurors 

or Joyce Hens Green, the presiding judge, who recalled in an interview 

sixteen years later that Buckley turned to her at one point in his testimony to 

ask if he could leave court early to catch a plane. “When I said ‘No,’ he kept 

insisting that he was losing a great deal of money. The jury overheard this 

and did not appear impressed by his attitude.” (She also found it “an odd bit 

of lawyering” that Buckley’s own attorney walked him though his privileged 

background and upbringing in his questions, since District of Columbia 

jurors were generally not going on regular skiing holidays to Switzerland.) 

The jury ultimately awarded nominal damages of $1,001 to Buckley, who 

spent nearly $160,000 on legal fees.16 Lane claimed a victory both for 

himself and for conservatism as a whole—he insisted throughout the trial 

that Buckley was trying to “silence a dissenting voice” in the conservative 

movement by smearing Carto and shutting down the Spotlight, which 

boasted 145,000 readers, and that Carto and Buckley held broadly similar 

views on race.17 Judge Green, at least, was inclined to agree, describing the 

lawsuit in retrospect as a “libel action of one conservative opinion magazine 

and its principal versus another conservative opinion magazine and its prin-

cipal. The men had been great friends in past years and come to a division of 

their ways.”18
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There was considerable overlap between the Holocaust deniers and 

avowed white supremacists and the libertarian faction of the right coalition. 

Heterodox Austrian School economist and Cato Institute co-founder Murray 

Rothbard, for example, was a close friend of Harry Elmer Barnes and sought 

to promote his work, even publishing a collected work of his essays under 

the aegis of the Cato Institute in 1980. Rothbard was also, despite his own 

Jewish background, a ferocious antisemite who referred to Jews in private 

correspondence as “those fucking kikes” and “cocksuckers.” While Rothbard 

had been forced out of the Cato Institute in 1980 over disputes with Cato’s 

funders—Rothbard held a particular animus against the Koch brothers, the 

major fi nancial angels of the institute, whom Rothbard described as control 

freaks who sought to water down the Cato Institute’s ideological purity to 

expand its political footprint—he nevertheless enjoyed infl uence in the small 

but zealous right-libertarian political spaces. He was an outspoken supporter 

of Texas congressman Ron Paul’s 1988 presidential bid on the Libertarian 

Party ticket and, by the early 1990s, was expressing support for both Pat 

Buchanan and David Duke, whose platform of “lower taxes, dismantling the 

bureaucracy, slashing the welfare system, attacking affi rmative action and 

racial set-asides, [and] calling for equal rights for all Americans, including 

whites” was something libertarians and the right more broadly could 

fervently embrace. While Rothbard was a particularly extreme example, 

more mainstream libertarian publications endorsed similar ideas—the fl ag-

ship libertarian magazine Reason occasionally published the work of 

Holocaust deniers like James J. Martin under the guise of questioning Cold 

War militarism.19

Distinct from the militants, the institutionalist antisemites, and their 

libertarian allies was a broad faction of longtime conservative activists who 

harbored frustrations about the incompleteness and inadequacy of the 

Reagan Revolution as well as resentments toward parvenu conservatives 

whom they felt were mere opportunists. George H. Nash dubbed these old 

stalwarts “paleoconservatives,” a curious self-appellation that suggested 

anachronism as much as tradition. These paleoconservatives bitterly 

resented the infl uence of neoconservatives—former liberals and leftists who 

had shifted dramatically to the right in the 1960s and 1970s, often because 

of explicitly racial anxieties about the Black freedom struggle.20

It wasn’t left-wing radicalism per se that made neoconservatives such an 

object of suspicion—after all, the ranks of the conservative movement had 
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long been fi lled with ex-communists like James Burnham, Willmoore 

Kendall, Frank Meyer, and Whittaker Chambers. What explained the depth of 

suspicion paleoconservatives felt for neoconservatives? Part of it was resent-

ment over neoconservatives’ positions of prominence in the new Reagan 

administration despite being relative newcomers to the right-wing political 

scene. As the University of Michigan historian Stephen J. Tonsor put it at a 

meeting of the Philadelphia Society in 1986, “It is splendid when the town 

whore gets religion and joins the church. Now and then she makes a good 

choir director, but when she begins to tell the minister what he ought to say in 

his Sunday sermons, matters have been carried too far.”21 Neoconservatives 

were not part of the movement during the wilderness years. Few had voted, 

let alone volunteered, for Goldwater. As late as 1975 Joseph Sobran sneered at 

the conservative credentials of the neoconservative magazine Commentary, 

describing it as a liberal magazine “remarkable” (among liberals) for “its will-

ingness to take conservative views seriously,” but noting that this hardly 

made it a “conservative” publication.22 And now they were being showered 

with jobs, perks, and access, both by the Reagan administration and by a 

growing constellation of right-wing philanthropic foundations.

Undergirding these tensions was the identifi cation of neoconservatives 

with Jews. Many of the leading neoconservatives—Irving Kristol, Norman 

Podhoretz, Daniel Bell, and Nathan Glazer, among others—were Jewish, 

and the magazine Commentary was so identifi ed with neoconservatives that 

William F. Buckley published an editorial in National Review in 1971 lauding 

the publication for coming around to the right side. Not all neoconservatives 

were Jewish—Irish Catholic Daniel Patrick Moynihan being a prominent 

example—and though Paul Gottfried, the man who coined the term paleo-

conservative, was Jewish, the neoconservative phenomenon was almost 

universally understood to be a novel form of Jewish politics.23

Buckley and National Review occupied a centrist position in these 

factional disputes. On the one hand, National Review had been or was home 

to many of the most outspoken traditionalist conservatives, and Joseph 

Sobran, one of the most forceful of the paleoconservative voices, was a senior 

editor at National Review as well as Buckley’s protégé. Russell Kirk continued 

to publish frequently for the magazine, as did Mel Bradford. On the other 

hand, Buckley was friendly with many of the leading lights of neoconserva-

tism, from Norman Podhoretz to Irving Kristol, and found himself increas-

ingly less patient with the contrarianism of the traditionalists toward the 
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Reagan administration. Was it not enough that conservatives fi nally had a 

foothold in Washington? After all, far more bound the right together than 

drove it apart.

Both neoconservatives and traditionalists were self-refl exively intellec-

tual and often the product of advanced, if not elite, education. The liberal 

writer Peter Steinfels identifi ed Irving Kristol, Daniel Patrick Moynihan, and 

Daniel Bell as the most important propagators of neoconservatism in the 

late 1970s—both Moynihan and Bell had PhDs and both Bell and Kristol 

were prominent academics, holding professorships at Harvard and NYU, 

respectively.24 But credentialism was common among paleoconservatives, 

too: Melvin Bradford, for instance, held a PhD from Vanderbilt University; 

Gottfried earned an MA and a PhD from Yale. Even Pat Buchanan was a 

product of Georgetown University and later attended journalism school at 

Columbia. And paleoconservatives and neoconservatives shared many of 

the same antipathies. Both were ferociously hostile to New Left activists in 

the 1960s—Russell Kirk described Students for a Democratic Society as a 

group of “violent fanatics,” while the pages of Commentary in the late 1960s 

were increasingly fi lled with invective against the “outrageous statements” 

of New Left–infl uenced intellectuals. Both were especially critical of the 

student uprisings.25 Neither faction was as extreme as the militant far right, 

which believed that the revolutionary threat from left-wing students required 

paramilitary violence, but all shared a profound loathing for the challenge of 

the New Left.

Paleoconservatives and neoconservatives were also largely united 

around the question of race. Although Paul Gottfried, channeling the spirit 

of Revilo Oliver, claimed that “unlike the neoconservatives, the Old Right 

holds to the concept of a differentiated humanity,” neoconservatives shared 

the same basic assumptions.26 Even neoconservatives who generally 

eschewed a strict hereditarian approach reached many of the same conclu-

sions. Daniel Patrick Moynihan’s infamous 1965 report on the breakdown 

of the Black family in America was not based on assumptions or arguments 

about hereditarian or genetic difference. In fact, Moynihan took a largely 

historical and cultural approach, emphasizing the importance of the legacy 

of slavery and the “reversed roles of husband and wife,” where Black women 

tended to dominate their husbands, leading to a breakdown in social order. 

Moynihan also argued that the expansion of state welfare programs was ulti-

mately the culprit behind what he called the “tangle of pathology” of the 
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Black family, and that federal policy needed to be adjusted to meet this 

reality. Moynihan’s conclusions—in large part refl ecting his Catholic 

upbringing and broader assumptions about the proper composition of fami-

lies—have been the subject of justifi ably ferocious critique from feminists 

and African American thinkers and activists for over fi ve decades, and a full 

discussion of them is beyond the scope of this chapter. What is pertinent is 

that Moynihan’s conclusions about Black pathology—a point he repeatedly 

expanded upon in neoconservative publications like Commentary and the 

National Interest—were eminently compatible with concepts of a “differenti-

ated humanity.” Indeed, National Interest frequently published work by 

race/IQ proponents like Arthur Jensen and Richard J. Herrnstein.27 

Neoconservatives often differentiated themselves from paleoconservatives 

by their commitment to statistics and social science—as opposed to 

common sense, intuition, and tradition—when it came to social policy. On 

the critical question of race in America, however, both neoconservatives and 

paleoconservatives shared the same basic assumptions about Black aber-

rancy and degeneracy.

Even on foreign policy there were more commonalities than differences 

between the paleocons and the neocons, at least until the end of the Cold 

War. Robert Welch, himself a kind of proto-paleocon, may have initially been 

ambivalent about the commitment of U.S. troops to Vietnam in the 1960s, 

but the John Birch Society fervently believed in the necessity of victory 

against communism in the fi eld and the broader Soviet menace. When 

Welch’s successor as the head of the John Birch Society, Georgia 

congressman Larry McDonald, was killed when a Soviet interceptor shot 

down a Korean Air Lines fl ight that had strayed into Soviet airspace on 

September 1, 1983, the Birchers demanded harsh measures—American 

Opinion declared that the Soviets had assassinated McDonald, and Paul 

Weyrich, a frequent contributor to the magazine, urged President Reagan to 

close American ports to Soviet ships, cancel upcoming arms control negotia-

tions, and expel Soviet diplomats, in addition to the administration’s existing 

move to shut down American airspace to Soviet airlines. But neoconserva-

tives were themselves only barely satisfi ed with Reagan’s response to the 

shootdown. “The administration has always used tough words,” Daniel 

Patrick Moynihan told reporters a few days after the incident. “What tough 

things have they done?” Beyond anticommunism, both paleoconservatives 

and neoconservatives were committed to a particular vision of swaggering, 
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masculine American strength. Both factions derided Jimmy Carter as a 

weakling and a wimp, in no small part due to Carter’s handling of the Iran 

hostage crisis and the continued decline in American prestige, already 

battered by the humiliating loss in Vietnam. And despite the critics of 

Ronald Reagan’s increasingly conciliatory approach to the Soviet Union, his 

sunny optimism, carefully manicured cowboy image, and his record of 

unleashing devastating police violence against left-wing radicals appealed to 

the power fetishists across the right.28

This was the challenge conservative centrists faced in the 1980s. More 

bound the American right than drove it apart, but the divisions were there, 

and they were growing. William F. Buckley was determined to keep the 

right-wing popular front together.

The fi rst major public clash between paleoconservatives and neoconserva-

tives was over, of all things, the chairmanship of the National Endowment for 

the Humanities (NEH) in October 1981. Conservatives were giddy at the 

prospect of replacing Joseph D. Duffey, a Carter administration holdover and 

former head of Americans for Democratic Action who was, in the words of 

Human Events, “shoveling hundreds of thousands of dollars into the coffers 

of the Democratic left.” (Among Duffey’s sins was awarding some $800,000 

in grants to organized labor.)29 Melvin E. Bradford, an English professor at 

the University of Dallas, was widely thought to be the favorite for the job. 

Considered a Reagan loyalist, Bradford had supported Reagan’s bid against 

Gerald Ford in 1976, helped organize the Scholars for Reagan group in 1980, 

and been appointed a member of Ronald Reagan’s presidential transition 

team after Reagan’s election victory. Bradford also had the support of sixteen 

conservative Republican senators, including Jesse Helms, John Tower, Strom 

Thurmond, Orrin Hatch, and Dan Quayle. But Bradford had his weaknesses. 

Although he had impeccably conservative political credentials dating back to 

his vocal support for Barry Goldwater in 1964, he was also a quintessentially 

southern conservative. Bradford had long been sympathetic to George 

Wallace and had openly supported Wallace’s 1972 bid for the Democratic 

nomination. Bradford, a Confederate sympathizer, had also written harshly 

about Abraham Lincoln, whom he castigated as a tyrant and a “dangerous 

man” in the pages of Modern Age and National Review.30 Nevertheless, 

Bradford enjoyed broad support for the position among conservative pundits 

and intellectuals—including Russell Kirk and William F. Buckley.
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Neoconservatives, led by Irving Kristol, rallied around their own 

candidate—William Bennett, a political philosopher and director of the 

National Humanities Center in Research Triangle Park, North Carolina.31 

While both Bennett and Bradford represented a departure from Duffey, 

Bradford was considerably more pugnacious, vowing to cut the number and 

size of NEH grants and “see that conservatives [get] a better shake than they 

did in Duffey’s regime.”32 Human Events noted that while Bennett had the 

support of neoconservatives, he was “too tight” with the existing staff of the 

NEH—the National Humanities Center relied on NEH grants for 15 percent 

of its budget—and had written a letter in defense of the NEH’s grant proce-

dures in a letter to Harper’s in October 1980.33

There were regional and class dimensions at play as well. Bennett’s 

support was primarily based among northeastern intellectuals and 

activists—in addition to Kristol, his major backers included the New York–

based Olin Foundation. Bennett was from Brooklyn, and while he had some 

southern connections—in addition to his position at the NHC in North 

Carolina, he earned his PhD from the University of Texas in 1965—he also 

held a BA from Williams College in Massachusetts and a JD from Harvard 

Law School, and had taught at Boston College before moving to the National 

Humanities Center. Bradford, on the other hand, was as southern as 

sunshine and sweet tea, and had repeatedly told reporters that one of his 

major goals was to “give more [grants] to Texas and Oklahoma. . . . Not every-

thing would go to Harvard, Yale, Princeton, and Chicago.”34

Kristol and the Olin Foundation kept up the pressure—as did Bradford 

detractors like George Will, who decried Bradford’s “shrill assault” on 

Abraham Lincoln—and in November the Reagan administration announced 

that Bennett, not Bradford, would get the top spot at NEH. Bradford’s 

remaining congressional allies were incensed—Jesse Helms told reporters 

he would not support Bennett’s confi rmation until he had assurances that 

“scholarship from the conservative end of the spectrum as well as from the 

liberal end of the spectrum will be recognized.”35

Paleoconservatives walked away from the failed Bradford nomination 

embittered and angry. They had built up conservatism into a powerful intel-

lectual and social force, and now they were being denied the fruits of their 

victory. Neoconservatives were relieved that a Confederate sympathizer had 

been kept out of the National Endowment for the Humanities, a develop-

ment that would have done nothing to defuse allegations that the Reagan 
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administration was courting the support of former segregationists. Neither 

faction paid much heed to historian Eric Foner’s analysis of the dispute, 

which hinged on the unanimity of both paleoconservatives and neoconser-

vatives around “policies broadly perceived, whatever their initial motivation, 

as being anti-black.”36

The roiling confl ict between paleoconservatives and neoconservatives 

hit closer to home for National Review—and became explicitly interlaced 

with the question of antisemitism—in 1986, when neoconservatives 

accused senior editor Joseph Sobran of propagating anti-Jewish views in the 

magazine and in his syndicated columns. Sobran had been writing for the 

magazine since 1972; Buckley recruited him after Sobran engaged in a 

letter-writing campaign to faculty at Eastern Michigan University, where 

Sobran was a student, defending Buckley’s right to speak on the campus. 

Sobran quickly became Buckley’s protégé—a replacement, in many 

respects, for fellow Michigander Garry Wills, who had broken with Buckley 

due to Wills’s sympathy with the New Left. (In fact, one of the fi rst columns 

Sobran wrote for National Review was an excoriation of Wills, whose post-

conservative writings he derided as crude and “dutifully vulgar.” He later 

gently chided Wills for writing for Playboy.)37 Like Wills (and Buckley), 

Sobran was devotedly Catholic and was dedicated to the classics—Buckley 

hired him away from a fellowship at Eastern Michigan where Sobran was 

studying Shakespeare.

Several major themes emerge from Sobran’s work for National Review—

in his twenty years with the magazine he wrote nearly four hundred stories, 

an output exceeded only by Buckley himself. He shared the prurient sexual 

obsessions common to conservative writers in the 1970s, insisting with the 

zeal of a deacon that sexuality needed to be properly channeled and 

controlled. (In this, he shared the attitudes of his patron and employer 

Buckley, whose commitment to the sexual enticement of conservative femi-

ninity was such that in his debut novel Saving the Queen CIA agent Blackford 

Oakes, a thinly disguised alter ego of Buckley, has a torrid affair with the 

queen of England.) On racial matters Sobran was typical of his fellow writers 

at the magazine, who had eschewed an overt commitment to white 

supremacy for the more nuanced colorblind ethos of conservatism in the 

1970s and 1980s. But there was no mistaking Sobran’s underlying commit-

ments. He derided the Black magazines Ebony and Essence in the early 1970s 

for their emphasis on publishing “articles aimed at refuting theories of 
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correlation between race and IQ”—a direct rebuttal, in many respects, to the 

content of National Review at the time—and concluded that Ebony and 

Essence protested too much. Sobran rarely wrote about apartheid South 

Africa, although when he did, he consistently downplayed the cruelty and 

violence of the Afrikaner regime—its “racial caste system is far milder than 

the tribal caste system of states like Burundi”—and insisted that South 

Africa was an “easy target” for American liberals that did not deserve its 

exalted status in “liberal demonology.”38

On Israel, Sobran was idiosyncratic. He was emphatically not a Zionist, 

but neither did he embrace political anti-Zionism or, for that matter, the 

Palestinian cause. Yassir Arafat and the Palestinian Liberation Organization 

were, for Sobran as for most on the right, Soviet-backed thugs. Liberal 

sympathy for the Palestinians—even from liberal Jews—was simply 

evidence of American liberalism’s deep and long-standing ties with interna-

tional communism, and the condemnations of Israeli oppression by liberals 

were as hollow as their antipathy toward Rhodesia and even America. In 

1981 Sobran even attacked Richard Cohen for taking too harsh a line on 

Israeli policy in the occupied Palestinian territories and in Lebanon, as well 

as Israel’s alliances with right-wing authoritarian regimes like South Africa 

and Argentina. “A beleaguered nation would have to be insane to forswear 

the co-operation of South Africa to retain the approval of Richard Cohen.”39

None of this necessarily meant, however, that Sobran saw Israel as a 

dependable American ally. Despite the Begin government’s conciliatory 

gestures toward evangelical Christian leaders in the United States in the 

early 1980s—in particular Israel’s cultivation of the Reverend Jerry Falwell 

as a political ally—Sobran insinuated that Israel was in some meaningful 

sense anti-Christian. (Sobran, as a Catholic, did not share Falwell’s eschato-

logical beliefs about the Jewish return to Israel as a precondition for the 

Second Coming of Christ.) He described Israel in one column as a “semi-

theocracy that gives preferred status to one religion, Judaism, and . . . sharply 

discourages proselytizing by Christians” (even Falwell could not wring that 

concession from the Israelis).” Since Israel was dependent on American aid, 

“is it right . . . that Christians should be taxed to provide aid to such a 

society?”40

Sobran also fl irted with the avowedly racist right. In a May 1986 syndi-

cated column, he complained that “America has become a minority-ridden 

country” and blamed Blacks for skyrocketing crime rates. He framed his 
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argument—as conservatives had approached race/IQ science for years—as 

simply meeting unpleasant facts head-on. “One doesn’t discuss such facts in 

polite company. One is not supposed to notice. . . . The fact remains that 

white Americans live in fear of blacks,” and the statistical evidence validated 

those fears. “That is one reason white Americans envy Europe. Two 

Frenchmen or two Germans, total strangers to each other, can trust each 

other in ways two Americans can’t.” Sobran’s column, while undeniably 

racist, would almost certainly not have invited opprobrium had he not then 

endorsed Instauration, a white nationalist magazine that Sobran claimed 

“faces the harder facts about race.” He called it an “often brilliant magazine, 

covering a beat nobody else will touch, and doing so with intelligence, wide-

ranging observation, and bitter wit. It is openly and almost unremittingly 

hostile to blacks, Jews, and Mexican and Oriental immigrants.” Sobran’s 

endorsement of the magazine was not unqualifi ed—although he called it 

“intellectually superior” to the liberal press, which insisted on “pure, altru-

istic benevolence” between the races, he wrote that Instauration’s “world of 

Hobbesian confl ict at the racial level” was also unsatisfying—but he left the 

fi rm impression that he felt the magazine had an important contribution to 

make.41

That spring, Midge Decter, the executive director of the neoconservative 

think tank Committee for the Free World, circulated an open letter to promi-

nent conservatives labeling Sobran “little more than a crude and naked anti-

Semite.” Decter was well connected. The Committee for the Free World 

included among its members Jeane Kirkpatrick, the ambassador to the 

United Nations; former secretary of defense under the Ford administration 

Donald Rumsfeld; and Irving Kristol. Decter had helped found the organiza-

tion in 1981 with support from the Scaife, Olin, and Smith Richardson 

Foundations.42 She was also married to Commentary editor Norman 

Podhoretz. Her opinion, in short, mattered. When such a powerful fi gure in 

American neoconservatism accused Sobran, a senior editor at National 

Review, of being an antisemite, other publications had begun to weigh in on 

the issue. Buckley had to respond.

Buckley’s approach to the concern about Sobran was broadly similar to 

his reponse to the American Mercury issue three decades earlier; he worked 

behind the scenes in the gentlest possible ways to keep the right-wing coali-

tion from publicly fragmenting. He wrote back privately to Decter denying 

that Sobran was a “crude anything. And beyond that, he is not a naked 
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anti-Semite, nor, in my opinion a crypto or even a latent anti-Semite.” 

Buckley was probably sincere in his defense of Sobran. Over the course of 

Buckley’s friendship with Revilo Oliver, Buckley conceded in private that 

Oliver was an antisemite. He was not willing to make the same concession 

over Sobran. But Buckley did write in his response to Decter that, if one did 

not know Sobran as Buckley did, it would be reasonable to conclude that 

some of his columns about Israel were “animated by anti-Semitism.” He 

would urge Sobran to tone down his rhetoric on Israel and the Jews.43

Buckley’s attempt to keep the issue in the family, as it were, was not 

successful. Decter had circulated her letter widely, and stories about the 

dispute began popping up in publications ranging from Newsweek and the 

Chicago Tribune to the Nation, which was enjoying more than a little schaden-

freude at the expense of its conservative rivals. Buckley convened a meeting 

of the editorial board—which included Sobran—at the end of May 1986. 

Along with Jeffrey Hart, Richard Brookhiser, and his sister Priscilla Buckley, 

he tried to convince Sobran that he had crossed the line with his columns. 

Sobran rejected their criticism and “insisted that he was being victimized by 

Decter, Podhoretz, and other Jews.” But the members of the editorial board 

held fi rm: while rejecting calls from columnists like Richard Cohen to fi re 

Sobran, they told him directly that he was not to write any more about Israel 

or Jews, either in National Review or in his syndicated columns. The issue 

was simply too hot, and the magazine wanted no further embarrassment 

either to itself or to the broader conservative coalition. Sobran grudgingly 

agreed.44

Although Buckley’s concluding sentence—that he was confi dent that 

Sobran would in the future “argue his positions in such a fashion as to avoid 

affronting our natural allies”—could be and indeed was interpreted by 

Sobran and others as a veiled threat (shut up or get in line), it was an exceed-

ingly generous one.45 Sobran took to the airwaves to defend himself. On a 

C-SPAN special dedicated to the controversy, Sobran said he was being 

targeted because he had the courage to speak out against “several ethnic 

lobbies,” “the black and Jewish ones in particular.” He was defi ant and 

unapologetic, and also seemed genuinely hurt and perplexed by Buckley’s 

attitudes toward him and the Jewish issue. “Bill Buckley is going to give the 

naïve reader the impression that he’s under terrifi c pressure from Jews . . . 

and he’s not!” Sobran told host Brian Lamb. “He thinks he has to maintain a 

certain kind of appearance but he really doesn’t have to.” Sobran went on to 



216 the purge that wasn’t,  1953–91

dismiss the potential of a Nazi Party in the United States—despite a spate of 

neo-Nazi violence that had claimed the life of Jewish radio host Alan Berg in 

Denver only two years earlier—and said that “[we] need to stop . . . feeling 

guilty about the Holocaust.” He added that Buckley had talked to him before 

he had written his National Review op-ed: “He was very fatherly about it, and 

very nice—he’s a very sweet man!—and he was worried about my future 

more than anything else.”46 Sobran continued to write for National Review, 

although it would be several years until he wrote another cover story.

Like Joseph Sobran, Pat Buchanan was incensed by the infl uence of neocon-

servatives on the political movement he had long called home. Buchanan 

was, in his own words, a “from the cradle conservative.” His father, William 

Buchanan, had briefl y fl irted with New Deal liberalism—even casting a vote 

for FDR in 1932—but, like John T. Flynn, had soured on the Roosevelt 

administration by the late 1930s. The younger Buchanan recalled in his 

memoirs that his father’s favorite columnist in the 1950s was none other 

than Westbrook Pegler, and—like many American Catholics—he spoke 

glowingly about the regime of Francisco Franco in Spain. As a young man in 

his twenties, Pat Buchanan wrote editorials for the St. Louis Globe-Democrat 

(notably supporting Barry Goldwater’s bid in 1964) and became involved in 

a variety of different conservative political organizations and campaigns. He 

was a member of Young Americans for Freedom and wrote press releases 

for the organization. He also worked for Richard Nixon’s law offi ce in 

Manhattan, parlaying his connections into a position as an advisor to Nixon’s 

1968 election campaign. Buchanan worked as an opposition researcher and 

speechwriter, and became a key policy advisor in the Nixon White House. A 

bridge to the conservative movement for the Nixon administration, he tried 

to push the president as far to the right as possible on domestic policy. (In a 

1970 note to John Ehrlichman Nixon described Buchanan’s views on racial 

issues as “segregation forever.”)47

Buchanan, although never directly implicated in criminal activity in the 

Watergate scandal, advised President Nixon to take a maximalist approach 

against his political opponents—he played a major role in advising Nixon to 

conduct the infamous Saturday Night Massacre in October 1973, when 

Nixon fi red Attorney General Elliot Richardson, Deputy Attorney General 

William Ruckelshaus, and Watergate Special Prosecutor Archibald Cox in 

an unsuccessful attempt to quash the Watergate investigation.48 After 
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Nixon’s resignation, White House chief of staff Alexander Haig even 

privately promised Buchanan the position of ambassador to South Africa (a 

posting Buchanan claims to have requested), but the plan was quickly 

squelched by President Ford, apparently conscious of the terrible political 

optics of handing a plum diplomatic posting to a Nixon hardliner mere days 

after pardoning the president.49

With his political career at a dead end, Buchanan returned to media, 

writing frequently for Human Events and National Review as well as in a 

nationally syndicated newspaper column in the late 1970s. Buchanan did 

not have the same outsized clout in conservative political circles as Buckley 

did in the late 1970s and early 1980s, but he was by no means marginal. In 

addition to his column he had his own radio program, appeared as a surro-

gate for Ronald Reagan in the famous 1978 debate between Reagan and 

Buckley on Firing Line over the ratifi cation of the treaties turning over sover-

eignty of the Panama Canal to Panama, and, most famously, became a TV 

staple as the co-host of CNN’s Crossfi re in 1982, along with his frequent 

appearances on The McLaughlin Group.

To neoconservatives in the 1970s and early 1980s, Buchanan was an 

exemplar of the New Right. In 1977 Jeane Kirkpatrick wrote a critical review 

in Commentary of the work of Kevin Phillips, William A. Rusher, Richard J. 

Whalen, and Buchanan—all, according to Kirkpatrick, New Right standard-

bearers—in which she characterized the New Right as “not really new at all” 

but rather “a strain of nativist populism whose roots are deep in American 

history,” drawing comparisons to Richard Hofstadter’s analysis of the 

“Radical Right” of the 1950s. For Kirkpatrick, the political prescriptions of 

fi gures like Buchanan—who urged conservatives in his 1975 book 

Conservative Votes, Liberal Victories: Why the Right Has Failed to capitalize on 

new class tensions between “professional bureaucrats, planners, consultants, 

and professors” and ordinary working- and middle-class (white) Americans 

in order to build a permanent conservative majority—were doomed to fail 

because it was inconceivable that a majority of the electorate would turn 

against the benefi ts of the welfare state. Kirkpatrick failed to appreciate the 

extent to which the rhetoric of “producers” versus “non-producers,” in 

William Rusher’s formulation, had already been heavily racialized. Indeed, 

Ronald Reagan repeatedly invoked the specter of Linda Taylor, the so-called 

Chicago “welfare queen,” on the campaign trail in 1976—although Reagan 

never explicitly claimed that Taylor was African American, the implication 
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was not lost on his audiences.50 Buchanan, for his part, was critical of neocon-

servatives in the late ’70s and early ’80s but generally eschewed taking 

potshots at his fellow travelers, even defending neoconservatives as part of 

the right coalition. In a 1980 column attacking the NAACP’s economic plat-

form, Buchanan wrote that it was regrettable that the organization “failed to 

even consider the alternative held out by Republicans, conservatives, and 

neoconservatives who argue that, by circumscribing the federal plantation [a 

favorite phrase of Buchanan’s] and unleashing private enterprise . . . we can 

pull this economy out of the ditch.”51

In February 1985 Buchanan became White House communications 

director, a move widely seen as Reagan’s attempt to shore up his right fl ank 

in the aftermath of his 1984 electoral victory. While Reagan had won a land-

slide victory, the administration had come under increasing fi re from 

conservatives for failing to live up to its promises to shrink the size of the 

federal government—and traditionalist conservatives still bore considerable 

resentment that the spoils of the Reagan Revolution in Washington were, in 

their view, monopolized by opportunist neoconservatives. Time magazine 

reported that the appointment was a “concession to Reagan’s right-wing 

supporters” and that while Buchanan had frequently been critical of the 

administration in the past, White House chief of staff Donald Regan insisted 

that Buchanan “will support the Administration’s fi nal position” on vital 

issues. Conservative publications—including National Review—applauded 

the appointment, contrasting the pugnacious Buchanan to his “timid, 

compromising” predecessor David Gergen, a holdover from the Ford 

administration.52 Buckley saluted Buchanan’s sacrifi ces for the conservative 

cause, noting that by relinquishing his syndicated column and TV appear-

ances he was giving up almost 75 percent of his income for “a civil servant’s 

pay” in the hopes of infl uencing policy and fulfi lling the promises that 

Reagan had made to conservatives.53

Initially, Buchanan seemed poised to expand his infl uence at the White 

House. His appointment was greeted with acclaim by conservatives—

Rowland Evans and Robert Novak wrote that Buchanan’s appointment 

“represents the fi rst legitimate conservative activist, as contrasted to inner-

circle Reaganite, on Reagan’s senior staff.” He received a rapturous reception 

at the 1985 Conservative Political Action Conference (the Washington Post 

punningly reported Buchanan’s “Popular Front” reception, a more revealing 

turn of phrase than the newspaper suspected). Inside the White House, 
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Buchanan was slated by mid-March to have an aide of his installed at the 

Offi ce of Public Liaison. And conservatives also gloated about how angry 

Buchanan’s appointment made mainstream journalists. Buchanan had been 

unremittingly hostile to the “liberal” press both in the Nixon White House 

and in his subsequent career, believing that the mainstream media, even 

more than lawyers, consultants, or the professoriate, represented the apothe-

osis of the antagonistic “New Class” pitted against ordinary Americans.54 

Buchanan also terrifi ed the gay community, already suffering egregiously 

from the AIDS epidemic and the Reagan administration’s indifference to the 

plague. Jeff Levi, the head of the National Gay Task Force, told the gay news-

paper the Advocate that “Reagan is throwing a bone to the far right” with the 

Buchanan appointment, and that Buchanan “has done nothing but stir up 

homophobia and made life patently miserable for gay people, and for people 

with AIDS in particular.”55 But Buchanan’s peak infl uence inside the Reagan 

White House lasted only a little over two months.

One factor behind Buchanan’s fall from grace was the anti-communist 

insurgency in Nicaragua. Buchanan had long been an outspoken supporter 

of extending aid to the right-wing Contra rebels against the Sandinista 

government in Managua, and as communications director had insisted that 

Reagan make a nationally televised speech in April 1985 urging Congress to 

pass a $14 million aid package to the Contras. Reagan’s other senior advisors 

were almost unanimously opposed to Buchanan’s proposal, considering 

congressional support for the Contras a lost cause, and preferring to focus 

the president’s energies on his budget proposals. Buchanan, however, would 

not let the issue go—and his stridency on the subject was eventually leaked 

to the Washington Post, which characterized the atmosphere as tense, with 

Buchanan testing his infl uence. The test failed—Reagan did not make the 

speech, and Congress did not pass funding for the Contras (leading to 

the Reagan administration’s creative solution of illegally selling weapons to 

the Islamic Republic of Iran and funneling the profi ts to the Contras—as 

with Watergate, Buchanan was never directly implicated in wrongdoing in 

the Iran-Contra scandal).56

Even more damaging to Buchanan’s tenure was his involvement in 

Reagan’s controversial decision to visit a military cemetery in Bitburg, 

Germany, with West German chancellor Helmut Kohl in May. There were 

no GIs buried at the Kolmeshöhe cemetery; there were, however, several 

Waffen-SS members interred there. The administration intended the visit, 
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which had been arranged by the Kohl government, to be a reciprocal gesture 

in exchange for Kohl’s support of the deployment of Pershing II missiles to 

West Germany in 1983, but the Reagan administration’s messaging around 

the event was inept. Reagan told the press in January that he did not intend 

to visit a concentration camp site during his state visit in order to avoid 

“embarrassing the Germans about their past.”57 While Buchanan’s involve-

ment in the planning of the Bitburg visit was minimal—the arrangement 

predated his White House appointment—he was repeatedly attacked in the 

press in April because of his opposition to the Offi ce of Special Investigations 

(OSI), a body set up by the Justice Department in 1979 to track down Nazi 

war criminals living in the United States. This was a reversal of decades of 

U.S. policy that broadly tolerated (and, in the case of Operation Paperclip, 

actively recruited) former Nazis living in the United States. Since the offi ce’s 

inception, Buchanan had repeatedly urged that it be abolished, telling OSI 

head Allan Ryan in a TV interview in 1982 that it was not worth spending 

millions to investigate perpetrators of an atrocity that “occurred 35, 45 years 

ago, okay?” and also suggesting that the OSI was acting as a useful dupe for 

the KGB, which was eager to have the U.S. government do its dirty work in 

persecuting “staunch anti-Communist emigres.”58

As the controversy over Bitburg escalated, Jewish organizations began 

attacking Buchanan as one of the architects of Reagan’s visit, with some 

even holding him responsible for Reagan’s failure to visit a concentration 

camp, despite that decision having been made months before Buchanan 

joined the White House staff.59 Buchanan, however, urged the president not 

to back down in the face of media criticism, telling him that changing course 

now would be “caving in” to critics and was an unacceptable sign of weak-

ness. Buchanan was also apparently responsible for Reagan suggesting to 

reporters in mid-April that the German war dead were victims of the Nazi 

regime “just as surely as the victims in the concentration camps.”60 

Buchanan’s own combative tone toward the press boomeranged against 

him—in May NBC reported that Buchanan “could be seen repeatedly 

writing the phrase ‘succumbing to the pressure of the Jews’ during a White 

House staff meeting.61 Buchanan acknowledged that he had taken notes at 

the meeting, but angrily denied antisemitic intent. In this he was backed up 

by Kenneth Bialkin, the national chairman of the Anti-Defamation League, 

who sat next to Buchanan during the meeting and told the press that 

Buchanan had in fact written “succumb to pressure”—there was nothing 
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about the Jews in Buchanan’s notes.62 Still, the damage to Buchanan’s polit-

ical infl uence within the Reagan administration was done. His belligerent 

tone had caused repeated headaches for the administration over a timeline 

of only a few weeks, and despite Bialkin’s support Buchanan had already 

managed to alienate a number of major American Jewish organizations.

Buchanan’s Jewish problem didn’t stem just from Bitburg. For years he 

had been an outspoken supporter of John Demjanjuk, a Ukrainian immi-

grant and naturalized American citizen from suburban Cleveland who was 

accused in the late 1970s of being the infamously brutal guard at the 

Treblinka extermination camp whom inmates had dubbed Ivan the Terrible. 

Legal historian Lawrence Douglas has called the Demjanjuk case the “most 

convoluted, lengthy, and bizarre criminal case to arise from the Holocaust,” 

one that “never reached a defi nitive conclusion,” and if anything that is an 

understatement. Demjanjuk was originally accused of being a guard at the 

Sobibor extermination camp by Michael Hanusiak, a Ukrainian American 

communist who received his information from the Soviet government in 

1975. The U.S. government, with relatively few legal options at its disposal to 

use against alleged Nazi war criminals, opted to pursue denaturalization 

proceedings against Demjanjuk, and it was one of the fi rst cases prosecuted 

by the OSI, founded as part of an effort to standardize prosecutorial prac-

tices against alleged Nazis and Nazi collaborators. In 1981 Demjanjuk fi nally 

went to trial; a federal judge stripped him of his citizenship and a year later 

the Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS) initiated deportation 

proceedings. Before Demjanjuk’s case could wend its way through the INS’s 

procedures, however, the Israeli government requested that the United 

States extradite Demjanjuk to face a war crimes tribunal in Israel for his 

alleged actions as Ivan the Terrible. He was eventually deported to Israel in 

1986 and was convicted in 1988 of war crimes after a trial that became a 

media sensation in Israel dwarfed only by the Eichmann case twenty-eight 

years earlier. But there was a problem—Demjanjuk was not, in fact, Ivan the 

Terrible. Material from Soviet archives showed that Ivan the Terrible was 

another man, Ivan Marchenko, and in 1993 the Israeli Supreme Court over-

turned Demjanjuk’s case on appeal. But while Demjanjuk was not Ivan the 

Terrible, he was in fact a guard at the Sobibor extermination camp. To make 

the saga even more convoluted, an investigation by the U.S. Sixth Court of 

Appeals later determined that the OSI had deliberately withheld exculpatory 

materials from Demjanjuk’s defense in the U.S. court proving that 
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Demjanjuk had served at Sobibor, not Treblinka, and therefore couldn’t have 

been Ivan the Terrible. But after Demjanjuk’s return from Israel to the 

United States, the OSI took another crack at him, this time relying on the 

documentary record from German and Soviet archives rather than eyewit-

ness accounts (most eyewitnesses, by the early 2000s, were dead in any 

event). Demjanjuk was stripped of his citizenship again and deported to 

Germany in 2009, where he faced trial in a German court as an accessory to 

the murder of twenty-nine thousand Jewish prisoners at Sobibor. Demjanjuk 

was convicted in 2011, released on appeal, and fi nally died in a nursing 

home in Bavaria in 2012 at the age of ninety-one.63

The legal and political history of the Demjanjuk case is exceedingly 

complex, as it spans almost forty years across three countries, each grappling 

with its own historical legacy of the Holocaust. In the United States, the case 

involved a political and legal community eager to make amends for a history 

of federal immigration policy that had excluded Jewish refugees from 

Europe before and during World War II and limited the admission of Jewish 

refugees after World War II in favor of expanding admissions of eastern 

European and German refugees—many of whom were, like Demjanjuk, 

complicit in the Holocaust. In addition, the Demjanjuk case became a focal 

point for American Jewish politics in the 1970s and 1980s, part of the 

broader process of the historical memory of the Holocaust becoming 

cemented in American culture. But Demjanjuk also became a focal point for 

Pat Buchanan.

As far as Buchanan was concerned, the Demjanjuk case was straightfor-

ward. His earliest column on the subject, written in 1983 while Demjanjuk 

was facing deportation to Israel, argued that the OSI’s case against 

Demjanjuk was weak and that Demjanjuk was not Ivan the Terrible. 

Buchanan was right, but he was right for the wrong reasons—he went on to 

claim that Demjanjuk was in fact being framed by the KGB. (The original 

accusation against Demjanjuk did originate from information provided by 

the Soviet government in 1975—and in this the political motives of Moscow 

were far from unblemished, as leaking information about Nazi collaborators 

living freely in the United States helped defl ect criticism of the plight of 

Soviet Jewry and provided a potential weapon against Ukrainian nationalists 

in exile.) But Buchanan insisted that Demjanjuk was completely innocent—

a clear case of a “decent and honest family man whose life has been destroyed 

by Soviet malice and American gullibility”—going so far as to claim, in a 
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1986 Washington Post column he penned while still serving as White House 

communications director, that “John Demjanjuk may be the victim of an 

American Dreyfus case,” a rhetorical fl ourish designed to enrage supporters 

of the government’s case.64

Buchanan’s outspoken defense of Demjanjuk heightened already 

existing tensions over antisemitism and the paleoconservative/neoconserva-

tive divide within the conservative movement. In a sense, Buchanan was 

right to call Demjanjuk an American Dreyfus, because as with the Dreyfus 

affair in France, the question of Demjanjuk’s actual guilt or innocence 

became secondary to the political importance of the issue, which was ulti-

mately about Jewish political power and its relationship with the historical 

memory of genocide.

Avowed antisemites were explicit about this linkage. From its very fi rst 

issues, the Journal of Historical Review, the unoffi cial organ of English-

language Holocaust denial literature in the United States, was clear about 

why it sought to debunk the “myth of the six million.” As contributor L. A. 

Rollins put it in 1983, “The Holocaust is part of a myth, comparable to earlier 

Jewish myths, encompassing the Holocaust, the Exodus and the Rebirth of 

the State of Israel and . . . this myth explains to Jews why they must support 

the State of Israel.”65 Holocaust deniers who wrote for the journal were deeply 

invested in four overlapping political projects: anti-Zionism, anticommu-

nism, anti-liberalism, and the rehabilitation of Germany in general and the 

Third Reich in particular. Holocaust denial was central to each. The anti-

Zionist component of the Journal’s politics would occasionally result in arti-

cles critical of contemporary Israeli policy toward Palestinian Arabs, but these 

were relatively rare. Rather, most explicit anti-Zionism in the journal was 

expressed through Holocaust denial—the political logic being that by denying 

the reality of genocide against the Jews, American and European sympathy 

for Israel as in some sense expiation for the guilt of the Holocaust would evap-

orate. Anticommunism provided a useful framework to rehabilitate the 

Nazis—not as brutal conquerors but, mirroring Nazi propaganda from the 

Second World War, as valiant warriors embarked on an anti-Bolshevik crusade 

in defense of European civilization.

This also necessarily included a critique of New Deal liberalism—after 

all, the Roosevelt administration successfully waged war alongside the 

Soviet Union against Nazi Germany. Correspondingly, the Journal of 

Historical Review dedicated entire issues to the conspiracy theory that 
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Franklin Roosevelt had advance knowledge of the Japanese attack on Pearl 

Harbor and deliberately withheld this information from the military in order 

to use the attack as a back door into the European confl ict. The journal even 

published an article in 1981 that criticized Japanese American internment, 

noting that “one of the most signifi cant aspects of this act of racist repres-

sion is the fact that it was not the work of a clique of fascists and right-wing 

militarists. Rather, it was advocated, justifi ed, and administered by men well 

known for their support of liberalism and democracy.” Lest one be lured into 

the suspicion that the Journal of Historical Review was making a 

Horkheimerian argument about the banality of fascist processes in liberal 

societies, the article went on to insist that “the Germans . . . had great legal 

justifi cation” for their policies against European Jews because while “the 

Japanese were sent to camps solely on suspicion of what they might do . . . 

many thousands of Jews throughout Europe had committed countless acts 

of murder, destruction, sabotage, arson, and theft before the Germans began 

their general evacuation.”66

The Journal of Historical Review’s treatment of the Demjanjuk case—

which was used by many far-right organizations as a cause célèbre and 

a fund-raising opportunity—was entirely in keeping with its broader polit-

ical projects. In a review of OSI chief Alan Ryan’s memoir, contributor 

Ted O’Keefe blasted the Demjanjuk prosecution as a politically motivated 

sham conducted by a “prosecutorial shyster whose mind is nimble and 

devious enough to carry out the duties his masters (don’t worry, he tells us 

who they are) have entrusted him” with. Although—drawing from 

Buchanan’s argument—much of the article castigated the OSI for falling for 

a KGB forgery, a signifi cant portion was dedicated to the proposition that the 

death toll at Treblinka—which legitimate historians estimate at nearly 

1 million—was not physically possible given various conjectured mechanics 

of how the gas chambers and mobile gas vans must have actually worked. 

Clearly—in the eyes of the Journal—Ryan was an Israeli puppet, and “his 

fawning compliance with Soviet offi cials might be more than enough to 

disqualify him for any position in American government,” particularly given 

that the Reagan administration “at least gives lip service to American nation-

alism and anti-Communism.”67

While serving in the White House, Buchanan was careful never to 

explicitly mirror the language of Holocaust deniers. In no small part this 

was because, as a senior White House offi cial, Buchanan was able to apply 
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political pressure on the OSI over the Demjanjuk case and other prosecu-

tions of former Nazis. While in the White House he met with supporters of 

Arthur Rudolph, a former Nazi rocket scientist who had been brought to the 

United States under Operation Paperclip and became one of the chief 

designers of the Saturn V rocket for NASA in the 1960s. After an OSI inves-

tigation revealed the extensive use of primarily Jewish slave labor in the 

German V-2 program, Rudolph was pressured by the OSI to renounce his 

American citizenship and voluntarily leave the country for West Germany in 

1984. Buchanan met with Rudolph’s former German colleagues in October 

1985 and was widely reported in the press as having given his support for 

restoring Rudolph’s citizenship. (Buchanan denied this, telling the UPI that 

“he would not have any infl uence anyway” on the matter.)68 Buchanan also 

opposed the deportation to the Soviet Union of Karl Linnas, an Estonian 

immigrant alleged to have been the commandant of a concentration camp 

outside of Tartu who had been convicted in absentia by a Soviet court in 

1962. Buchanan even interceded with Attorney General Ed Meese to block 

Linnas’s deportation shortly before he left his post as White House commu-

nications chief in February 1987.69 At every step of the way, Buchanan 

emphasized—as he had with the Demjanjuk case—that his opposition to 

the proceedings was rooted in his anticommunism. “I think it is Orwellian 

and Kafkaesque,” he told reporters, “to deport an American citizen to the 

Soviet Union to stand trial for collaboration with Adolf Hitler when the prin-

cipal collaborator with Hitler in starting World War II was that self-same 

Soviet government.”70

Buchanan’s tone shifted, however, in an infamous March 1990 syndi-

cated column about the Demjanjuk case. By then more questions had been 

raised about Demjanjuk’s supposed identity as Ivan the Terrible—the CBS 

news program 60 Minutes aired a report that month identifying Ivan the 

Terrible as Ivan Marchenko, not Demjanjuk—and Buchanan reiterated his 

argument in the newspaper: Demjanjuk was the victim of a frame-up by the 

KGB. There were two novel components in Buchanan’s column, however. 

One, he acknowledged (but did not seem especially troubled by) Demjanjuk’s 

position as a guard at Sobibor. Two, more signifi cantly, Buchanan repeated 

the talking points of Holocaust deniers about how the diesel engine used as the 

mechanism of death in the gas chambers at Treblinka was not actually 

capable of killing the 850,000 victims of the camp. “Diesel engines do not 

emit enough carbon monoxide to kill anybody,” Buchanan insisted.71
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Harvard law professor Alan Dershowitz penned a response later in 

March: “After years of fl irting with the dark forces of anti-Semitism and pro-

fascism,” Buchanan had become “a full-fl edged, card-carrying member of 

the so-called ‘revisionist’ school that denies or minimizes Hitler’s murder of 

6 million Jews.” But the initial response from other columnists was surpris-

ingly muted; Dershowitz’s piece was the sole riposte in any major publica-

tion for nearly six months. In August Mark Lasswell wrote a profi le of 

Buchanan for GQ in which he framed the column as quintessential 

Buchanan—good ol’ Pat spewing out an uninformed opinion on a subject 

he knew nothing about, which is to say that Buchanan did not seem to 

understand that fi lling a specialized chamber with exhaust fumes killed not 

through carbon monoxide poisoning, but rather through lack of oxygen.72

But it was only after Abe Rosenthal’s column in September 1990 that 

Buchanan’s theories on Treblinka were widely condemned as antisemitic.73 

Why? There are three probable reasons. One, Buchanan’s pattern of 

defending Nazi war criminals and his thoughts on Demjanjuk were already 

commonly known by early 1990. Two, the case against Demjanjuk as Ivan 

the Terrible was already falling apart. Three, unlike the Iraqi invasion of 

Kuwait and the looming potential of an American war in the Middle East, 

the potential conviction of an ex-Nazi by an Israeli court was a geopolitical 

nonstory. Buchanan’s asinine, offensive, and antisemitic commentary on 

Treblinka was less a political problem than fodder for the larger issue: 

American policy in the Middle East and Buchanan’s views on U.S.-Israel 

relations. This was not simply a problem for Buchanan, either. He was 

preparing to challenge George H. W. Bush from the right in the Republican 

primary in 1992, laying claim to be Ronald Reagan’s legitimate successor as 

the high priest of American conservatism.

For conservatives, it was a time for choosing.

“In Search of Anti-Semitism” hit the newsstands in the fi rst week of 1992, a 

few weeks after William F. Buckley tentatively endorsed Pat Buchanan in the 

1992 Republican primary, in Buckley’s reasoning as a tactical measure to 

underline to George H. W. Bush that he could not take conservative support 

for granted and to push him, as far as possible, to the right. Buckley reiterated 

that he would not have given Buchanan his tactical endorsement if he thought 

Buchanan was an antisemite—although National Review editor John 

O’Sullivan, in his introductory essay, conceded that both Sobran and 
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Buchanan may have inadvertently crossed a line from principled anti-Zionism 

into antisemitism. Both Buckley and O’Sullivan invoked the American Mercury 

saga and the “expulsion” of the Birchers from the responsible conservative 

movement in the 1950s and 1960s to burnish their credentials—and Buckley 

added for good measure that his own father’s intense antisemitism gave him 

special insight on the subject. Buckley conceded that Joe Sobran’s columns, 

both in 1986 and his more recent work opposing U.S. policy in the Gulf War, 

might be reasonably interpreted as having been “written by a writer inclined 

to anti-Semitism,” but he also defended his friend and protégé. Buckley 

argued that, in the 1990s, antisemitism was a problem of the left, not the right, 

and while Sobran was not “blameless” he had defenders even among 

American Jews, citing paleoconservative political scientist Paul Gottfried, who 

wrote to the New Republic that “some neoconservatives reacted hysterically—

even opportunistically—to Joe Sobran’s observations about American Jews.” 

Buchanan, for his part, was the victim of, if not a coordinated smear campaign, 

then a campaign of attacks triggered by the Rosenthal article in September 

1990. Nevertheless, Buckley admitted that he found it “impossible to defend 

Patrick Buchanan from the charge that what he said and did . . . amounted to 

anti-Semitism, whatever it was that drove him to do or say it.”74

One of the diffi culties facing Buckley and National Review broadly was 

that, although the magazine had embraced some degree of religious 

ecumenicalism since its beginning, it was still very much a conservative 

Catholic magazine. Buckley had taken on the Jewish conservative writer 

David Brooks as an editor at National Review in 1984, and the young Brooks 

quickly became part of Buckley’s inner circle. There were rumors that when 

Buckley stepped down from editing National Review he would name Brooks 

as his successor, but Buckley reportedly blanched because Brooks was not a 

Catholic (and was a Canadian to boot), opting instead for O’Sullivan. 

Buckley’s apparent logic was that there were already conservative Jewish 

magazines in existence, notably Commentary, which had long since 

disavowed any affi liation with the left, and that the specifi cally Catholic char-

acter of National Review needed to be preserved. This colored Buckley’s 

defense of both Buchanan and especially Sobran, who hinged his resent-

ment of organized Jewish life in the United States on his dissatisfaction with 

the political power of conservative Catholicism.75

“In Search of Anti-Semitism” also made revealing attempts at particular 

forms of group solidarity. Buckley downplayed the persistence of 
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antisemitism in Europe and North America, dismissing a poll of Austrians 

in 1988 that found that 20 percent of respondents were in favor of legally 

prohibiting Jews from owning property in Austria by commenting that 

“some of the questions [in the poll] were on the order of ‘do you believe the 

experience of slavery benefi tted the Negro race?’ to which question 21 

percent of Americans might answer Yes—reasoning, with Booker T. 

Washington, that slavery en route to emancipation was preferable to a 

continuation of the kind of life common in Africa during the 18th century.” 

In Buckley’s view, Sobran’s articles on Israel and American Jews were 

provocative and perhaps over the line, but “on the other hand there is discus-

sion of such questions as relative black intelligence, sexual promiscuity, and 

upward mobility that still gets a sober hearing in sober surroundings.” 

Indeed, less than two years later Marty Peretz’s New Republic would run its 

infamous—and since repudiated—cover story featuring the race/IQ work of 

Charles Murray. O’Sullivan, in his introductory essay, repeatedly empha-

sized the prominence of Black antisemites on the left, including Leonard 

Jeffries, Jesse Jackson, and Louis Farrakhan, who enjoyed the indulgence of 

“big-city politicians . . . respectable black organizations . . . and the willing-

ness of the establishment media to report such matters in a context of social 

issues.”76 The conservative coalition—and even some liberals as well—

could fi nd common ground through anti-Black racism.

Buckley’s essay provided enough political defl ection for National Review 

to favorably, if guardedly, cover Buchanan’s 1992 primary campaign. Senior 

editor Richard Brookhiser followed Buchanan around during his upset 

victory in the New Hampshire primary, and while Buchanan’s staple talking 

points—the dangers of the New World Order, the rising economic threat 

from Asia, his opposition to a North American free-trade pact—were treated 

skeptically, the magazine did acknowledge that Buchanan was speaking to 

genuine currents on the right that had long been dormant. Murray Rothbard 

told National Review’s Washington bureau chief, William McGurn, at a John 

Randolph Club event that “what happened to the original Right, and the 

cause of the present mess, was the advent and domination of the right wing 

by Bill Buckley and the National Review,” but that Buchanan was here to 

revive it. “The original Right, and all its heresies, is back.” McGurn agreed 

with Rothbard, writing that the “wrong turn [meant by Rothbard] is not 

traceable to [the Gulf War] but to Bill Buckley’s purge in the mid Sixties of 

sundry ‘non-respectables’ (Birchers, Randians, anti-Zionists, etc.),” but also 
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that Buchanan was not an orthodox paleoconservative. “After all, he is 

campaigning as Reagan’s heir against a President who diluted that legacy.” 

Buchanan, in the eyes of National Review, was an imperfect political ally who 

was fl atly wrong about free trade, and whose vendetta against neoconserva-

tives as “domestic liberals and thus heretics” was “simply wrong” and ulti-

mately self-defeating to the conservative movement as it would “reduce the 

size and appeal of the conservative coalition and concentrate public atten-

tion on its divisions.” The magazine judged him as probably unable to repli-

cate Ronald Reagan’s political magic—he lacked Reagan’s sunny optimism 

and aura of geniality—but also understood Buchanan to be a genuine 

conservative.77

The offi cial editorial line of the magazine—and Buckley’s own stance 

on the Buchanan campaign—was ambivalent. An open letter to the maga-

zine signed by Richard John Neuhaus, Robert Bork, R. Emmett Tyrrell Jr., 

and nearly a dozen other prominent conservatives published in the March 

16, 1992 issue called Buckley and the editors “not morally consistent” for 

admitting Buchanan was an antisemite yet still urging conservatives to vote 

for him over Bush. Buckley defl ected in his response—he thought that some 

of Buchanan’s statements crossed the line and could be considered antisem-

itism, but Buchanan was not an antisemite. As for the question of voting for 

Buchanan, “were I resident of New Hampshire, I would vote for Buchanan 

in order to communicate to Mr. Bush the stamina of the protest vote, but . . . 

if the contest between the two were not for the nomination but for the 

Presidency, I would vote for Mr. Bush because of the shortcomings I fi nd in 

Mr. Buchanan’s policies.” O’Sullivan went further in his own editorial, 

defending Buchanan’s stance on Demjanjuk as having been vindicated 

and suggesting that Buchanan’s intransigence in the face of his critics was 

attributable to his wounded “Scotch-Irish pride.”78

For the gatekeepers of the conservative coalition, Buchanan’s successes 

in the 1992 primary posed a challenge. On the one hand, there was little 

hope of Buchanan actually unseating Bush, although a strong enough 

showing in New Hampshire along the lines of Lyndon Johnson’s surpris-

ingly narrow seven-point victory over Eugene McCarthy in New Hampshire 

in 1968 might have convinced Bush to not seek reelection. Buchanan came 

within fi fteen points of George H. W. Bush—enough to draw blood, but not 

enough to spook Bush out of the race (in 1976, incumbent Gerald Ford beat 

challenger Ronald Reagan in New Hampshire by only two points, and Ford 
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still managed to win the primary). But while it was clear that Buchanan 

would neither unseat Bush nor knock him out of the race, he was posi-

tioning himself as the leader of the right wing of the Republican Party and a 

strong contender for 1996. O’Sullivan noted that at the 1992 Conservative 

Political Action Conference, “more than half the rank and fi le” of the conser-

vative movement was behind Buchanan. “He probably has an even higher 

proportion of younger conservatives on his side.” O’Sullivan was very aware 

of walking a political tightrope—conservative activists supported Buchanan, 

but Buchanan could not win against Bush. What was the solution? “My own 

preference would be to support Mr. Buchanan until a millisecond before he 

himself decides to support Mr. Bush. . . . With luck, we might then maintain 

the unity and integrity of the conservative movement, avoid responsibility if 

Mr. Bush loses the general election, and transform Mr. Buchanan from this 

year’s Mr. Wallace into one of several respectable conservative leaders for 

1996.”79

At the end of March, the magazine took a victory lap—the Buchanan 

campaign prompted Bush to “[fi re] the head of the National Endowment for 

the Arts, [embrace] voluntary school prayer, and [disavow] the 1990 budget 

deal.” By energizing conservative voters, Buchanan “gave discontented 

voters a safe haven in the Republican column,” and—crucially—crowded 

out former Ku Klux Klan leader David Duke’s protest run for the nomina-

tion. “Without Mr. Buchanan in the fi eld, Mr. Duke would have been the 

sole repository of protest votes. His success would have discredited conser-

vative issues and set off a national liberal talk-in on the unregenerate racism 

of American society.” While the magazine avowed that it differed with 

Buchanan on many issues—above all on the question of protectionism—“it 

is crucial that the debate be as fraternal as it is vigorous, as civilized as it is 

sharp.” Intra-conservative attacks, especially if they echoed liberal criticisms 

(such as Buchanan being a racist or an antisemite) would “reinforce the 

loyalty of the conservative rank-and-fi le and undermine the critics, who are 

seen as traffi cking with the enemy.” In many respects, National Review’s 

editorial stance on the Buchanan phenomenon mirrored its position on the 

Birchers before 1965—a widespread recognition that both Buchanan and 

Welch could make credible claims for being the genuine spokespersons for 

a national grassroots conservative movement, certainly more so than the 

editors at National Review. William McGurn, who followed Buchanan in the 

Georgia primary, wrote that “having tracked the news reports and columns, 
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I half-expected to fi nd goose-stepping mobs and burning crosses. But the 

crowds coming out to see Pat Buchanan are not wearing white sheets or 

egging him on to stick it to Israel. . . . Most typical were people whose favorite 

radio personality is Rush Limbaugh and who refer to Buchanan as ‘Pat.’ ”80

Not every contributor was impressed by the strength of the Buchanan 

brigades—Michael Barone dismissed the campaign as a failed attempt to 

“move Republican conservatism back to the isolationism, protectionism, 

and nativism of [Robert] Taft’s time” and predicted that Buchanan was 

unlikely to be a strong contender in 1996. Still, Buchanan was able to trans-

late his strength in the primary to a prime-time spot at the Republican 

National Convention in August, and his declaration of a “war for the soul of 

America”—the opening salvo of the 1990s culture wars—in his opening-

night speech was infi nitely more memorable than any of President Bush’s 

bromides.81

National Review did not support Buchanan’s 1996 run for the 

Republican nomination, but did not fully turn against Buchanan until his 

departure from the Republican Party in 1999. Ramesh Ponnuru wrote in a 

cover story about Buchanan that “conservative fans” of Buchanan “persist in 

seeing him as a comrade-in-arms” but that Buchanan—and, by extension, 

his political allies like right-wing writer and political theorist Samuel T. 

Francis—was a mere political opportunist looking to re-create Richard 

Nixon’s “Middle American Radical” coalition. “But the Nixon coalition was 

not a conservative coalition, as Nixon’s policies amply proved,” and 

Buchanan was, by 1999, a tired old man “who decided at some point that 

exploiting cultural resentments and seeing various elites get their comeup-

pance mattered more than expanding freedom. . . . [Buchanan] is in no 

important sense a conservative anymore.”82 Ponnuru, like much of the 

conservative establishment in the late 1990s and early 2000s, believed that 

the neoconservatives had won, perhaps permanently.

Neither Buchanan nor Joseph Sobran was purged from the conservative 

movement because of racism, antisemitism, or even opposition to U.S. 

foreign policy. Buchanan was fi nally condemned by National Review only 

after his bid for the top slot in the Republican Party twice failed, and even 

then only on the grounds that Buchanan was trying to build a losing political 

coalition. Sobran, for his part, continued to write for National Review for 

another two years—in fact, an essay by Sobran defending himself was 
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featured in a follow-up issue on antisemitism in March 1992. Sobran even 

wrote two cover stories for the magazine in 1993—one on the rise of the 

Washington Post’s style section, the other on President Bill Clinton’s new 

appointments.83

The fi nal break between Sobran and Buckley came not through the 

pages of National Review, but through Sobran’s extracurricular writings. For 

years Sobran wrote a syndicated column in the Wanderer, a small traditional-

istic Catholic newspaper based in St. Paul, Minnesota, which featured 

columns by Sobran, Pat Buchanan, and Sam Francis. And in the pages of 

the Wanderer, Sobran felt free to let loose. He compared Bill Clinton to Adolf 

Hitler, defended the murders of abortion doctors (“pro-abortion liberals 

mustn’t complain about vigilante action”), and attacked the United States 

Holocaust Memorial Museum as dedicated to the premise that “mass 

murder is worse when its victims are Jews.” Yet it was only after a column in 

which Sobran attacked Buckley personally as a social climber who turned his 

back on “our people”—meaning conservative Catholics—in order to satisfy 

his “social ambition” by appealing to New York Jews—“especially the Zionist 

apparat. He will never cross them”—that Buckley hit back.

Buckley was incensed. He not only fi red Sobran from National Review, 

but wrote to the Wanderer that Sobran’s column was “evidence of an inca-

pacitation moral and perhaps medical,” and that the article was a “breath-

catching libel.” Sobran, in a rebuttal, countered that “Bill’s ambition has led 

him to play a positively malign role in conservatism . . . [muddling] his own 

conservatism badly, reducing it to a set of refl exive mannerisms and 

rendering his prose almost unreadable.” As with the broadsides against the 

Reagan administration, these were old complaints by the far right against 

institutional conservatism and its leadership. And yet Sobran, despite his 

distaste for Bill Buckley and his social climbing—a code term not just for 

having too many Jewish friends, but for Buckley’s softening of his archcon-

servative image to appeal to moderates and liberals since the late 1960s—

continued to write for National Review magazine until this fi nal rupture. 

And Buckley, despite writing a book explicitly disavowing Sobran as an anti-

semite, continued to publish him in National Review until Sobran’s personal 

attack on him as a sellout.84

Sobran and to a lesser extent Buchanan believed themselves to be scape-

goats and sacrificial lambs in the paleoconservative conflict with 
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neoconservatism, along with such luminaries as Paul Gottfried, Sam 

Francis, Murray Rothbard, among others. Like Revilo Oliver and Robert 

Welch a generation before, they were eventually excluded from the conserva-

tive movement on the grounds of “respectability”—meaning, per Sobran, 

that the conservative movement they helped to build cast them out in order 

to burnish its credentials with Jewish neoconservatives and their liberal 

allies. Antisemitism was central to much of this narrative—even among 

paleoconservatives who were, like Rothbard, Jewish—but so, too, was a 

certain political naïveté, even incredulity, that they could face consequences 

for their speech and their actions, especially from other conservatives.

Sobran fell the furthest—by the early 2000s he was a frequent guest at 

conferences organized by the Institute of Historical Review, the publisher of 

the Holocaust denialist Journal of Historical Studies, which Sobran had 

allowed to reprint material from his columns and newsletters in the mid-

1990s. He was persona non grata among his former colleagues at National 

Review, but when Sobran died in 2010—only two years after his former 

mentor William F. Buckley—he was the subject of a highly empathetic obit-

uary by his former colleague Matthew Scully. “You know you’ve been around 

a while,” Scully wrote wistfully, “when a rising conservative columnist 

presumes, as happened once in my company, to denigrate Joseph Sobran as 

if he were some old nobody—the bum who got run off for being a hate-

monger.” Scully called Sobran the greatest literary talent National Review had 

ever produced (perhaps overselling Sobran’s literary talent compared to 

other National Review contributors like Joan Didion), and portrayed him as 

an essentially tragic fi gure. “Joe traded a friend and mentor who loved him 

for new company that was beneath him, National Review for the Institute of 

Historical Research.”85

Pat Buchanan, unlike Sobran, did not openly embrace the company of 

the Institute for Historical Review (in fact, Buchanan’s offer to Sobran to 

write a column for his new American Conservative magazine was revoked by 

Buchanan’s editor Scott McConnell in 2001 when Sobran refused to break 

ties with the denialist world) and continued to enjoy prominent media posi-

tions in the 2000s—he became, after 9/11, MSNBC’s in-house conservative 

critic of the George W. Bush administration. Buchanan’s views on World 

War II, the Holocaust, and the question of German war guilt have remained 

remarkably consistent since the 1990s. It is little wonder that neo-Nazi 

leader Richard Spencer cut his teeth as an editor at Buchanan’s American 
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Conservative in the late 2000s. In 2008 Buchanan published a book on the 

origins of World War II, Churchill, Hitler, and the Unnecessary War, in which 

he argued not only that British participation in World War I was a mistake (a 

controversial but relatively unremarkable argument that had been made by 

the conservative British historian Niall Ferguson a decade before in his 1998 

book The Pity of War), but that Britain was ultimately responsible for the 

outbreak of World War II. Buchanan characterized German aims in 1939 as 

ultimately modest, aimed at creating an anti-Bolshevik alliance in Europe, 

and argued that Winston Churchill bore moral responsibility for the 

Holocaust for refusing Hitler’s peace offer after the invasion of France in the 

summer of 1940. Criticism of the book was nearly universal—even 

Buchanan’s own magazine published a scathing review by self-described 

reactionary John Lukacs, who compared Buchanan to infamous Holocaust 

denier David Irving.86

The search for antisemitism did not have to search far.
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the election of donald trump as president of the United States 

in 2016 precipitated an explosion of interest in reevaluating the American 

conservative movement. Writing in the New York Times a few months after 

the campaign ended, Rick Perlstein refl ected, “The professional guardians 

of America’s past . . . had made a mistake. We advanced a narrative of the 

American right that was far too constricted to anticipate the rise of a man 

like Trump.”1 Over the past several years, a number of historians have 

stepped into this void: John H. Huntington has argued convincingly that 

grassroots conservative activists in the latter half of the twentieth century in 

fact held fundamentally far-right political beliefs; Julian Zelizer has linked 

the radical right-wing turn in Republican electoral politics to the scorched-

earth procedural tactics of Speaker of the House Newt Gingrich in the 

1990s; and Nicole Hemmer has argued that the end of the Cold War frac-

tured the Reagan Revolution and opened up space for a far-right resur-

gence.2 But Trumpism remains hotly contested among scholars, especially 

over the question of fascism. One of the earliest pieces speculating on 

Trump and fascism was Isaac Chotiner’s interview with the historian of 

fascism Robert Paxton for Slate in February 2016. Paxton emphasized that 

“there are certainly some echoes of fascism, but there are also very profound 

differences,” especially the differing historical circumstances in Europe 

after World War I compared to the twenty-fi rst-century United States. Most 
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scholars who were pressed on this question by journalists were quick to 

emphasize the differences, as well as the inherent problems of historical 

analogizing. While most historians were circumspect about making those 

comparisons—at least on the record—the so-called “fascism debate” domi-

nated both politics and historiography for most of the Trump years.3 Was 

Donald Trump a fascist? Was Trump in continuity with the political tradi-

tions of American conservatism, or was he a rupture or aberration? Consen-

sus on these questions, at least between 2017 and 2021, was elusive in no 

small part because of the constantly shifting political terrain.

This was before 2021.

After the January 6, 2021 insurrection, which saw the deliberate and 

premeditated mobilization by the Trump White House of paramilitaries to 

storm the U.S. Capitol Building and attempt to overturn the results of the 

2020 election, Paxton no longer hesitated. “Trump’s incitement of the inva-

sion of the Capitol on January 6, 2021 removes my objection to the fascist 

label,” he wrote in Newsweek. “His open encouragement of civic violence to 

overturn an election crosses a red line. The label now seems not just accept-

able but necessary.”4 Some critics on the left have continued to insist that it 

is incorrect to categorize Trump and Trumpism as meaningfully fascist, 

either out of concerns that liberal anti-fascism could be redeployed against 

the left or, drawing on the work of sociologist Dylan Riley, on the grounds 

that authentic fascism requires a combination of robust civic associations 

and meaningful challenges from the left to existing power arrangements.5 

These arguments, however, have been rejected even by many Marxists—

political scientist Adolph Reed, although insisting in an August 2021 edito-

rial that he did not want to “quibble” over the fascist label, titled his essay 

“The Whole Country Is the Reichstag,” and the general consensus, as of 

2023, is that MAGAism is indeed a form of twenty-fi rst-century American 

fascism. Even President Joe Biden called MAGA Trumpism “semi-fascism” 

in August 2022.6

What has been less precisely defi ned is the relationship between 

American conservatism and American fascism. Conservatives dating back 

to the 1930s bitterly resented “smears,” as John T. Flynn called them, linking 

conservatives and conservative institutions to fascism. According to the 

classic conservative narrative of these political attacks, they refl ect not 

genuine anxieties regarding the far right rooted in a fair reading of evidence 

from liberals and leftists, but rather cheap political attacks to discredit 
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conservatives. This is why William F. Buckley Jr. threatened to punch Gore 

Vidal on national television for calling him a crypto-fascist. Conservatives 

crafted a deliberate political strategy to push back against liberal “smears” 

against conservatism by insisting that fascism and Nazism were fundamen-

tally left-wing phenomena. Borrowing from early Cold War rhetoric that 

insisted that German Nazism and Soviet communism were two sides of the 

same totalitarian, statist, and collectivist coin, conservatives sought to frame 

themselves as the only genuine anti-fascists in American politics because of 

their commitment to free markets and limited government. The apotheosis 

of this particular argument was Jonah Goldberg’s 2007 book Liberal Fascism, 

which argued that American liberalism was in fact the ideological heir of the 

European fascist movements of the early twentieth century. Revealingly, 

Goldberg’s explicit motive for writing his book, as he recounts at its very 

beginning, is that he was tired of liberal slander that “conservatism has 

connections with fascism”—“the left,” he maintained, “wields the term 

fascism like a cudgel.”7 Certainly liberalism and fascism are more closely 

interwoven than many liberals would like to admit, but there is an important 

distinction to be made between systemic critiques that implicate the prac-

tices of liberal democratic states and institutions on a global scale. Aimé 

Césaire made precisely this argument in his classic Discourse on Colonialism, 

astutely noting how fascism was, in many respects, the techniques of the 

colonialism practiced by the liberal European empires brought back to the 

metropole. Other thinkers—particularly from the Black radical tradition—

have made apt comparisons between the liberal carceral state and fascism.

Black Panther Party leader Kathleen Cleaver wrote in 1968 that what was 

most clearly fascist in America was “the concentration of massive police 

power in the ghettos of the black community across the country.”8

This was not the same as claiming that Hillary Clinton’s support for 

universal healthcare in the 1990s made her the heir to Mussolini.

Historians of fascism, unsurprisingly, overwhelmingly rejected 

Goldberg’s arguments. Goldberg, wrote Robert Paxton in a critical review for 

History News Network in 2010, “wants to attach a defaming epithet to liberals 

and the left, to ‘put the brown shirt on [your] opponents,’ as he accuses the 

liberals of doing.”9 The “liberal fascism” trope served an important political 

purpose in the 2010s: to obfuscate historical and contemporary connections 

between the conservative movement and American fascism. It was not 

always effective—pundit Glenn Beck, for instance, endorsed the work of 
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Elizabeth Dilling on his radio show in 2010, praising her 1934 book The Red 

Network as an example of “people [in the past] who were doing what we’re 

doing now,” that is, educating Americans about the depth of liberal and 

communist subversion.10 Beck caught considerable fl ack for praising 

Dilling. In general, however, “liberal fascism” suited the purposes of conser-

vatives. It was also a politically useful inoculation against an increasingly 

radicalized “alternative right” that emerged from paleoconservative circles 

in the early part of the decade. Richard Spencer, one of the organizers of the 

deadly Unite the Right rally in Charlottesville, Virginia in August 2017, cut 

his teeth in politics as an editor at Pat Buchanan’s American Conservative 

magazine. Even in the early 2010s, conservatives and the far right were 

synonymous. Spencer even co-edited a volume with Paul Gottfried in 2015 

that bitterly lamented that Buckley’s “purges” of far rightists deformed the 

conservative movement. But the precise boundaries between the factions 

remained, as had been the case over the course of the twentieth century, 

blurred; John Derbyshire, one of the contributors to the volume, had been a 

longtime contributor to National Review before being cashiered in 2012 after 

writing a racist column in Taki’s Magazine.11 Had Derbyshire been some-

what more circumspect about his views and avoided sparking outrage from 

liberals, it is entirely possible he could have continued writing for National 

Review indefi nitely.

The intertwined relationship between the conservative movement and 

the fascistic far right has implications for the historiographical question 

about Trumpian aberration versus continuity with the broader history of 

American conservatism. From the beginning of his primary campaign in 

2015, Trump was viewed with outright hostility by most members of the 

conservative establishment. In January 2016 the editors of National Review 

dedicated an entire issue of the magazine to attacking Trump; dozens of 

prominent conservative commentators proclaimed themselves “Never 

Trumpers,” meaning that they would never vote for Donald Trump in either 

the primary or general election.12 But a curious thing happened after 

Trump’s narrow victory in November: most Never Trumpers quickly made 

their peace with the new political realities in the conservative movement. 

National Review, for instance, never totally repudiated its earlier criticisms of 

Trump, but it pivoted after he took offi ce to an anti-anti-Trump stance.13

As of this writing, it is unclear what direction the Republican Party and 

the conservative movement will go for the rest of the decade. Donald Trump 
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still remains infl uential and popular among the conservative grassroots, but 

MAGAism is unpopular with the general public—particularly since the 

January 6 uprising—and Trump-backed candidates have been repeatedly 

repudiated at the polls in 2018, 2020, and 2022. But even if the political 

hegemony of MAGAism over the Republican Party is beginning to recede—

and it is far from clear that this is actually the case—the GOP remains the 

political home of the far right. The Republican congressional delegation in 

2023 boasts among its members Marjorie Taylor Greene, who has claimed 

that a Jewish-controlled space laser has been setting off wildfi res in the 

American West; George Santos, a pathological liar who, among other things, 

falsely claimed to be descended from Holocaust survivors and has made 

repeated antisemitic comments on his social media accounts; and several 

people who apparently coordinated with insurrectionists on January 6, 

2021. Where American conservatism will go from here is an open question, 

but wherever it does go, the far right will be there.
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